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Caution conceming forward-looking statements

The ABB Group Annual Report 2003 includses forward-looking
statements. in the Operational review, such statements are
included in “Letter to shareholders,” "Chief financial officer's report,”
“Power Technologies,” "Automation Technologies” and “Human
Resources” and in the Financial review, such statements are
included in "Management discussion and analysis.” Additionaily,
the wards "believe,” “may," “will,” “estimate,” "continue,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “expect.” and similar words are intended to
identify forward-looking stataments. We have based these forward-
looking statements largely on cumrent expectations and projections
about future events, financial trends and econoimic conditions
affecting our business. These forward-looking statements are
subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including among
other things, the following: {i the difficulty of forecasting future
market and economic conditions; {i) the effects of, and changes
in. faws, regutations, governmental policies, taxation, or accounting
standards and practices; (i) our ability to dispose of certain of our
non-core businesses on tenms and conditions acceptable o us;
{v) our ahility to manage our liquidity and further reduce our
indebtedness as planned; () the resolution of ashestos claims

on terms and conditions satisfactory lo us; (v} the effects of
competition in the product markets and geographic areas in
which we operate; (vii) our ablity to anticipate and react to

technological change and evohving industry standards in the
markets we operate; (Vi) the timely development of new products,
technologies, and services that are useful for our customers; (i)
unanticipated cyclical downtums in some of the industries that we
serve; (%) the risks inherent inJarge, long-term projects served by
parts of our business; (xj the difficufties encountered in operating in
emerging markets; and (xii} other factors described i docurnents
that we may fumish from time 1o fime with the U.S. Secunities and
Exchange Commission, including our Annual Reports on Form
20-F Alihough we believe that the expectations reflected in any
such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable
assumptions, we can give no assurance that they will be achieved.

We undertake o obligation to update publicly or revise any
forward-looking staternents because of new information, future
events or otherwise. in light of these risks and uncertainties, the
forward-looking information, events and circumstances might not
occur. Our actual results and performance could differ substantiatly
from those anticipated in owr forward-locking statements.



About ABB

ABB (www.abb.com) is a leader in
power and automation technologies

that enable utility and industry customers
to improve performance while lowering
environmental impact. The ABB Group
of companies operates in around

100 countries.

ABB is headquartered in Zurich,
Switzerland. ABB Ltd shares are traded
on the stock exchanges in Zurich/London,
Stockholm, Frankfurt and New York.

The ABB Group was formed in 1988,
when the Swedish Asea and the Swiss
BBC Brown Boveri merged under the
name ABB. Asea’s history dates back
to 1883. BBC Brown Boveri was
founded in 1891.

@ To find out more, visit: www.abb.com/about




Key figures and highlights
Core businesses post strong results

2003 highlights Group revenues
, \ 2 $17,466
s Power and automation businesses (2002 $17,466m)

exceed profitability targets $ 1 8 79 5 m
]

»  Capital strengthening program
a success

s Mainly non-cash losses in Discontinued  group eair
operations biggest factor in full-year (2002 $346m)

$656m
»  Core divisions generate cash from

operations of aimost $1.5 billion

» Major steps taken in divestment
Net loss
program (2002 $783m)

$767m

Media inguiries e-mail:
& mediarelations@ch.abb.com

Analyst and investor inguiries e-mail
investor.relations@ch.abb.com
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Revenues by region Total ABB Group

Year ended December 31 (U.S. doflar amounts in milions except per share and % data)

1 Europe 55%

2  The Americas 19%

3  Asia18%

4 Middle East and Africa 8%

Employess by region 3 : :
Capital expenditure, excluding purchased
intangible assets

1 EBurope 61%
2 The Americas 16%
3  Asia 13%
4 Middle East and Africa 10%
Core division revenues ($ milions) Care division EBIT ($ millions)
Power Technologies Power Technologies
B8 A tomation Technologies BB ~utomation Technologies
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Letter to shareholders

Chairman and CEO, Jurgen Dormann

Technology key to turnaround

Jirgen Dormann
Chairman and CEO

“To safeguard ABB’s
technology edge, we
increased investment in
research and development
to $930 milion in 2003
from $795 million in 2002."

We had another challenging year at ABB.
The turnaround is progressing well.

Our core Power Technologies and Autornation
Technologies businesses delivered significantly higher
earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and cash
flow in 2003.

Peter Smits, head of Power Technologies (see

page 13}, and Dinesh Paliwal, head of Automation
Technologies (see page 21), increased efficiencies
and performance to produce solid EBIT margin
improvements. In early 2004, they further streamlined
their businesses with an eye o ensuring future
profitable growth.

And despite mixed markets, reported orders and
revenues for the full year 2003 continued to grow.
This is a clear sign that our customers continue

to rely on our high quality products, systems and
services —~ to increase performance with fower
environmental impact, less use of natural resources
and less waste.

Investing more in R&D

To safeguard ABB’s technology edge, we increased
investment in research and development to

8930 million in 2003 from $795 million in 2002.
That's around five percent of revenues. We turned
out a targe number of new products from our

ten research programs this year. A list of our 80
groundbreaking ABB technologies is published in
this report (see page 29).

Peter Vioser, our chief financial officer, led a key
achievement in 2003, firming up our balance sheet
with a three-part financing plan. It involved a capital
increase, a bond offering and a new credit facility (see
page 6 for more information). The pasitive reception in
financial markets was another sign of confidence

in ABB. Thank you for your support in this initiative.
Total debt was reduced on target including the bond
issue in December 2003,
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Net loss and reducing costs

Alongside all this good news we posted a net loss
in 2003. Mainly non-cash losses in Discontinued
operations - in the downstream oil and gas and
reinsurance businesses ~ were the biggest factors
in the full year $767 million net loss. Agreements
to divest parts of these businesses have been
conciuded and the sales are expected 1o close

in 2004, subject to certain conditions.

Taking into consideration the net loss reported for
the year, the board of directors proposes that no
dividend be paid for 2003.

Gary Steel, head of human resources (page 30}, led
the Step change cost reduction team, which saved
us $655 million for the full year, ahead of our target
of $900 mifiion by mid-2004.

The combination of divestments and cost

reductions puts ABB on a much stronger footing.

We are lean at around 115,000 employses compared
to 146,000 when we started the cost reduction —
and divestment - programs, which means we are
nimble and positioned for profitable growth, We also
have the right leaders and the right corporate
governance charter (page 38} in place to foster
sound management.

Market development and strategy

Based on current estimates, we expect demand in
most markets to continue to grow in 2004 compared
to the year before, especially in the second half of the
year. Economic growth in Asia is expected to remain
robust, and a recovery is forecast to begin in Europe
and the U.S. later in the vear.

We believe that this market development, combined
with continued planned cost reductions and
divestments, will lead to a further improvement

in profitability in 2004 compared to 20083.

Now, some information on our strategy. In the last
12 months, we have conducted a thorough review

ABB Group Operationatl review 2003

of global market dynamics and our core strengths.
We found that we only need {0 fine-tune operations -
not overhaul our portfolio. We will not base growth on
major acquisitions or dramatically diversify our strong
set of core power and automation technologies.

We will migrate part of our operations base from
Europe, where we are over-invested, to higher-
preductivity parts of the world like Asia. Quality
remains paramount, regardless of where we maks
our products. Each and every product must mest
“Made in ABB” standards. To faciiitate this cost
migration, we must transfer technology know-how.
We have had good success transferring technology
from Switzerland, Germany and italy, for example, to
ABB factories in Vadadora, Beijing and Xiamen. You
will see more of this.

And, we will better manage the U.S. market. We have
moved our automation technologies headauarters to
the U.S. and teamed senior managers in the U.S,,
Canada and Mexico to better tap the potential of the
North American markets.

The power of our people

Our strengths are in technology and our pioneering
spirit. We contribute to economic, environmental
and social development wherever we do business.
Measuring our performance on the so-called triple
bottom line {see page 32), we are putting ABB back
on the path to profitable, sustainable growth.

On behalf of the board of directors, and on behalf of you,
our shareholders, | would like to thank our employess.
Thelr skifls, dedication 10 our customers and fighting
spirit have seen us through these difficult times.

Togsther, we are looking forward o a better year ahead.

Sincerely,
.'l o fzm T e tet R

Jirgen Dormann
Chairman and CEQ, ABB Ltd



Chief financial officer’s report
Peter Voser
Strengthening the balance sheet

in 2003, the two core divisions continued to
improve their profitability in challenging markets
and exceeded their profit margin targets for

the year. Most of the improvement came from
permanent cost reductions of more than $400
million - $655 miillion for the ABB Group as a
whole - through the Step change program.
Higher earnings together with improved working
capital resulted in significantly stronger cash flow.

These strong operational resuits go hand in hand

with the success of our finance strategy, aimed at
rebuilding the balance sheet and providing the liguidity
our core divisions need 1o secure long-term growth
and profitability. This strategy had two elements:

the divestment of non-core businesses, using

the proceeds to pay down debt; and a capital
strengthening program carried out in the second

half of 2003.

Divestment program

fin 2003 we sold most of the Building Systems
business, most of our remaining Structured Finance
business, parts of our Equity Ventures portfolio, and
all of our renewable energy investments. These
transactions generated more than $1.2 billion in
cash proceeds.

We also announced two further divestments that
we expect 1o close by the middle of 2004. One is
the sale of our upstream oll and gas business for an
initial purchase price of $225 million and a potential
deferred consideration of up to $50 million. The
sale is subject to the customary approvals and the
completion of compliance matters under review.

The other divestment was our reinsurance business.
in addition to generating cash proceeds of about
$425 million, this divestment will remove insurance-
related assets and liabilities that have made it difficult
for our investors {o truly assess the quality of our
balance sheet. These included, for example, some
$1.7 biltion in cash and marketable securities that
were tied to insurance obligations and not available
to the rest of the company.

Capital strengthening program

The capital markets side of our strategy was initiated
in August with the successful launch of a CHF

1 bilfion {around $750 million) convertible bond.

The issue was eight times oversubscribed, an
encouraging reaction to our first step back into

the capital markets.

This set the stage for our $4 bilion, three-pillar

capital strengthening program, launched in November.
The heart of the program was a CHF 3.1 billion
(approximately $2.5 billion) rights issue. Again,

the market responded favorably and more than 99
percent of the rights were converted into ABB shares.
The second pillar was the launch of a euro 650 miillion
{around $750 million) straight bond, which was
five-times oversubscribed. Finally, we negotiated

an unsecured $1 billion credit facility as a back-up
instrument. We did not intend to draw on it and have
not done so. We have since paid back and cancelled
the previous $1.5 billion secured bank facility.

Qur capital strengthening measures and the cash
proceeds from divestments have brought our balance
shest back to levels appropriate to run a global
industrial company. We have reduced our net debt,
defined as total debt less cash and marketable
securities, to about $2.7 billion from more than
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$5 billion at the end of 2002. Shareholders’ equity
increased to more than $3 billion at the end of 2003
from just over $1 billion at the end of 2002. Cur
gearing level, defined as total debt divided by total
debt plus shareholders’ equity including minority
interest, has been cut to 70 percent, our target for
the end of 2003. Our long-term debt repayments

of scme $600~800 million a year can now be

met through the cash flow from operations of our
core divisions,

Peter Voser

Chief financial officer

“Our capital strengthening
measures and divestment
program have brought

our balance sheet back to
the levels needed to run a
global industrial company.”

Outlook

With this stronger balance sheet, ABB has given
its two core divisions, Power Technologies and
Automation Technologies, the solid base they need
to capture future business opportunities as the Gearing levels (3 biions)
expected economic recovery begins 1o take hold.

Total debt

Total shareholders’ equity
{including minorities)

Our eyes are now on our 2005 finance targets,
which remain unchanged: total debt of $4 billion
and gearing of 50 percent. We will drive our finance
strategy forward in 2004 with these goals in mind.
We intend o pay down debt and, on the divestment
side, to sell the remaining Building Systems business
in Germany this year, along with the downstream oil
and gas business. Once these transactions are done,
the divestment program will be essentially complete. 02 03 05  ‘Target
ABB'’s improved financial situation will allow us to
divest the remainder of our Equity Ventures portfolio 3:_:‘199??% 'fvlege%etﬁqﬁg a a*g:;ﬁe;;
when we can get the best value. Our aim remains 10 squity (nguding minorities), has been
regain ABB's investment grade credit rating as soon cut to 70 percent, our target for the
end of 2003. For 2005, our gearing

as possible. target remains 50 percent, on gross
debt of $4 billion.

Our efforts to strengthen ABB's financial base,

and the strong operational performance of our core
divisions, were rewarded with renewed investor
confidence in 2003. This year, the focus will remain
on operational excellence linked to a solid capital
structure. We believe this is the right strategy to
secure long-term growth and profitability,

ABB Group Operational review 2003 7
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ABB’s executive committee
The management team

From left to right:
Peter Voser,
Peter Smits,
Jurgen Dormann,
Dinesh Paliwal
and Gary Steel.

ABB Group Operation
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Jurgen Dormann

Chairman and CEO

German citizen, 64, joined ABB as a board member
in 1998, became chairman in late 2001 and CEOQ

in late 2002.

Peter Voser

Executive committee member and CFO

Swiss citizen, 486, joined ABB as CFQ in early 2002,
has a stewardship role for Switzerland and the Middle
East and Africa.

Peter Smits

Executive committee member and head

of Power Technologies

German citizen, 53, joined ABB in 1980 and became
a member of the executive committee in January
2001. Has a stewardship role for China, Russia

and Europe (except the U.K,, ireland and Switzerland).
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Dinesh Paliwal

Executive committee member and head

of Automation Technologies

Indian citizen, 486, joined ABB in 1985 and became a
member of the executive committee in January 2001.
Has a stewardship role for India and the Americas.
Country manager for ABB in the U.S.

Gary Steel

Executive committee member and head

of Human Resources

British citizen, 51, joined ABB in January 2003, has
a stewardship role for North, Central and Southeast
Asia and Pacific, the U.K. and Ireland.




ABB at a glance
Sharpening our focus on power
and automation technologies

The Power Technclogies division has merged two
business areas into one to pursue productivity and
efficiency gains. The former Distribution Transformers
and Power Transformers business areas, which
shared many locations, were merged to form a single
Transformers business area. The merger should help
reduce product overlaps, enable mare efficient
research and development, and improve supply
chain management.

The Automation Technologies division has merged

six business areas into three, also 1o increase
productivity and cut costs. The former Control
Platform and Enterprise Products, Paper, Minerals,
Marine and Turbocharging, and Petroleum, Chemicals
and Consumer business areas were combined

to form one Process Automation business area.

The former Drives and Motors and Low-Voltage
Products and Instrumentation business areas were
combined to form one Automation Products business
area. And, lastly, the Robotics, Automotive and
Manufacturing business area was renamed
Manufacturing Automation.

The organizational changes took effect
January 1, 2004,

ABB signed a final agreement to sell the upstream
business in its Oill, Gas and Petrochemicals division
to a consortium of equity investors, which is expected
to be complete in 2004. The downstream business

is also intended for divestment in 2004. Both are
reported under Discontinued operations, which do
not contribute to ABB's revenues and earnings before
interest and taxes (EBIT), but are used in the
calculation of net income.

10 ABB Group Operational review 2003
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Power Technologies
We make power possible

ABB produces more than
haff a milion transformers
per year. This high-end,
330-ton transformer was
built in Sweden for a
project in the U.S.

12
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Peter Smits

Head of ABB's Power
Technologies division

“We had a good year,

The focus will stay on

fast deliveries, productivity
improvements and
high-quality technology.”

Business areas* and percentage of revenues 2003

Power Systems 28%
Mediumn-Voltage Products 17%
High-Voltage Products 16%
Utility Automation Systems 15%
Power Transformers 14%

6 Distribution Transformers 10%

O W -

* Effective January 1, 2004, ABB merged its two fransformer business areas
into one new business area caffed Transformers.

EBIT 2002~2003 (3 millions) Cash flow from operations ($ milions)

To find out more visit: www.abb.comvpid
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ABB Power Technologies serves electric, gas and
water utilities, as well as industrial and commercial
customers, with a broad range of products,
systems and services for power transmission,
distribution and power plant automation.

Power technologies are used to transform, convert
or apply electrical power in order to transmit and
distribute it to consumers.

The division employs around 38,000 and has 150
manufacturing sites around the world.

Performance 2003

In local currencies, orders up four percent and revenues
flat {three percent on a comparable basis). Earnings
before interest and taxes (EBIT) up 30 percent in U.S.
dollars, EBIT margin up to 7.3 percent from 6.2
percent, and cash flow from operations up 84 percent.

Market demand 2003

Continued strong growth in Asia, the Middle East

and Africa, good growth in Eastern Europe and mixed
in Western Europe. Low growth in North America,
but signs of upturn in fourth quarter.

Lowering costs 2003

The Step change productivity improvement

program led to around $200 million in savings

in 2003 through personnel costs, overhead, product
and site rationalizations, better quality and supply
chain management.

Strategic priorities 2004

Improve cycle times, productivity and costs.
Leverage installed base of products and systems
to capitalize on retrofit and service opportunities.
Target high-growth regions and high-end
technologies, for example, 1o prevent blackouts.

Targets
Revenue growth of 5.3 percent and EBIT margin
of 10.0 percent for 2005.

“* Compound annual growth rate 2002 — 2005 excluding major acquisitions,
divestments and business closures.
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Power Technologies
Transformers

The former Distribution Transformers and

Power Transformers business areas, which share
many locations, were merged to form a single
Transformers business area at the beginning of 2004.
The merger should help reduce product overlaps,
enable more efficient research and development,
and improve supply chain management.

The combined Transformers business area

had revenues equivalent to $2 billion in 2003 and
employs around 13,000 employees in more than
50 factories around the world. Every fourth high-
voltage transformer sold in the world is from

ABB. The business area sells a wide range of
transformers - from single-phase transformers to
small, medium and large distribution transformers,
reactors, fraction, phase-shifting, converter and
extra high-voltage transformers.

Keeping the power flowing through Europe

ABB is helping TERNA, which owns 95 percent of

the power transmission network in ftaly, import surplus
power from France.

The transmission corridor between France and ltaly
is one of several bottlenecks in Europe, where the
existing interconnections are not secure — meaning
that failures can cascade through a power grid.

To ease the congestion, ABB is supplying TERNA
with two phase-shifting transformers to increase
the capacity of the existing lines and optimize the
transmission of power through the corridor.

The two transformers will control the flow of power
through the interconnection and balance out system
overloads and underloads. Weighing 780 tons,

they are two of the largest and most powerful
transformers that ABB has ever supplied.

ltaly imports 15 percent of its electricity, mostly from

France and Switzerland, and depends on this link to
maintain a high safety margin during peak demand.
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Diamonds are forever

ALROSA Co. Ltd. is Russia’s largest diamond
company, engaged in exploration, mining, manufacture
and sale of diamonds. It is also the world's second
biggest diamond producer, accounting for some

20 percent of global rough diamond production,
operating a number of mines in the Mirny region

of eastern Siberia.

Siberia is one of the harshest environments on earth,
where severe cold puts enormous siresses on
diamond exploration equipment. So when ALROSA
built a new diamond washhouse, it installed ABB's
unique RESIBLOC distribution transformers.

RESIBLOC is the only dry transformer technology
currently used in places where temperatures can
fall to —60°C, a crucial factor feading to the contract.

Transforming transformers

ABB signed a five-year, $500-million deal with
Bombardier Transportation in 2003 for railway
components like traction transformers, traction
motors, power semiconductors, power electronic
products and low-voitage apparatus.

Traction transformers are mounted on locomotives
to ensure power supply to the motors. Due to
limited space, locomotives have no back-up system,
so the transformers must be fail-safe.

This long-term deal captures perfectly ABB's
strategy to partner with long-time customers ke
Bombardier. The two companies are together
targeting a reduction in the time it takes to make
products and deliver them. They are also sharing
design processes {0 boost production efficiency
and streamline business processes.

It is the first such agreement signed by Bombardier
with any of its suppliers.

ABB Group Operational review 2003




Power Technologies
Medium-Voltage Products

ABB is the recognized market leader in Medium-
Voitage Products with $1.5 billion in revenues
and around 7,000 employees. Switchgear and
circuit breakers are the key products, which are
sold mostly to utilities, industrial end-users and
channel partners. The business area develops,
manufactures and sells a wide range of circuit
breakers and contactors, fuses, sensors, switches,
vacuum interrupters and outdoor distribution
products. Market coverage is weighted toward
Western Europe, North America, Asia and the
Middle East.

Switchgear with better communications skills
Microprocessor-based protection units, such as
ABB's REF542plus, bring intelligence to “dumb”
medium-voltage substations, combining
measurement, monitoring, protection, control
and self-diagnosis in one package.

Medium-voltage switchgear is designed to switch
down distributed power voltage to levels that are
useful to power utilities and heavy industries such

as steel works, paper mills and petrochemical plants.
These electrical workhorses are all around us -

but no longer as conspicuous as they used to be,
because they take up less space.

Switchgear is also equipped with circuit breakers

that interrupt power, either automatically in case of
electrical failure, or manually to allow for maintenance
work. These circuit breakers need help to detect a
fault before cutting power in a matter of milliseconds.
This is exactly what the REF542pius does. It identifies
the fault, trips the breaker and alerts the operator

of any fault that requires action.

The new release also features SMS support to further
help service technicians. Any event registered by the
unit can be sent as a regular text message (SMS)

to the technician’s cell phone. The technician can
then connect to the switchgear via the Web, access
the unit and analyze the data needed to correct

the problem.
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Helping China prepare for the Olympic Games
Authorities in Beijing expecting a massive influx of
visitors for the 2008 summer Olympic Games turned
to ABB for help in expanding the city’s metro system.

Beijing’s metro system consists of 100 kilometers
of track, which can only handle about ten percent
of the city’s 12 million inhabitants. In advance of
the Olympics, city planners are tripling its length.

The Beijing Metro Group hired ABB to provide
medium-voltage switchgear to power the new light
rait running from Xizhimen to Dongzhimen, part of
the municipal government’s ongoing ten-year plan
to meet the needs of the 2008 games.

“We have to get a lot of people from point A to
point B,” says Wu Youyou, vice director and senior
engineer with Beiiing Metro. "ABB's technology

is environmentally sound, of high quality and

very reliable.”

Wu Yduyou says eight metro lines are currently
under construction or slated for construction.

“The most advanced line in terms of construction
is the one where we've partnered with ABB,” says
Wu Youyou.

In early 2003, ABB also won an $18 million order
for medium-voltage gas-insulated switchgear (GIS)
for Guangzhou metro fine 3 and Shenzhen metro
line 1. It was ABB in China’s largest-ever medium-
voltage order.
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Power Technologies
High-Voltage Products

ABB’s High-Voltage Products business area is
more than twice as large in terms of revenues
as its closest competitor, with revenues around
$1.4 billion in 2003. Around 6,000 people work in
the business area, whose products inciude high-
voltage switchgear, high-current systems and
cables. Utilities are the biggest customer, followed
by channel partners and industrial end-users.
We export mostly from Europe to all parts of the
world, but have balanced production in Europe,
North America and China.

Generator circuit breaker systems set new

world record

With an 80 percent market share, ABB is the world’s
largest producer of generator circuit breaker systems,
which are mainly used {o protect generators and
power transformers in power plants. We built this
position using gas technology like the proprietary
self-blast breaker system, which captures energy from
the powerful electric arc produced when a circuit is
interrupted. This in turn creates sufficient gas pressure
to extinguish the arc.

Customers increasingly require the specification,
ordering, building and delivery of such eguipment
o be faster and more efficient.

So ABB created a range of generator circuit breaker
systems that over time will replace almost 90 percent
of its current offering in this market. Called HECS,

or high-energy current system, it’s a family of seven
modular systems covering the full range of different
power station applications, including gas turbine,
steam, nuclear or hydro, and power ratings.

The generator circuit breaker systems are compact,
and offer extraordinarily high breaking power for their
size. They have established a world record in switching
high currents up to 130,000 amperes with self-blast
technology and are guaranteed for 20,000 close/open
operations, compared to 15,000 in the systems

being replaced.
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The annual market for generator circuit breaker
systems is expected to total more than $100 milfion
a year by 2005.

ABB’s unique qualifications secure giant

power project

The Bureyskaya hydropower project is the key to
economic growth in the Russian Far East — a vast,
underdeveloped region that covers the eastern third
of the world’s biggest country.

When completed in 2009, Bureyskaya will be the
biggest power plant in the Russian Federation, with
a capacity of 2,000 megawatts.

United Energy System (UES), the national utility, selected
ABB to supply gas-insulated switchgear (GIS) for what is
officially classified as a project of national importance.

ABB pioneered GIS technology in the 1960s and
remains the world leader in both technological
innovation and market share.

The compact size of ABB's GIS ~ 80 percent smaller
than conventional air-insulated switchgear — is crucial
in a hydropower plant where space is severely limited.

in a place where temperatures may drop as lfow

as —57°C and fluctuate widely from day to day,
reliability and secure knowledge that the switchgear
meets Russian, as well as international standards,
is critically important.

ABB is the only supplier in Russia with extensive
accreditation from UES, and the only company to
have been given product certification for 500 kV
gas-insulated switchgear for compliance with
Russian standards.
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ABB is the market leader
in high-voltage direct
current (HVDC) systems
like the one pictured here
in China. HVDC increases
transmission capacity
while stabiizing networks,

ABB Group Operational review 2003
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Power Technologies
Power Systems

ABB is the recognized market leader in

Power Systems and the indusiry benchmark

for technology, quality and delivery time. in 2003,
the business area had $2.3 billion in revenues
and roughly 8,000 empioyees.

Transmission and distribution substations are
key product lines. Power lines, flexible alternating
current transmission systems (FACTS) and high-~
voltage direct current (HVDC) systems, are
technologically advanced concepts to increase
transmission capacity and stability in power
networks, which give ABB its competitive edge.
HVDC and FACTS are supported by an in-house
power semiconductor factory.

The business area sells mostly to utilities, but aiso
to industrial end-users, and is complemented by
a consulting and power systems services arm.
Crders and revenues are fairly balanced among
the Americas, Europe, the Middie East and Africa,
and Asia-Pacific.

Getting the FACTS right

New technology from ABB will improve power
transmission by 80 percent in a part of Saudi Arabia
that’s prone to summer power shortages.

A $90 million flexible AC transmission system (FACTS)
in the Riyadh area will bring more power to consumers
at a 'ower investment cost and with less environmental
impact than the alternative: building costly new
transmission lines or generating facilities.

ABB will design, manufacture, install and commission
four series compensation units in the existing
380-kilovolt transmission corridor betwesn the
eastern and central regions of the Saudi Electricity
Commission (SEC) grd. - — -
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Series compensation is the part of FACTS technology
that increases the power capacity of existing grids,
while maintaining or improving grid stability.

ABB will also expand a 230-kilovolt substation,
install 2 300-kilometer high-speed fiber optic
telecommunication link, and build an auxiliary
power feeder and related equipment.

ABB is a leader in the growing field of FACTS,
having won 40 contracts worth more than $600
million in the past three years.

Power to the people

ABB’s high-voitage direct current (HVDC) power
transmission link between the Three Gorges dam

and Changzhou set a new world record for reaching
power levels of 3,300 megawatts on one transmission
line in 2003.

The vast majority of China’s power generation

takes place in the western provinces, but is used

in large eastern cities like Shanghai and Guangzhou.
Yuan Qing-yun, of the State Grid Corporation, says
HVDC is the key technology that will help cut 40 to
50 million tons of raw coal consumption per year.
This will in turn eliminate around 100 million tons

of CO, - a contributor to the greenhouse effect.

“The western provinces have large reserves of
water resources, like the Yahgtze river,” she says,
“and heavy industry — the demand for power — is in
the east.”

The link started to transmit power in December 2003,
nearly one year ahead of industrial standard. Another
HVDC link of the same size between the Three Gorges
dam and Guangdong is scheduled for completion later
this year. ABB's patented HVDC light tecnclogy has
won several environmental awards and helped restore
power to Long Island after blackouts in 2003,
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Power Technologies
Utility Automation Systems

Utility Automation Systems, with its system
engineering expertise, is a clear market and
technology leader. In 2003, the business area
earned around $1.3 billion in revenues.

it has about 5,500 employees, and is focused
on automation, control and protection systems
for power generation, power fransmission and
distribution networks, the energy market and
water management. Substation automation

and protection products, systems and complete
utility communication networks round off iis
utility solution offerings. Europe, the Middle East
and the U.S. are key markets, while activities

in Asia are expanding.

Power plant automation on the cutting edge
Intermountain Power Service Corporation (IPSC)
wanted “the latest state-of-the-art controf systems”

for its 1,800 megawaitt coal-fired power plant in Utah.

IPSC operates the plant on behalf of 36 municipal
and cooperative utilities in Utah and southern
California. Almost half the power generated by
IPSC is for the Los Angeles Department of Water
and Power, the biggest municipal utility in the U.S.

Built in the 1980s, the power plant was in need
of a new control system. The existing system was
becoming obsolete and spare parts were difficult
to obtain.

ABB Group Operational review 2003

“We needed to make sure that ten years from now
we will still be on the technology cutting edge,”
says Bill Morgan, lead project engineer at the plant.

IPSC awarded the contract to ABB for best
control system solution, best price and unique
application expertise.

The solution — distributed control systems ~ integrates
those aspects of the existing system that (PSC
wanted to retain with ABB’s Industrial IT platform —

an open architecture that will enable IPSC to remain
on the cutting edge for years to come.

Energy trading comes of age

China will use ABB’s energy management technology
to increase grid efficiency and, for the first time ever,
facilitate regional power trading.

“ABB was selected over other bidders due to its
superior technology and delivery record for similar
systems,” said Xu Hang, deputy general manager,
East China Electrical Power Group Corporation.

In 2003, the Chinese government finalized the
priorities of its electricity market. As a result,
ABB will install an energy management system
at the customer’s network center to supervise
and control the power transmission network and
optimize operations.

ABB will also install a special market system for regional
energy trading in East China to facilitate electricity
trading between market participants — including one
municipal and four provincial utility companies.

The order shows that energy trading is moving

beyond the borders of deregulated markets like
the U.S., the Nordic countries and the U.K.
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Automation Technologies
We deliver asset efficiency

Process automation from
ABB forms the "nerve
center” of complex industrial
and utility processes, putting
operators in command

of variables influencing
productivity, qualfity, safety
and environmental
performance.

20
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Dinesh Paliwal

Head of ABB's Automation
Technologles division

*We performed well despite
challenging markets. We will
continue to drive operational
excellence while targeting
Asia and North America as
our high potential markets.”

Business areas* and percentage of revenues 2003

Low-Voltage Products and Instrumentation 27%
Paper, Minerals, Marine and Turbocharging 21%
Drives, Motars and Power Electronics 17%
Robotics, Automotive and Manufacturing 14%
Petroleumn, Chemicals and Consumer 14%
Conftrof Platform and Enterprise Products 7%

D ;AW N -

* Effective January 1, 2004, ABB merged its six automation business areas into

three: Automation Products, Manufacturing Automation and Process Automation.

EBIT 2002-2003 {$ milions} Cash flow from operations (§ millions)

773 g

-{»'i“} To find out more visit: www.abb.com/atd
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ABB Automation Technologies blends a customer-
focused product, service and system portfolio with
end-user expertise and giobal presence to deliver
solutions for measurement, control, motion, protec-
tion, and plant optimization across a broad range of
industrial, utility, and building industry customers.

The division employs around 55,000 and has
some 150 manufacturing, application and software
centers worldwide.

Performance 2003

Exceeded all financial targets. In local currencies,
orders up two percent and revenues up three percent
{four percent cn a comparable basis). Earnings before
interest and taxes (EBIT) up 50 percent in U.S. dollars,
EBIT margin up to 7.8 percent from 6.7 percent, and
cash flow from operations up 62 percent.

Market demand 2003

Continued growth in Eastern Europe, mixed in
Western Europe, low in North America {but signs
of an upturn), steady in Latin America, strong
growth in Asia, the Middle East and Africa.

Lowering costs 2003

The Step change productivity improvement

program led to $245 million in savings in 2003
through improvements in personnel costs, overhead,
product and site rationalizations and better supply
chain management.

Strategic priorities 2004

Continue to improve costs and productivity, aggres-
sively push service. Leverage large installed base with
targeted product, industry and regional strategies.
Broaden strong technology position with customer-
focused R&D and new product portfclio.

Targets
Revenue growth of 3.3** percent and EBIT margin
of 10.7 percent for 2005.

" Compound annual growth rate 2002-2005 excluding major acquisitions,
divestments and business closures.
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Automation Technologies
Process Automation

The Process Automation business area, formed
at the beginning of 2004, employs about 21,500
and had revenues equivalent to about $4 billion

in 2003. It combines the resources of three former
business areas: Control Platform and Enterprise
Products; Petroleum, Chemical and Consumer;
and Paper, Minerals, Marine and Turbocharging.

- The new business area focuses on solutions for oil
and gas, metals and mining, pulp and paper,
marine, chemicals and life sciences. Its technolo-
gies include a full family of on-line product quality
sensors, industry-specific analyzers, process con-
trol systems, collaborative production manage-
ment systems, marine solutions and turbochargers.

l.argest among these is the design of solutions for
control and plant optimization in the process and
utility industries, where division personnel apply
their extensive knowiedge of customer processes
to application-specific requirements. Marine sec-
tor solutions include propulsion, power generation
and distribution, and ventilation. ABB turbo-
chargers add performance, fuel and environmental
efficiency to large gasoline and diesel engines.

The integration of core measurement and control
products and systems with end-user solutions in one
business area simplifies the value chain for serving
process industry customers. ABB Process Automa-
tion is a geographically diverse business, with
strategic hubs of activity in the U.S., Europe, India,
China, and Southeast Asia.

Extended automation

So far, automation has been focused on manufacturing
assets rather than human assets. This is changing.
ABB'’s new system 800xA extends the scope of
automation beyond process control to include all

plant automation functions, making them accessible

to any user from a single user interface.

One good example: System 800xA allows you to shift
from a preventive maintenance scheme to a far more
cost-effective predictive maintenance scheme.
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You can actually have the system notify the relevant
personnel in case of an event that may cause a
degradation of the plant’s performance. This will
allow you to eliminate many unnecessary scheduled
checks — for example, 60 percent of all scheduled
pressure transmitter interventions indicate no failure —
and significantly cut maintenance costs.

Here is how it works: Systern 800xA includes asset
monitors that frack the internal conditions of field
devices to continuously monitor the status of all

assets and identify any events that occur. The system
analyzes the severity of the events, notifies the relevant
personnel when a limit is reached, and recommends
or initiates the appropriate action.

The nerve center of an cil platform

ABB technology is helping to control, supervise and
manage one of the most complex and challenging
oiffields on the Norwegian shelf.

Norsk Hydro’s Grane platform went onstream in
October 2008, producing up to 214,000 tons of ail
a day. Grane oil is heavy and viscous and reservoir
pressure is low, so the oil has to be forced out of the
reservoir by pumping natural gas into injection wells
from a gas field 50 kilometers away.

Norsk Hydro spent more than ten years investigating
the field and possible recovery methods before it was
viable. The nerve center of the platform, and the
complex recovery process it houses, is an Industrial
[T-based automation system supplied by ABB.

Project execution has been excellent, and the project
has been on schedule at all times, says Norsk Hydro
of its $2.3 hillion investment in the field.

The ABB system includes control, supervision, safety,
emergency shutdown, utility automation, process
information management, and an interface with the
fire and gas systems.
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ABB has sold more
robots than any other
company — more than
100,000. They paint,
weld, cut, finish and
package in nearly every
industry, from automotive
to mobile phones.
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Automation Technologies
Manufacturing Automation

The Manufacturing Automation business area had
revenues of about $1.4 billion in 2003. ltis
supported by more than 6,500 employees around
the world. ABB has the world’s largest installed
base of industrial robots — more than 100,000 ~
and sells robots and related equipment and soft-
ware to the automotive, material-handling, foundry
and packaging industries.

The business area also develops standardized
manufacturing cells for machine tending, welding,
cutting, painting and finishing. Packaged ABB
solutions for press automation, paint process
automation and power train assembly are
provided to feading automakers.

ABB robots perform operations such as lifting,
assembly and finishing with exceptional speed
and precision, while protecting human operators
from once-hazardous tasks. Although robot
capacity has increased dramatically (ABB
models maneuver loads greater than 500 kg),
the development focus also spans tools for
easier programming and faster changeover.

ABB software allows configuration and testing of
new robot tasks in a “virtual” offline environment,
for easy download to production systems.

Manufacturing Automation research and
development and manufacturing are focused

in the U.S. and Sweden - near major automotive
centers. Market coverage is weighted toward
the Americas, Western Europe and China.

24

I EEEEEE——— ]

Going where no robot has gone before
Autornaotive assembly and painting have been the
traditional home turf of industrial robots for many
years. But things are changing. Today, robots are
becoming useful and economically viable in a wide
range of industry applications. And ABB’s new
generation of IRB 7600 power robots are leading
the way.

The secret lies in the ABB robot’s superior strength,
with payloads up to 500 kg. Just to compare, ten
years ago the world’s strongest robot could lift only
200 kg. These developments have attracted many
new customers.

Even ABB’s design engineers could never have
imagined all the possibilities. The IRB 7600 is going
where no robot has gone before. From moving
bricks to handling windowpanes or stee! bars,

our customers are discovering new applications

all the time.

The [RB 7600 fills a gap that has existed for a long
time in many industries: while their existing machines
can handle heavy payloads well encugh, they lack
versatility. Robots, on the other hand, are flexible and
precise, but have ~ so far — simply not been strong
enough. Now, the IRB 7600 offers both.
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Towering over the competition
ABB finished installing a $80 million car body
assembly line for Volvo in Belgium in 2003.

Tower Automotive Group, a large supplier {o the
automotive industry, commissicned the order, which
included integrating special ABB robots with a control
system, software and a wide variety of low-voltage
products. Standardized ABB manufacturing cells
contributed to on-time and on-budget performance
of the complex contract.

Volvo and Tower Automotive Group commended
ABB’s complete package of products and services.
ABB also serves many other so-called Tier-1
automotive suppliers.

For example, Canada’s AG Simpson, a major supplier
of bumpers to General Motors, Ford and DCX,
upgraded its principal bumper stamping line last

year with the help of ABB.
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Saving $60 million with services in New Zealand
ABB’s service business takes care of customers
throughout the whole Autormation Technologies division.
Across the beard, we see that customers increasingly
want ABB to help them manage their operations so
they can focus on their core businesses. In the last
year along, ABB has won hundreds of millions of
dollars worth of these types of service contracts -

from the industrial parks of Germany to the national
airline of Finland.

For Carter Holt Harvey, a forest products company,
ABB won a $50 million contract to maintain its
Kinleith mill in Tokoroa, New Zealand. Our experts
say the deal is a perfect example of ABB’s service
strategy at work.

ABB takes responsibility for all monitoring,
troubleshooting, maintenance and equipment
upgrades, earning business incentives along the way
for lowering environmental impact and improving
productivity at the mill.

Carter Holt Harvey expects to save around

$60 million over five years thanks to ABB.

“This contract will play an important role in giving
the mill a sustainable future,” said Peter Springford,
CEO of Carter Holt Harvey.
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Automation Technologies
Automation Products

The Automation Products business area, formed
at the beginning of 2004, employs around 27,000
and had revenues equivalent to about $4.5 billion
in 2003. It combines the activities of the former
Low-Voltage Products and Instrumentation
business area with the Drives, Motors and
Power Electrenics business area to form an
exceptional porifolio of core products.

Key products include low and medium-voltage
drives, and low and high-voltage motors,

used in building automation, marine, power,
transportation, manufacturing and process
industries; and power electronics systems,
which are sold to metals smelters, railway
manufacturers and power piants.

The low-voltage products business includes

a wide range of devices for power quality and
protection, wire management, switching and
motor control. Instrumentation products inciude
actuators and positioners, analytical instruments,
plus devices to measure flow, pressure, level,
temperature and similar process variables.

Many automation products are sold through
channel partners such as distributors, wholesalers,
instaliers, and original equipment manufacturers -
providing a strong revenue stream with fow project
risk. The business area is gecgraphically diverse,
with operations and customers throughout Eurcpe,
the Americas and Asia.
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Dialing up electricity savings

Motors powering mechanical equipment consume an
astounding amount of energy. They account for a full
B0 percent of the total electricity consumption in the
U.S., for example. And when motors run at a fixed
speed, much of the energy used is simply wasted.

Variable speed drives, like ABB’'s ACS550, precisely
control motor speed to reflect actual power demand,
eliminating the waste caused by fixed-speed operation
and generating end-user savings of up to 70 percent.

The all-new control panet is similar in ook, feel

and functionality to a mobile phone for user-friendly
operation, It features two soft keys, the functions of
which change according to the operating state of the
panel. A buiit-in HELP button and a real-time clock
assist in set-up and fault diagnostics.

Another ABB innovation creates extra savings by
*choking” the effect of harmonics, or electrical
disturbances, which cause significant energy loss
in devices operating with variable speed drives.
Conventional chokes bring down harmonics levels
at full load, but do nothing to reduce them at
partial load.

With ABB's patent-pending Swinging Choke design,
the ACS550 reduces harmonics at both full load and
partial load for a total reduction of up to 30 percent
compared to traditional choke designs.

ABB drives eliminate around 60 million tons of CO,
every year.
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Can you speak my language?

Whether they're used in a paper machine or a
chemical plant, different pieces of equipment are
controlled by information passing between them
and a control system. The link for this information
is called a fieldbus.

The challenge for manufacturers is that different
fieldbus devices often speak entirely different

.. languages, depending on the standard
communications protocol they use. One might use

a protocol called DeviceNet; another Profibus; a third
might use the AS-interface protocol. Most devices
cannot be interchanged without modification.

ABB has developed a component that bridges this
language divide. The Fieldbus Piug (FBP) is a compact
accessory that takes information from eguipment in
the field and converts it to any industry-standard
protocol. It is, in effect, a translator or interpreter.

ABB believes the FBP will have significant implications
for its low-voltage products business, currently worth
some $2 billion a year.

ABB'’s fieldbus plug family of products is highly
compact, easy to integrate with existing equipment
and pretested, simplifying the process of integration
across manufacturing plants and considerably
reducing costs.
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Muscular motors for Canadian paper makers

ABB recently built and supplied a 38 MW motor, said
to be the world's largest refiner motor, for Stora Enso’s
Port Hawkesbury paper mill in Nova Scotia, Canada.

ABB is the world's leading supplier of synchronous
motors for pulp refiners, which improve fiber strength
and optical properties in paper making. Since the late
1960s, ABB has delivered more than 600 of them

for use in mechanical pulp production - the same
nurmber as produced by ail other suppliers combined.

The 51,000 horsepower motor is designed to drive
a primary refiner in a new pulping line at the Port
Hawkesbury mill, which makes newsprint and
paper for magazines, catalogs and directories.

About 25 percent of ABB’s refiner motors are
installed in Canada, which is one of the world's
largest pulp producers.

in 1996, ABB delivered eight refiner motors rated
15 and 24 MW for installation on two refiner lines at
the mill. Also in 2003, two new 32 MW ABB motors
were installed at the primary stage of the existing
refiner lines in order to increase pulp production.
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Technology
Increasing our investment

“Cutting-edge technology, and our more than
120 years in power and automation, give our
core businesses a distinct advantage over our
competition,” says Markus Bayegan, ABB’s chief
technology officer.

ABB runs fen corporate

Investment in technology research programs:

(S millions, R&D and

order-related development) 1 Control and optimization

2 Software architecture
and processes
3 Sensors and microsystems
4 Power electronics
§ Advanced industrial communication
8 Mechatronics and
robotics automation
7 Pawer device technologies
8 Power transmission and
R&D and order-refated devefopment distribution applications
in the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 9 Manufacturing technologies
busvngss and other Discontinued {0 Narotechnologies
operations are exciuded.

904 !

01 02 03

New technology safeguards our competitive edge.
ABB invested roughly five percent of revenues, or
$930 million, in R&D and order-related development
in 2003. That’s an increase of more than $135 million
over 2002,

Strategy
Our research and development strategy is three-fold.

®  Monitor and develop emerging technologies 1o
create a pioneering and sustainable technology
base for the company

®  Develop technology platforms that enable efficient
product design, while serving both power and
automation customers

m  Develop the next generation of power and
automation products and systems to provide
the basis for profitable growth

One central task of ABB's R&D team is to transform
university research into industry-ready technology
platforms. This concept, honed in recent years,
comes to life in more than 50 university partnerships
in the U.S., Europe and Asia. Long-term, strategic
relationships with Massachusetts Institute of
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Technology, Carnegie Mellon University, Stanford
University, Cambridge University and Imperial College
London undertine the importance of this approach.

Our research programs are designed to serve both
power and automation customers with products that
enable growth and improve profitability. ABB's core
division heads Peter Smits and Dinesh Paliwal sit on the
R&D board to ensure technologies meet business needs.
Cormmon technology platforms are developed around
advanced materials, lean manufacturing, information
technology and data communication, as well as sensor
and actuator technology. Common applications of basic
technologies can also be found in power electronics,
electrical insulation and control and optimization.

In power, our insulation technologies, current
interruption and limitation, power electronics, flow
control and protection of electrical energy, drive
everything from large, reliable transmission systems
that prevent blackouts to household applications.
In automation, our control and optimization,
software technologies, power electronics, sensors
and microelectronics, mechatronics and wireless
communication, improve efficiency at plants and
factories around the world —~ ours included.

Global laboratories

Group R&D is carried out in two global laboratories
for power and autormation technologies, combining
research units in the U.S., Europe and Asia. The
cultural diversity and closeness to ABB’s customers
creates a breeding ground for success. in Asia, ABB
is building up its R&D activities in india, Singapore
and China. This development reflects ABB's market-
specific growth strategy. For example, China is one
of ABB’s fastest-growing markets, and needs specific
support and local expertise.

@ 7o find out more visit: www.abb.com/echnology
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Q. How have these changes affected company
morale and cuiture?

A. People are excited about the future again as
ABB recreates itself. There is a new culture, in
which cost management is an integral part of every
decision made.

However, a business culture can’t evolve simply
because you're good at saving money. Managing
costs must be part of a wider effort to empower
and excite people.

Qur focus is on individual responsibility and accountability,
but also programs to develop leadership, embed
business principles, and reward our people. We are
building an open culture at ABB, in which people

can raise and discuss any issue, and then take action.

Q. In concrete terms, what actions are you now
taking to build the leaders of tomorrow?

A. The more we value and pay attention to our
employees, the better our chances of influencing
them in ways that will make ABB healthy, prosperous
and compstitive.

We have programs which focus on learning, change

_management and helping people understand

the meaning of excellence in their areas of work
and expertise.

We have programs identifying and developing
internal and external leadership potential at every
level, and workshops focused on building leadership
and finding innovative ways to leverage ABB'’s
external spending power.

We recognize and reward those who deliver
on their promises.

ABB Group QOperational review 2003

Cost reduction projects and savings (Base: 1,429 projects)

1 Projects completed on time or dug
to be completed ahead of schedule 63%

2 Projects on schedule 32%
3 Projects with one or more actions overdue 5%

Savings ($ milions)

Target savings by mid-2004
Target year end 2003
Actual savings 2003

Target cost 2003

Actual cost 2003

.

o

G oh w2

Q. What are you doing to improve the working
conditions of ABB employees and the
communities where they live and work?

A. ABB has reinforced its health and safety directives
{page 35), and is weaving a culture of safety
awareness into the fabric of our daily work.

ABB’s revamped social policy safeguards the rights
and working conditions of employees and enshrines
our strong sense of social responsibility.

It also marks ABB’s desire to raise the guality
of life where we do business by consutting with
local communities, and committing to define
and participate in projects that benefit them.

And we participate in the U.N. Global Compact
and report back on our performance accaording
to the Global Reporting Initiative.
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Sustainability
An important part of our business

in 2003 ABB took several bold steps to further
integrate sustainability in every aspect of its
business. For example, we updated our
environmental poiicy, strengthened our health and
safety reguiations and implemented a wide variety
of measures to ensure our products and systems
are geared towards sustainable development.

We continued to follow the Global Reporting Initiative’s
triple bottom line, which means we assessed in detail

the impact of the economic, environmental and social

sides of our business.

Our target is to contribute to long-term economic,
environmental and social development, by providing
our utility and industry customers with power and
automation technologies that improve performance
and lower environmental impact.

While it is clear there are still challenges ahead,

the bottom line is that sustainability pays. Products
and systems that minimize environmental impact sel!
more readily. Companies that adhere to sustainability
rules and principles, independently verified by
agencies and organizations, prosper and offer

an attractive investment.

Corporate citizenship — which ranges from business
principles to community relations - is not only a must,
but often a joy to behold, particularly when it benefits
those we come into contact with. Joint efforts, such
as the Access to Electricity rural electrification project
{page 36), or an international human rights initiative

in which ABB is a partner, make a real difference.

Sustainable development means continuous
improvement. Some areas of focus in 2004:
developing a more transparent and safer working
culture; increasing cultural diversity; and improving
the representation of women in senior positions,
as part of our efforts to further sharpen our
sustainability focus and foster improvement.

32

Economic: strengthening power supplies

ABB won the 2003 Platts Global Energy Award for its
part in developing the world’s most powerful battery
storage system in Alaska.

The Battery Energy Storage System has a direct
impact on the local economy in Fairbanks. It stabilizes
the local grid, and is expected to reduce the number
of power outages by 65 percent per year. It provides
a practical and environmentally safe solution

for a region where an extended outage would

be very damaging.

Environmental: cutting pollution by 90 percent
ABB’s power and automation technologies helped
Stora Enso cut pallution levels by around S0 percent
within six months at its pulp and paper plant at Hylte
Bruk, Sweden.

ABB's Industrial IT software drives a new wastewater
treatment plant, and controls the temperature at which
water drawn from the nearby Nissan river is recycled.
Anaother benefit: salmon — virtually extinct 20 years
ago - have reappeared downstream in the river.

Social: helping children walk again

Motor stators, supplied free by ABB to a pioneering
research team at University College London, are
helping children walk again.

The treatment is for children who have lost part of
their leg bones through disease or injury. A prosthesis
and a small magnetic rotor are implanted in the leg
to support the remaining bone.

The rotor is linked to the prosthetic implant by a tiny
gearbox and is turned by an external stator. Once
placed inside the external stator, a patient’s leg can
be extended millimeter by millimeter to keep pace
with overall growth,

{8} To find out more visit: www.abb.com/sustainability

ABB Group Operational review 2003
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ABB technology forms
part of a complex
treatment that helps
children walk again. it is
part of the motor stator
seen here, which saves
the patient from regular
and painful surgery, and
reduces hospital costs.
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Sustainability
Environmental policy

o rediice se of hazardous waste material

A new policy to meet growing challenges

ABB introduced a new environmental palicy in 2003,

strengthening the management of environmental

issues relating to our products, sites and customers.

The new policy, which updates ABB's original program

introduced in 1982, contains nine commitrments to
ensure improvements in all parts of the value chain.

It means raising standards throughout the life cycle of
our products, from suppliers and contractors to when

our customers use and recycle the products.

In its latest assessment of ABB’s environmental

policy, the Sarasin Bank, Switzerland, says: “ABB again
scores above the industry average for every aspect of
environmental performance.” We are an acknowledged

industry leader in this field, but changing times and

challenges require an updated policy, with a restatement

of certain commitments and stronger, more effective
guidelines in certain areas.

A key statement in the new policy formally recognizes

environmental management as one of our highest
business priorities and incorporates sustainability in

all our strategies, processes and day-to-day business
throughout the group. All ABB units woridwide have

to ensure full compliance with environmental laws
and take measures to continually lower their
environmental impact.

34

ABB is committed to strengthening environmental
management in nine areas

Ensuring our worldwide operations are conducted
in an environmentally sound manner by applying
environmental management systems, such as

ISO 14001, in all our operations. This also involves
applying environmental principles, such as the
commitment to continual improvement, legal
compliance and awareness training for employees,
in all our operations worldwide

A greater emphasis is being placed on encouraging
suppliers, subcontractors and customers to adopt
international environmental standards

More importance to be given to energy and
resource efficiency in the development of our
rmanufacturing processes

Increased audits of our facilities’ environmental
performance. This also applies to mergers,
acquisitions and divestments

Greater transfer of eco-efficient technologies
to developing countries

Focus more on developing and marketing
products and systems which are resource efficient,
and facilitate the use of renewable energy sources

Continue publishing environmental product
declarations for our core products based on
life cycle assessments

Include environmental aspects in the risk
assessment of major customer projects

Maintain transparency by producing an annual,
independently verified sustainability review,
based on GRI requirements

Full implementation is key. Detailed guidelines are
being developed for each of the nine commitments
to ensure compliance.

ABB Group Operational review 2003



Sustainability
Social policy

s We also continued to develop health and safety skills

Top priority; health and safety
ABB strengthened its social policy, with particular
emphasis on health and safety, in 2003.

First, we sharpened our focus on health and safety
implementation. Our goal was to ensure that, by
the end of 2003, all countries had a clearly defined
organization and set of responsibilities for the
management of health and safety.

Some of the countries had already met most of these
requirements; others had not.

We have been relentlessly training managers while
making them accountable and responsible for
infractions. We analyzed our own accident and
occupational health data, and benchmarked it against
other multinationals, to set targets and objectives,
which were then implemented.

Monitoring was also strengthened. Our country
managers, the most senior managers in each country
organization, were given an increased role, and

an executive committee-led group from corporate
headguarters met, and will continue to meet

regularly to ensure full compliance throughout ABB.
The group also reviews quarterly reports from

all country organizations.

ABB Group Operational review 2003

and capacity within ABB. In 2003 countries were
required to appoint a health and safety advisor, and
a series of training events were held 1o help them.

Despite these measures, we regrettably lost 17

| people in 2003. Ten died in the workplace, and

seven were killed in commuting or business travel-
related accidents, including two who died in an

air crash. Of the total, 11 were ABB employees,
four were contractors and two were members

of the public.

This is unacceptable. The goal for 2004 is to eliminate
all work-reijated accidents. We have set a goal for all
operations to implement a formal health and safety
management system, based on the internationally
recognized OHSAS 18001, by the end of 2004.

Beyond these new, more stringent measures, ABB's
social policy is designed to improve the quality of life
for our employees, their families and people in the
communities in which we operate.

Time after time, individuals make the difference.

In the United Arab Emirates, for example, our people
promote women’s employment prospects; in Canada
we hold workshops 1o inspire women to study
science and mathematics.

In Germany, ABB volunteers heip mentally challenged
people in their daily lives. And in Brazil, ABB supports
a project to provide destitute children with basic
education and future prospects ~ cailed “Children

with a Future Full of Hope.” In countries like Colombia,
India and South Africa, ABB is involved in thriving
educational projects.

Broader initiatives support these efforts. For example,
ABB and six other international companies launched
an initiative in December 2003, led by a former
president of Ireland and former U.N. human rights
commissioner, Mary Robinson, to better define the
role of business in human rights.
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Sustainability

Helping economic development in rural Africa
Lights will be turned on for the first time in Ngarambe
in southern Tanzania ~ one of several villages that will
benefit from ABB's Access to Electricity initiative to
boost economic and social development in Africa.

Underground power lines have been laid. Electrical
sockets are installed in newly rebuilt brick walls. And
a diesel generator has been delivered to prepare for
the flick of a switch when electricity will start to flow.
The village government office, health clinic, school
and a handful of small shops will jump to life.

Ngarambe - a remote 1,800-strong village located
on the edge of a national park — is not linked to a
power grid. The area supports itself through hunting
and subsistence farming. In weeks to come, the
electrification project, carried out in cooperation with
the World Wide Fund for Nature, will strengthen the
local economy and increase business opportunities.

it is part of ABB's response to the United Nations Global
Compact's call for international companies to work with
government agencies, financial institutions and non-
governmental organizations to grow sustainable
business in the world's least-developed countries.

The generator in Ngarambe will provide power in the
first phase of the project, but will later be replaced by
an ABB-driven wind power instaliation. Installation is

free but consumers will pay for what they use.

The project is the first of a series in Tanzania, some
of which will be commercially based. Other ABB
rural electrification projects are slated for Senegal
and Uganda.
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Measuring our impact in India

ABB in India, a publicly listed company, has about
3,200 employees in eight main manufacturing sites.
Orders, revenues and net profit boomed in 2003,
and the unit expanded a number of sites.

Economic: With orders up 31 percent and revenues
up 25 percent in 2003, ABB in India provided a
countrywide boost to the local economy. For example,
the state-of-the-art factory at Maneja on the rural
outskirts of Vadodara employs more than 1,200 people,
provides dozens of components suppliers with work
and supports local business development. The opening
of two plants for distribution transformers and high-
voltage motors at Manegja in 2004 is expected to further
boost the benefits to the local community.

Environmental: Strict implementation of health,
safety and environmental standards at factories and
offices around the country. Improvement plans range
from “adopting” a park in central Bangalore, using
rain water to keep a number of factories green, and
planting thousands of shrubs and trees to spruce up
towns, cities and factories where ABB operates.

Social: The company and individual employees are
active in a variety of projects. Among them: support
and development of a school for underprivileged
children in Peenya; training a group of mentally
challenged people to work on an industrial production

- line in Nashik; and rebuilding a schoo! following an

earthquake in Gujarat, which has also become a
community and skili-learning center,

ABB Group Operational review 2003



ABB helps children from
underprivileged backgrounds
{as seen here in India), in
many countries, rom Brazi
to South Africa and Peland,
with devoted programs and
extensive volunteer work.

ABB Group Operational review 2003 37
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Corporate governance

1. Principle

ABB is committed to the highest international standards of corporate governance, and supports the general principles as set forth

in the Swiss Code of Best Practice, as well as those of the capital markets where ABB Is listed: the SWX Swiss Exchange and exchanges
in London, Stockholm, Frankfurt and New York.

in addition to the provisions of the Swiss Code of Obiigations, ABB's principles and rules on corporate governance are faid down in its
articles of incorporation, its standards for corporate governance, the charters of the board committess, the board membership guidelines,
several directives {e.g. on insider information) and the code on business ethics. It is the duty of ABB’s Board of Directors to review and
amend or propose amendments to those documents from time to time 1o reflect the most recent developments and practices,

as well as to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

This section of the annual report is based on the Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance published by the SWX Swiss
Exchange. Where an item listed in the directive is not addressed in this report, it is either inapplicable to, or immaterial for, ABB.

In accordance with the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (*NYSE”), a comparison as to which extent the corporate governance
practices followed by ABB differ from those required under the NYSE listing staridards can be found on ABB's Web site under:
www.abhb.com/about

2. Group structure and shareholders

2.1 Group structure

ABB Lid, Zurich, Switzerland is the uitimate parent company of the ABB Group, which is comprised of around 500 subsidiaries (operating
and holding companies) worldwide. Besides ABB Ltd, the only other listed company in the ABB Group is ABB Lid, India, which is listed
on the exchanges in India at Mumbai (BSE and NSE), Ahmadabad, New Delhi and Kolkata.

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2003, the name, country of incorporation, ownership interest and share capital of ABB Ltd
and its significant subsidiaries:

Share
ABB capital in
Company name/Location Country interest % in 1000

ABB S.A., Buenos Alres
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Share
ABB capital in
Company narne/L.ocation Country interest % in 1000 Gurrency

ABB's operational group structure is described in the “Financial review” part of this annual report.
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2.2 Significant shareholders

As of December 31, 2003, Investor AB, Stockholm, Sweden,

informed ABB it held 204,115,142 ABB shares, reflecting 9.86 percent
of the company’s share capital. The percentage of Investor's share
participation had been reduced to this figure from the former 10.01
percent as a result of ABB issuing on December 15, 2003, 30,288,813
new shares out of the authorized share capital in connection with

the plan of reorganization of Combustion Engineering {see section

3.2 below).

The Capital Group International, Inc., Los Angeles, CA, U.S.,
informed ABB that, as of December 31, 2003, they held for their
clients 133,888,830 ABB shares, corresponding to 6.5 percent
of ABB's totat share capital

To the best of ABB's knov;t_edg“e, -ho other sharehclder holds five
percent or more of ABB'S shares.

2.3 Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings in excess of five percent of the
share capital or the voting rights between ABB and another company.

3. Capital structure

3.1 Ordinary share capital

As of December 31, 2003, ABB’s ordinary share capital (including
treasury shares) amounts to CHF 5,175,787,367.50 divided into
2,070,314,947 fully paid registered shares with a par value of
CHF 2.50 per share.

3.2 Changes to the share capital

At ABB Lid's annual general meeting held on March 20, 2001,

its shareholders approved a share spilit in a four-for-one ratio to
reduce the par value of the shares from CHF 10 each to CHF 2.50
each. Consequently, the number of issued shares changed from
300,002,358 to 1,200,009,432, whereas the share capital remained
at CHF 3,000,023,580. The share spiit was registered in the
commercial register on May 7, 2001.

On November 20, 2003, ABB's extraordinary sharehoiders’ meeting
resolved to increase ABB’s share capital by CHF 2,100,016,505 by
issuing 840,006,802 new shares.

Shareholders who did not want to exercise thelr rights to subscribe for
new shares could sell them. 99.4 percent of the rights were exercised.
The shares related to unexercised rights were sold in the market and
the proceeds were received by ABB,
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ABB's new share capital of CHF 5,100,040,085, divided into
2,040,016,034 shares, was registered in the commercial register
on December 9, 2003.

Subsequently, ABB issued 30,298,913 shares out of its authorized
capital for purposes of fulfiling ABB's obligations under the pre-
packaged plan of reorganization of Combustion Engineening.

In accordance with its then current articles of incorporation, the
pre-emptive rights of the shareholders have been excluded and
allocated to an ABB subsidiary, which has subscribed for these
shares and holds them untit they will be cantributed to the Asbestos
P1 Trust, once the pre-packaged plan of reorganization of Combustion
Engineering has become effective {for the accounting treatment

of these “Asbestos shares” please refer to Notes 18 and 23

of the “Financial review” part of this annual report).

The new share capital of CHF 5,175,787,367.50 divided into
2.070,314,847 shares was registered in the commercial register
on December 15, 2003.

3.3 Contingent share capital

ABB’s share capital may be increased in an amount not to exceed
CHF 550,000,000 through the issuance of up to 220,000,000 fully
paid shares with a par value of CHF 2.50 per share (3} up to the
amount of CHF 525,000,000 (equivalent to 210,000,000 shares)
through the exercise of conversicn rights and/or warrants granted

in connection with the issuance on national or international capital
markets of newly or aiready issued bonds or other financial market
instruments, and (b) up to the amount of CHF 25,000,000 (equivalent
to 10,000,000 shares) through the exercise of warrant rights granted
to its shareholders. ABB'’s board of directors may grant warrant rights
not taken up by shareholders for other purposes in the interest of ABB.

The pre-emptive rights of the shareholders are excluded in connection
with the issuance of convertible or warrant-bearing bonds or other
financial market instruments or the grant of warrant rights. The then-
current owners of conversion rights and/or warrants will be entitlied

to subscribe for the new shares. The conditions of the conversion
rights and/or warrants will be determined by ABB’s board of directors.

The acquisition of shares through the exercise of conversion rights

and/or warrants and each subsequent transfer of the shares will be
subject to the transfer restrictions of ABB's articles of incorporation
(see section 3.5 below).
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in connection with the issuance of convertible or warrant-bearing
bonds or other financial market instruments, the board of directors
is authorized to restrict or deny the advance subscription rights of
shareholders if such bonds or other financial market instruments
are for the purpose of financing or refinancing the acquisition of an
enterprise, parts of an enterprise, participations or new investments
or an issuance on national or international capital markets, if the
board of directors denies advance subscription rights, the convertible
or warrant-bearing bonds or other financial market instruments will
be issued at the relevant market conditions and the new shares will
be issued pursuant to the relevant market conditions taking into
account the share price and/or other comparable instruments
having a market price. Conversion rights may be exercised during
a maximum ten-year period, and warrants may be exercised during
a maximum seven-year period, in each case from the date of the
respactive issuance. The advance subscription rights of the
shareholders may be granted indirectly,

ABB'’s share capital may be increased by an amount not to exceed
CHF 200,000,000 through the issuance of up to 80,000,000 fully-paid
shares to employees. The pre-emptive and advance subscription
rights of ABB’s shareholders are excluded. The shares or rights to
subscribe for shares will be issued to employees pursuant to one or
more regulations to be issued by the board of directors, taking into
account performance, functions, levels of responsibility and profitability
criteria. ABB may issue shares or subscription rights to employees at
a price lower than that gucted on the stock exchange. The acguisition
of shares within the context of employee share ownership and each
subsequent transfer of the shares will be subject to the transfer
restrictions of ABB's articles of incorporation (see section 3.5 below).

3.4 Authorized share capital

ABB's board of directors is authorized to increase AB8's share
capfital in an amount not to exceed CHF 174,252,717.50 through
the issuance of up to 69,701,087 fully paid shares with a par value
of CHF 2.50 per share by not later than May 19, 2005. Increases in
partial amounts shall be permitted. The subscription and acquisition
of the shares issued under ABB's authorized capital, as well as each
subsequent transfer of the shares, will be subject to the transfer
restrictions of ABB's articles of incorporation (see section 3.5 below).

The board of directors will determine the issue price, the type of
payment, the date of issue of new shares, the conditions for the
exercise of pre-emptive rights, and the beginning date for any
dividend entittement. In this regard, the board of directars may

issue new shares by means of a firm underwriting through a banking
institution, a syndicate or another third party and a subsequent offer
of these shares to current shareholders. ABB'’s board of directors
may permit pre-emptive rights that have not been exercised to expire
or may place these rights and/or shares as tc which pre-emptive
rights have been granted but not exercised at market conditions or
use them for other purposes in ABB's interest.
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The board of directors is further authorized 1o restrict or deny the
pre-emptive rights of the shareholders and to allocate such rights

to third parties if the shares are to be used (a} for the acquisition

of an enterprise, parts of an enterprise, participations or for new
investments, or, in case of a share placement, for the financing or
refinancing of such transactions, (b) for the purpose of broadening
ABB’s shareholder constituency in connection with a listing of shares
on domestic or foreign stock exchanges, or (¢) for employee
participation plans.

3.5 Limitations on transferability of shares

and nominee registration

ABB may decline a registration with voting rights if a shareholder does
not declare that it has acquired the shares in its own name and for its
own account. If the shareholder refuses to make such declaration, it
will be registered as a sharehoider without voting rights.

A person failing to expressly declare in its registration application that
it holds the shares for its own account (a “Nomineg”), will be entered
in the share register with voting rights, provided that such Nominee
has entered into an agreement with the board of directors concerning
its status, and further provided that the Nominee is subject to a
recognized bank or financial market supervision. In special cases the
board of directors may grant exemptions. There were no exemptions
granted in 2003.

3.6 Convertible bonds and warrants

For additional information about outstanding convertible bonds and
options on shares issued by ABB, please refer to Note 15 and 22
of the “Financial review” part of this annual report.

4. Shareholders’ participation

4.1 Shareholders’ dividend rights

For shareholders who are residents of Sweden, ABB has established
a dividend access facllity under which such shareholders have the
option to be registered with Vardepapperscentralen VPG AB in
Sweden and to receive the dividend in Swedish kronor from ABB
Participation AB. For further information on the dividend access facility
please refer to the articles of incorporation.

4.2 Shareholders’ voting rights

ABB has one class of shares and each registered share carries one
vote at the general meeting. Vating rights may be exercised only after
a shareholder has been registered in the share register of ABB as

a shareholder with the right to vote, or with Vardepapperscentralen
VPC AB in Sweden, which maintains a sub-register of the share
register of ABB.

A shareholder may be represented at the general meeting by another
shareholder with the right to vote, its legal representative, a corporate
body (Organvertreter), an independent proxy (unabhéngiger
Stimmrechtsverireter), or a depositary (Depotvertreter). All shares held
by one shareholder may be represented by only One representative.
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For practical reascns shareholders must be registered in the share
register no later than ten days before the general meeting in order to
be entitled 1o vote. Except for the cases described under section 3.6
there are no voting rights restrictions limiting ABB's shareholders rights.

4.3 Generai meeting

Shareholders’ resofutions at general meetings are approved with an
absclute majority of the votes represented at the meeting, except
for those matters described in article 704 of the Swiss Code of
Obligations and for resolutions with respect to restrictions on the
exercise of the right to vote and the removal of such restrictions,
which all require the approval of two-thirds of the votes represented
at the meeting.

Shareholders representing shares of a par value of at least CHF
1,000,000 may request items to be included in the agenda of a
general meeting. Such request must be mads in writing at least
40 days prior to the date of the general meeting and specify the
items and the motions of such shareholder(s).

5. Board of directors

5.1 Responsibilities and organization

The board of directors defines the ultimate direction of the business
of ABB and issues the necessary instructions. It determines the
crganization of the ABB Group and appoints, removes and supervises

the persons entrusted with the management and representation of ABB.

The internal organizational structure and the definition of the areas of
responsibility of the board of directors, as well as the information and
control instruments vis-a-vis the group executive committee, are set
forth in the regulations of the board of directors.

Board meetings are convened by the chairman or upon request
by a director or the chief executive officer (CEQ).

5.2 Term and members

The members of the board of directors are elected at the
ordinary general meeting of the shareholders for a term of one
year; re-election is possible.

ABB's board membership guidelines require that the board of
directors is comprised of a substantial majority of independent
directors. Currently all board members, with the exception of
Jurgen Dormann as chairman and CEQ, are non-executive and
independent directors {see also below section 5.4},
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Members of the board of directors of ABB:

Jurgen Dormann
Chairman, president and CEO of ABB, board member since 1998

Chairman of the supervisory board of Aventis (France) and Lion
Bioscience (Germany)

Board member: Allianz (Germany)

Board member: Valepar, Companhia Paulista de Forca e Luz,
Companhia Siderurgica Nacional, LATASA, VBC Energia, Brasmotor,
Mahle Metal Leve, Rio Grande Energia, Serra da Mesa Energia (all Brazil)

Board member: BT Group (U.K.), Electrotux (Sweden) and
Sufzer (Switzerland)

Hans Ulrich Marki
General manager of IBM Europe/Middle East/Africa (France)

Board member: Innaphase, Ursinus College, Paul Capital Partners
Rovyalty Fund (all U.S.}

Member of the advisory board of the Global Business Coalition
on HV/AIDS (U.S.)
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Bernd W. Voss

Member of the supervisory board of Drasdner
Bank (Germany)

Board member: Alianz Leben, Continental, Quelle, TU!, Wacker
Chemie, Osram {all Germany)

Chairman of SEB Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken and
W Capital Management {(both Sweden)

Vice-chairman: Investor, Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation,
Atlas Copco, Electrolux, SAS (all Sweden)

Board member: Confederation of Swedish Enterprise,
Nobel Foundation (all Sweden)

Further information on ABB's board members, including details about
their education and professional experience, as well as other activities
and functions, is available on ABB's Web site under:
www.abb.com/about

5.3 Cross-involvement

Jacob Wallenberg is vice-chairman of Electrolux, where also
Louis R. Hughes and Michael Treschow are board members.
Jacob Wallenberg, however, will decline re-election at the
Electrolux annual general meeting in Aprit 2004.

5.4 Business relationships

This section describes business relationships between ABB
and its non-executive board members, or companies and
organizations represented by them.

In December 2002, ABB entered into a $1.5 billion, 364-day revolving
credit facifity. As of November 1, 2003, the amount available under
the facility was reduced to $1.2 bhillion. Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken
(*SEB”) was a lender under this credit facility, with an $89 million
commitment, representing approximately 7.4 percent of the total
commitment available to ABB. Jacob Wallenberg is the chairman

of SEB. In addition, Dresdner Bank Luxembourg S.A. was a lender
under the credit faciiity, with a $57 million commitment, representing
approximately 4.8 percent of the total commitment available to ABB.
Bernd Voss is a member of the supervisory board of Dresdner Bank
AG (“Dresdner Bank”™). We paid back and cancelled the previous

$1.5 billion secured bank facility. On November 17, 2003, ABB
entered into its new $1 billion credit facility. Each of SEB and Dresdner
Bank Luxembourg S.A. has committed to $83.3 million out of the

$1 billion total.

ABB Group Operational review 2003

in June 2003, ABB entered into a ten-year agreement with IBM
pursuant to which IBM takes responsibility for the operation and
support of information systems infrastructure in 14 countries in
Europe and North America, representing approximately 80 percent

of ABB's information systems infrastructure. The agreement involves
the transfer to IBM of 780 ABB employees, in addition to the 380
employees transferred under pilot programs prior to 2003. The final
transfer of responsibilities took place in September 2003. The value
of the agreement will approach $1.7 billion over ten years. Hans Ulrich
Mérki is general manager of IBM Europe/Middie East/Africa.

During the year 2003 ABB was party to several contracts with
Companhia Vale do Rio Doce (CVRD) and its subsidiaries.

The largest contracts are for {i) engineering services and supply

of equipment of the pelletizing plants located at the port of Tubarao
complex (Brazll), with a value of approximately $6.3 million, and

{th supply of equipment for the expansion of ALUNORTE (Brazi),
with a value of approximately $6.2 million. There are also various
purchase orders for spare parts and machinery in general,
amounting to approximatefy $1.2 miliion. Roger Agnelii is president
and CEQ of CVRD.

ABB's board of directors has determined that these transactions do
not constitute material business relationships, comparing the revenues
generated from the business described above to the annual revenues
of SEB, Dresdner Bank, 1BM and CVRD. ABB’s board of directors
therefore considers Wallenberg, Voss, Marki and Agrelli — as well as
the other board members, with the exception of Jurgen Dormann as
chaiman and CEO - to be independent directors. This determination
was made in accordance with the Swiss Cede of Best Practice and
the independence criteria set forth in the new carporate governance
rules of the New York Stock Exchange.

5.5 Board committees

The Board of Directors of ABB has appointed from among its
members three board cormmittess: The nomination and compensation
committee, the finance and audit committes and the strategy
committes. The duties and objectives of the board committees
(except for the strategy committee) are set forth in charters issued

or approved by the board of directors. These committees assist the
board in its tasks and report regularly to the board.
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5.5.1 Nomination and compensation committee

The nomination and compensation committee determines the
selection of candidates for the board of directors and its committees,
plans for the succession of directors and ensures that newly elected
directors receive the appropriate introduction and orientation, and
that all directors receive adeguate continuing education and training
to fulfill their obligations. The nomination and compensation
committee determines the remuneration of the members of the
group executive committee.

The nomination and compensation committee comprises three

or more independent directors. Upon invitation by the committee’s
chainman, the CEO or other members of the group executive
committee may participate in the committee mestings, provided
that any potential conflict of interest is avoided and confidentiality
of the discussions is maintained.

Members and secretary of the nomination and compensation committee:

Members: Hans Ulrich Marki (chairman)
Michet de Rosen
Jacob Wallenberg
Secretary: Gary Stesl

5.5.2 Finance and audit committee

The finance and audit committee oversees the financial reporting
processes and accounting practices, evaluates the independence,
objectivity and effectiveness of external and internal auditors,

reviews audit results and monitors compliance with the laws and
regulations governing the preparation of ABB's financial statements
and assesses the processes relating to risk managemsnt and internal
control systems.

The finance and audit committee comprises three or more
independent directors who have a thorough understanding of
finance and accounting. As determined by the committee’s
chairman for matters related to their respective functions, the head
of internal audit, as well as the external auditors, may participate
in the finance and audit committee meetings.

Members and secretary of the finance and audit committee:

Members: Bernd W. Voss (chairman)
Roger Agnelii
Jacob Wallenberg
Secretary: Peter Voser

5.5.3 Strategy committee

The strategy committee was constituted on July 28, 2003, after
its creation was approved by the board of directors at its mesting
of February 10, 2003.
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The strategy committee reviews management proposals relating
to the strategic direction of the ABB Group and assists the board
of directors in determining the long-term strategy of the ABB Group.

Members and secretary of the strategy committee:

Members: Louls R. Hughes (chairman)
Hans Ulrich Marki
Michae! Treschow
Secretary: Peter Smits

5.6 Meetings and attendance

The table below shows the number of meetings held by the board

of directors and its committees, their average duration, as well as the
attendance of the individual board members:

MNarmination
and Finance
Board of compensation and audit Strategy

directors committee commitiee committee

* Most meetings of the strategy committee were also attended by the complete
group executive committee.

** Hecled as member of the board of direciors by the ordinary shareholder's
meeting of May 16, 2003. Therefore not able to attend all meetings held in 2003,

5.7 Lead director

The board of directors created the position of lead director and
appointed Jacch Wallenberg to address potential situations of
conflicting interests, which Jirgen Dormann in his dual role as
chairman of the board and CEOQ may experience.

The additional tasks of the lead director are to act as counselor to
the chairman and facilitate the dialogue between the members of the
board and the chairman. He may call special meetings without the
chalrman’s presence where the chairman’s role and performance will
be discussed.

The position of lead director will cease to exist upon separating the
chairman of the board and CEO positions.
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5.8 Board compensation

For the period from the annual general meeting of sharcholders

in 2008 to the annual general meeting of the shareholders in 2004,
the compensation of the board of directors was kept at the previous
year's level, which is:

Chairman: CHF 1,000,000
Member: CHF 250,000
Committee chainman:  CHF 50,000
Committee member: CHF 20,000

Payments to board members are made in May and November in
advance of each term. Board members receive at least 50 percent
(and may elect to receive a higher ratio} of their net compensation,
i.e, after deduction of social security costs and withholding tax (where
applicable), in ABB shares, which they are entitled 1o receive with

a discount of ten percent of the average share price during a 30-day
reference period. During the term of the board mempbership, the ABB
shares are kept in a blocked account and may only be disposed of
after the respective person has left the board of directors.

in 20083, the current board members received the following compensation
{the calculation of the number of shares and the cash amount varies
depending whether the respective person is subject to taxation at source):

Total annual Amount
compensation recaived in Number of
{gross), in  cash (net) in shares

CHF CHF received

3,020,000 260,605 421,246

" Jirgen Domann received this compensation in addition to his compensation
as CEO (see section 6.4 below).

With the exception of Jirgen Dormann in his function as CEO,
board members do not receive pension benefits and are not eligible
to participate in ABB’s management incentive program.

No compensation was paid to former board members.
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5.9 Ownership of ABB shares and options

The table below shows the number of ABB shares, or equivalent
U.5. american depositary shares (ADS), held by each board member
as of December 31, 20083:

Number of
OO T TS TO TSSOSO OO U U U REUO PP PTPUIU PO shares
dorgenDommann 580,415
RogerAgnell o TOBT3
Louis R HUghes | e, 50886
Hans Uldch Marki 195,577
Michel de ROSeN ] 55,028
Michael TSCROW e, 38,083
Bemd W VOSS 106,138
Jacob Wallenberg 94,329

With the exception of Jirgen Domann in his function as CEO none of
the board members holds any options in ABB shares. No person
closely linked to any of the board members holds any shares of ABB
or options in ABB shares. As persons closely linked are understood in
this context: 1) The spouse; 2} children below the age of 18; 3) legal
or natural persons acting as fiduciary; or 4) legal entities controlied by
a board member.

5.10 Secretary to the board of directors
John G. Scriven is secretary to the board of directors. He succeeded
Beat Hess after the 2003 annual general meeting of shareholders.

8. Group executive commitiee

6.1 Responsibilities and organization

The board of directors has delegated the executive management
of ABB to the CEO and the other members of the group executive
committes. The CEO, and under his direction the other members
of the group executive committee, are responsible for ABB's overall
business and affairs and the day-to-day management. The CEO
reports 1o the board regularly, and whenever extraordinary
circumstances so reqguire, on the course of ABB’s business and
financial performance and on all organizational and personnel matters,
transactions and other issues relevant to the group.

Upon proposal by the nomination and compensation committee, the
group executive commitiee is appointed and discharged by the board
and consists of the CEQ, the chief financial officer (CFQ) and the other
executive vice presidents.
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6.2 Members

Jiirgen Dormann

Further information on ABB’s group executive committee, including
details about education and professional experience, as well as other
activities and functicns, is available on ABB’s Web site under:
www.abb.com/about
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6.3 Management contracts
There are no management contracts between ABB and companies
or natural persons not belonging to the ABB Group.

6.4 Group executive committee compensation

Members of the group executive commitiee receive annual base
compensation. In addition, they are eligible for annual bonus
compensation, which depends on the performance of the individual
area of responsibility of each group executive committee member and
of the ABB Group and, in certain cases, on a qualitative appreciation
of a member’s achievements.

In addition to receiving annual base and bonus compensation,
members of the group executive committee may participate in a
management incentive program. Under this program approximately
1,100 key employees recsived watrants and warrant appreciation
rights for no consideration over the course of six launches (plus
one special launch in 1999) from 1998 to 2003. The warrants are
exercisable for shares at a predetermined price, not less than the
fair market value as of the date of grant. Participants may also sell
the warrants rather than exercise the right 1o purchase shares.
Equivalent warrants are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange, which
facilitates valuation and transferability of warrants granted under
the management incentive plan.

Al members of the group executive committee participated in the
sixth launch of ABB'’s management incentive program. Each of

them received 1,000,000 warrants or equivalent warrant appreciation
rights {for details refer to section 6.6 below). None of the members

of the group executive committee has received ABB shares as
compensation, except for JUrgen Dormann in his function as chairman
of the board (see section 5.8 above).

Group executive committee members receive customary additional
benefits such as a company car and health insurance compensation,
which are not material in the aggregate.
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In applying the “cash-out principle” the table below shows the gross payments that were made to the members of the group executive
committee, which include the bonuses that are based on 2002 business performance, as well as the employer's part of the ordinary pension
contributions. All members of the group executive committee are insured in the ABB Pension Fund, the ABB Supplementary Insurance Plan
and the Tédt foundation (the regulations are avallable under www.abbvorsorge.ch), with the exception of Dinesh Paliwal, who is insured under
the U.S. pension plan (see footnote below).

Salary paid Bonus 2002 Additional Total annual Employer's
Cunmency in 2003 received compensation compensation  pension contributions

* This compensation as CEO is in addition to the compensation received as chairman of the board,

** As Dinesh Paliwal has a U.S. employment contract he received his salary in U.S. dollars. His pension contributions are based on the U.S. pension plan.

“ Gary Steel received the amount of CHF 860,300 as compensation for shares and options due to change of employment.

= For the purpose of calculating the total, the U.S. dollar amounts relating to Dinesh Paliwal have been converted into CHF at an average conversion rate of 1.34,

6.5 Performance alignment
For 2003, ABB introduced a structure for aligning the performance expectations of its senior managers.

Group executive committee members, corporate staff and country managers of the 19 largest countries receive targets and are measured
on ABB Group resulits, rather than on the basis of individual husinesses. Business area managers and local country divisional managers receive
targets and are measured on ABB Group results (60 percent) and on their business area or divisional results (40 percent).

At least 20 percent of this “scorecard” must be made up of qualitative measurements, such as order growth with key customers, perfonmance
appraisal systems and financial gearing.

In addition to this group of senior managers, all other participating managers are measured with a minimum of 25 percent on ABB Group
resufts. Resulting bonuses are paid in March each year after full-year results are announced.

In applying the scorecard principles, group executive committee members have a maximum bonus opportunity of 100 percent of their
base salary.
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6.6 Ownership of ABB shares and options

Under ABB’s management incentive program members of the group executive committee received options in the years 1998 to 2003.

The details of the various launches are as follows:

MIP launch Allotment year

Vesting period

Term life Subscription ratio Exercise price CHF

The subscription ratios and exercise prices of MIP 1 ta MiP & were adjusted due to the increase of ABB'’s share capital in December 2003

(see section 3.2 above).

As of December 31, 2003, the members of the group executive committee held (which does not necessarily equal the numbers granted,
if the vesting period has lapsed) the following numbers of shares and options (based on the categorization described above):

Allotment Allotment
year 1998 year 1998
Number of shares {MIP 1) (MIP 2)

USRSV SO PO TSSO OO U PR TRRRURRUOROROT Number of options
Allotment Allotment Allotment Allotment Allotment
year 1999 year 1999 year 2000 year 2001 year 2003

(MIP special (MIP 3 (MIP 4) (MIP 5 (MIP &)

* For Jurgen Dormann’s share ownership see section 5.9,

Ne person closely linked to any member of the group executive committee holds any shares of ABB or options in ABB shares.

7. Loans and guarantees granted to ABB’s board of directors
or group executive committee

ABB has not granted any loans or guarantees to its board members
or members of the group executive committea.

8. Compensation for forrmer members of the group

executive committee

in 2003, ABB made a total payment of CHF 5,191,618 gross

o four members of the group executive committee who departed
during the calendar year 2002, This figure is composed of satary
payments during contractual notice periods and severance payments
made in lisu of continuing salary payments. In addition, ABB made
cantributions to the respective pension funds in an aggregate amount
of CHF 321,888. in January 2004, ABB made a payment of CHF
588,592 gross to one former member of the group executive
committee, in fulfillment of a contractual pension commitment.
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4. Duty to make a public tender offer

ABB's articles of incorporation do not contain any provisions raising
the threshold (opting-up) or waiving {opting-out) the duty to make a
pubiic tender offer pursuant to article 32 of the Swiss Stock Exchange
and Securities Trading Act.

10. Change of controf provisions

ABB does not offer “golden parachutes” to its members of the board
of directors or senior executives. Conseguently none of ABB's board
members, group executive committee members or members of seniar
management is benefiting from clauses on changes of contral.
Employment contracts normally contain notice periods of 12 months
for group executive committee members and three to six months for
members of senior management, during which they are entitled to
running salaries and bonuses.
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11. Auditors

11.1 Group auditors and special auditors

Ernst & Young is the group and statutory auditor of ABB. OBT has
been elected as special auditor 1o issue special review reports
required in connection with capital increases.

11.2 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the

group auditor

Ernst & Young assumed the existing auditing mandate as auditor

of the ABB Group in 1994, The head auditor responsible for the
mandate, Charles Barone, began serving in this function in May 2003.

11.3 Auditing and additional fees paid to group auditor

The audit fees paid by ABB in 2003 to Ernst & Young for the legally
prescribed audit amounted to $21 million. Audif services are defined
as the standard audit work performed each fiscal year necessary to
allow the auditor 1o issue an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of ABB and 1o issue an opinion on the local statutory
financial statements.

it also includes services that can only be provided by the group audi-
tor such as assistance with the application of new accounting policies,
preissuance reviews of quarterly financial results and comfort letters
delivered to underwriters in connection with debt and equity offerings.

- In addition, ABB paid $13 million to Ernst & Young for non-audit

services performed during 2003. Non-audit services include primarily
accounting consultations and audits in connection with divestments,
audits of pension and benefit plans, accounting advisory services,

tax and compliance and other tax services. In accordance with the
requirernents of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules issued by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (*SEC”), the finance and audit
committee has, on a global basis, introduced a process for the review
and pre-approval of audit and non-audit senvices to be performed by
the auditors.

11.4 Supervisory and control instruments vis-a-vis

the group auditors

Ernst & Young periodically reads the approved minutes of meetings
of our board of directors. Ermst & Young is present at the finance

and audit committee meetings where audit planning is discussed and
the results of our internal audit department’s audit procedures are
presented. Ermst & Young also periodically meets with the finance and
audit committee to discuss the results of its audit procedures.
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12. Information policy

ABB reports to the SWX Swiss Exchange and the exchanges

in London, Stockholm, Frankfurt and New York, where it is listed,
and publishes quarterly reports. ABB submits its annual report
on form 20-F to the U.S. stock exchange supervision authority,
the SEC. All of these reports may also be downloaded from:
www.abb.com/investorrelations

The company's official means of communication is the Swiss Official
Gazette of Commerce.

Inquiries may also be made to ABB Investor Relations:
Telephone: +41 43 317 71 11
Fax: +41 13119817

ABR’s Web site is www.abb.com

13. Further information on corporate governance

The list below contains references to additional information on
the corporate governance of ABB, which can be accessed at:
www.abb.com

articles of incorporation

regulations of the board of directors

CV of members of the board of directors

CV of members of the group executive committee
corporate governance charter

charter of the nomination ang compensation committee
charter of the finance and audit committee

business ethics

comparison of ABB's corporate governance practices
to the New York Stock Exchange rules
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Management

Division management teams

Automation Technologies

Power Technologies

Dinesh Paliwal

Division head

Peter Terwiesch

Technology

Group Functions reporting to CEQ, Jiirgen Dormann

Division head Peter Smits

Country manager, Canada and local division
manager, United States

Technology Georg Schett

Group Functions reporting to CFO, Peter Voser

Corporate GCommunications Bjém Ediund

Research and Development Markus Bayegan

Group Functions reporting to head of
Human Resources, Gary Steel

HR Operations Paul Lewis

Sustainability Affairs Christian Kornevall
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Cormporate Finance and Taxes Alfred Storck

Risk Management Charles Salek
ABB Lummus Global*
CEO Samir Brikho

* Also reporting to CFO, Peter Voser
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Country managers

Europe Ameticas

Aus_tféa ____________ Rudolf Petsche A(genﬁna

BaitcStates ... BoHeniksson | Brazl e, J08KM OlsSOD
Benelx . MaroGroon Ganade  ~  ~ PaulKefals
CzeohRepublic . ......Oledaeoorg Chle L Victor Balvier
Dernark . oo.....0CeusMedsen Colomba . RamonMonras
Filand ... MikoNinvaara | MEXICO . ATENdO Basave
France ............................. Péhé'mé/cént'r.al.Ainériéé, e { P
Germary ... Bemhadducker Peu - 0. Eduardo Soldano
oy T s S Ui S el
Hungary Vot o i
Feland .. Frank Duggan

Y ., SiEN-Francesco Imperiall Asia
................................................................................................................... Austra}ia John Gaske”

Trevor GregO 5 L ST EPIE P

United Kingdom

Middle East and Africa Vietnam Erik Rydgren

Oyt e 5SS YOUSSER

Region managers

Central and Eastern Europe L Bruno Berggren
North and South East Asia ] Boonkiat Sim
Middie Fastand North Afica Fargj Allarba
Sub Sahara Africa Carlos Pone
UAE/Near East and Guif Faraj Aldarba
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ABB on the Web
www.abb.com

Qur Web site serves
every stakeholder
group, from customers
(60 percent of traffic)
and suppliers to NGOs,
journalists, investors,
potential employees
and academics.

ABB had around 12 million visitors
to its Web site in 2003.

About ABB

This section of the site provides an overview of our
products, services and solutions, sheds light on the
ABB Group strategy, and outlines our organizational
structure, business principles, corporate governance
charter and 120-year history.

Products and services

ABB’s products and services are its lifeblood. In this
section you can find our product guide —an Ato Z
list of products we have made or now make. You

can also find our service guide and contact list, which
provide detailed information regarding the upkeep of
power plants and factories, and sales contacts to
help you get what you need immediately, wherever
you are located.
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Sustainability

ABB follows the Sustainability Reporting Guidelines,
first published in mid-2000 by the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) — an international, multi-stakeholder
undertaking supported by the United Nations. The
GRI guidelines are based on a “triple bottom line”
reporting concept, covering economic, environmental
and social performance.

News center

This section is devoted to the media and includes
press releases, trade and technology releases,
speeches and presentations, downloadable pictures
of our people and technology, and an up-to-date
library of publications.

Technology

ABB is a technology-based company. We run two
global research and development labs and ten
research programs in power and automation. You

can watch streaming video interviews with our experts
and listen to them discuss strategy and the future
direction of R&D. One of the most valuable parts of
ABB’s technology section is devoted to publications,
Including research papers, pericdicals, technology
reviews and reports.

Careers

The careers section on ABB’s Web site offers
everything you need to know as a student, recruit

or professional looking for new challenges. It features
the most recently posted jobs in ABB, background
information on the company, and interviews and
videos-on-demand with existing empioyees. New
sections are devoted to registering your own CV,

and students and interns, where you can choose
from a variety of interesting international assignments.

Investor relations

This section includes ABB’s share price ticker, listings
and ticker symbols. It displays per share, dividend
and stock split history and has all of ABB’s quarterly
financial releases, an information archive, outlock
statement, annual reports and shareholder updates.
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ABB Ltd
Cormporate Communications
PO. Box 8131

CH-8050 Zurich
Switzerland

Tel: +41 (0)43 317 7111
Fax: +41 (0)43 317 7958

www.abb.com

ABB Ltd

Investor Refations

PO. Box 8131

CH-8050 Zurich
Switzerland

Tel: +41{0)43 317 7111
Fax: +41 (0)43 317 9817

ABB Inc.

investor Relations

PO. Box 5308

Norwalk CT 06856-5308
USA

Tel: +1203 750 7743
Fax: +1203 750 2262

ABB Lid

Investor Relations
SE-72183 Vasteras
Sweden

Tel: +46 (0)21 32 50 00
Fax: +46 {0)2132 54 48
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Caution conceming forward-looking statements

The ABB Group Annual Report 2003 includes forward-looking
statements. In the Operational review, such statements are
included in “Letter to shareholders,” “Chief financial officer’s repon,”
“Power Technologiss,” “Autornation Technologies” and “Humen
Resources” and in the Financial review, such statements are
included in “Management discussion and analysis.” Additionally,
the words “befieve,” “may,” "will,” “estimate,” “continue,”
‘anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” and similar words are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-
looking statements largely on curent expectations and projections
about future events, financial trends and economic conditions
affecting our business. These forward-looking statements are
subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including among
other things, the following: () the difficulty of forecasting future
market and economic canditions; (i} the effects of, and changes
in, laws, regulations, governmental policies, taxation, or accounting
standards and practices; (fil) cur ability to dispose of certain of our
non-core businesses on tenms and conditions acceptable to us;
{v) our ability to manage our fiquidity and further reduce our
indebtadness as planned; (V) the resolution of asbestos claims

on terms and conditions satisfactory 1o us; {vi) the effects of
competition in the product markets and geographic areas in

which we operate; (i) our abiity to anticipate and react to

"

technologicat change and evolving industry standards in the
markets we operate; (Vi) the timely development of new products,
technologies, and services that are useful for our customers; {ix)
unanticipated cyclical downtums in some of the industries that we
serve; {x} the risks inherent in farge, long-term projects served by
parts of our business; (xi) the difficutties encountered in operating in
emerging markets; and (i) other factors described in documents
that we may fumish from time to time with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission, including our Annual Reports on Form
20-F, Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any
such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable
assumptions, we can give no assurance that they will be achieved.

We undertake no obligation to update publicly or revise any
forward-looking staternents because of new information, future
events or otherwise, In light of these risks and uncertainties, the
forward-looking information, events and circumstances might not
oceur, Cur actual results and performance could differ substantially
from those anticipated in our forward-looking statements.
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Operating and financial review and prospects

You should read the following discussion of our financial
condition and results of operations in conjunction with our
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes and
other financial information contained elsewhere in this annual
report. This discussion contains forward-fooking statements
that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Forward-looking
statements” at the beginning of this annual report.

About ABB

We are a leader in power and automation technologies
that enable utility and industry customers to improve
performance while iowering environmental impact. We
employ approximately 116,000 people and operate in
approximately 100 countries.

We are headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland and our shares
are traded on the stock exchanges in Zurich, Stockholm,
New York, Frankfurt and London.

We were formed in 1988, when Asea AB of Sweden and
BBC Brown Boveri of Switzerland merged under the name
ABB Lid. Asea AB's history dates back to 1883. BBC Brown
Boveri was founded in 1891.

Organizational structure

Effective January 1, 2003, we realigned our business
divisions to combine our former Power Technology Products
and Utilities divisions into a new Power Technologies division
and combined our former Autormation Technolegy Products
and Industries divisions into a new Automation Technologies
division. Our Qil, Gas and Petrochemicals businessss, a
part of which we have agreed to sell, and our Insurance
business area were reclassified as discontinued operations
along with a number of other businesses in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Our remaining activities were grouped as
Non-core activities and the remaining headquarter type
functions were grouped into a Corporate/Other division. We
began reporting our financial results to reflect this new
structure effective January 1, 2008.

We streamlined our divisional structure to help sharpen

our focus on power and automation technologies, to
increase efficiency and to create a sustainable lower cost
base. We consider the Power Technologies and Automation
Technologies divisions to be our core divisions, and our
management intends to focus its attention on, and future
investments in, these divisions.

Effective January 1, 2004, some business areas within our
business divisions were combined. The changes are further
discussed within the “Our business divisions” section below.

Our business divisions

Power technologies division
The ABB Power Technologies division serves electric, gas
and water utilities, as well as industrial and commercial
customers, with a broad range of products, systems and
services for power transmission, distribution and power plant
automation. The division had approximately 338,000
employees at December 31, 2003. The distribution of
revenues of this division by business areas for the year 2003,
approximately, are as follows:

Business areas and percentage of revenues

Power Systems

Medium-Voltage Products

The Power Technologies division at January 1, 2004 consists
of five business areas:

1. Power Systems

2. Utllity Automation Systems
3. High-Voltage Products

4. Medium-Voltage Products
5. Transformers

Our Power Systems business area generated approximately
$ 2.3 billion in revenues in 2003 and had approximately
8,000 employees at December 31, 2003. Key product lines
in this business area include transmission and distribution
substations, flexible alternating current transmission systems
(FACTS) and high-voltage direct current (HVDC) systems,
which are technologically advanced concepts to increase
transmission capacity and stability in power networks. Our
HVDC and FACTS business lines are supported by ocur own
in-house power semiconductor factory. In addition, this
business area undertakes turnkey contracts to install and
upgrade transmission and distribution systems.

Qur Power Systems business area sells primarily to utilities,
but alsc to industrial end-users, and is complimented

by a consulting and power systems services arm. Orders
and revenues are evenly distributed among the Americas,
Europe, the Middie East and Africa, and Asia-Pacific.

Our Utllity Automation Systems business area generated
approximately $ 1.3 billion in revenues in 2003 and had
approximately 5,500 employees at December 31, 2003.
This business area is focused on automation, control and
protection systems for power generation, power
transmission and distribution networks, the energy market
and water management. It also offers substation automation
and protection products and systems and complete utility
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communication networks. Europe, Middle East and the
United States are major markets, while activities in Asia are
expanding.

Qur High-Voltage Products business area generated
approximately $ 1.4 bilion in revenues in 2003 and had
approximately 8,000 employees at December 31, 2003.
This business area’s primary products include high-voltage
switchgear and high-current systems and cables. We

sell high-voltage products primarily to utilities, as well as to
distributors, wholesalers, installers, original equipment
manufacturers and industrial end-users. We export mostly
from Europe to all parts of the world.

Our Medium-Voltage Products business area generated
approximately $ 1.5 billion in revenues in 2003 and had
approximately 7,000 employees at Decemper 31, 2003, This
business area develops, manufactures and sefls a wide
range of circuit breakers and contactors, fuses, sensors,
switches, vacuum interrupters and outdoor distribution
products and sells primarily to utilities, industrial end-users,
distributors, wholesalers, installers and original equipment
manufacturers. Revenues of this business are primarily
generated in Western Europe, followed by Asia, North
America and the Middle East. '

The former Distribution Transformers and Power
Transformers business areas, which shared many locations,
were merged to form a single Transformers business area at
the beginning of 2004. The merger is intended to help
reduce product overlaps, eliminate redundant research and
development efforts, and improve supply chain management.

The combined Transformers business area generated
approximately $ 2 bilion in revenues in 2003 and, at
December 31, 2003, had approximately 13,000 employees.
The business area sells a wide range of transformers — from
single-phase transformers, to small, medium and large
distribution transformers, reactors, traction, phase-shifting,
converter and extra high-voltage transformers. Europe and
the Americas account for a major portion of this business
area’s revenues while the revenues in Asia and the Middle
East are improving.

Automation technologies division

The ABB Automation Technologies division provides
products, systems, software and services for the automation
and optimization of industrial and commercial processes.
Key technologies include measurement and control,
instrumentation, process analysis, drives and motors, power
electronics, robots and low-voltage products. The division
had approximately 55,000 employees at December 31,
2003. The distribution of revenues of this division by business
areas for the year 2003, approximately, are as follows:

ABB Group Financial review 2003

Business areas and percentage of revenues

The Automation Technologies division at January 1, 2004
consists of three business areas:

1. Automation Products
2. Process Automation
3. Manufacturing Automation

The Automation Products business area generated
approximately $ 4.5 billion in revenues in 2003 and had
approximately 27,000 employees at December 31, 2003.
Key preducts in the Automation Products business area
include low and medium-voltage drives, as well as low and
high-voltage motors, which are used in the building
automation, marine, power, transportation, manufacturing
and process industries. The business area also offers power
electronics systems, which are sold to metals smelters,
railway manufacturers and power plants.

Other fow-voltage products offered by the Automation
Products business area include devices for power quality
and protacticn, wire management, switching and motor
control. Instrumentation products include actuators and
positioners, analytical instruments, as well as devices to
measure flow, pressure, level, temperature and similar
process variables.

Many of this business area’s automation products are high
velume products sold through channel partners, such as
distributors, wholesalers, installers, and original equipment
manufacturers. The business area is gecgraphically diverse,
with operations and customers throughout Europe, the
Americas and Asia.

The Process Automation business area generated
approximately $ 4.0 biliion in revenues in 2003 and had
approximately 21,500 employees at December 31, 2003, it
combines the resources of three former business areas:
Control Platform and Enterprise Products; Petroleum,
Chemical and Consumer; and Paper, Minerals, Marine and
Turbocharging.

This new business area includes control, force
measurement, maring and turbocharging systems among
its key technologies. Largest among these is the design

of systems for control and plant optimization in the process
and utility industries, where our employees apply their
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extensive knowledge of customer processes 1o application-
specific requirements.

Marine sector solutions include cur systems for electric
propulsion, power generation and distribution, automation
and heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems aboard
cruise, cargo and other offshore vessels. Our turbochargers
add performance, environmental and fuel efficiency to large
gasoline and diesel engines.

Our Process Automation business area is geographically
diverse, with strategic hubs of activity, including research and
development, in the United States, Europe, India, China and
Southeast Asia. Revenues of this business area are primarily
generated in Europe followed by the Americas and Asia

with equal share and the Middie East with a comparatively
lower share.

The Manufacturing Automation business area generated
approximately $ 1.4 bilion in revenues in 2003 and had
approximately 6,500 employees at December 31, 2003. Our
Manufacturing Automation business has a large instalied
base of industrial robots — more than 100,000 ~ and sells
robots and refated equipment and software to the auto-
motive, material handiing, foundry and packaging industries.

This business area alsc develops standardized
manufacturing cells for machine tending, welding, cutting,
painting and finishing and provides packaged systems to
auto manufacturers for press automation, paint process
automation and power train assembly.

This business area’s research and development and
manufacturing locations are focused in the United States
and Sweden - near major automotive centers. Most of our
revenues in this business area are generated in the
Americas, Western Europe and China.

Non-core activities

Business activities that are not directly linked to our Power
Technologies and Automation Technologies divisions (core
divisions) and which we intend in the majority to divest or
discontinue are grouped together and their results are
reported under the heading of Non-core activities. These
activities comprise primarily the remaining parts of Equity
Ventures business area, the remaining parts of the
Structured Finance business area, the remaining parts of the
Building Systems business area, the remaining parts of

the New Ventures business area and a number of other
activities, including Customer Service Workshops, Logistic
Systems and the Group Processes business areas. The
insurance business area, which was previously included in
Non-core activities, is now discussed as part of discontinued
operations following our agreement in Decermber 2003 to
sell this business to White Mountains Insurance Group

Limited of Bermuda. Non-core activities had approximately
8,700 employees at Decemper 31, 2003.

Our Equity Ventures business area owns and operates
infrastructure projects in various countries. Our Equity
Ventures business area originally focused its investment
activities on independent power projects because it provided
business opportunities for our former power generation
division. Subseguent projects also were selected primarily to
develop opportunities to sell our equipment and systems.
Therefare, the Equity Ventures portfolio reflects some

of the businesses in which we were engaged when the
investments were made. Our Equity Ventures business area
is not pursuing further project development or additional
investments and we will consider selling investments of this
business area when we believe we have received an optimal
offer. During 2003, we sold our stakes in ABB Redbank
Project Pty Lid. and ElectraNet Pty Ltd.

Our Structured Finance business area provides financing,
including export, trade and project financing and asset-
based leasing and lending. In 2002, we decided to sell cur
Structured Finance businesses. in 2003, we continued the
divestment of our remaining Structured Finance business
area, including our ownership interest in the Swedish
Export Credit Corporation, certain lease and loan portfolios,
ownership interests in infrastructure projects and other
financial assets. We sold ABB Export Bank, previously part
of our Structured Finance business area in December 2003.

Our Building Systems business area designs, builds and
maintaing complete installations for industrial, infrastructure
and commercial facilities, integrating products manufactured
by our Power Technologies and Automation Technologies
divisions, as well as those from third-party suppliers.
Following our decision to divest our Building Systems
businesses in 2002, we finalized the divestrment of a number
of our activities in the Building Systems business area during
2003, including our activities in Austria, Benelux, the Nordic
region (Baltic states, Denmark, Finland, Norway, Russia and
Sweden), Portugal and the United Kingdom. We have not
yet sold the Building Systems businesses in Germany,
Poland, the United States, Hong Kong and Egypt. In
February 2004, we signed an agresment to sell our Building
Systems business in Switzerland to an investor group, while
retaining a 10% intersst in the business.

We established New Ventures in 2001 as a “fast lang”
business incubator that would find, develop and invest in
new business opportunities, both internally and externally.
New Ventures had three investment portfalios — the Industrial
IT Venture Fund and Operational Ventures, toth of which
focused on investrment opportunities externally, and
Innovisions, which focused on opportunities internally.
Activities involved providing both seed funding for start-ups
and growth funding for mature businesses. it also directly
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managed several majority-owned companies. In October
2002, we announced a restructuring program to discontinue
Non-core activities in New Ventures and transfer out a
number of core activities to other business areas. In
December 2003, we announced the sale of our Wind Energy
business in Germany, which was primarily focused on the
development and engineering, procurement and construction
of wind parks, primarily in Europe. The remaining part of the
business area includes the Distributed Energy business and
investments in emerging technology businesses.

We originally formed Group Processes as a business
division in January 2001 to drive growth and cut costs by
establishing common working processes and a common (T
infrastructure. The areas of focus included supply and
demand chain management, project management, financial
proceasses, internal audit, quality control and marketing and
sales. In addition, this division provided shared services in
areas such as accounting and payroll and training through
local sarvices centers in many countries. This division also
provided T infrastructure services and applications support.
The division was dissolved in October 2002 when supply
and demand chain management as well as marketing and
sales activities were moved into the core divisions to more
clossly link them to those businesses. The financial
processes and shared services activities were moved into
our finance functicn, under the auspices of our chief financial
officer. In February 2003, all the IT operations were moved
into the office of the chief information officer. Effective January
1, 2004, activities in the Group Processes busingss area had
been dissolved or integrated into the core divisions, Group
Processes no longer functions as a separate business area.

OCur Customer Service Workshop operations consist of
overhaul, repair and rewinding of rotating machine products
manufactured by the Automation Technologies division,

as well as those from third-party suppliers. Following the
decision we made in 2002 to strategically reduce our
activities in this business, most of our activities were either
transferred to the core divisions, closed or divested. We
continue our efforts to divest or close the remaining portion
of this business during 2004.

The Logistic Systems business area provides information
technology packages and automation services to airports
for baggage and material handiing, air traffic management,
as well as turmnkey electromechanical and airfield lighting
systems. In the Logistic Systems business area in 2003,
we finalized our exit from Norway whereas our units in ltaly,
Singapore and Zimbabwe are completing certain projects
before closure. We continue efforts to divest our German
business.
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Corporate/Other

Our Corporate/Other comprises headguarters and
stewardship activities, research and development activities
and other activities, as described below. Corporate/Other
had approximately 3,000 employees at December 31, 2003.

Headquarters and stewardship activities include the
operations of our head office in Zurich, Switzerland, as well
as corresponding local holding companies in approximately
65 countries. These operations cover staff functions with
group-wide responsibilities, such as group accounting and
consolidation, finance and controlling, audit, tax, financial
advisory, legal affairs, risk management and insurance,
communications, investor relations and human resources.

Group Research and Development supports the divisions in
developing cross-divisional technology platforms and builds
up our protected technology. By close cooperation with

the world’s leading universities, cutting edge technology is
transferred to our products and systems.

Other activities include our Real Estate and Group Treasury
QOperations. Our Real Estate management objective is to
enhance our competitiveness and effectively support our
business activities, with the most efficient and profitable

use of our real estate assets and facilities. Group Treasury
Operations act as a cost center for internal treasury activities.

The discussion that follows reflects how we managed and
reported our businesses during 2003. Therefore, we refer
to the business areas as they were prior to their realignment
in 2004, discussed above. We have included a separate
discussion of discontinued operations.

Application of critical accounting policiés

General

We prepare our Consclidated Financial Statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States (U.S. GAAP),

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We
evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis, including
those related to: costs expected to be incurred to complete
projects; the costs of product guarantees and warranties:
provisions for bad debts, inventories, investments,
intangible assets and iIncome taxes; provisions for
restructuring, long-term service contracts, pensions and
other past-retireament benefits, and contingencies and
fitigation. We base our estimates on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
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values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other scurces. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We deem an accounting policy to be critical if it requires
an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions
about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the
estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably
could have been used, or changes in the accounting
estimates that are reasonably likely to occur periodically,
could materially impact our Consolidated Financia!
Statements. We believe the following critical accounting
policies reflect the more significant estimates and
assumptions that we use in the preparation of our
Consolidated Financial Statements. These policies should
be considered In reviewing our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Revenues and cost of sales recognition

We recognize revenues from the sale of manufactured
products when all of the following conditions are met: a
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales
price is fixed and dsterminable, collectibility is reasonably
assured and title, including the risks and rewards of
ownership, has been transferred to the customer, When
multiple elements such as products and services are
contained in a single arrangement or in related arrangements
with the same customer, we allocate revenue to each
element based on its relative fair value, provided that such
element meets the criteria for treatment as a separate unit of
accounting. The allocation of the sales price between
delivered elements and undelivered elements might affect
the timing of revenue recognition, but would not change the
total revenue recognized on the contract. Revenues from
short-term contracts to deliver services are recognized upon
completion of required services to the customer. Revenues
from contracts that contain customer acceptance provisions
are deferred until customer acceptance occurs or the
contractual acceptance period has lapsed. As a result,
significant contract interpretation is sometimes required to
determine the appropriate period of revenue recognition.

These revenue recognition methods assume collectibility of
the revenues recognized. When recording the respective
accounts receivable, loss reserves are calculated to estimate
those receivables that will not be collected. These reserves.
assume a level of default based on historical information,

as well as knowledge about specific invoices and customers.

There remains the risk that greater defaults will occur

than originally estimated. As such, the amount of revenues
recognized might exceed that which will be collected,
resulting in a deterioration of earnings in the future. This risk
is likely to increase in a period of significant negative industry
or economic trends.

Revenues under long-term contracts are recognized using
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. We
principally use the cost-to-cost or delivery events methods
to measure progress towards completion on contracts. We
determine the method to be used by type of contract based
on our experience and judgment as to which method best
measures actual progress towards compietion.

The percentage-of-completion method of accounting
involves the use of assumptions and projections, relating to
future material, laber, construction and overhead costs.

As a consequence, there is a risk that total contract costs
will exceed those which we ofiginally estimated. These risks
are heightened if the duration of a contract increases or if the
project is a turnkey project and the price is fixed, because
there is a higher probability that the circumstances upon
which we originally developed the estimates will change in a
manner that increases our costs and that we will not recover
them. Factors that could cause costs to increase include:

®m ynanticipated technical problems with the equipment
being supplied or developed by us which may require that
we incur additional costs to remedy the problemy;

m changes in the cost of components, materials or labor;

m_ difficulties in obtaining required governmental permits or
approvals;

®» project modifications creating unanticipated costs;
® suppliers’ or subcontractors’ failure to perform;

®» penalties incurred as a result of not completing portions of
the project in accordance with agreed upon time limits;
and

® delays caused by unexpected conditions or events.

Changes in our initial assumptions, which we review on a
regular basis between balance sheet dates, may result in
revisions 1o total estimated costs, current earnings and
anticipated sarnings. We recognize these changes in the
period in which the changes in estimate are determined. We
believe that this approach, referred to as the “catch-up
approach”, produces more accurate information because
the cumulative revenue-to-date reflects the current estimates
of the stage of completion. Additionally, losses on long-term
contracts are recognized in the period when they are
identified and are based upon the anticipated excess of
contract costs over the related contract revenues. Any such
losses are recorded as a component of cost of sales.

We accrue anticipated costs for warranties when we
recognize the revenue on the related contracts. Warranty
costs include calculated costs arising from imperfections in
design, material and workmanship, performance guarantees
{technical risks) and delays in contract fulfilment. Although
we generally make assessments on an overall, statistical
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basis, we make individual assessments on orders with risks
resuiting from order-specific conditions or guarantees, such
as plants or installations. There is a risk that actual warranty
costs will exceed the amounts provided for, which would
result in a deterioration of earnings in the future when these
actual costs are determined.

Revenues under cost-reimbursement contracts are
recognized as costs are incurred. Shipping and handling
costs are recorded as a component of cost of sales.

Accounting for discontinued operations

Our strategy is to focus on power and automation
technologies for utility and industry customers. In accordance
with our strategy, we have sold or plan to sell certain
businesses that are not part of our core power and
autornation technologies businesses. On January 1, 2002
we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 144 (SFAS 144), Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long Lived Assets. SFAS 144 broadened the
presentation of discontinued operations to include disposal
transactions involving less than an entire reporting segment,
if certain criteria are met. The purpose of SFAS 144 is to
allow for historically comparable data to be available to
investors without the distortions created by divestments or
the closure or abandonment of businesses, thereby
improving the predictive value of financial statements. SFAS
144 requires the revenues and associated costs, net of
taxes, of certain divestments and abandonments, to be
classified as discontinued operations, net of taxes, below
income from continuing operations in the Consolidated
Income Statement and requires the related assets and
liabilities to be classified as assets or liabilities held for sale
and in discontinued operations in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet.

In order to classify a business as a discontinued operation,
SFAS 144 requires that certain criteria be met. In certain
cases, significant interpretation is sometimes required to
determine the appropriate classification. Changes in plans
regarding the sale of a business may change our
interpretation as to whether a business should be classified
as a discontinued operation. Any such reclassification

may have a material impact on our income from continuing
operations and the individual components thereof,

in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, we have
included the businesses classified as discontinued
operations in the individual line items within cash from
operating, investing and financing activities, together with
continuing operations, as permitted by U.S. GAAPR,

For a description of the discontinued operations reflected in
our Consotidated Financial Statements, see “Discontinued
operations” below.
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Goodwill and other intangible assets impairment

We review goodwill for impairment annually and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with
the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142
(SFAS 142), Gooawill and Other Intangible Assets, SFAS 142
requires that a two-step impairment test be performed on
goodwill. In the first step, we compare the fair value of each
reporting unit to its carrying value. Our reporting units are
one level below the reportable segments identified in Note
26 of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We use a
discounted cash flow model to determine the fair value of
reporting units unless there is a readily determinable fair
market value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds
the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit,
goodwill is not impaired and we are not required to perform
further testing. if the carrying value of the net assets
assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the
reporting unit, then we must perform the second step to
determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill and compare it to the carrying value of the reporting
unit’'s goodwill, If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then we must record
an impairment loss equal to the difference.

The discounted cash flow model, which we use to estimate
the fair value of our reporting units is dependent on a
number of factors including estimates of future cash flows,
appropriate discount rates and other variables. Estimating
future cash flows requires us to make significant estimates
and judgments involving variables such as sales volumes,
sales prices, sales growth, production and operating costs,
capital expenditures, market conditions and other economic
factors. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions
we believe to be reasonable, but which are unpredictable
and inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from
those estimates.

We review intangible assets in accordance with SFAS 144,
and accordingly test for impairment upon the occurrence of
certain triggering events such as a decision to divest a
business.

We record any related impairment charge in other income
(expense), net in our Consolidated Income Statement, unless
it is related to a discontinued operation, in which case the
charge is recorded in loss from discontinued operations, net
of tax.

Pension and post-retirement benefits

As more fully described in Note 21 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements, we operate pension plans which cover
the majority of our employees. We use actuarial valuations
to determine our pension and post retirement benefit costs
and credits. The amounts calculated depend on a variety of
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key assumptions, including discount rates and expected
return on plan assets. We are required to consider current
market conditions, including changes in interest rates, in
selecting these assumptions. The discount rate is reviewed
annually and considersd for adjustment based on changes
in long-term, highly rated corporate bond vields. Decreases
in the discount rate result in an increase in the projected
benefit obligation and to pension costs {as shown in Note 21
to our Consolidated Financial Statements).

The expected return on plan assets is reviewed annually and
considered for adjustment based on current and expected
asset allocations and represents the long-term return
expected to be achieved. Decreases in the expected return
on plan assets result in an increase to pension costs. if the
expected rate of return on assets for 2004 was to decrease
by 0.5 percent from the 2003 rate of 6.01 percent, then our
2004 pension costs would be approximately $ 29 million
higher.

Under U.S. GAAR, we accumulate and amortize over future
periods actual results that differ from the assumptions used.
Therefore, actual results generally affect our recognized
expense and recorded liabilities for pension and other post
retirernent benefit obligations in future periods.

The "unfunded” balance, which can increase or decrease
based on the performance of the financial markets or
changes in our assumption rates, does not represent a
mandatory short-term cash obligation. Instead, the unfunded
balance of a pension plan is the difference between the
projected obligation to employees (PBO) and the fair value of
the plan assets. While we comply with appropriate statutory
funding requirements, at December 31, 2003, the unfunded
balance of our pension plans was $ 1,636 milion. In
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 87 (SFAS 87), Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions, we have recorded on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet a net liability of $ 866 million in relation to this
unfunded benefit balance. The difference is primarily due to
an unrecognized actuarial loss of $ 737 million, which is
amortized using the “minimum corridor” approach as defined
by SFAS 87.

In May 20083, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board reached a consensus
on Emerging Issues Task Force No.03-4 (EITF 03-4),
Determining the Classification and Benefit Attribution Method
for a “Cash Batance” Pension Plan, which requires the
“tradiitional unit credit method” to be used for the calculation
of the liability and attribution of the costs for pension plans
with certain characteristics. We determined that certain of
our pension plans covering the employees of Switzerland
had the characteristics described in EITF 03-4 and therefore
we changed the approach to calculating the PBO from the
projected unit credit method to the traditional unit credit

method. The change in cost attribution methods resulted in
an actuarial gain of $ 406 million which is included in the
unrecognized actuarial loss of $ 737 milfion and as
described above, will result in lower net pension costs in
future years, but did not affect earnings in the current year,

We have multiple non-pension post-retirement benefit plans.
Our health care plans are generally contributory with
participants’ contributions adjusted annually. For purposes
of estimating our heafth care costs, we have assumed health
care cost increases per annum to be 11.81 percent for
2003, then gradually declining to 5.96 percent per annum

in 2018, and to remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed health care cost trends have a significant effect

on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-
percentage-point change in assumed health care costs
would have had the following effects at December 31, 2003:

One-percentage- One-percentage-
..................................................................... pointincrease  _point decrease
e e B milions)
Effect on total of service and
Interest cost cOMPONeNts e P 1)
Effect on accumulated post-retirement
benefit obligation B Q)
Taxes

in preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements we are
required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions
in which we operate. We account for deferred taxes by
using the asset and fiability method. Under this method, we
determine deferred tax assets and liabilities based on
temporary differences between the financial reporting and
the tax bases of assets and liabilities. The differences are
measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are
expected to be in sffect when the differences are expected
to reverse. We recognize a deferred tax asset when we
determine that it is more likely than not that the asset will be
realized. We regularly review our deferred tax assets for
recoverability and establish a valuation allowance based
upon historical losses, projected future taxable income and
the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary
differences. To the extent we increase or decrease this
allowance in a period, we recognize the change in the
allowance within Provision for taxes in the Consolidated
Income Statement unless the change refates to discontinued
operations, in which case the change is recorded in income
{loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax. Unforeseen
changes in tax rates and tax laws as well as differences in
the projected taxable income compared to the actual taxable
income may affect these estimates.
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Consglidation

We evaluate our investments in joint ventures and other
types of investments for purposes of determining whether
consolidation or the cost or equity method of accounting is
appropriate. This determination is based upon our ability to
retain and exercise control through our decision-making
powers and our ability to exercise significant influence aver
the entity, as well as cur ownership interests in the entity.

Material changes to our ability 1o retain control and exercise
significant influence over an entity could change the
accounting method between consolidation or the cost or
equity method, which could have a material impact cn our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

in January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 48), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities — an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.
FIN 46 requires variable interest entities (VIEs) to be
consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. Accordingly, VIEs
entered into after January 31, 2003, are consolidated when
we are considered the primary beneficiary. Also after January
31, 2008, previously consolidated variable interest entities
would be deconsolidated when a triggering event, as defined
by FIN 48, indicates we are no longer the primary beneficiary.
For those VIEs where we are not the primary beneficiary,

we apply our existing consolidation policies in accordance
with U.S. GAAR,

In determining the primary heneficiary of a VIE, we are
required to™ake projections of expected losses and.
expected residual returns 1o be generated by that VIE. The
projected expected losses and expected residual returns are
critical to the identification of the primary beneficiary. These
projections require us to use assumptions, including the
probability of cash flows. Expected losses and expected
residual returns materially different from those projected
could identify another entity as the primary beneficiary. A
change in the contractual arrangements or ownership
between the parties involved in the VIE could have an impact
on cur determination of the primary beneficiary, which in
turn, could have a material impact on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Contingencies

As more fully described in Note 18 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements, we are subject to proceedings,
lawsuits and other claims related to environmental, labor,
product and other matters. We are required to assess the
likelihood of any adverse judgments or cutcomes to these
matters, as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A
determination of the amount of provision required, if any, for
these contingencies is made after careful analysis of each
individual issue, often with assistance from both internal and
external counsel and technical experts. The required amount
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of provision for contingencies of any type may change in the
future due to new developments in the particular matter,
including changes in approach to its resclution, such as in
settlemnent strategy.

Restructuring

We recorded significant provisions in connection with

our restructuring programs. These provisions include
estimates pertaining to employee termination costs and the
settlements of contractual obligations resulting from our
actions. Although we do nct anticipate significant changes,
the actual costs may differ from these estimates due to
subsequent developments such as voluntary retirement of
employees and other business developments. These costs
are recorded primarily in other income (expense), net, in
the Consolidated Income Statement uniess the costs relate
to discontinued operations in which case the change

is recorded in discontinued operations, net of tax. See
“Restructuring expenses” beiow.

QOur Insurance business

In December 2008 we entered into an agreement to sell
our Reinsurance business and consequently we have
reflected the results of operations in loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax, and the assets and fiabilities in assets
and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations
for all periods presented.

We generally recognize premiums in earnings on a pro
rata basis over the period coverage is provided. Premiums
sarned include estimates of certain premiums not yet
collected. These premium receivables include premiums
relating to retrospectively rated contracts. For such
contracts, a provisional premium is collected that will
eventually be adjusted. We include an estimated value of
the actual premium in receivables. Unearned premiums
represent the portion of premiums written that is applicable
to the unexpired terms of reinsurance contracts or
certificates in force. These unearned premiums are
calculated by the monthly pro rata method or are based
on reports from ceding companies that we reinsure.

Insurance labilities are reflected in fiabiiities held for sale and
in discontinued operations, in our Consolidated Balance
Sheet and represent unpaid claims, losses, and related
loss expenses based upon estimates for losses reported,
estimates received from ceding reinsurers, and estimates
of incurred but not reported losses related to direct and
assumed business, less amounts ceded to reinsurers.
Reserves for unreported losses are determined by an
estimate established using various statistical and actuarial
technigues reflecting historical patterns of development of
paid and reported losses adjusted for current trends. The
inherent variability of the estimate is analyzed in order to
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ascertain whether it is reasonable before application. We do
not discount 1oss and l0ss adjustment expensea reservas.
We develop our estimate considering a range of reserve
estimates bounded by a high and a low estimate. The high
and low ends of the range do not correspond to an absolute
best and worst case scenario of ultimate settlements
because such estimates may be the result of untikely
assumptions. Our best estimate therefore doss not include
the set of all possible outcomes but only those outcomes
that are considered reasonable. Those estimates are

subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency.
Although considerable vanability is inberent in such estimates,
we believe the reserves for losses and loss adjustment
expenses are adequate. The estimates are continually
reviewed and adjusted as necessary as experience develops
or new information becomes known; such adjustments are
included in discontinued operations. Adjustments to reserves
are reflected in the loss from discontinued operations, net of
tax, in the periods in which the estimates are changed.

We reflect our liability for losses net of anticipated salvage
and subrogation recoveries. Salvage and subrogation
received and changes in estimates of future recoveries are
reflected in current year underwriting results. We believe the
liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses are
adequate 1o cover the ultimate liability; however, due to the
underlying risks and high degree of uncertainty associated
with the determination of the liahility for losses, such
estimates may be more or less than the amounts uttimately
paid when the claims are settled.

We seek to reduce the loss from our underwriting liabilities
by reinsuring certain levels of risks with other insurance
enterprises or reinsurers. We used recoverable amounts for
both paid and unpaid losses. We estimate these recoverable
amounts in a manner consistent with the claim liability
asscciated with the reinsurance policy. The risk of
collectibility of these reinsurance receivables arises from
disputes relating to the policy terms and the ability of the
reinsurer to pay.

New accounting pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No. 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS 142 which
modified the accounting for business combinations, goodwil
and identifiable intangible assets. All business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001, must be accounted for by the
purchase method. Goodwill from acquisitions completed
after that date is not amortized, but charged to operations
when specified tests indicate that the goodwill is impaired,
that is, when the goodwill’s fair value is lower than its
carrying value. Certain intangible assets are recognized
separately from goodwill, and are amontized over their
useful fives. During 2002, all goodwill was required to be
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tested for impairment as of January 1, 2002, with a transition
adjustment recognized for any impairment found. We
determined that no iImpairment of goodwill existed at
January 1, 2002. All goodwill amortization also ceased at
that date. We recognized goodwill amortization expense in
continuing operations of $ 148 million in 2001, and goodwill
amortization expense in discontinued operations of $ 43
milion in 2001. Accordingly, income from continuing
operations in 2001 would have been $ 319 million (§ 0.28
per share), loss from discontinued operations in 2001 would
have been $ 794 million ($ 0.70 per share) and net loss in
2001 would have been $ 538 million ($ 0.48 per sharg) if we
had not recognized amortization expense for goodwilt that
is no longer being amortized in accordance with SFAS 142.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143
(SFAS 143), Accounting for Asset Retirement Qbligations,
which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002, and requires that the fair value of a legal obligation
associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets
be recognized in the period in which it is incurred. The
associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of
the carrying amount of the asset and aflocated to expense
over its useful life. We adopted SFAS 143 sffective

January 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 143 did not have a
material impact on our results of operations.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Accounting Standards No. 144 (SFAS
144), Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets. This Statement supersedes Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-lived Assets
to Be Disposed Of, while retaining many of its requirements
regarding impairment loss recognition and measurement.

In addition, SFAS 144 broadens the presentation of
discontinued operations to include more sold and
abandoned businesses. We adopted this statement effective
January 1, 2002, and, as a result, reflected the assets,
liabilities and results of operations of several businesses and
groups of assets as discontinued operations for all periods
presented to the extent these businesses and groups of
assets met the new criteria during 2003 and 2002. Disposals
and abandonments in previous years were not re-gvaluated
or reclassified. See "Application of critical accounting policies
— Accounting for discontinued operations” above.

in April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical
Corrections, which rescinds previous requirements to reflect
all gains and fosses from debt extinguishment as
extraordinary. We elected to early adopt the new standard
effective April 1, 2002, and, as a result, the gains from
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extinguishment of debt of $ 12 mitlion recorded as
extraordinary items in 2001, are no longer reflected as
extraordinary items.

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146
(SFAS 148), Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities, which requires that a liability for a cost
associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized
when the liability is incurred. The standard became effective
January 1, 2003 and was applied to restructuring activities
initiated after that date. Pricr to January 1, 2003, we
accounted for restructuring activities in accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force No. 94-3, Liability Recognition
for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs
to Exit an Activity {Including Certain Costs Incurred in a
Restructuring). The adoption of SFAS 148 did not have a
material impact on our financial position or results of
operations.

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), Guarantor’'s
Accounting and Disclosure Requfrements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN
45 requires the guarantor to recognize a liability for the non-
contingent component of a guarantee; that is the obligation
to stand ready to perform in the event that specified
triggering events or conditions occur. The initial measurement
of this liability is the fair value of the guarantee at its inception.
The recognition of the liability is required even if it is not
probable that payments will occur under the guarantee or if
the guarantee was issued with a premium payment or as
part of a transaction with muitiple elements. FIN 45 also
requires additional disclosures related to guarantees. We
adopted the disclosure requirements of FIN 45 on
December 31, 2002. The recognition and measurement
provisions of FIN 45 are effective for alt guarantees entered
into or modified after December 31, 2002. We adopted

the recogniticn and measurement requirements of FIN 45
on January 1, 2003. The adoption of the recognition and
measurement requirements of FIN 45 did not have a material
impact on our results of operations.

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Emerging
Issues Task Force No.00-21 (EITF 00-21), Accounting for
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, which
was amended in January 2003 and requires that (a) revenue
should be recognized separately for separate units of
accounting in multiple deliverables arrangements, (o) revenue
for a separate unit of accounting should be recognized only
when the arrangement consideration is reliably measurable
and the earnings process is substantially complete, and (c)
consideration should be aliocated among the separate units
of accounting based on their relative fair value. EITF 00-21 is
applicable to transactions entered into after June 30, 2003.
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The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material impact
on our financial position at December 31, 2003, or on our
results of operations for the year then ended.

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 148 (SFAS 148), Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an Amendment
of FASB Staterent No. 123. We have slected to continue
with our current practice of applying the recognition and
measurement principles of APB No. 25, Accounting for
Stock fssued to Employees. We have adopted the disclosure
requirements of SFAS 148 effective December 31, 2002.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolfidation of
Variable Interest Entities — an Interpretation of ARB No. 57.
FIN 46 requires variable interest entities (VIEs) to be
consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. During 2003,
we adopted the requirements of FIN 46 and applied the
guidance to VIEs in which we have an interest, See Note 8
of our Consolidated Financial Statements for information
refating to the impact of adopting FIN 46. FIN 46 was revised
in December 2003. We will adopt the December revision
{FIN 46R) by March 2004. We continue to evaluate the
effects of the adoption of FIN 48R and do not expect such
effects to be material to our consolidated financial positions
or results of operations.

In May 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150
(SFAS 150}, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments
with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS 150
establishes how an issuer classifies and measures certain
financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities
and equity. This statement requires that an issuer classify a
financial instrument that is within the scope of the statement
as a liability. SFAS 150 applies to all financial instruments
entered into after May 31, 2003, and otherwise became
effective for us after June 15, 2008. In November 2003,
SFAS 150 was amended to indefinitely defer the
measurement and recognition guidance for non-controlling
interests that are classified as equity in a subsidiary, but that
would be classified as a liability in our financial statements
under SFAS 150. However, SFAS 150, as amended,
provides guidance on classification and disclosure of
mandatorily redeemable non-controling interests. We have
adopted the measurement, classification and disclosure
criteria of SFAS 150, as amended. The adoption of SFAS
150 did not have a material impact an our financial position
at December 31, 2003, or on our results of operations for
the year then ended.

In May 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board reached a consensus
on Emerging Issues Task Force No. 03-4 (EITF 03-4),

1




r

Determining the Classification and Benefit Attribution Method
for a “Cash Balance” Plan, EITF 03-4 clarifies that a cash
balance plan, as defined by the guidance, should be
accounted for as a defined benefit plan using the traditional
unit credit attribution method. We adopted EITF 03-4 in

May 2003. As a result, we account for certain of our pension
plans in Switzerland as cash balance plans in accordance
with EITF 03-4. The adoption of EITF 03-4 reduced

the unfunded amount of our Swiss pension plans by
approximately $ 406 million, but did not have a material
impact on our financial position at December 31, 20083, or
on our resuits of operations for the year then ended.

Restructuring expenses

2001 Program

in July 2001, we announced and initiated a restructuring
program {2001 Program) in an effort to improve productivity,
reduce our cost base, simplify product lines, reduce multiple
location activities and perform other downsizing in response
to weakening markets and censolidation of major customers
in certain industries.

Restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions,
lease terminations and other exit costs associated with the
2001 Program are included in other income (expense), net.
We paid termination benefits of $ 99 million, $ 149 million
and $ 32 million to approximately 2,270, 4,000 and

2,150 employees in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Workforce reductions included production, managerial and
administrative employees. Additionally, we paid approximately
$ 12 million, $ 29 million and $ 31 million to cover costs
associated with lease terminations and other exit costs in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Based on changes in
our original estimate, a $ 22 million and $ 21 miflion
reduction in the amounts accrued for workforce reductions,
lease terminations and other exit costs have been included
in other income {expense), net, in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Currency fluctuations resulted in a $ 23 miflion
and $ 25 million increase in the liabilities accrued for
workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs
in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Accrued liabilities included

$ 9 million and $ 94 million for termination benefits and

$ 27 milion and $ 52 million for lease terminations and other
exit costs at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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As a result of the 2001 Program, certain assets, inventories
and property, plant and equipment have been identified as
impaired or will no longer be used in continuing operations.
We recorded $ 18 million and $ 41 million in 2002 and 2001,
respectively, to write down these assets to fair value. These
costs are included in cost of sales and other income
{expense), net.

Step change program

In October 2002, we announced the Step change program.
We estimate that restructuring costs under the Step change
program will be approximately $ 200 million in 2004. The
goals of the Step change program are to increase the
competitiveness of our core businesses, reduce overhead
costs and streamline operations by approximately

$ 900 milion on an annual basis by 2005. The Step change
program is expected to be completed by mid-2004.

In order to achieve the desired cost savings, over 1,400
specific initiatives have been established and are being
closely monitored by our management. We expect that the
termination of between 10,000 and 12,000 employees will
contribute to approximately 40 percent of the recurring cost
savings on an annual basis, through the reduction of payroll
and payroll-related costs. Additionally, we expect that
productivity increases as a result of improved production
methods and the continued consofidation of office space
and manufacturing facilities and closure of non-profitable
units will generate approximately 20 percent of the cost
savings. We expect to realize the major part of the remaining
4Q percent cost savings through outsourcing of selected
activities. A large portion of the savings is related to the
reorganization of our IT activities. This included the
outsourcing of the major part of our information systems
infrastructure services to the IBM Corporation (IBM), the
replacement of muttiple finance platforms in the countries
and concentration of local processes in shared units, as
well as the outsourcing of new applications with external
suppliers. Other savings resuit from changes in the material
supply process, logistics and efficiency gains in use of
materials in our products. Approximately two thirds of our
1,400 initiatives have been completed by the end of 2008.

Restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions, lease
terminations and other exit costs associated with the Step
change program are included in other income (expense), net.
We paid termination benefits of $ 145 mifion and $ 13 million
to approximately 1,500 and 200 employees in 2003 and
2002, respectively. Workforce reductions include production,
managerial and administrative employees. Additionally, we
paid approximately $ 48 million and $ 1 million to cover
costs associated with lease terminations and other exit costs
in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Based on changes in our
original estimate, a $ 4 million reduction in the amounts
accrued for workforce reductions, lease terminations and
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other exit costs has been included in other income
(expense), net in 2003. Currency fluctuations resulted in a
$ 27 million increase in the liabilities accrued for workforce
reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs in 2003.
Accrued tiabilities included $ 94 million and $ 38 million

for termination benefits and $ 37 milion and $ 25 million for
lease terminations and other exit costs at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

As a result of the Step change program, certain assets,
inventories and property, plant and equipment have been
identified as impaired or will no longer e used in continuing
operations. We recordad $ 3 milion and $ 2 milion in 2003
and 2002, respectively, to write down these assets to fair
value, These costs are included in cost of sales and other
income (expense), net.

Other

Certain restructuring programs were initiated during 2003 at
specified locations not included in the Step Change program.
The goals of these programs are {o increase efficiencies by
reducing headcount and streamlining operations. These
programs are expected {o increase productivity of the non-
core businesses. Anticipated savings will be recognized
through the strategic divestments of these operations.

Restructuring charges related to workforce reductions and
lease terminations and other exit costs are included in

other income (expense}, net. In 2008, we paid termination
benefits of $ 34 million to approximately 1,300 employees
and $ 10 million to cover costs associated with lease
terminations and other exit costs. Workforce reductions
include production, managerial and administrative
employees. Based on changes in our original estimate,

a $ 6 milion decrease in the amounts accrued for workforce
reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs have
been included in other income {expense), net. Currency
fluctuations resulted in a $ 10 million increase in the fiabilities
accrued for workforce reductions, lease terminations and
other exit costs. At December 31, 2003, accrued liabilities
included $ 67 million for termination benefits and $ 35 million
for lease terminations and other exit costs.

As a result of other restructuring programs, certain assets,
inventories and property, plant and equipment have been
identified as impaired or will no longer be used in continuing
operations. We recorded $ 11 million in 2003, to write down
these assets to fair value. These costs are included in cost
of sales and other income (expense), net.
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2001 Step
program  change Other Totat

Restructuring charge for
lease terminations and other

Total restructuring charges and
related asset write-downs (22) 234 113 325

Total accrued liabilities
at the end of the year 36 131 102 269

.........................................................................................

Year en cember 31,

Restructuring charge for
workforce reduction 165 51 - 216

Restructuring charge for
lease terminations and other

Total restructuring charges and

related asset write-downs 20 79 9 270

Total cash payments during the year 178 14 -2

Total accrued liabilities

attheendoftheyear .. 146 . 63 ... ... 209
2001 Step

Restructuring charge for

..workforce reduction 109 T A
Restructuring charge for
lease terminations and other 71 - ~ 71

Total restructuring charges and

related asset write-downs 221 T -2

Total cash payments during the year 63 I, -..83

Total accrued liabilities

attheendoftheyear ..o T
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Acquisitions, investments and divestitures

Acquisitions and investments

In 2003, 2002 and 2001, we paid aggregate consideration
of $ 55 million, $ 154 milion and $ 597 million, respectively,
related to acquisitions and investments in new businesses,
joint ventures and affiiated companies. Payments made for
these acquisitions and investments, net of cash acguired,
were $ 55 million, $ 144 milion and $ 578 million in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

In 2008 and 2002, we made no significant new acquisitions.
However, in 2003 we increased our participation in a limited
number of companies as part of our preparations for their
eventual divestment and in 2002 we increased our
investment in a small number of companies in which we had
a controlling interest. In 2002, we also acquired an [talian
small-ticket leasing business from Xerox Corp., which was
later sold as part of Structured Finance business.

In June 2001, we completed the acquisition of Entrelec
Group, a France-based suppiier of industrial automation and
control products, for total consideration of $ 284 milion. The
acquisition of Entrelec, which had operations in 17 countries,
diversified our product range and expanded our customer
base in high growth markets.

In June 2000, we entered into a share subscription
agreement to acquire a 42 percent interest in b-business
partners B.V. During 2001, we sold most of our interest to
Investor AB (a related party), and b-business partners B.V.
repurchased a number of shares. As a result, at December
31, 2003 we hold a 4 percent interest. We are committed to
provide additional capital to b-business partners B.V. of
approximately $ 5 milion {a euro-denominated commitment
that may fluctuate with exchange rates). Further, b-business
partners B.V. retains a put right to compel us to purchase
150,000 shares of b-business partners B.V. at a cost of
approximately $ 19 milion (a euro denominated commitment
that may fluctuate with exchange rates).

Divestitures

Zales of businesses, foint vervtures and affifated
oompanies

In 2003, 2002 and 2001, we received cash, net of cash
disposed, from sales of businesses, joint ventures and
affiiated companies of $ 543 milion, $ 2,509 million and

$ 283 million. We recognized net gains in 2003, 2002, and
2001 within other income (expense}, net, of $ 43 mifion,

$ 98 miilion and $ 34 mitiion, respectively. We aiso
recognized net losses in 2003, 2002, and 2001 within loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax, of $ 37 miltion,

$ 194 milion and $ 0 million, respectively. The material
dispositions are described below.
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In December 2003, as part of the divestment of our
Structured Finance business, we sold ABB Export Bank

to a financial investor. We received cash proceeds of
approximately $ 50 mifion from the sale of ABB Export Bank
and recorded a loss on disposal of $ 12 million which is
included in foss from discontinued operations, net of tax.

Also in December 2003, as part of the planned divestment
of the Wind Energy business, we sold the related business
in Germany to Gi Ventures GmbH for consideration of

$ 35 million including a vendor note of $ 10 million. We
recognized a loss on disposal of approximately $ 25 million
from the sale of this business, which is included in loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax.

In August 2003, as part of our intention to gradually
dispose of our Building Systems businesses, we sold to
YIT Corporation of Helsinki, Finland our Building Systems
businesses located in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland,
Russia and the Baltic states for consideration of $ 213 million
and we recorded a gain on disposal of approximately

$ 124 million. Additionally, throughout 2003, we sold other
Building Systems businesses in a number of countries
including Belgium, the Netherlands, Austria, Hungary and
the United Kingdom. The aggregate proceeds from these
divestments were $ 21 million and we recorded a loss on
disposal of approximately $ 41 million from the sale of these
businesses which is recognized within other income
(expense), net.

In June 2003, we sold our entire 35 percent interest in the
Swedish Export Credit Corporation to the government of
Sweden for net proceeds of approximately $ 149 million and
recorded a loss on disposal of aporoximately $ 80 million
which is included in other income {expense), net.

Also in June 2003, we sold our interests in certain equity
investments in Australia for cash proceeds of approximately
$ 90 mifion and recorded a gain on disposal of approximately
$ 28 million which is included in other income (expense), nat.

In March 2003, we sold our aircraft leasing business for
approximately 8 90 million. This business consisted of

a portfolio of loans and Jeases related to commuter aircraft
and helicopters used primarily in the northern European and
Nordic markets. We provided significant financial support to
the VIE formed by the buyer upon acquisition. Following the
introduction of FIN 48, we determined that, as a result of
retaining such financing receivables, we are the primary
beneficiary of the VIE and, accordingly, we consolidated this
disposed entity in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In December 2002, we completed the sale of our Metering
business, to Ruhrgas industries GmbH for consideration of
approximately $ 223 million. Cash held in escrow of $ 15
million was released after resojution of certain disputed items
in 2003. We recorded a loss on disposal of approximately

$ 48 million from the sale of this business, which is included
in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax.

In November 2002, we completed the sale of most of our
Structured Finance business to General Electric Capital
Corporation {GE) and received cash proceeds of
approximately $ 2 billion, including a contingent payment of
$ 20 million to be released to us, should amounts ultimately
collected by GE, from a portfolio transferred by us to GE
reach specified targets. The $ 20 million contingent payment
remains unpaid as of December 31, 2003, as the amounts
collected by GE have not met such specified targets. We
recorded a loss on disposal of approximately $ 146 million
from the sale of this business, which is included in loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, we provided
GE with cash collateralized letters of credit aggregating

$ 202 million as security for certain performance-retated
obligations retained by us, of which approximately

$ 128 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

The sale and purchase agreement provided GE the option to
require us to repurchase certain designated financial assets
transferred to GE upon the occurrence of certain events, but
in any event no later than February 1, 2004. The fair value

of GE’s right to require us to repurchase certain designated
assets was $ 11 million at December 31, 2003. On January
26, 2004, we repurchased the financial assets for an amount
of approximately $ 28 million. Additionally, as a result of

the exercise of GE's option, the cash collateralized letters of
credit were reduced by $ 35 million. No further obfigation
exists for us to repurchase any assets under the sale and
purchase agreement with GE.

In January 2002, we disposed of our Air Handling business
for cash proceeds of $ 113 million {the sales price of

$ 147 million included a vendor note of $ 34 million issued
by the purchaser) to Global Air Movement {(Luxembourg)
SARL and recognized a gain in other income (expense), net
of § 74 million.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, we sold several operating
units and investments for total proceeds of $ 31 million,

$ 209 million and $ 117 million, respectively, and recognized
net gains on disposal of $ 12 million, $ 24 million and

$ 34 million, respectively, which are included in other income
{expense), net. Net income from these businesses and
investments was not significant in 2003, 2002 and 2001.
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Other divestitures

In May 2003, we sold our interast in China National
Petrochemical Corporation (Sinopec Corp.) for approximately
$ 82 million and recorded a loss on disposal of § 40 million
recognized in interest and other finance expense, net.

In addition, throughout 2003, we engaged in a number of
sales and terminations of lease portfolios and individual
financing receivables resulting in proceeds of approximately
$ 400 million. The gains (losses) on such disposals were
not material.

Pending dhvestitures

We have previously announced our intention to sell a number
of other businesses, including all of our Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals businesses and our remaining Building
Systems businesses.

In January 2004, we entered into an agreement to sell the
upstream part of cur Oll, Gas and Petrochemicals
busingsses to a private equity consortium consisting of
Candover Partners, JP Morgan Partners and 3i Group. The
sale includes our United States based Vetco Gray unit and
our Norway based Offshore Systems business. The initial
purchase consideration for the busingss (including the
consideration for our separate agreement not to compete
with the business for a period of three years) is $ 925 million.
We may receive an additional consideration of up to $ 50
million based on the financial performance of the business in
2004. The sale is expected to close by mid-year 2004,
pending receipt of customary regulatory approvals and
satisfaction of closing conditions, including the satisfactory
completion and disposition of compliance matters under
review. As part of the sale, we have agreed, among other
things, to terminate certain securitization programs and
operational leases, to indemnify the purchasers against
certain pre-existing environmental and tax liabiiities, to
reimburse the purchasers against financial losses that may
be incurred on certain ongoing projects of the business, to
reimburse the purchasers for certain unfunded benefit
liabilities and to indemnify the purchasers from liabilities that
might arise out of matters revealed by the compliance
review.
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We do not expect a significant gain or loss to be recognized
on the sale of the upstream business.

The compliance investigation referred to above in connection
with the description of the divestment of the upstream part
of our Gil, Gas and Petrochemical businesses, was triggered
by our discovery of a limited number of improper payments
in that business in Africa, Central Asia, and South America,
which we have voluntarily disclosed to the U.S. Department
of Justice and the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. The payments violated our internal policies on
business ethics. We are cooperating fully with the U.S.
Department of Justice and the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. We have hired outside counsel and auditors
(other than our auditors) to assist us in a compliance review
to determine whether other instances of improper payments
exist. The compliance review is being conducted jointly with
the purchasers of the business and with the purchasers’
outside counsel and auditors.

We are actively seeking a buyer for the remaining activities of
our Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses (remaining OGP
businesses). The downstream activities of our Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business is a full service engineering
company, which in addition to expertise in Engineering,
Procurement and Construction (EPC) projects, also licenses
process technologies in the refining, chemical, petrochemical
and polymer fields. An analysis of the operations of the Oil,
Gas and Petrochemicals businesses is included in the
“Business divisions” section below.
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We have also agreed to sell, or are negotiating to sell, a
number of other businesses. These include our Reinsurance
business, which, we agreed to sell in December 2003, to
White Mountains Insurance Group Limited of Bermuda

for approximately $ 425 million. This business provides
international reinsurance and insurance underwriting, as well
as specialized primary insurance in the United States.

We agreed to sell our MDCV cable business, focated in
Germany to the Wilms Group of Menden, Germany. The sale
was completed in January 2004,

impairment charges recorded on these vet to be completed
divestments of $154 million and $10 million for Reinsurance
and the MDCV cable business, respectively, have been
recorded in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, in
2003. An analysis of the operations of these businesses is
included in the “Business divisions” section below.

in February 2004, we agreed to sell our Swiss Building
Systems business to CapVis Equity Partners AG, a Swiss
private equity company for approximately $ 39 milion, but
retained a 10 percent ownership interest. The completion of
this sale is subject to customary reguiatory approvais.
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Summary financial data
The following table shows the amount and percentage of our revenues derived from each of our busingss divisions
{see also Note 26 to our Consolidated Financial Statements):

Revenuas Percentage of revenues
Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

Consslidated revenues

We conduct business in approximately 100 countries around the world. The following table shows the amount
and percentage of our consolidated revenues derived from each geographic region (based on the location of the customer)
in which we operate:

Revenues Percentage of revenues
Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

Factors affecting comparability We must translate non-U.S. dollar denominated results of

operations, assets and fiabilities to U.S. dollars in our
Exchange rafes Consolidated Financial Statements. Balance sheet items are
We report our financial results in U.S. dollars. A significant translated to U.S. doliars using year-end foreign currency
amount of our revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are exchange rates and income statement and cash flow items
denominated in other currencies due to our global are translated using average foreign currency exchange rates
operations. As a consequence, movements in exchange during the relevant period. As a consequence, increases and
rates affect: decreases in the value of the U.S. doflar against other

currencies will affect our reported resuits of operations and
the value of our assets and liabilities in our Consolidated

=& the comparability of our results between periods, and Balance Sheet, even if our results of operations or the value
of those assets and fiabilities has not changed in their original
currency. Consequently, because of the impact foreign

= our profitabifity,

m the carrying value of our assets and liabilities.

When we incur expenses that are not denominated in the exchange rates have on our reported results of operations
same currency as the related revenues, foreign exchange and the reported value of our assets and liabilities, changes
rate fluctuations could adversely affect our profitability. in foreign exchange rates could significantly impact the

comparability of our reported results of operations between
financial periods and/or result in significant changes to the
reported value of our assets and liabilities.
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Because fluctuations in exchange rates affect the
comparability of our results of operations between periods,
the discussion of our results of operations below provides,
where relevant, information with respect to orders, revenues
and samings before interest and taxes as reported in local
currencies.

While we operate globally and report our financial resuits in
U.S. dollars, because of the location of our more significant
markets and because our headquarters are in Switzerland,
foreign exchange rate movements between the U.S. dollar
and both the euro (EUR) and the Swiss franc (CHF) are of
particular importance to us.

In 2003, the euro strengthened against the dollar from a rate
of $ 1.05 to EUR 1.00 at the end of 2002 to a rate of $ 1.26
to EUR 1.00. In 2002, the euro also strengthened against
the dollar, increasing from a rate of $ 0.88 toc EUR 1.00 at
the end of 2001 to a rate of $ 1.05 to EUR 1.00 at the end
of 2002. Similarly, the average U.S. dollar to euro foreign
exchange rate was $ 1.13, $0.94 and $ 0.89 to EUR 1.00
during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,

In 2003, the Swiss franc strengthened against the dollar from
arate of $ 0.72 to CHF 1.00 at the end of 2002 to a rate

of $0.81 to CHF 1.00. In 2002, the CHF also strengthened
against the dollar, increasing from a rate of $ 0.59 to CHF
1.00 at the end of 2001 to arate of $ 0.72 to CHF 1.00 at
the end of 2002. Similarly, the average U.S. dollar to CHF
foreign exchange rate was $ 0.75, $ 0.64 and $ 0.59 to CHF
1.00 during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Orders

We book an order when a binding contractual agreement
has been concluded with the customer covering, at a
minimum, the price and the scope of products or services to
be suppiied. Approximately 8 percent of our total orders
booked in 2003 were “large orders”, which we define as
orders from third parties involving at least $ 15 million worth
of products or systems. Portions of our business involve
orders related to long-term projects, which can take many
months or even years {o complete. Revenues related to
these large orders are typically recognized on a percentage
of completion basis over the period of time taken to
complete the project. Of the total orders in the Power
Technologies and Automation Technologies divisions in
2003, approximately 11 percent and 7 percent respectively,
represented large orders.

The level of orders can fluctuate from year tc year.
Arrangements included in particular orders can be complex
and non-recurring. Although large orders are more likely to
result in revenues in future periods, the level of large orders,
and orders generally, cannot be used to accurately predict
future revenues or operating performance. Crders that

are placed can be cancelled, delayed or modified by the
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customer. These actions can have the effect of reducing or
eliminating the level of expected revenues or delaying
the realization of revenues.

Percentage of completion method of accounting

When we undertake a long-term project, we recognize
costs, revenues and profit margin from that project in each
period, based on the estimated percentage of the project
completed. Profit margin is based on our estimate of the
amount by which total contract revenues will exceed total
contract costs at completion. Accordingly, as work
progresses or as change orders are approved and estimates
are revised, contract margins may be increased or reduced.
Expected losses on loss contracts are recognized in full
when known,

In an effort to reduce the amount of risk associated with
long-term fixed price contracts we have shifted our focus to
long-term reimbursable contracts, when possible, in

which we charge our customers the sum of our materials,
production, logistics, administrative and financial costs,
together with a negotiated operating profit margin. While not
eliminating the risk of loss completsly, the nature of long-
term reimbursable contracts generally means that costs
resulting from contract delays or cost increases may be
recovered from the customer more easily than in the case
with fixed price contracts, where, we generally must
demonstrate that the delays and increased costs were a
direct result of the customer’s action or impact.

Performance measures

We evaluate the performance of our divisions based upon
earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), or operating profit,
which excludes interest and dividend income, interest and
other finance expense, provision for taxes, minority interest
and loss from discontinued operations, net of tax. We also
evaluate the performance of our divisions in terms of their
revenues, including interdivisional revenues. Approximately,
95 percent of our core divisions’ revenues are third-party
customer sales.
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Analysis of results of operations
Consolidated

Year ended Denamber 31, 2003 compared with year
anded December 31, 2002

Croiprs

Orders (excluding orders for discontinued operations)
increased $ 1,351 million, or 8 percent, to $ 18,703 million in
2003 from $ 17,352 million in 2002. As reported in local
currencies, orders declined by 5 percent in 2003 compared
to 2002. The level of orders in 2003 compared to 2002
increased in the core divisions, both in U.S. dollar terms and
local currencies, whereas in Non-core activities, orders
declined primarily due to the ongoing divestment of the
activities resulting in fewer businesses generating orders.

Revernes

Revenues increased by $ 1,329 million, or 8 percent,

to $ 18,795 milion in 2003 from $ 17,466 millicn in 2002. As
reported in local currencies, revenues decreased 6 percent
in 2003 compared to 2002. The reported increase reflects
the effect of transiating revenues generated in local
currencies into the U.S. dollar, which weakened against most
of our local currencies.

Power Technologies division revenues increased by

$ 717 million or 10 percent, to $ 7,680 million in 2003 from
$ 6,963 million in 2002. As reported in local currencies,
revenues remained flat in 2003 compared to 2002. Strong
revenue increases in local currencies in our Medium-Voltage
Products business area were offset by revenue decreases in
local currencies in both our Power Systems and Utility
Automation Systems business areas.

Autermation Technologles division revenues increased

by $ 1,433 million, or 17 percent, to $ 9,897 million in 2003
from $ 8,464 milion in 2002. As reported in local currencies,
revenues increased 3 percent in 2003 compared to 2002.
This increase was primarily due to a strong revenue increase
in local currencies in our Petroleum, Chemical and
Consumer Industries business area, partly offset by a
revenue decrease in our Paper, Minerals, Marine and
Turbocharging business area.

Non-core activities’ revenues decreased by $ 910 million, or
26 percent, to $ 2,537 million in 2003 from $ 3,447 million in
2002. As reported in local currencies, revenues decreased
39 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. The decrease was
mainly due to a lower ravenue base resulting from the
disposal of Building Systems businesses in several countries
and the ongoing disposal and reduction of our remaining
Non-core activities.

A more detailed discussion of the results of our individual
divisions follows in the “Business divisions” discussion pelow.
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Cpstof sales

Cost of sales increased by $ 1,013 million, or 8 percent, to

$ 14,080 million in 2003 from § 13,067 mitiicn in 2002. Cost
of sales as a percentage of revenues was 75 percent in

2003 and 2002. While the reduction of costs from the Step
change program decreased the overall cost base, decreases
in sales prices caused by market price pressures offset these
gains, resuiting in the costs of sales as a percentage of sales
remaining flat year on year.

in our Power Technologies division, cost of sales as a
percentage of revenues remained flat at 79 percent in 2003
and 2002. This was a resuit of ongoing productivity
improvements and cost savings resulting from the Step
change program being offset by changes in product

mix and price level erosion.

In our Automation Technologies division, cost of sales

as a percentage of revenues increased by one percent to

71 percent, from 70 percent in 2002. This increase

was a result of savings in supply chain management and
manufacturing and engineering activities being more than
offset by ongoing price pressure and the negative impact on
costs of the strengthening of the euro versus the U.S. doliar.

Caost of sales in our Non-core activities is primarily
attributable to our Building Systems businesses. Cost of
sales was $ 1,890 million in 2003 and $ 2,492 million in
2002. The decrease is mainly due 1o the divestment of the
Building Systemns businesses in several countries.

Cost of sales consists primarily of Jaber, raw materials

and related components, as well as provisions for warranty
claims, contract losses and project penalties. in addition,
cost of sales includes order-related development expenses
related to projects for which we have recognized
corresponding revenues, Order-related development
expenditures reflected in cost of sales were $ 317 million and
$ 248 miliion in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Order-related
development expenditures are initially recorded in inventories
as part of the work-in-progress of a contract, and then
reflected in cost of sales at the time revenue is recognized.

Selling, general and sdminisirative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by
$ 124 million, or 3 percent, to $ 3,830 million in 2003 from

3 3,954 million in 2002. As reported in local currencies,
seling, general and administrative expenses decreased by
15 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. This improvement
occurred across our operations and reflects the cost savings
generated by the Step change program. As a percentage of
revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses
decreased to 20 percent in 2003 from 23 percent in 2002
reflecting the impact of the Step change program. Non-order
related research and development costs, which are included
in selling, general and administrative expenses, were $ 613
million and $ 547 miflion in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Amortization expense

Amortization expense was $ 40 million in 2003 compared
to $ 41 million in 2002. The expense in 2003 and 2002
primarily reflects the amortization of intellectual property
related to the 1999 acquisition of Elsag Bailey Process
Automation N.V.

Gtherincome (expense), nel

Other income (expense), net, principally consists of:
restructuring charges; our share of income or foss on
investments, principally from our Equity Ventures business
area; gains or losses from sales of businesses which

are not accounted for as discontinued operations; gains or
losses from sales of investments and property, plant and
equiprnent; license income and write-downs of tangible and
intangible assets.

Other income (expense), net, increased to an expense of

$ 189 million in 2C03 from an expense of $ 58 million in
2002. The increased expense was principally a result of an
increase in restructuring charges in 2003 to $ 325 million
compared to $ 259 milfion in 2002; a decrease in our share
of income from investments in 2003 to $ 101 million
compared to $ 182 million in 2002; a decrease in gains from
the sales of businesses in 2003 to $ 69 million versus

$ 113 milion in 2002 and a decrease in asset write-downs
and other items in 2003 to $ 34 mifiion compared to

$ 94 million in 2002.

The increase in restructuring charges in 2003 was primarily
a result of costs incurred in 2003 from the streamiining

of the Building Systems business in Germany and from
lease cancellation costs associated with the closing and
divestment of businesses in the U.K. and Germany, which
were not present in 2002. The decrease in our share of
income from investments in 2003 compared to 2002 was
primarily due to a decrease in income from our stake in
Swedish Export Credit Corporation, which we divested in the
second quarter of 2003. The decrease in gains from the
sales of businesses in 2003 was primarlly caused by the
loss recorded in 2003 on the sale of Swedish Export Credit
Corporation of approximately $ 80 million, which partly offset
the $ 83 million net gain recorded from the sale of our
Building Systems businesses in several countries and a $ 28
million gain recorded from the sale of our interest in
Electranet Pty Lid. and in ABB Redbank Project Pty Lid. In
2002, we recorded a gain of approximately $ 74 milion from
the sale of our Air Handling business. Asset write-downs and
other items decreased primarily because of the non-
recurrence of write-downs in our Non-core activities and
Corporate/Other, which decreased to $ 9 milion and $ 10
million in 2003 from $ 47 million and $ 37 million in 2002
respectively, mainly due to software write-downs.
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Emnings before Interest and faxes

Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating income,
increased by $ 310 milion, or 90 percent, to $ 656 milion in
2003 from $ 346 mitlion in 2002. As reported in local
currencies, earnings before interest and taxes improved by
70 percent in 2003 when compared to 2002. The effects of
our Step change cost reduction program significantly
contributed to the increase in earnings before interest and
taxes. As a percentage of revenues, earnings before interest
and taxes increased to 3 percent in 2003 from 2 percent in
2002.

Mot interest and other finance expense

Net interest and other finance expense refers to the
aggregate of the Consolidated Income Statement line items
interest and dividend income and interest and other finance
expense. Interest and other finance expense includes
impacts associated with the change in fair value of

the embedded derivative contained in our $ 968 million
convertible bonds; amortization of financing costs
assoclated with the issuance of our debt securities; losses
on marketable securities and investments accounted for at
cost; and interest expense on our borrowings. Net interest
and other finance expense increased by $ 284 million,

or 225 percent, to an expense of $ 410 million in 2003
compared with an expense of § 126 million in 2002.

Interest and dividend income decreased by $ 45 million, or
24 percent, to $ 144 million in 2003 from § 189 million in
2002 primarily due tc lower market interest rates.

Interest and other finance expense increased to $ 554 million
in 2003 from $ 318 million in 2002, an increase of

$ 239 million or 76 percent. Included in interest and finance
expense in 2003 is an expense of $ 84 million associated
with the change in fair value of the embedded derivative
contained in our $ 968 million convertible bonds, compared
to a net gain of $ 215 million in 2002 for the same item. The
unrealized gain (loss) resulted from the application of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (SFAS
133), Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, whereby a portion of the issuance procesds is
deemed 1o relate to the value of the derivative on issuance,
crealing a discount upen the issuance of the bonds.
Subseguent changes in the value of the derivative and the
continued amortization of the discount upon issuance are
included in interest and other finance expense. This
accounting treatment is more fully described in Note 15 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements. Amortization of
financing costs associated with the issuance of our debt
securities was flat between 2003 and 2002. Also included in
interest and finance expense In 2003 is a $ 40 million
expense relating to the ioss on disposal of Sinopec Corp.
and a $ 36 million expense relating to the loss on sale of
markstable securities, which were not present in 2002.
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Provision for taxes

Provision for taxes increased by $ 4 million to $ 78 milion in
2008 compeared to $ 74 million in 2002. The effective tax rate
calculated as the provision for taxes, divided by income from
continuing operations before taxes and minority interest was
31.7 percent in 2003 and 33.6 percent in 2002.

The decrease in the effective tax rate is primarily attricutable
to $ 56 million of adjustments, relating to the favorable
resolution of certain prior year tax matters, including

the release of § 38 million tax provision related to a tax case
ruled in our favor. This is partially offset by the $ 84 million
loss on the change in fair value of the embedded derivative
contained in our $ 968 million convertible bonds, which

is taxed at a rate that is lower than our effective tax rate.

The effective tax rate in 2002 of 33.6 percent was also
impacted by the change in fair value of the embedded
derivative contained in our $ 968 million convertible bonds,
as the $ 215 million gain partially offset by additional
financing related costs, restructuring costs and costs related
to Non-core activities that are taxed at rates lower than our
effective tax rate.

Income from condinuing operalions

Income from continuing operations increased by $ 11 million
to $ 88 million in 2003 compared to $ 75 million in 2002. The
increase reflects the impact of the items discussed above.

Loss from disconilnued operations, nel of {ax

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, decreasad by
$ 5 million to $ 853 million in 2003 from $ 858 milion in
2002. Tax expense in discontinued operations increased

by $ 168 mifion to $ 218 million in 2003 compared to

$ 50 million in 2002.

A detailed discussion of the results of the significant
businesses classified as discontinued operations follows in
the “Business divisions” section.

Mot loss
Net loss decreased by $ 16 milion, or 2 percent, to $ 767
milion in 2003 from $ 783 million in 2002.
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Earnings per shars

Basic and Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing income by
the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during
the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
income by the weighted-average number of shares
outstanding during the year, assuming that all potentially
dilutive securities were exercised and that any proceeds from
such exercises were used to acquire shares of our stock at
the average market price during the year or the period the
securities were outstanding, if shorter. Potentially dilutive
securities comprise: outstanding written call options, if
dilutive; the securities issued under our management
incentive plan, to the extent the average market price of our
stock exceeded the exercise prices of such instruments;
shares issuable in relation to the convertible bonds, if dilutive;
and outstanding written put options, for which net share
settlement at average market price of our stock was
assumed, if difutive,

The shares issuable in relation to the warrants and options
outstanding in connection with our management incentive
plan were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings
per share in ail periods presented as their inclusion would
have been antidilutive. In 2002, the shares issuable in relation
to the convertible bonds were included in the computation
of diluted earnings per share for the period they were
outstanding.

Basic loss per share was $ 0.63 in 2003 compared to a loss
per share of $ 0.70 in 2002. The difference was largely the
result of the factors mentioned above which impacted
earnings.
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Year ended Decamber 31, 2002 compared with vear
ended Decamber 31, 2601

Srddars

Orders (excluding orders for discontinued operations)
decreased $ 1,299 million, or 7 percent, to $ 17,352 million
in 2002 from $ 18,651 million in 2001. As reported in local
currencies, orders declined by 10 percent in 2002 compared
to 2001. The level of orders in 2002 compared to 2001
increased in the Automation Technologies division but
decreased in the Power Technologies and Non-core
divisions.

Hevenues

Revenues decreased by $ 868 million, or 5 percent, to

$ 17,466 milion in 2002 from $ 18,334 million in 2001. As
reported in local currencies, revenues decreased 8 percent
in 2002 compared to 2001. The underlying decreass in
revenues on a local currency basis was primarily within our
Non-core activities.

Powaer Technologies division revenues increased by

$ 187 milion, or 3 percent to $ 6,863 milion in 2002 from
$ 6,776 million in 2001. As reported in local currencies,
revenues increased 1 percent in 2002 compared to 2001.
Revenues showed a modest increase in most business
areas, partially offset by a decrease in our Distribution
Transforms business area.

Automation Technologies division revenues decreased by

$ 32 mifion, to $ 8,464 million in 2002 from $ 8,486 million in
2001. As reported in focal currencies, revenues decreased

3 percent in 2002 compared to 2001. Revenue growth in
our Petroleum, Chemical and Consumer business area was
offset by a reduction in revenues in most of the other
business areas due o weaker demand.

Non-Core activities revenues decreased by $ 672 million, or
16 percent to $ 3,447 million in 2002 from $ 4,119 million in
2001. As reported in local currencies, revenues decreased
by 22 percent in 2002 compared to 2001. This decrease
resulted from the sale of the Air Handling business in January
2002, market downturns in the Building Systems business
area and the strategic reduction of our presence in some of
the markets of the Logistics Systems and Customer
Systems business areas.

A more detailed discussion of the individual divisions follows
in the “Business divisions” section.

{osi of sales

Cost of sales decreased by $ 472 million, or 3 percent,
to $ 13,067 million in 2002 from $ 13,538 million in 2001.
Cost of sales as a percentage of revenues increased by
one percent to 75 percent, from 74 percent in 2001. The

decrease was primarily the result of operational
improvements within the Automation Technologies division
and the non-recurrence of a number of costs from 2001
within the Non-core activities. Cost of sales for Non-core
activities during 2001 included $ 329 million for the Air
Handling business area which we sold in January 2002. In
2001, within Non-core activities costs and provisions

were recorded in relation o alternative energy projects of

$ 55 million in the New Ventures business area. The non-
recurrence of these costs in 2002 in the Non-core activities
has been partly offset by project write-downs, closure and
restructuring costs within the Building Systerns business
area. Order-related development expenditures amounted to
$ 248 milion and $ 404 milion, in 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

Geling, genersl and adminisirstive expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased
by $ 25 million, or 1 percent, to $ 3,954 million in 2002 from
$ 3,929 million in 2001. As reported in local currencies,
selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by

3 percent in 2002 compared to 2001, This improvement on
a local currency basis was the result of the continuing group-
wide cost reduction and efficiency improvement initiatives
from 2001 and the recovery of payments from a former chief
executive officer. This improvement was slightly offset by the
group-wide integration costs of group processes. As a
percentage of revenues, seling, general and administrative
expenses increased by 2 percent {0 23 percent in 2002,
from 21 percent in 2001. Non-order related research and
developments costs, which are included in selling, generat
and administrative expenses, were $ 547 milion in 2002
and $ 590 million in 2001. In 2002, the core-divisions
incurred non-order related research and development costs
of $ 441 million compared to $ 449 miilion in 2007.

Arnortization expsnse

Amortization expense decreased by $ 147 mifiion, or 78
percent, to $ 41 million in 2002 from $ 188 miillion in 2001,
This decrease reflects the implementation of SFAS 142,
pursuant to which we ceased amortizing goodwilt effective
January 1, 2002. The expense in 2002 primarily reflects the
amortization of intellectual property related to the 1999
acquisition of Elsag Bailey Process Automation N.V.

Oiherincome (expunse), net

Other income (expense), net, decreased by $ 103 million,

or B4 percent, to an expense of § 58 million in 2002 from an
expense of $ 161 million in 2001. The increase in capital
gains to $ 113 million in 2002 from $ 56 miflion in 2001
primarily reflected the gain on the sale of our Air Handling
business in January 2002. In addition income from equity
accounted companies, license income and other increased
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to § 182 miliion in 2002 from $ 93 million in 2001 (primarily
related to our investment in the Swedish Export Credit
Corporation). These increases were partly offset by the
combined effects of the increase in restructuring expenses to
$ 259 milion in 2002 from $ 221 million in 2001 and the
increase in asset write-downs of both tangible and intangible
assets to § 94 milion in 2002 from $ 82 million in 2001.

Farnings hefors intercst gnd faxes

Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating income,
decreased by $ 171 miltion, or 33 percent, to $ 346 million in
2002 from $ 517 million in 2001. As reported in local
currencies, earnings befors interest and taxas decreased by
42 percent in 2002 compared to 2001. This decrease is
primarily attributable to the decreased revenue base in 2002
compared to 2001.

Net interest oo other nences sxpsnse

Net interest and other finance expense refers to the
aggregate of the Consolidated Income Statement line items
interest and dividend income and interest and other finance
expense. Net interest and other finance expense decreased
by $ 97 million, or 43 percent, to $ 126 million in 2002
compared to $ 223 mitlion in 2001. In 2002, net interest and
other finance expense includes the change in fair value of the
embedded derivative contained in our § 968 million
convertible bonds and lower market interest rates that were
partially offset by costs of $ 99 million associated with our
debt refinancing. Total borrowings decreased in Novemnber
2002 due to the sale of our Structured Finance business,
whereas average borrowings were flat for the year 2002.

Interest and dividend income decreased by $ 159 million, or
46 percent, to $ 189 milion in 2002 from § 348 million in
2001, among other things due 10 the sale of trading securities
following the cessation of proprietary trading in former
Treasury Centers and the reduction in market interest rates.

interest and other finance expense improved by $ 256 miliion,
or 45 percent, to $ 315 million in 2002 from $ 571 million

in 2001, primarily due to a reduction in total borrowings and
as aresult of the change in fair value of the embedded
derivative contained in our $ 968 million convertible bonds
resulting in a net gain of $ 215 million in 2002, These gains
were partly offset by costs of § 89 million associated with our
debt refinancing.

Frovision for taxes

Provision for taxes decreased $ 13 million to $ 74 miflion

in 2002 from $ 87 million in 2001. The effective tax rate
calculated as the provision for taxes, divided by income from
continuing operations before taxes and minority interest was
33.6 percent in 2002 and 29.6 percent in 2001.

ABB Group Financial review 2003

income from: continuing operations

Income from continuing operations decreased by $ 98 milion
to $ 75 miflion in 2002 from $ 171 mition in 2001, The
decrease reflects the impact of the items discussed above.

Loss from wiscontinued operations, netof tax

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was

$ 858 million in 2002, comparad to § 837 million in 2001,
Tax expense in discontinued cperations increased by $ 35
mifion to $ 50 million in 2002 compared to $ 15 million in
2001.

A detalled discussion of the resuits of the significant discon-
tinued businesses foliows in the “Business divisions” section.

Netloss

As a result of the factors discussed above, net loss
increased by $ 54 million, or 7 percent, to a loss of

$ 783 miliion in 2002 from a loss of $ 729 milion in 2001,

Earnings (foss) per share

Basic and Diluted earnings {loss) per share

Loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax

Basic loss per share was $0.70 and $ 0.64 in 2002 and
2001, respectively, resulting from the factors mentioned
above.

In 2002, the potential common shares from the convertible
bonds were included in the computation of diluted loss per
share. The diluted loss per share was $ 0.83 and $0.64 in
2002 and 2001, respectively, resulting from the factors
mentioned above.
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Business divisions

Overview

In order to streamline our structure and improve operational performance we have, as cf January 1, 2003, put into place
two new divisions: Power Technologies, which combines the former Power Technology Products and Utilities divisions; and
Automation Technologies, which combines the Automation Technology Products and Industries divisions. We present
segment data below 1o reflect this change and we have restated data with respect to prior years.

The tables below present revenues, earnings before interest and taxes (or operating income) and operating margins from
continuing operations by division for the years 2003, 2002 and 2001 and net operating assets by division at December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001 (see also Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements):

Revenues Net operating assets
‘Year ended December 31. December 31,

Earnings before interest and taxes Operating margins
Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
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Division costs

Cost of sales and selling, general and administrative
expenses comprise substantially all of the operating
expenses for all divisions. Cost of sales includes, among
other things, personnel costs, the cost of raw materials,
components, order-related research and development and
procurement costs related to the sale of our products and
services. Selling, general and administrative expenses
include the overhead related to the sales force and all costs
related to general management, human resources, financial
control, corporate finance and non-order related research
and development.

Further details of the divisional performances follow.

- Power Technologies

Power Technologies serves electric, gas and water utilities
as well as industrial and commercial customers, with

a broad range of products, systems and services. Ongoing
deregulation and privatization in these markets are driving
demand by increasing competition in the market. This has
led to industry consolidation and pressures on the utilities to
make existing plants more competitive by modernizing
equipment and outsourcing activities such as service and
maintenance. The trend is advanced but continuing in the
United States, Western Europe, and parts of Latin America.
This trend is beginning to take hold in most other markets
as well.

The demand in China, India and the Middle East remained
strong in 2003. The Eastern European market showed good
growth, whereas growth in Western Europe was modest.

fn North America demand was weak due to the flat
economic groth in the major industrial countries. Political and
financial uncertainties continued to depress energy markets
in Latin America.

In 2004, we expect order growth in Eastern Europe to
continue and the mixed economic environment in Western
Europe to remain. Demand in Latin America is expected to
stay modest, whereas the low demand in the United States
is expected to improve in the second half of 2004, We
expect the strong growth in Asia and the Middle East to
continue. Cn a global basis, we expect the market to
improve in 2004, We expect higher investments in the utility
industry, strong recovery from original eguipment
manufacturers and mixed levels of demand in the other
industries we serve, depending on segment and market.

Year ended Bocember 31, 2603 compared with year
encled Decamber 37, 2002

Orders increased by $ 955 million, or 14 percent, to $ 7,708
milion in 2003 from $ 8,753 million in 2002. As reported in
local currencies, orders increased by 4 percent in 2003
compared to 2002. Orders increased in all business areas on
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a reported basis, whereas in local currencies orders in our
High-Voltage Products business area remained flat and
showed a slight decrease in the Power Transformers and
Distribution Transformers business areas. The strongest
order increase, both nominal and in local currencies, was
experienced in our Medium-Voltage Products and Utility
Automation Systems business areas, following a good
growth in our base orders. In the Utility Automation Systems
business area, the order increase was further enhanced by a
higher level of large project awards. Regionally, the increase
was driven by double-digit growth in the Middle East,

Asia and Eastern Europe. Orders from other divisions were
$ 420 million in 2003 {representing 5 percent of division
orders) compared to $ 408 milion in 2002 (representing

6 percent of division orders).

Revenues increased by $ 717 million, or 10 percent, to

$ 7,680 milllion in 2003 from $ 6,963 million in 2002. As
reported in local currencies, revenues remained flat in 2003
compared to 2002. Our Medium-Voltage Products business
area showed a strong increase in revenues based on good
growth in China and Eastern Eurcpe. Our Power Systems
and Utility Automation Systems business areas both showed
a decrease in revenues in local currencies due to a low order
intake In the second half of 2002. The revenue performance
also reflected the loss of revenues from three businesses
that were divested in the United States, Poland and Italy.
Adjusted for change in scope of business due to these
divestments, revenues in local currencies increased

by 3 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. Revenues from
other divisions were $ 410 million in 2003 (representing

5 percent of division revenues) compared to $ 195 milion in
2002 {representing 3 percent of division revenues).

Cost of sales was $ 6,078 million representing 79 percent of
revenues in 2003 compared to $ 5,516 million representing
79 percent of revenues in 2002. Despite difficult markets

in 2003 characterized by a less favorable product mix and
price level erosion, most noticeably in our Power
Transformers business area with smaller declines in our
High-Voltage Products and Medium-Voltage Products
business areas, cost of sales as percentage of revenues
remained flat mainly due to ongoing productivity
improvements and cost savings.

Selling, general and administration expenses increased in
U.S. doliar terms by $ 28 million or 3 percent to $ 980 million
in 2003 from $ 852 million in 2002. As reported in local
currencies, selling, general and administration expenses
decreased by 9 percent in 2003 compared to 2002.
Expressed as a percentage of revenues, selling, general and
administration expenses decreased o 13 percent in 2003
compared to 14 percent in 2002 reflecting the impact of the
various restructuring and efficiency improvement programs.
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Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating income,
increased by $ 130 mifion, or 30 percent, to $ 563 milion in
2003 from $ 433 miliion in 2002. As reported in local
currencies, earnings before interest and taxes increased by
22 percent in 2003. The increase in operating income was
primarily due to the elimination of overlapping product fines
and production sites, as well as productivity improvements.
All business areas, with significant improvements from

the Medium-Voltage Products and Power Systems business
areas, contributed to this increase except the Power
Transformers business area. Earmings in Power Transformers
decreased due to low volumes in Canada and the United
States following the weak market demand. The restructuring
and related asset write-downs was $ 64 million in 2003 and
$ 62 million in 2002 and the operating margin increased from
8.2 percent in 2002 to 7.3 percent in 2003.

Year ended December 31, 2002 compared with vear
snded December 21, 2001

Orders decreased by $ 614 milion, or 8 percent, to

$ 6,753 million in 2002 compared to $ 7,368 million in 2001.
As reported in local currencies, orders decreased 9 percent
in 2002 compared to 2001. This decrease was primarily
related to the Power Systems business area, which
experienced a significant reduction in farge orders compared
to 2001, when we won two large orders in China and Brazil
with a combined value of more than $ 500 million. In
addition, our adoption in 2002 of a selective bidding
approach aimed at reducing project risks and securing
better margins, reduced the number of bids and conse-
quently, the order intake. Orders decreased in alf business
areas except the Medium-Voltage Products business area,
which increased orders from improving demand in Asia. -
Orders from cther divisions were $ 408 miltion in 2002
{representing & percent of division orders) compared o

$ 927 millicn in 2001 (representing 13 percent of division
orders).

Revenues increased by $ 187 million, or 3 percent, to

$ 6,963 million in 2002 from $ 6,776 million in 2001. As
reported in focal currencies, revenues increased by 1 percent
in 2002 compared to 2001. The business area High-Voltage
Products showed a strong growth in revenues, whereas the
Medium-Voltage Products and Power Transformers business
areas showed moderate growth partly offset by a moderate
decrease in our Distribution Transformers business area.
Revenues were sustained by a high order backlog at the end
of 2001 and a strong demand in Asia Pacific markets during
2002. Revenues from other divisions were $ 195 million in
2002 (representing 3 percent of division revenues) compared
to $ 612 mitlion in 2001 {representing @ percent of division
revenues).
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Cost of sales was $ 5,516 million representing 79 percent
of revenues in 2002 compared to $ 5,324 milion
representing 79 percent of revenues in 2001. Cost of sales
as a percentage of revenues remained flat.

Selling, general and administration expenses decreased in
U.S. doliar terms by $ 8 million to $ 952 million in 2002
compared to $ 960 million in 2001. As reported in local
currencies, selling, general and administration expenses
decreased by 3 percent in 2002 compared to 2001.
Expressed as a percentage of revenues, selling, general and
administration expenses decreased to 14 percent in 2002
compared to 15 percent in 2001 primarily due to the
ongoing restructuring programs.

Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating income,
increased by $ 28 millicn, or 7 percent, to $ 433 milion in
2002 compared to $ 405 million in 2001. As reported in local
currencies, earnings before interest and taxas increased by
7 percent in 2002 compared to 2001, Operating income

in the Power Systems business area decreased mainly due
to the execution of low-margin projects taken before 2001.
This decrease was more than offset by higher earnings

in the High-Voltage Products and Medium-Voltage Products
business areas as a result of reductions in overfapping
product lines, production lines and the size of the workforce
in many countries. The restructuring and related asset write-
downs decreased from $ 76 miftion in 2001 to $ 62 in 2002
and the operating margin remained at & percent in both
2002 and 2001.

Automation Technologies

The Automation Technologies division's customers span a
broad range of industry sectors and geographic regions.
Consequently, demand is influenced by many factors and
can vary significantly among custorner groups within a given
time pericd. Our customers use automation technologies
primarily to improve productivity, quality, and consistency in
industrial and manufacturing applications.

During 2003, market demand was mixed in Western Europe,
with significant growth in the Eastern European countries.
North American markets remained weak for much of the
year, with signs of an upturn in the fourth quarter, particularly
in the United States industrial sector. Latin America remained
flat, with low levels of capital investment by our customers.
Continued strong growth was seen in Asia, highlighted by
continued double-digit improvements in China and India.

From an industry perspective, the automotive sector
remained weak, characterized by price pressure. Petroleumn,
Chemicals, Paper, Marine and Turbocharging remained flat.
Investment by the minerals and mining industry was down
as a result of price pressure. Consumer industries and life
sciences showed modest growth, with continued strength in
oil and gas due {0 continued demand for automation
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systems in connection with production projects. The service
activities within process industries continued to be in
demand in this environment of cautious capital investment,
with revenue growth for 2003.

in 2004, we expect to see signs of a recovery in Europe

and North America, a flat market in Latin America, continued
strong growth in Asia, and somewhat improved market
conditions in the Middle East and Africa. We anticipate a
healthy growth in the chemicals and life sciences sectors,

a gradual recovery in the marine, minerals, and paper
industries, and increased demand in the automotive and
general industries.

Yearended December 31, 2003 compared with yvear
ended December 31, 2002

Orders increased by $ 1,281 million, or 15 percent, to

$ 9,961 milion in 2003 compared to $ 8,680 million in 2002.
As reported in local currencies, orders increased 2 percent in
2003 compared to 2002. A strong increase in orders in

jocal currencies came from our Petroleum, Chemical and
Consumer industries business area, supported by the
receipt of a § 173 milion order for turnkey gas compressors
for a pipeline project in Poland. Our Paper, Minerals, Marine
and Turbocharging business area experienced weak markets
in paper and minerals industries and our Robotics,
Automotive and Manufacturing business area experienced
weakness in the automotive industry in North America. Al
other business areas increased orders both in product and
service businesses. Orders from other divisions were

$ 474 million in 2008 compared to $ 429 million in 2002,
representing 5 percent of division orders in both the pericds.

Revenues increased by $ 1,433 million or 17 percent, to

$ 9,897 million in 2003 compared to $ 8,464 million in 2002,
As reported in local currencies, revenues increased 3
percent in 2003 compared to 2002. Higher backlog from the
large projects wen during 2002, helped to increase revenues
significantly in our Petroleum, Chemical and Censumer
industries business area. The Paper, Minerals, Marine and
Turbocharging business area’s revenues decreased due to
lower order backlog and weak markets in the paper industry.
Most other business areas showed moderate revenue
increases reflecting volume improvements in products and
service sales. Regionally, Asia and Europe had double-digit
growth rates, whereas revenues in the Americas remained
flat in local currencies. Revenues from other divisions were

$ 455 million in 20038 compared to $ 409 million in 2002,
representing 5 percent of division revenues in both periods.
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Cost of sales was $ 6,991 million representing 71 percent
of revenues in 2003 compared to $ 5,933 million
representing 70 percent of revenues in 2002. Cost of sales
as a percentage of revenues showed a moderate increase
due to ongoing price pressure and the negative impact of
the strengthening of the euro offsetting savings in supply
management, manufacturing and engineering activities.

Seling, general and administration expenses increased in
U.S. doltar terms by $ 115 million or 6 percent to $ 1,966
million in 2003 compared to $ 1,851 million in 2002.

As reported in local currencies, selling, general and
administration expenses decreased by 8 percent in 2003
compared to 2002. Expressed as a percentage of revenues,
selling, general and administration expenses decreased

to 20 percent in 2003 compared to 22 percent in 2002
reflecting the impact of the varicus restructuring and
efficiency improvement programs.

Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating income,
increased by $ 256 million or 50 percent, to $ 773 million
in 2008 compared to $ 517 million in 2002. As reported in
local currencies, earnings before interest and taxes
increased 33 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. The
significant improvement in operating income was mainly due
to productivity improvements and successful cost savings
programs combined with ongoing growth in the service
business resulting in increased operating income in all
business areas in 2003. Restructuring and related asset
write-downs were higher at $ 140 million during 2003 as
compared to $ 137 million during 2002 and the operating
margin increased to 7.8 percent in 2003 compared to 6.1
percent in 2002.

Year ended Docember 34, 2002 compared with year
wnded December 31, 2001

Orders increased by $ 381 million, or 5 percent, to $ 8,680
million in 2002 compared to $ 8,299 million in 2001, As
reported in local currencies, orders increased 1 percent in
2002 compared to 2001. Strong demand in india and China
led to increased order intake in our Petroleum, Chemical and
Consumer Industries business area. Our Control Platform
and Enterprise Products business area experienced a
moderate decline in orders due to generally weak capital
spending by participants in the process industries. Higher
demand for robotics products in several industries led to
higher orders in the Robotics, Automotive and Manufacturing
business area. Low-Voltage Products and Instrumentation
and Drives and Motors business areas experienced a flat
development with the increased demand from industrial
customers in China for products and systems, being offset
by decreased orders from Europe and North America.
Orders from other divisions were $ 429 million in 2002
(representing 5 percent of division orders) compared to

$ 482 million in 2001 (representing & percent of division
orders).
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Revenues decreased $ 32 million to $ 8,464 million in 2002
compared to $ 8,496 million in 2001. As reported in local
currencies, revenues decreased by 3 percent in 2002
compared to 2001, Revenues mainly increased, in the
Petroleum, Chemical and Consumer Industries business
area due to strong order backlog at the end of 2001 and
improved market conditions in the Middle East, Africa and
Asia. This increase was more than offset by a reduction in
revenues in all the other business areas due to generally
weaker market conditions. Revenues from other divisions
were $ 408 million in 2002 (representing 5 percent of division
revenues) compared to $ 610 million in 2001 (representing
7 percent of division revenues).

Cost of sales was $ 5,933 million representing 70 percent of
revenues in 2002 compared to $ 6,005 million representing
71 percent of revenues in 2001 reflecting the impact of
productivity improvement programs.

Selling, general and administration expenses increased

in U.S. dollar terms by $ 62 million or 3 percent 1o

$ 1,851 milion in 2002 compared to $ 1,789 million in 2001.
As reported in local currencies, selling, generat and
administration expenses remained flat. Expressed as a
percentage of revenues, selling, general and administration
expenses increased to 22 percent in 2002 compared 1o

21 percent in 2001, primarily due to increased research and
development costs.

Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating income,
increased modestly by $ 3 milion to $ 517 million in 2002
compared to § 514 million in 2001. As reported in local
currencies, earnings before interest and taxes decreased

4 percent in 2002 compared to 2001. This reduction was
mainly due to increased restructuring and asset write-downs
of $ 137 million in 2002 as compared to $ 81 milion during
2001. Earnings decreased in all business areas, except in
the Drives and Motors business area, which remained flat.
The operating margin increased to 6.1 percent in 2002
compared to 6.0 percent in 2001.

Non-Core Activities

Business activities that are not directly linked to our core
divisions and which we intend in the majority to divest or
discontinue are grouped together and their results are
reported under the heading of Non-core activities. These
comprise primarily the remaining parts of the Equity Ventures
business area, the remaining parts of the Structured Finance
business area, the remaining parts of the Building Systems
business area, the remaining parts of the New Ventures
business area and a number of other remaining activities,
including Customer Service Workshop, Logistic Systems
and the Group Processes business areas. The Insurance
business area, which was previously included in Non-core
activities, is now included as part of discontinued operations
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following our agreement in December 2003 to sell this
business to White Mountains Insurance Group Limited of
Bermuda.

In April 2002, we decided to dispose of our Building Systems
businesses. The gradual disposal process was envisaged

to extend over a non-defined period of time preceded by
restructuring in several locations. The disposal of our
Buiiding Systems businesses contemplated that we would
retain an involverent in the disposed operations through a
combination of technology license agreements, supplier
relationships, retention of certain orders and participation on
the Board of Directors of some of the disposed companies.
As a result of these factors, we concluded that classification
of the Building systems businesses as discentinued
operations according to SFAS 144 was not appropriate. The
results of operations of these businesses and the results
from the disposal of each disposed business are reported in
our Consolidated Income Statement within continuing
operations, through the date of disposition.

Year ended December 31, 2003 compared with year
anded Decomber 3%, 2002

Orders decreased by $ 1,164 million, or 33 percent, to

$ 2,313 million in 2003 compared to $ 3,477 million in 2002,
As reported in local currencies, orders decreased by 45
percent in 2003 compared to 2002. The reduction in orders
is primarily due to the ongoing divestment process
combined with difficult market conditions in the Building
Systems business area, and the discontinuation and
reduction of activities in the Group Processes business area.
Orders from other divisions amounted to $ 524 million in
20083 (representing 23 percent of the division orders in 2003)
and $ 871 million in 2002 (representing 25 percent of the
division orders in 2002).

Reverues decreased by $ 910 million, or 28 percent, to

$ 2,537 million in 2003 compared to § 3,447 million in 2002.
As reported in local currencies, revenues declined 39
percent in 2003 compared to 2002. Revenues frcm other
divisions amounted to $ 553 million in 2003 {representing

22 percent of the division revenues in 2003) and $ 875
million in 2002 (representing 25 percent of division revenues
in 2002).

The major components of the Non-core activities revenues is
comprised in the following:

Building Systems revenues decreased by $ 546 miliion, or
23 percent, to $ 1,829 milion in 2008 compared to $ 2,375
million in 2002. As reported in local currencies, revenues
decreased 34 percent in 2003 compared {0 2002. The
decrease in revenues was due to the lower revenue base
resulting from our divestment of the majority of the
businesses in this business area and continued difficuit
market conditions in the remaining units. Other Non-core
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activities include Group Processes revenues that decreased
by $ 241 million, or 32 percent, to $ 517 million in 2003 from
$ 758 million in 2002. As reported in local currencies,
revenues decreased by 40 percent in 2003 compared to
2002. This decrease was mainly due to the reduction of our
activities in this area. Of the remaining businesses, revenues
decreased by $ 115 million, or 64 percent, to $ 64 million

in 2003 from $ 179 million in 2002. The decrease was mainly
due 1o the ongoing divestment and closing process in

our Customer Service Workshop and Logistic Systems
business areas.

Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating loss,
remained flat at a loss of $ 181 million in 2003 and 2002.
As reported in local currencies, operating loss decreased
by 6 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. This result was
primarily attributable to the following:

Equity Ventures operating income increased by $ 33 milion
to $ 76 million in 2003 compared to $ 43 million in 2002. As
reported in local currencies, cperating income increased by
38 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. The increase
primarily resulted from the gain realized from the divestments
of ABB Redbank Project Pty Lid. and ElectraNet Pty Ltd. in
Australia.

Structured Finance operating loss increased by $ 161 million
to a loss of $ 65 million in 2003 compared to an income

of $ 96 million in 2002. This increase primarily resufted from a
loss on disposal of approximately $ 80 million in 2003
following the divestment of our stake in the Swedish Export
Credit Corporation in early 2003, compared to an income
from equity accounted companies of $ 125 million
recognized in 2002.

Building Systems operating loss decreased by $ 9 milion to
$ 104 milion in 2003 compared to $ 113 million in 2002.

As reported in local currencies, operating loss decreased by
20 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. The operating loss
for 2003 included the gain on sale of the businesses located
in the Nordic Region for approximately $ 124 million

being partially offset by the loss on sale of the businesses
located in several other countries, principally Belgium, the
Netherlands, Austria and the UK for approximately $ 41
million. Excluding these non-recurring items, the cperating
loss was $ 187 million in 2003 compared tc $ 113 milion in
2002. The increase in the loss from the prior year is the resuit
of additional restructuring costs and the weak underlying
market conditions with the remaining businesses.

New Ventures operating loss decreased by $ 16 million to

$ 21 million in 2003 compared to $ 37 million in 2002. As
reported in local currencies, the operating loss decreased by
51 percent in 2003 compared to 2002. The decrease was
largely due to the benefits of restructuring activities
throughout all businesses leading to a significant reduction
in selling, general and administrative expenses and
considerably lower asset write-downs than in earlier years.
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Other Non-core activities operating loss decreased by

$ 103 million to $ 67 million in 2003 compared to $ 170
million in 2002. Group Processes represented approximately
$ 52 milion and $ 105 million of this loss in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The improvement in Group Processes was due
to the non-recurrence of costs for software write-downs in
2002 and reduced general and administrative experises as a
result of the ongoing dissolution of the Group Processes
business area.

L

Year ended Decomber 31, 2002 comparec with yesr
entied Decermber 31, 2007

Orders decreased by $ 583 million, or 14 percent, to

$ 3,477 million in 2002 compared to $ 4,060 million in 2001,
As reported in local currencies, orders decreased by 20
percent in 2002 compared to 2001. The reduction in orders
was primarily due to the saie of our Air Handling business,
decreased orders in our Building Systems business area
resulting from market downturns across Europe and the
planned reduction of our presence in some of the markets of
the Logistic Systems and Customer Service Workshop
business areas. Orders from other divisions amounted

to $ 871 million in 2002 (representing 25 percent of the
division orders in 2002) and $ 870 miliion in 2001
(representing 21 percent of the division orders in 2001).

Revenues decreased by $ 672 million, or 16 percent, to

$ 3,447 million in 2002 compared to $ 4,119 million in

2001. As reported in local currencies, revenues decreased
22 parcent in 2002 compared to 20071. Revenues from other
divisions amounted to $ 875 million in 2002 (representing

25 percent of the division revenues in 2002) and $ 821
million in 2001 {representing 20 percent of the division
revenues in 2001).

The major components of the Non-core activities revenues is
comprised of the following:

Building Systermns revenues decreased by $ 238 million, or

9 percent, to $ 2,375 milllion in 2002 compared to $ 2,613
million in 2001 due to market downturns across Eurcpe,
particularly Germany and selective order taking. As reported
in local currencies, revenues decreased by 14 percent in
2002 compared to 2001. Other Non-core activities included
Group Processes revenues that increased by $ 20 million, or
3 percent, to $ 758 million in 2002 from $ 738 million in
2001. As reported in focal currencies, revenues decreased
by 3 percent in 2002 compared to 2001, Of the remaining
businesses within Cther Non-core activities, revenues
dacreased by $ 361 million, cr 67 percent, to $ 179 milion in
2002 from $ 540 million in 2001, mainly due to the sale of
the Air Handiing business.
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Earnings before interest and taxes, or operating loss,
increased by $ 68 million to $ 181 million in 2002 compared
to $ 113 milion in 2001. As reported in local currencies,
operating loss increased by 65 percent in 2002 compared to
2001. The reasons for the increase in operating loss are
outlined below.

Equity Ventures cperating income decreased by $ 32 milion
to $ 43 milion in 2002 compared to $ 75 miliion in 2001, As
reported in local currencies, operating income decreased by
44 percent in 2002 compared to 2001. The decrease was
the result of reduced returns from investments and the
effects of closing down development and office activities.

Structured Finance operating income increased by

$ 95 million to $ 96 milion in 2002 compared to $ 1 million in
2001. The increase primarily resulted from our 35 percent
stake in Swedish Export Credit Corporation in Sweden,
which in 2002 reported income from equity accounted
companies of $ 125 million in 2002 compared to a loss of

$ 16 million in 2001,

Building Systems operating income decreased by

$ 131 million to aloss of $ 113 million in 2002 compared to
an income of $ 18 million in 2001. The decrease was due to:
project write-downs in Germany, Sweden, United Kingdom
and Denmark; closure costs in {taly and Poland; and
restructuring costs in Germany.

New Ventures operating loss decreased by $ 108 million to
$ 37 million in 2002 compared to $ 143 milion in 2001. As
reported in local currencies, operating loss decreased by
74 percent in 2002 compared to 2001, The decrease was
due to the non-recurrence of costs and provisions for
atternative energy projects and asset write-downs in 2001.

Other Non-core activities operating loss increased by $ 106
milion to $ 170 milfion in 2002 compared to $ 64 milion

in 2001. Group Processes represented approximately

$ 105 milion and $ 54 million of the losses in' 2002 and
2001, respectively. The increase in Group Processes was
mainly due to the write-down of software and increased
general and administrative expenses.

Corporéte
Our corporate/other activities comprise headquarters and
stewardship, research and development and other activities.

Year ended December 31, 2003 compared with vear
ended December 31, 2002

Total operating costs increased by $ 76 milion, or 18
percent, to $ 488 milion in 2003 compared to $ 423 million
in 2002. In local currencies, operating costs increased

5 percent in 2008 compared to 2002.
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Headquarters and stewardship operating costs increased
by $ 153 miliion, or 81 percent, to $ 342 million in 2003
compared to $ 189 million in 2002. in local currencies,
operating costs were 87 percent higher in 2003 compared
to 2002. The increase in operating costs was mainly due to
the non-recurrence of one-time events in 2002 such as the
recovery of payments from a former chief executive officer.

Corperate research and development costs were

$ 92 million in 20038 compared to $ 93 million in 2002. In
local currencies, operating costs improved by 14 percent
in 2003 compared to 2002. The improvement in operating
costs was mainly due to a centinuous attention to reducing
unnecessery costs and a strong focus on the reduction

of administrative overhead.

Cther operating costs (including Real Estate, Group Treasury
Operations and consolidation) decreased by $ 76 million,

or 54 percent, to $ 65 million in 2003 compared to $ 141
million in 2002, mainly dug to lower costs following the
cessation of proprietary trading and the conseguent
reduction in number of employees in Group Treasury
Operations in 2002 and a reduction in earnings from certain
intra-Group transactions when compared to 2002. In

local currencies, operating costs improved by 83 percent

in 2003 compared to 2002.

Yaar ended December 31, 2002 compared with year
ended Docember 34, 2007

Total operating costs increased by $ 134 million, or 46
percent, to $ 423 million in 2002 compared to $ 289 million
in 2001. As reported in local currencies, operating costs
increased by 91 percent in 2002 compared to 2001.

Headquarters and stewardship operating costs decreased
by $ 5 million, or 3 percent, to $ 189 million in 2002
compared to $ 194 milion in 2001.

Corporate research and devetopment costs decreased by

$ 10 million, or 10 percent, to $ 93 mition in 2002 compared
to $ 103 million in 2001 as a result of the reorganization

in our global research and development centers and the
related headcount reductions. As reparted in local
currencies, research and development costs decreased 13
percent in 2002 compared to 2001.

Other operating costs {including Group Treasury Operations,
Real Estate and consolidation) increased by $ 149 million to
$ 141 million in 2002 compared to an income of $ 8 million
in 2001, mainly due to a reduction in rental income as

a result of asset sales, increased lease obligations in Real
Estate, the reduced trading result of Group Treasury
Operations following the cessation of proprietary trading in
2002 and a higher elimination of earnings from certain
intra-Group transactions when compared to 2001.
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Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, in our
Consolidated Income Statement includes the following
ftems:

m Al of our Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses, of
which we agresd to sell our upstream businesses to a
consortium consisting of Candover Partners, JP Morgan
Partners and 3i Group in January 2004. The Upstream
business is a global producer of equipment and services
for oit and gas exploration and production. The remaining
part of the O, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses
primarily consists of a full service engineering company
which in addition to having expertise in EPC projects also
licenses process technologies in the refining, chemical,
petrochemical and polymer fields.

m Costs related to the potential asbestos obligation of our
U.S. subsidiary, Combustion Engineering Inc. The status
of our potential asbestos obligation is contained in
"Contingencies and retained liabilities” below, as well as in
Naote 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

m Our Reinsurance business, which we agreed in December
- 2003 to sell to White Mountains Insurance Group Limited,
a Bermuda-based insurance holding company. The
completion of this sale is subject to regulatory approvals
and other customary clesing conditions and is expected
to take place in the second quarter of 2004,

u Qur Wind Energy business in Germany, of which we
sold a portion to Gl Ventures AG of Munich, Germany,
in December 2003. This business focused on the
development and engineering, procurement and
construction of wind parks in Europe.

® Most of our Structured Finance business, which we sold
to General Electric Capital Corporation (GE) in November
2002. This business provided debt capital for projects and
equipment, and asset-based financing (such as ieasing).

B Our MDVC Cable business located in Germany, which we
agreed in December 2003 to sell to Wilms Group of
Menden, Germany (this sale was completed in January
2004). This business manufactures medium-voltage
cables for the domestic German market.

m ABB Export Bank, which we sold o a financial investor in
December 2003 as a continuation of the divestment of
our Structured Finance business. ABB Export Bank
arranged international export, trade and project financing.

® QOur Metering business, which we sold to Ruhrgas
Industries GmbH of Essen, Germany, in December 2002.
This business produced electricity, water, energy and gas
meters, metering systems and load control systems.
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8 A number of other businesses sold in 2003 and those
we are planning to sell in 2004 including: Austevoll and
©len, operations of Marine Austevoll, a marine switchgear
business in Norway, that were sold to Scandinavian
Electric Austevoll AS and Vassnes Elektro AS,
respectively, both in Norway; our Repair Workshop
business in Portugal which we intend to sell; and our
Retail software business in the United States that we
have agreed to sell to PIM-Newco Incorporated.

In 2002, the other divested businesses included: The
Components business of ABB Trasmissione e
Distribuzione S.p.A (ltaly), which was sold to EB Rebosio
S.ri.; Energy Information Systems Ltd of the United
Kingdom, which was sold to Alstom SA; and the ABB
Drying Business (a division of ABB Inc. comprising a
number of legal entities), which was sold to Andritz AB
and Andritz Ltd.

® Various businesses that were abandoned in 2003 and
2002 for strategic reasons or for which a buyer could not
be found,

® [ egal and professional fees related to the above
disposals.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $ 853
million, $ 858 million and $ 837 million in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. The loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax, for the above items is detailed below.

Discontinued operations 2003 2002 2001

Year ended December 31,

Qil, Gas and Petrochemicals

Combustion Engineering
{Asbestos)

Reinsurance

Other abandoned or sold
businesses/Other

Loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax

The above includes the businesses’ operational results,
accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments,
allocation of interest in accordance with EITF 87-24, capital
gains and losses on sale, impairment charges, goodwill
write-offs and other costs.
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We expect to continue to identify non-core businesses for
disposal. If a business meets the criteria of SFAS 144, we
will reflect the results of operations from the business as
discontinued operations in our Consolidated Income
Statement and as assets and liabilities held for sale and in
discontinued coperations in our Consolidated Balance Sheset.
We will reclassify the prior years’ presentation to refiect the
disposals on a comparable basis.

Qil, Gas and Petrochemicals

Capital expenditures by customers of the Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals businesses are influenced by oil company
expectations about the oil price, which is determined by
supply and demand for crude oil and natural gas products,
the energy price environment that results from supply and
demand imbalances and consolidation of the ofl and gas
markets. Key factors that may influence the worldwide oil
and gas market include production restraint of OPEC nations
and other oil-producing countries, global economic growth,
technological progress in oil exploration and production and
the maturity of the resource base. The downstream markets
are in the short term influenced by capacity utilization

and in the longer term by factors such as economic growth,
substitution of products and demand for more
environmentally friendly products.

While there are signals of an improving outlook for 2004 as
the global economy stabilizes, spending for upstream and
downstream projects remained modest throughout 2003.
The oil price remainad within the OPEC target band of

$ 22 to $ 28 per barrel during most of 2003 and moved
towards the high end of this band towards the end of 2003
due to recovery in underlying consumption, reflecting the
faster pace of global economic recovery. Investment growth
in exploration and production in the upstream market

{from the well or bore hole to the refinery) was soft and
predominantly outside North America. Competition in the
downstream markets remained intense throughout 2003.
Refining expenditures continued to be driven by clean fuel
regulations, with some increase in demand in Asia as those
economies continue to grow. The petrochemical cycle is
emerging from an extended downturn during which there
was lower investment in new capacity. The increased use of
plastics and textiles, particularly in growing economies, is
resulting in increased investment in both low material cost
regions such as the Middie East and in major petrochemical
consuming markets such as India and China.

In January 2004, we announced the sale of our upstream
businesses to a consortium consisting of Candover Partners,
JP Morgan Partners and 3i Group. For further information on
the sale of our upstream businesses, see “Operating and
financial review and prospects — Acquisitions, investments
and divestitures — Pending divestitures.”
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The remaining OGP businesses are available for immediate
sale and continue to be actively marketed. It is unlikely that
significant change to the divestment strategy will be made or
that the plan to divest the remaining OGP businesses will be
withdrawn in the future. Management anticipates divesting
this business in 2004.

In 2002, we initiated a strategic shift to narrower-scope,
lower risk projects based on a more selective bidding
process in the downstream oil and gas business (typically
from the refinery to industrial manufacturers or distributors)
and a shift from fixed price contracts towards lower-risk
reimbursable contracts, which aliow a more balanced
sharing of risks and opportunities betwesn customer and
contractor. To prepare the remaining OGP businesses for
disposal, we streamilined the management structure of the
businesses and in October 2003, announced that the chief
financial officer, would have direct management responsibility
for our entire Oll, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses until
they are divested.

Year ended December 31, 2003 compared with year
ended Dacember 31, 2002

Orders decreased by $ 942 million, or 26 percent, to

$ 2,683 million in 2003 compared to $ 3,625 million in 2002.
As reported in local currencies, orders decreased by

31 percent in 2003. Orders in 2003 included $ 20 million
received from our other divisions, compared to $ 23 million in
2002. The overall decrease is primarily due to a 40 percent
decrease in large orders, mainly attributable to our strategic
decision to de-emphasize fixed priced EPC contracts in
favour of lower-risk reimbursable contracts, to limit
construction in the scope of work in our downstream
business and to more selectively tender for project work. In
addition, both upstream and downstream experienced a
decline in orders due to an overall relatively soft market.

Revenues decreased by $ 467 million, or 12 percent, to

$ 3,402 million in 2003 compared to $ 3,869 million in 2002.
As reported in local currencies, revenues decreased by 17
percent. In 2003, revenues included $ 28 million of sales to
our other divisions, compared to $ 15 million in 2002. The
upstream business recorded revenues of approximately

$ 1,524 million and $ 1,538 miliion in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The remaining OGP businesses recorded
revenues of approximately $ 1,878 million and $ 2,331
million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The overall decrease
in revenues was the result of a lower backlog going into
2003 and a relatively low order intake in 2003, reflecting the
shift in our market strategy pertaining to fixed priced EPGC
contracts in the downstream business.
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The net loss increased by $ 369 million to $ 496 millien in
2008 compared to $ 127 million in 2002. The upstream
business recorded net income of approximately $ 4 million
and $ 98 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
decrease in net income of $ 94 million was attributable to
costs associated with the future sale of the upstream
business of approximately $ 44 milion and $ 13 milion of
allocated interest expense in accordance with EITF 87-24.
The remaining OGP businesses had net losses of $ 500
mifion and $ 225 mifiion in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
remaining OGP businesses were adversely affected by
charges of $ 399 million, primarily in four large, long-term,
downstream fixed price projects booked prior to the
implementation of our current bidding strategy for such
contracts. The customers and the countries in which the
project execution tock place were in each case unrefated.
These charges are related to delays, project cost overruns
and write-down of assets that we, for various reasons,
consider no longer to be recoverable. Fixed priced EPC
contracts are inherently risky and we have experienced losses
from such contracts due to, among other things, our inability
to make proper estimates during the tendering process and
weaknesses in project execution. In any event, we may
continue to experience losses an the contracts we entered
into prior to adopting our new approach until they expire or
are terminated, but the number of such contracts and the
remaining risks, both inherent and specific, associated with
them has been significantly reduced as a result of the
measures we have taken to address these problems. We
also recorded a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets
of approximately $ 120 million related to the remaining OGP
businesses as we determined it was more likely than not that
such deferred tax assets would not be realized.

Year ended December 31, 2002 comparsd with year
ended December 31, 2007

Orders increased by $ 222 milion, or 7 percent, to $ 3,625
milion in 2002 compared to $ 3,403 million in 20071. As
reported in local currencies, orders increased by 3 percent in
2002. Orders in 2002 included $ 23 million received from
our other divisions, compared to $ 15 million in 2001. A 22
percent increase in large orders was attributable to the
award of the ExxonMobil Sakhalin order within our
downstream business, offset by a reduction resulting from a
shift in strategy from fixed price contracts towards lower-risk
reimbursable contracts. The increase in the downstream
business offset a general reduction in the upstream
business.

Revenues increased by $ 380 milion, or 11 percent, to

$ 3,869 milion in 2002 compared to $ 3,489 million in 2001.
As reported in local currencies, revenuss increased by

7 percent in 2002. In 2002, revenues included $ 15 million
of sales to our other divisions, compared to § 11 million in
2001. The upstream business recorded revenues of
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approximately $ 1,538 milion and $ 1,470 milicn in 2002 and
2001, respectively. The remaining OGP businesses recorded
revenues of approximately $ 2,331 millicn and $ 2,019
million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. The overall increases
came from improvements in the upstream and downstream
businesses, reflecting a high order backlog going into 2002
and a relatively high level of order intake in 2002.

We recorded a net loss of $ 127 million in 2002 compared to
net income of $ 9 million In 2001 that represents a decrease
of $ 136 million. The upstream business recorded net
income of approximately $ 98 milion and $ 93 million in
2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in net income of
$ 5 million was attributable to the increase in revenues for
the same period. The remaining OGP businesses had net
losses of $ 225 million and $ 84 million in 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The remaining OGP businesses were adversely
affected by cost overruns and project delays, which resulted
in a charge of $ 224 million in 2002, primarily in four, long-
term, large downstream fixed price projects booked pricr to
the implementation of current bidding strategy for such
contracts. The loss was partially offset by an increase in
revenues for the same period.

Asbestos

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, also includes
costs related to the potential asbestos obligation of our
U.S. subsidiary, Combustion Engineering Inc., of
approximately $ 145 million, $ 420 million and $ 470 milion
in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

An overview on Asbestos is given separately in the
Contingencies & Retained Liabilities section of this report.

Reinsurance business

In December 2003, we agreed to sell our Reinsurance
business to White Mountains insurance Group Limited of
Bermuda for approximately $ 425 million.

Our Reinsurance business provides international reinsurance
and insurance underwriting and specialized primary
insurance in the United States. In reinsurance, the reinsurer,
in return for a premium payment, provides coverage to a
primary insurance company for all or a specific portion of the
primary insurer’s obligation to its customer.

Yoar engled December 31, 2003 comparsd with vear
ended December 31, 2002

Revenues increased by $ 145 million, or 22 percent, to

$ 816 million in 2003 compared to $ 671 million in 2002,
Included in revenues are revenues from other business
areas of $ 34 million and $ 27 million in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The increase in revenues was primarily due to
higher premium income from increased volumes and higher
insurance premium rates compared to the rates for
comparable products and risks in 2002.
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We recordad a net loss of $ 97 million in 2003 compared to
net income of $ 22 million in 2002 that represents a
decrease of $ 119 milion. The decrease was the result of a
$ 154 million impairment charge and an allocation of interest
of $ 15 million in accordance with EITF 87-24 being partially
offset from income from operations of approximately

$ 72 million due 1o higher technical insurance results and
improved investment income in the major operating units.
The impairment charge recorded from the anticipated
disposal of the Reinsurance business of $ 154 milion was
principally comprised of an asset write-down of § 48 million,
goodwill and other intangible write-offs of $ 83 million,
expected selling costs of $ 25 milion, deferred tax write-offs
of approximately $ 16 milion and an accumulated foreign
currency translation gain of $ 24 milion,

Year ended December 81, 2002 compared with year
ented December 31, 2007

Reinsurance revenues decreased by $ 267 million, or 28
percent, to $ 671 million in 2002 compared to $ 938 million
in 2001. Included in revenues are revenues from other
business areas of $ 27 milion and $ 5 million in 2002 and
2001, respectively. The decrease in revenues was primarily
due to the cessation of new reinsurance activity in
Scandinavian Reinsurance Company Limited, Bermuda.

We recorded net income of $ 22 million in 2002 compared
to a net foss of $ 336 million in 2001 that represents an
increase of $ 358 million. The increase was the result of the
non-recurrence of a number of costs from 2001. Prior to
2001, we presented a portion of our insurance reserves on a
discounted basis, which estimated the present value of
funds required to pay losses at future dates. During 2001,
the timing and amount of claims payments being ceded to
us in raspect of prior years’ finite risk reinsurance contracts
changed and could not be reliably determined at December
31, 2001. Therefore, we were no longer able to continue

to discount our loss reserves and were required to record a
charge to losses and loss adjustment expenses in 2001

of $ 295 million. (n addition, the Reinsurance business area
also recorded provisions for $ 138 milion in underwriting
losses, including provisions totalling $ 48 million refating

to the events of September 11, 2001, leading to the
significantly negative insurance results. The benefit of the
non-recurrence of these costs was partially offset by lower
revenues.
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Wind Energy

Our Wind Energy business in Germany was primarily
focused on the development of Wind Parks mainly in
Europe. In December 2003, we sold part of our Wind Energy
business in Germany to GI Ventures AG of Munich,
Germany, with the remaining portion set to be sold in 2004.

Yaor ended Docember 3%, 2003 compared with yesy
aended Decamber 81, 2002

Revenues decreased by $ 32 million, or 67 percent, to

$ 16 million in 2003 compared to $ 48 milfion in 2002. The
decrease in revenues was primarily due to a large order
progressing through the execution phase with no other

significant replacement orders.

The net loss increased by $ 41 milion to $ 42 million in 2003
from $ 1 million in 2002. The 2003 net loss of $ 42 million
was comprised principally of a $ 25 million loss from disposal
(net of a tax benefit of $ 10 million), asset write-downs of

$ 9 million and loss from operations of $ 8 miflion.

This unit did not exist in this form in 2001 and therefore no
comparison between 2002 and 2001 is provided.

Structured Finance
In November 2002, we compieted the sale of most of our
Structured Finance business to GE.

Pariod from January 1 1o November 30, 2008 compared
with year snded December 31, 2007

Revenues increased by $ 42 million, or 19 percent, to

$ 262 milion in 2002 from $ 220 million in 2001, The
revenue increase reflects the acquisition of a portfolio of
small, mainly standardized leases as well as growth

in the businesses existing portfolio of such small leases.

We recorded a net loss of $ 183 million in 2002 compared to
net income of $ 8 million in 2001 that represents a decrease
of $ 191 million. The 2002 net loss of $ 183 million included
a $ 146 million loss on disposal, loss from operations of

$ 22 million and the allocation of interest expense of $ 15
million in accordance with EITF 87-24. The loss on disposal
of $ 146 million for the sold business was principally
comprised of an asset write-down of $ 15 miftion, goodwil
and other intangible write-offs of $ 2 million, transaction
costs of $ 27 million, the fair value for GE’s right to require
the Company 1o repurchase certain designated assets of

$ 38 million, capital tax expense associated with the disposal
of § 10 million and an accumulated foreign currency
transiation loss of $ 54 mifion. The lower operating income in
general reflected the change in strategy to refrain from new
lease and financing transactions, leading to a corresponding
reduction in business activity during 2002.
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MDCYV Cable business

In December 2003, we agreed to ssil cur MDCV cable
business, located in Germany, to the Wilms Group of
Menden, Germany. This business manufactures medium and
high-voltage cables, cable-systems and accessories for
power suppliers and network operators.

Year ended December 31, 2003 compared with year
ended December 31, 2002

Revenues decreased by $ 3 million, or 4 percent, to

$ 79 millior in 2003 compared to $ 82 milion in 2002 mainly
due to the loss of important projects. included in revenues
are ravenues from other business areas of $ 5 milion and

$ 4 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The net loss increased by $ 23 million to § 24 mifion in 2003
compared to $ 1 million in 2002. The 2003 net loss of

$ 24 million was comprised principally of asset write-downs
of $ 10 million and a loss from operations of $ 14 mitlion.

Yoar erwied December 31, 2002 compared with year
snded December 31, 20064

Revenues increased by $ 20 milion, or 32 percent, to § 82
miflion in 2002 compared to $ 82 million in 2001 primarily
due to extension of the product mix. Included in revenues
are revenues from other business areas of $ 4 million and
$ 2 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The net loss decreased by $ 4 million, or 80 percent to
$ 1 million in 2001 compared to $ 5 million in 2001, reflecting
a more favorable product mix.

ABB Export Bank

In December 2003 we completed the sale of ABB Export
Bank to an investor in Sweden. ABB Export Bank was part
of our Structured Finance business area and arranged
export, trade and project financing. Backed by national
export credit agencies or bilateral and multifateral institutions
such as the World Bank, ABB Export Bank lent money to
our customers in various countries, in all currencies
accepted by the agency involved.

Perior from January 1 1o December 18, 2008 comparad
with year ended Decamber 81, 2002

Revenues decreased by $ 15 million, or 56 percent, to

$ 12 million in 2003 compared to $ 27 millien in 2002 dus to
lower business volumes, the sale of assets following our
decision to divest the business and lower interest rates.
Included in revenues are revenues from other business areas
of $ 3 million and $ 10 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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We recorded a net toss of § 8 millicn in 2003 compared to
net income of $ 10 miflion in 2002 that represents a
decrease of $ 19 million. The 2003 net loss of $ 9 milion
includes a $ 12 million loss on disposal, income from
operations of $ 6 milion and the allocation of interest expense
of § 3 milion in accordance with EITF 87-24. The loss on
disposal of $ 12 miltion for the sold business was principally
comprised of an asset write-down of $ 20 million, transaction
costs of $ 1 milion, capital tax expense associated with the
disposal of $ 4 mifion and an accumulated foreign currency
translation gain of approximately $ 13 million.

Yoarended Decomber 31, 2000 compared with year
enged Decamber 31, 2007

Revenues decreased by $ 10 million, or 27 percent, to

$ 27 million in 2002 compared to $ 37 million in 2001 due to
lower business volumes, the sale of assets following our
decision to divest the business and lower interest rates.
Included in revenues are revenues from other busingss areas
of $ 10 milion and $ 8 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Net income increased by $ 4 million, or 67 percent to
$ 10 million in 2002 compared to $ 6 million in 2002,

Metering

In December 2002, we sold our Metering business to
Ruhrgas Industries GmbH of Germany. This business
produced electricity, water, energy and gas meters, matering
systems and load control systems.

Period from Januery 1o December 4, 2002 compared
with year enced Decsmber 81, 2001

Revenues decreased by $ 76 million, or 17 percent, to

$ 372 million in 2002 compared to $ 448 million in 2001, The
2002 figure is for eleven months trading as the business

was sold to Ruhrgas Industries GmbH at the beginning of
December 2002. The 2002 annualized revenues decreased
as a result of the weak market conditions in North America,
Latin America and Germany.

We recorded a net loss of $ 54 million in 2002 compared to
net income of $ 14 million in 2001 that represents a
decrease of $ 68 million. The 2002 net loss of $ 54 million
included a $ 48 million loss on disposal, oss from operations
of $ 3 milion and the allocation of interest expense of

$ 3 million in accordance with EITF 87-24. The loss on
disposal of $ 48 million for the sold business was principally
comprised of goodwill and other intangible write-offs of

$ 65 million, transaction costs and other provisioning of

$ 46 milion, capital tax expense associated with the disposal
of $ 21 million and an accumulated currency translation

loss of $ 35 million offset in part by a gain of $ 119 million,
being the difference between the proceeds received and

net assets of the business.
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Liquidity and capital resources

Principal sources of funding

In 2003, as in 2002 and 2001, we met our liquidity needs
using cash from cperations, bank borrowings, the proceeds
from the issuance of debt securities, divestment proceeds,
as well as the sales of receivables under our securitization
programs. The reductions in our credit rating during 2002,
described below, restricted our access to the capital
markets during 2002 and the first half of 2003. As a result,
we relied increasingly on proceeds from divestments, bank
borrowings, cash from operations and, additionally in 2003
from our capital strengthening program described below.
Also, in the first quarter of 2003, we raised approximately
$ 156 million from the sale of 80 million treasury shares in
two transactions.

During the second half of 2003, we completed a number

of steps to strengthen our Consolidated Balance Sheet and
to improve our liquidity. In Septernber 2003, we issued
convertible unsubordinated bonds of an aggregate principal
amount of 1,080 million-Swiss francs, due 2010. See
“Convertible bonds and notes.” In October 2003, we
announced a thres-component capital strengthening
program, consisting of a rights issue providing net proceeds
of approximately $ 2.5 billion, a new $ 1 bilion unsecured
revolving credit facility to replace our $ 1.5 bilion credit
facility and a bond offering of 650 million euro (equivalent to
approximately $ 769 million, at the date of issuance), This
program has provided a stronger financial base for the
future growth of our core operations, has deleveraged our
balance sheet by reducing our gearing from 86 percent at
December 31, 2002 to 70 percent at December 31, 2003
(see “Financial Position” below) and has given us more
flexibility, particularly with regard to the timing of our
divestment program.

We believe that our ability to obtain funding from the sources
described above will continue to provide the cash flows
necessary to satisfy our working capital requirements and
capital expenditure requirements, as well as mest our debt
repayments and other financial commitments for the next

12 months. Due to the nature of our operations, our cash
flow from operations generally tends to be weaker in the first
half of the year than in the second haif of the year.

Rights issue

On November 20, 2003, our shareholders approved the
issuance of 840,006,602 new shares pursuant to a fully
underwritten rights issue. For each share that they owned,
holders of existing shares were allocated one right fo
purchase the offered shares. For every 10 rights, holders of
existing shares were entitled to purchase seven offered
shares. The banks agreed to underwrite 840,008,602 shares
at an issue price of 4.00 Swiss francs per share representing
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an approximate 50% discount on the share price at the time
and providing for net proceeds of $ 2,487 million. The rights
issug was completed on December 12, 2003 when the
cash was received together with the net proceeds of

the bonds of 650 million euro aggregate principal amount
(see “Convertible bonds and notes”). Of these funds,
approximately $ 1.2 billion was used to repay debt maturing
in December 2003 and repurchase bonds with a face value
of $ 94 miliion, while the remainder was placed on deposit
with banks to be used to repay debt maturing in 2004.

Interestrates

We have obtained financing in a range of currencies and
maturities and on various interest rate terms. We use
derivatives to reduce the interest rate and/or foreign
exchange exposures arising on our debt. For example, 1o
reduce our exposure to interest rates, we use interest rate
swaps to effectively convert fixed rate borrowings into
floating rate liabilities and we use cross currency swaps to
effectively convert foreign currency denominated bonds into
U.S. dollar liabilities. At December 31, 2003, after considering
the effects of interest rate swaps, the effective average
interest rate on our floating rate long-term borrowings
(including current maturities) of $ 4,241 million and our fixed
rate long-term borrowings {including current maturities)

of $ 1,754 milion was 3.2 percent and 5.8 percent,
respectively. This compares with an effective rate of 3.0
percent for floating rate long-term borrowings and 5.0
percent for fixed-rate long-term borrowings as of December
31, 2002. A discussion of our use of derivatives to modify
the characteristics of our long-term borrowings is contained
in Note 15 to our Consaclidated Financial Statements.

Convertible bonds and notes

In 2003, we complsted two note issuances, including the
issuance of bonds convertible into our shares, as sources of
funding.

In Septemnber 2003, we issued 1,000 miflion Swiss francs
aggregate principal amount of convertible unsubordinated
bonds due 2010 {approximately $ 722 million at the date of
issuance). This transaction lengthened the maturity profile of
our debt, thereby reducing our dependence on short-term
funding. We used the proceeds, net of expenses and fess,
to reduce our drawing under our $ 1.5 bifion credit facility
(see “Credit facilities”). The convertible bonds pay interest
annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 3.5 percent. On
issuance, each 5,000 Swiss francs principa!l amount of
bonds was convertible into 418.41004 fully paid ABB
ordinary shares at an initial conversion price of 11.95 Swiss
francs. The conversion price is subject to adjustment
provisions to protect against dilution or change in control.
As a result of the rights issue discussed above, the
conversion price and conversion ratio of the bonds were
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adjusted to 9.53 Swiss francs and 524.65897 shares,
respectively. Conseguently, the bonds are now convertible -
into 104,931,794 fully paid ordinary ABB shares.

The bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholder at
any time from October 21, 2003 up to and including the
tenth business day prior to September 10, 2010. We may at
any time on or after September 10, 2007 redeem the
outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest if, for a
certain nurber of days during a specified period of time, the
official closing price of our crdinary shares on the relevant
exchange has been at least 150 percent of the conversion
price. In addition, at any time prior to maturity, we can
redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest,
if at least 85 percent in aggregate of the principal amount of
bonds ariginally issued have been redeemed, converted or
purchased and cancelied. We have the option to redeem the
bends when due in cash, ordinary shares or any combi-
nation thereof.

in November 2003, as part of our three-component capital
strengthening program, we issued bonds of an aggregate
principal amount of 650 million euro (approximately

$ 769 million at the time of issuance), due 2011, These
bonds pay interest semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual
rate of 6.5 percent. In the event of a change of controtl of
ABB Ltd, the terms of the bonds require us to offer to
repurchase the bonds at 101 percent of the principal amount
~thereof; plus any-accrued interest. The net proceeds from
the issue of these bonds were placed in escrow and were
released to us upon successful completion of the rights
issue in December 2003.

in May 2002, we issued $ 968 million aggregate principal
armount of convertible unsubordinated bonds due 2007. The
bonds pay interest semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual
rate of 4.625 percent. On issuance each $ 1,000 principal
amount of bonds was convertible into 87.7489 fully paid
ABB ordinary shares at an initial conversion price of

18.48 Swiss francs {converted into U.S. dollars at a fixed
conversion rate of 1.6216 Swiss francs per U.S. dollar). The
conversion price is subject to adjustment provisions to
protect against dilution or change in control. As a result of
the rights issue discussed above, the conversion price of the
bonds was adjusted to 14.64 Swiss francs (converted into
U.S. dollars at the fixed exchange rate of 1.6216 Swiss
francs per U.S. dollar), representing a total of 107,220,548
shares if the bonds were fully converted.

The bonds are convertible at the option ¢f the bondholder at
any time from June 26, 2002 up to and including May 2,
2007. We may, at any time on or after May 16, 2005,
redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest if
{1) for a certain number of days during a specified period of
time, the official closing price of our shares on virt-x exceeds
130 percent of the conversion price or (2) at least 85 percent
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in aggregate principal amount of bonds originally issued
have been exchanged, redesmed or purchased and
cancelled. We have the option to redeem the bonds when
due, in cash, ordinary shares or any combination thereof,

Also in May 2002, we issued 200 million pounds sterling
{approximately $ 282 million) aggregate principal amount of
bonds due 2009 (sterling-denominated bonds), which pay
interest semi-annually in arrears at 10 percent per annum.
We also issued in May 2002, 500 million euro (approximately
$ 466 million) aggregate principal amount of bonds, due
2008 (euro-denominated bonds), which pay interest annually
in arrears at 9.5 percent per annum.

The sterling-denominated bonds and the eurc-denominated
bonds contain certain clauses linking the interest paid on

the bonds to the credit rating assigned to the bonds. If the
rating assigned to these bonds by tboth Moody's and
Standard & Poor's remains at or above Baa3 and BBB-,
respectively, then the interest rate on the bonds remains at
the level at issuance, that is 10 percent and 9.5 percent, for
the sterling-denominated and euro-denominated bonds,
respectively. If the rating assigned by either Moody's or
Standard & Poor’s decreases below Baa3 or BBB-,
respectively, then the annual interest rate on the bonds
increases by 1.5 percent per annum to 11.5 percent and 11
percent, for the sterting-denominated and euro-denominated
bonds, respectively. If after such a rating decrease, the rating
assigned by both Moody's and Standard & Poor’s returns

to a level at or above Baa3 and BBB-, respectively, then the
interest rates on the bonds return to their original levels.

As a result of the downgrade of our long-term credit rating by
Moody’s to Ba2 on October 31, 2002, this step-up clause

in interest was triggered on both bonds. The increase in
interest costs is effective for interest periods beginning after
the payment of the coupon accruing at the date of the
downgrade. This increase in interest rates had no significant
impact on 2002 interest expense. The total impact on 2003
was an increase in interest expense of approximately $ 13
million and future years will be affected if our credf ratings do
not return to at least both Baa3 and BBB- from Moody's
and Standard & Poor’s, respectively.

A cross-currency swap has been used to modify the
characteristics of the sterling-denominated bonds and an
interest rate swap to medify the euro-denominated bonds.
After considering the impact of the cross-currency and
interest rate swaps, the sterfing-denominated bonds
effectively became a floating rate U.S. dollar obligation, while
the euro-denominated bonds became a floating rate euro
obligation. In both cases, the floating rate resets every three
months. See Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Almost ali of our publicly traded bonds contain cross-default
clauses which would allow the bondholders to demand
repayment if we were to default on certain borrowings at or
above a specified threshold amount.

Credit facilities

On November 17, 2003, as part of our three-component
capital strengthening program, we entered into a new
unsecured syndicated $ 1 bilion three-year revolving credit
facility (new credit facility) which became available in
December 2003 after the fulfilment of certain conditions
including the repayment and cancellation of the existing

$ 1.5 billion facility and the raising of specified minimum
levels of gross proceeds from the rights issue (see “Rights
issue”} and from the bonds denominated in euros which
were issued in November 2003 (see “Convertible bonds and
notes”). This new credit facility is for general corporate
purposes. At December 31, 2003 and February 28, 2004,
nothing was outstanding under the new facility and although
we currently do not intend to draw on i, it provides us with
additional financial flexibility,

The new credit facility contains certain financial covenants in
respect of minimum interest coverage, maximum net
leverage and a minimum level of consolidated net worth. We
are required to meet these covenants on a guarterly basis
peginning with the period ending December 31, 2003.
Should our unsecured long-term debt ratings reach certain
defined levels (basically investment grade), these covenants
will only have to be calculated as of June and December of
each year. The new facility alsa contains provisions for the
mandatory prepayment and cancellation of the facility upon a
change of control of ABB Lid.

The new credit facility imposes restrictions on the amount of
third party indebtedness in subsidiaries other than in the
obligors under the facility, subject to certain exceptions. The
facility also contains certain other undertakings including
certain limitations on disposals of assets, certain restrictions
on mergers and acquisitions, negative pledges and
restrictions on the early redemption of capital market
instruments, such as bonds having a maturity date beyond
that of the facility. However, the facility permits the
lengthening of the maturity profile of our delbt through

the early redemption of any bonds or cther capital market
instruments out of the net cash proceeds of any capital
market instrument issued after Novembper 17, 2003 and
having a maturity date not earlier than the capital market
instruments being repaid.
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The new credit facility contains cross-defautt clauses
whereby an event of default would occur if we were to
default on indebtedness, as defined in the facllity, at or above
a specified threshold. As long as there is no drawing under
the facility, a failure to comply with the financial covenants
and other obligations in the facility will not cause a cross
default to other indebtedness.

The new credit facility replaced a secured $ 1.5 billion 364-
day revolving credit facility entered intc in December 2002.
The $ 1.5 billion facility was secured by a package of assets
with a net carrying vaiue of $ 3.5 billion at December 31,
2002 and by certain intra-group loans. As of December 31,
2002, no amounts had been drawn under the $ 1.5 billion
facility. Beginning January 2003, amounts were drawn under
the facility within the facility’s specified monthly drawing limits
until September when the amount drawn was reduced such
that at September 30, 2003 an amount of $ 753 million

was outstanding under the facility. The maximum amount
available under the facility reduced from $ 1,500 million

to $ 1,250 milion, $ 1,200 million and $ 1,000 million at the
beginning of October, November and December 2003,
respectively. In December 2003, the remaining amount
outstanding was repaid, the facility cancelled and the related
security released.

The $ 1.5 bilion facility contained certain stringent financial
covenants in respect of minimum interest coverage, total
gross debt, a maximum level of debt in subsidiaries other
than those specified as borrowers under the facility, a
minimum leve! of consolidated net worth, as well as specific
negative pledges. We were required to meet these financial
covenants at each quarter-end commencing December 31,
2002. In addition, in order to ensure the continued availability
of the credit facility until its cancellation in December 20083,
we were required o obtain minimum levels of proceeds from
the disposal of specified assets and businesses and/or
equity issuances during 2003.

The $ 1.5 billion facility prohibited the voluntary prepayment
of any banking facility, the prepayment or early redemption of
any bonds or capital market instruments, the repurchase

of any of our shares, as well as the declaration or payment of
dividends as long as the facility was outstanding.

Securitization programs

In addition to the aforementioned primary sources of liquidity
and capital resources, we also sell certain trade receivables
to Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (“QSPES”), unrelated
o us, primarily through two revolving-period securitization
programs. Under the two securitization programs, neither
QSPE commits to purchase our trade receivables, and the
QSPEs may at any time refuse to continue purchasing our
trade receivables. if both QSPEs simultaneously refuse to
purchase additional receivables, then we would experience a
temporary loss of cash flow from the sale of trade
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receivables over a period of several weeks until new trade
receivables generated by us began to convert to cash in
the normal course of our business.

Solely for the purpose of credit enhancement from the
perspective of the QSPEs, we retain an interest in the sold
raceivables. Pursuant to the requirements of the revolving-
pericd securitizations, we effectively bear the risk of potential
delinquency or default associated with trade receivables sold
or interests retained. The fair value of the retained interests at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $ 367
million and $ 497 million, respectively.

We retain servicing responsibility relating to the sold
receivables. Cash settiement with the QSPEs in 2001 and
through the third quarter of 2002 took place monthly on a
net basis which gave us daily access to the cash moving
through the securitization programs.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, a number of changes
were made to the two securitization programs as a
consequence of our credit rating falling below BBB
(Standard & Poor's) and Baa2 (Moody’s). These changes
included, in the case of the first program, twice monthly
settlements (instead of monthly), the sale of additional
receivables as security, changes in eligibility criteria for
receivables to be sold and the establishment of certain
banking and collection proceduras in respect of sold
receivables. Changes in the second pragram included the
introduction of net cash settlements twice per month
(instead of monthly), the daily transfer of collections of sold
receivables, as well as a fixed percentage of retained interest
on the sale of new receivables. in 2003, further amendments
have been made to the second program, including the
return to a dynamic calculation of the retained interest on the
receivables sold rather than a fixed percentage. Under the
amended terms of the second program, if our rating falls
below BB+ (Standard & Poor’s) or Ba3 (Mocdy’s) then we
may De required fo relinquish the right to collect the sold
receivabies on behalf of the QSPE, and instead the cash
collection of such sold receivables would be made directly to
the accounts of the QSPE rather than via our company.

As discussed above, we retain an interest in the sold
receivaples. Retained interests at December 31, 2003 and
2002 amounted to $ 390 milion and $ 514 miliion,
respectively. The decrease in the retained interest during
20083 was primarily refated to businesses that were classified
as discontinued operations or held for sale being phased
out of the securitization programs during the year.
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Pursuant to the terms of the securitization programs,
receivables more than 90 days overdue are considered
delinquent. An increase in definquency rates compared to
historic levels will cause an increase in retained interests,
while a decrease in delinquency rates compared to historic
levels will cause a corresponding decreass in retained
interests. Ultimately, if the customer defaults, we will be
responsible for the uncollected amount.

The net cash paid to QSPEs during 2003 and 2002 was
$ 119 milion and $ 384 million, respectively, comprising the
cash flows in the table below:

December 37, {$ in millions)

Gross trade receivables sofd to QSPEs
{$ 482 and $ 800)*

Collections made on behalf of and paid
to QSPEs (($ 663) and ($ 735)*

Purchaser’s, liquidity and program fees
(8 2and B 5)

Decrease (increase] inretained interests
(§119and ($91)"

Net cash paid to QSPEs during the year
((564)and ($ 31)"

* Related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations for 2003 and 2002,
respectively

The decrease in gross receivables sold in 2003 compared to
2002 is due primarily to the fact that businesses which were
gither classified as discontinued operations or which were
sold by us were phased out of the securitization programs
during the year.

We pay purchaser's, liquidity and program feges on our secu-
ritization programs. Purchaser's and program fees are based
on the amount of funding that we receive, while fiquidity

fees are based on the programs’ size. The reduction in
gross receivables sold, a lower average funded volume, a
reduction in default and delinguency rates, as well as the fact
that 2002 contained costs related to restructuring the
programs, all contributed to lower purchaser’s, liquidity and
program fees in 2003 compared to 2002. The total cost of
$ 21 million and $ 37 million in 2003 and 2002, respactively,
related to the securitization of trade receivables, is included
in the determination of current earnings.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, of the gross trade
receivables sold, the total trade receivables for which cash
has not been collected at those dates amounted to $ 898
million and $ 1,026 million, respectively.

In addition, we transfer receivables outside of the above
described securitization programs. These transfers were
sales, made without recourse, directly to banks and/or sales
pursuant to factoring or similar type arrangements. Total sold
receivables included in these transactions during 2003 and
2002 were approximately $ 1,400 milion (of which $ 581
million related to assets held for sale and in discontinued
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operations) and $ 534 million (of which § 22 milion related
to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations),
respectively. The related costs, including the associated
gains and losses, were $ 12 mifion (of which $ 3 miflion
related to assets held for sale and in discontinued
operations) in 2003 and were not significant in 2002. The
increase in the amount of receivables transferred cutside of
the securitization programs related to an increass in the
sales and transfers of receivables meeting the requirements
of SFAS 140.

For a further discussion of our securitization programs, see
Notes 2 and 7 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Credit ratings

Debt ratings are an assessment by the rating agencies of the
credit risk associated with our company and are based on
information provided by us or other sources that the rating
agencies consider reliable. Lower ratings generally resuilt in
higher borrowing costs and reduced access to capital
markets.

At December 31, 2002, after a series of rating downgrades
during 2002, our long-term company ratings were Ba3 and
BBB- {our long-term unsecured debt was rated B1 and
BB+) from Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, respectively
{compared to long-term ratings of A2 and AA- from Moody’s
and Standard & Poor’s, respectively, at December 31, 2001).
On January 13, 2003, Standard & Poor’s further lowered our
long-term company rating to BB+ and our long-term
unsecured debt to BB-. The ratings from both Moody’s and
Standard & Poor’s have remained unchanged during the
remainder of 2003, such that at December 31, 2003, our
long-term company ratings were Ba3 and BB+ (our long-
term unsecured debt was rated B1 and BB-) from Moody's
and Standard & Poor’s, respectively. In late October 2003,
both rating agencies changed the outlook on these ratings
te positive from negative. Our ratings are currently below
“investment grade” that would be represented by Baa3 (or
above) and BBB- (or above) from Moody's and Standard &
Poor’s, respectively. A rating below investment grade is
reflected in higher interest costs on borrowings. Although our
credit ratings are below investment grade, we expect that
we will continue to be able to access the bond marksts as
we did in 2003 {see "Convertible bonds and notes”). Until
our credit rating has returned to investment grade, we do
not anticipate having the ability to access the commercial
paper markets.

40

Restrictions on transfers of funds

We face restrictions on the transfer of funds in various
countries due to local regulations and foreign exchange
restrictions. Funds, other than regular dividends, fees or loan
repayments, cannot be transferred offshore from these
countries and are therefore deposited locally. As a
consequence, these funds are not available within our Group
Treasury Operations {o meet short-term cash obligations.
These funds are reported as cash on our Consolidated
Balance Sheet, but we do not consider these funds as
available for the repayment of debt outside the respective
countries where the cash is situated, including those
described below.

Currency and other local regulatory restrictions exist in a
number of countries where we operate, including: Brazi,
China, Egypt, India, Korea, Malaysia, Norway, Russia, Saudt
Arabla, South Africa, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey and
Venezugela.

Furthermore, restricted cash amounting to $ 394 milfion
and $ 377 million is not included in cash and equivalents on
our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

Financial Position

Balance sheet

During 2003 and 2002, the divestments and discontinuations
of certain businesses were freated as discontinued
operations pursuant to SFAS 144, as discussed in detall
under “Application of Critical Accounting Palicies —
Accounting for discontinued operations” above. Accordingly,
the balance sheet data for all pericds presented have been
restated to present the financial position and results of
operations of the businesses meeting the criteria of SFAS
144 as assets and liabilities in discontinued operations. In
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, the effects of
the discontinued operations are not segregated, as
permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 95 (SFAS 95), Statement of Cash Flows.

Our operating assets which include marketable securities,
receivables, inventories and prepaid expenseas decreased by
$ 195 million to $ 10,417 million at December 31, 2003,
from $ 10,612 million at December 31, 2002. Operating
assets exclude cash and equivalents and assets held for sale
and in discontinued operations.

Primarily as a result of the sale of shares in the China
National Petrochemical Corporation (Sinopec Corp.),
marketable securities decreased by $ 116 million from $ 589
milion at December 31, 2002 to $ 473 million at Decermnber
31, 2003. Recsaivables increased by $ 203 million from

$ 5,134 million at December 31, 2002 to $§ 5,337 million at
December 31, 2003. Inventories increased by $ 344 million
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from $ 2,261 million at Decemper 31, 2002 to $ 2,605
mition at December 31, 2003. These increases reflect the
impact of translating balance sheet amounts from local
currencies to U.S. doliars for reporting purposes as a

result of a decline in 2003 in the U.S. dollar as compared to
currencies of other countries in which we operate.
Expressed in local currency terms, receivables decreased in
the Building Systems business area, which is being divested,
primarily as a result of reduced business volumes and
closing of old contracts, while in the core divisions the
decrease was due to our continued focus on reducing the
working capital level.

Prepaid sxpenses and other decreased by $ 626 million,
from $ 2,628 million at December 31, 2002 to § 2,002
million at Decernber 31, 2003. This decrease primarily
reflects a $ 565 million decrease in the fair value of derivative
assets.

Operating liabiiities, excluding liabilities held for sale and in
discontinued operations, include accounts payable, short-
term borrowings including current maturities of long-term
borrowings and accrued liabilities and other. Operating
liabilities decreased by $ 1,712 milion to $ 11,112 million at
December 31, 2003 from $ 12,824 million at December 31,
2002. Total accounts payable increased by $ 256 million
mainly due to transiating balance sheet amounts from local
currencies to U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. Expressed
in local currency terms, accounts payable decreased by

9 percent, primarily as a result of the reduced operations in

our Building Systems business area, which is being divested.

Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term
borrowings decreased by $ 973 million, reflecting our
strategy to reduce our overall debt position and lengthen our
maturity profile. See “Liquidity and capital resources” above.
In addition, accrued liabilities and other decreased by

$ 995 million, primarily reflecting a reduction of $ 882 million
in the fair value of derivative liabilities and a reduction in the
provision for asbestos-related issues by $ 278 million (see
“Contingencies and retained liabilities — Asbestos claims”)
which were partly offset by increased provisions for warranty
and cther obligations.

Financing receivables, which include receivables from leases
and loans raceivable, decreased by $ 275 mifion to

$ 1,330 million at December 31, 2003 from $ 1,605 million
at December 31, 2002. This is primarily due to the sale of
various leasing assets within the remaining portion of our
Structured Finance business, in line with our focus on core
business and improving the liquidity levels.

We sold many of our investments and joint venture
participations as part of our divestment program during
2003. Major divestitures included the sale of our 35 percent
stake in the Swedish Export Credit Corporation, and, two
projects in our Equity Ventures portfolio — a power plant

ABB Group Financial review 2003

project and a power transmission project - both in Australia,
As a consequence, investments and other assets decreased
by $ 109 milion to $ 1,326 milion at December 31, 2003
from $ 1,435 million at December 31, 2002.

Property, plant and equipment increased by $ 139 million to
$ 2,840 million at December 31, 2003 from $ 2,701 milion
at December 31, 2002, reflecting the impact of transiating
balance shest amounts from local currencies to U.S. dollars
for reporting purposes. Expressed in local currency terms,
property, plant and equipment decreased by 7 percent
primarily as a result of the sale of real estate properties and
normal levels of depreciation. The core divisions have
invested $ 277 million in tangible fixed assets during 2003
compared to $ 247 million during 2002. Total intangible
assets, including gooawill and other increased by $ 72
million, a 5 percent decrease in local currency terms, to

$ 2,880 million at December 31, 2003 from $ 2,808 milfion at
December 31, 2002, mainly due to the write down of
capitalized software in Group Processes. In accordance with
SFAS 142, goodwill is no longer amortized as of January 1,
2002.

Our gearing ratio (defined as total borrowings divided by the
sum of total borrowings and the stockholders equity
including minority interest), excluding the assets and liabilities
in the discontinued operations, was 70 percent at December
31, 2003, compared to 86 percent at December 31, 2002,
This change reflected the increase in equity through our
rights issue completed in December 2003. Total borrowings
decreased by $ 41 million to $ 7,887 million at December
31, 2003 from $ 7,228 milion at December 31, 2002, Short-
term borrowings, including current maturities of long-term
borrowings, decreased by $ 973 million, or 38 percent, to

$ 1,597 milion outstanding at December 31, 2003 from

$ 2,570 mitlion outstanding at December 31, 2002. Long-
term borrowings increased by $ 932 million, or 17 percent,
mainly as a result of the two bond issuances completed
during 2003, to $ 6,290 milion at December 31, 2003 from
$ 5,358 million at December 31, 2002. For a description of
the bonds issued during 2003, see “Liquidity and capital
resources” above. A component of the $ 968 million
convertible bonds issued in May 2002 must be accounted
for as an embedded derivative in accordance with SFAS
133, as our shares are denominated in Swiss francs while
these bonds are denominated in U.S. dollars. A portion of
the issuance proceeds is desmed to relate to the value of
the derivative on issuance and subsequent changes in value
of the derivative are recorded through eamings and as an
adjustment to the carrying value of the bonds. The allocation
of a portion of the proceeds to the derivative creates a
discount on issuance, which is amortized to earnings over
the life of the bonds. The value of the derivative moves
inversely to movements in our share price. The change in
value of the embedded derivative, primarily due to the
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changes in our share price, combined with the amortization
of discount on issuance, increased total borrowings by

$ 84 million in 2003 and decreased total borrowings by

$ 215 million in 2002. Long-term debt at December 31,
2003 as a percentage of total debt was 80 percent
compared to 68 percent at December 31, 2002 as a result
of our strategy to lengthen the debt maturity profile.

Cash flow

The effects of the discontinued operations are not
segregated in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,
as permitted by SFAS 85. The Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows can be summarized into main activities as
follows:

Year ended December 31,

Net income (loss), net of adjustments
for non-cashitems

Changes inoperating asséts ~ ©
and liabilities

Sub-total: Cash flows provided
by (used in) operations

.....................................................

Acquisitions, investments,
divestitures, nat

Sub-total: Cash flows provided

by {used in) investing activities (1,218)
Change in'bc;rrowin{:}s', ..........................................
netofrepayments .. (10280 2815) 2,639
Treasury and capifal stock transactions 42,8754 | = (1,393)
Dividendspaid Tl T (602)
Otherfinancing activities . L3en
Sub-total: Cash flows provided

by {used in) financing activities 812) . 877
Effects of exchangeratechanges 1A 72
Adjustment for the net change incash

and equivalents in assets held for sale

andin discontinued operations .28 (24
Net change in cash and equivalents

- continuing operations 1,126

..........................................................................................

Cash flows provided by {used in) operating activities
Cash provided by operating activities of the Power
Technologies division of $ 616 million and of the Automation
Technologies division of $ 848 million during 2003, resuiting
from higher earnings and working capital improvements
were more than offset by $ 239 milion cash used in Non-
core actvities, $ 526 million cash used in Oill, Gas and
Petrochemicals division, $ 388 million payments towards the
settlement of asbestos related issues and $ 472 million
towards corporate overhead and interest payments resutting
in $ 161 milion net cash used in operations during 2003,
This represents a decrease of $ 180 million from 2002.
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Operating asssts and liabilities include marketable securities
held for trading purposes, trade receivables, inventories,
payables and other assets and liabilities. Debt and equity
securities that are bought and held principally for the
purpose of sale in the near term are classified as trading
securities. Marketable securities classified as available-
for-sale are treated as part of investing activities. A reduction
in business volumes in the Oil, Gas and Petrochemical
businesses as a result of a shift from executing lump sum
projects to reimbursable contracts resulted in a substantial
reduction in accounts payable and consequently increased
cash outflow from changes in operating assets and liabilities.
This partly offset the increase in cash flow from the reduction
in net operating assets in the core divisions. Non-core
activities also generated cash through changes in operating
assets and liabilities due to reduced volume of business
activities, primarily from the Building Systems business.

During 2002, net cash provided by operating activities of the
Power Technologies division was $ 335 milion and of the
Automation Technologies division was $524 million primarily
resulting from improved sarnings and reduced net working
capital levels. Net cash provided by Non-core activities was
$ 224 million mainly due to the net cash proceeds from the
sale of marketable securities (trading) of $ 498 miflion. Oi,
Gas and Petrochemicals businesses used cash of $ 251
millicn due to increased project losses and higher working
capital levels while the cash payments related to asbestos
were § 333 million. Corporate cash outflows were $ 480
million, influenced by the increased costs in respect of the
credit facility and other financing arrangements, resutting in
overall net cash provided by operating activities of $ 19
million. This represented a decrease of $ 1,964 million from
2001.

During 2001, improved earnings and collections of
receivables resulted in net cash provided by operating
activities of the Power Technologies division of $ 675 million
and of the Automation Technologies division of § 1,056
milion. In addition, net cash provided by the Ofll, Gas and
Petrochemicals businesses was $ 476 million primarily due
to a substantial increase in accounts payable. These were
partly offset by net cash used in Non-core activities of $ 77
miliion and in Corporate of $ 147 milion resulting in a overall
net cash provided by operating activities in 2001 of $ 1,983
million. Net income, net of adjustments for non-cash items
was $ 1,228 million, primarily due to improved profitability in
Power Technologies and Automation Technologies division.
This was further influenced by the decrease in net operating
assets of $ 755 million in 2001 resuiting largely from the
increase in accounts payable.
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Cash flows provided by fused In} investing aclivities
Investing activities include: acquisitions of, investments in
and divestitures of businesses; purchases of property, plant
and equipment, net of disposals; net investments in
marketable securities that are not held for trading purposes;
and accounts receivable from leases and third-party loans
{financing receivables). Net investments in available-for-sale
marketable securities and financing receivables are
summarized in the table above as “other investing activities.”
Net cash provided by investing activities was $ 754 million
during 2003, a decrease of $ 1,897 million from $ 2,651
milfion during 2002.

We continued our program of divesting non-core businesses
and other assets during 2003. We received cash proceeds
of approximately $ 149 million from the sale of our

35 percent stake in Swedish Export Credit Corporation and
approximately $ 90 million from the sale of our investments
in two projects in Equity Ventures — a power plant project
and a power fransmission project, both in Australia.
Approximately $ 213 milion was received through the sale of
our Building Systems businessss in Sweden, Norway,
Denmark, Finland and Russia. In addition, the sale of the
ABB Export Bank for about $ 50 million and the sale of our
Wind Energy business, part of the New Ventures business in
Non-core activities, were completed during the fourth
quarter of 2003. As a result of these significant divestitures
and net cash outflows of $ 24 million for certain smaller
investments and disposals, net cash flow from purchases of,
investments in, and divestitures of businesses was $ 488
million during 2003. The cash fliows from investing activities
during 2002 was fargely influenced by the sale of the

major part of our Structured Finance business to Gk for
approximately $ 2 bilion. We aiso received cash proceeds of
approximately $ 113 million from the sale of the Air Handling
business and approximately $ 223 million from the sale of
our Metering business during 2002. In addition, we received
net cash proceeds of approximately § 55 million from the
divestments of and investments in certain smaller businesses
during 2002 resulting in net cash flow from purchases

of, investments in and divestitures of businesses of 2,365
mitlion. In 2001, cash used for acquisitions of new
businesses totaled $ 578 million (including $ 284 million,
related to the acquisition of Entrelec). These cash outflows
waere only partiglly offset by cash proceeds from disposals of
businesses for an amount of $ 283 million resulting in net
cash flow from purchases of, investments in, and divestitures
of businesses to $ 295 million,

Cash used for purchases of property, plant and equipment,
net of disposals, was $ 382 million during 20083, an increase
of $ 266 million, compared to $ 126 million during 2002.
While the level of investment in property plant and eguipment
remained at nearly the same level in both years, proceeds of
approximately $ 300 milion from the sale of our real estate
properties in Sweden, substantially offset the outflows of
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investment in property, plant and equipment during 2002.
Cash used for purchases of property, plant and equipment,
net of disposals during 2001 was $ 608 miltion reflecting
lower proceeds from the disposals of fixed assets in 2001,

Cash provided by other investing activities increased to

$ 658 million in 2003 from $ 412 million in 2002 and $ 314
milfion of cash used in 2001. The cash provided by other
investing activities largely resuited from the cash inflows from
financing receivables of $ 390 million through the sale and
closure of many leasing assets related to the remaining parts
of our Structured Finance business and net cash procesds
of $ 268 million from the sale of marketable securities that
were not held for trading purposes, primarily relating to the
Insurance business which we agreed to sell during the fourth
quarter of 2003 and the sale of our sharss in the China
National Petrochemical Corporation (Sinopec Corp.) for
approximately $ 82 million. The increase in cash provided by
other activities in 2002 was primarily due to a reduction in
investments in financing receivables.

Cash flows provided by fused ind financing activities
Our financing activities primarily include borrowings, both
from the issuance of debt securities and directly from barks,
treasury and capital stock transactions and payment of
dividends. Net cash provided by financing activities was

$ 1,521 million during 2003. As part of our strategy to
lengthen our debt maturity profile, we replaced maturing
short-term borrowings with long-term borrowings. See
"Liquidity and capital resources” for a detailed discussion on
the nature of borrowings. Cash outflows in connection with
porrowings amounted to $ 1,028 million, reflecting the
repayment of short-term (including current partion of long-
term) borrowings as they fell due, partially offset by the cash
inflows from the proceeds of the 1 billion Swiss francs
convertible bonds and 650 million eurc aggregate principal
of bonds issued in September and November 2003,
respectively.

During 2002, net cash outflows from borrowings were

$ 2,815 million reflecting our strategy to reduce our overall
lavel of borrowings, including net cash outflows of $ 1,677
million in respect of borrowings with maturities of 90 days or
less (including current portion of long-term borrowings) and
net cash outflows of $ 1,138 million in respect of other
borrowings.

During 2001, cash provided by borrowings, net of
repayments amounted to $ 2,639 million. Our level of
borrowings increased significantly during the first nine
months of 2007 mainly due to the financing of the
repurchase of our own shares, as well as a higher level of
activity in project financing. Toward year-end 2001, we
decreased our borrowings significantly through a strong
increase in our cash flow from operations.
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The net proceeds of the rights issuance of $ 2.5 billion,
completed in Decembber 2003 and the proceeds from the
sale of treasury shares during the first quarter of 2003 for

.~ $ 156 million, contributed to the overall net cash inflow

of $ 2,675 miflion during 2003. There were no treasury and
capital stock transactions or dividends paid in 2002. In 2001,
there was $ 1,393 million net cash used in treasury and
capital stock transactions and $ 502 milion in dividend
payments.

Contractual obligations

The following table summarizes certain of our contractual
obligations and principal payments under our debt
instruments and leases at December 31, 2003:

Less
than 2-3 4-5 After
years Syears

Total tyear years

Commercial commitments

Certain guarantees issued or modified after December 31,
2002 are accounted for in accordance with FIN 48, Upon
issuance of certain guarantees, a liability, equal to the fair
value of the guarantee, is recorded. For further discussion of
FIN 45, see "New accounting pronouncements” above,

FIN 45 requires that we disclose the "maximum potential
exposure” of certain guarantess, as well as possible
recourse provisions that may allow us to recover from third
parties amounts paid out under such guarantees. The
“maximum potential exposure” as defined by FIN 45 does
not allow any discounting of our assessment of actual
expaosure under the guarantees. The information below
reflects our maximum potential exposure under the
guarantees, which is higher than our assessment of the
expected exposure.

Performance guarantees represent obligations where we
guarantee the performance of a third party’s product or
service according to the terms of a contract. Such
guarantees may include guarantees that a project will be
completed within a specified time. If the third party does not
fulfill the obligation, we will compensate the guarantesd party
in cash or in kind. Performance guarantees include surety
bonds, advance payment guarantees and performance
standby letters of credit.

Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances that
we will make payment to the beneficiary in the event that a
third party fails to fulfill its financial obligations and the
beneficiary under the guarantee incurs a loss due to that
failure.

Commitments relating to disposed businesses

We retained obligations for guarantees related to the power
generation business contributed to the former ABB ALSTOM
POWER NV joint venture. The guarantees primarily consist of
performance guarantees, advance payment guarantees,
product warranty guarantees and other miscellaneous
guarantees under certain contracts such as indemnification
for personal and property injuries, taxes and compliance with
labor laws, environmental laws and patents. The guarantees
have maturity dates ranging from one to ten years and in
some cases have no definite expiry. In May 2000, we sold
our interest in the ABB ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture 1o
ALSTOM SA (ALSTOM). As a result, ALSTOM and its
subsidiaries have primary responsibifity for performing the
obligations that are the subject of the guarantees. Further,
ALSTOM, the parent company, and ALSTOM POWER NV,
formerly ABB ALSTOM POWER NV, have undertaken jointly
and severally to fully indemnify us and hold us harmless
against any claims arising under such guarantees. Due to
the nature of product warranty guarantees and the
miscellaneous guarantees, we are unable to develop an
estimate of the maximum potential amount of future
payments for these guarantees issued on behalf of the
former power generation business. Qur best estimate of the
total maximum potential exposure of all quantifiable
guarantees we issued on behalf of our former power
generation business was approximately $ 1,200 million and
$ 2,200 miflion at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The maximum potential exposure is based on
the original guarantee or cantract amount and doss not
reflect the completion status of the project. At December 31,
2003, no losses have been recognized relating to
guaraniees issued on behalf of the former power generation
business. We believe that it is not probable that we will incur
a loss under these guarantees and therefore, in accordance
with SFAS 5, a provision has not been recorded at
December 31, 2003 and 2002.

In November 2002, we completed the sale of most of our
Structured Finance business to General Electric Capital
Corporation (GE). Pursuant to the sale and purchase
agresment, we provided GE with cash collateralized letters
of credit aggregating $ 202 milion, of which approximately
$ 128 milion was outstanding at December 31, 2003 as
security for certain performance-related obligations retained
by us in connection with the sale. The sale and purchase
agreement provides GE the option to require us to
repurchase certain designated financial assets transferred to
GE upon the occurrence of certain events, but in any event

ABB Group Financlal review 2003




no later than February 1, 2004. The fair value of GE's right to
require us to repurchase certain designated assets was

$ 11 milion at December 31, 2003. On January 30, 2004,
we repurchased the financial assets discussed above for an
amount of approximately $ 28 million. Additionally, the $ 128
million in cash collateralized letters of credit at December 31,
2003 was further reduced by $ 35 miflion as a result of the
expiration of the option on February 1, 2004. No further obli-
gation exists for us to repurchase any assets under the sales
and purchase agreement with GE.

Other commitments

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had $ 207 milion and
$ 223 million, respectively, of financial guarantees
outstanding. Of that amount, $ 189 million and $ 206 milfion,
respectively, were issued on behalf of companies in which
we currently have or formerly had an equity interest. The
guarantees have maturity dates ranging from one to thirteen
years. We believe that it is not probable that we will incur a
loss under these guarantees and therefore, in accordance
with SFAS 5, no provision has been recorded at December
31, 2003 and 2002,

We have granted lines of credit and have committed to
provide additional capital for certain equity accounted
companies. At December 31, 2008 and 2002, the total
unused lines of credit amounted to $ 11 million and

$ 22 million, respectively, and the capital commitments
amounted to $ 88 million and $ 84 million, respectively.
Included in the $ 88 million and $ 84 million are capital
commitments of § 24 milion and $ 20 million, respectively,
related to b-business partners B.V.

Guarantees relating to our performance

In accordance with industry practice we also issue letters of
credit, surety bonds and other performance guarantees on
major projects, including long-term operation and
maintenance contracts, which guarantee our own
performance. Such guarantees may include guarantees that
a project will be completed or that a project or particular
equipment will achieve defined performance criteria. If we fail
to aftain the defined criteria, we must make payments in
cash or in kind. We record provisions in the Consclidated
Financial Statements at the time it becomes probable that
we will incur losses pursuant to a performance guarantee.
We do not expect to incur significant losses under these
guarantees in excess of our provisions. However, such
losses, if incurred, could have a material impact on cur
Consolidated Financial Statements.

When we guarantee our own performance, some customers
will require that the guarantee be issued by a financial
institution. If we cannot obtain the guarantee from a financial
institution, we could be prevented from bidding on or
obtaining the contract. Financial institutions will consider our
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credit ratings in the guarantee approval process. Our current
credit rating does not prevent us from obtaining guarantees
from financial institutions, but can make the process more
difficuit or expensive. If we cannot obtain guarantees from
financial institutions in the future, there could be a material
impact on our Consolidated Financial Staternents.

Pension and Other Postretirement Obligations

At December 31, 2003, our pension and other postre-
tirement plan liabilities exceeded the plan assets by $ 1,636
milion and $ 367 million, respectively. This underfunding is
not a short term obligation for us. Of the $ 1,836 million
pension underfunding, $ 1,449 million relates to pension
plans which are not required to be funded pursuant to local
government and tax requirements and contains liabilities that
will not be paid until a current employee retires.

We expect to contribute $ 248 million to our pension plans
and $ 27 million to our other postretirement benefit plans in
2004.

Related and Certain Other Parties

In the normal course of our industrial activities, we sell
products and derive certain other revenues from companies
in which we hold an equity interest. The revenues derived
from these transactions are not material for us. In addition, in
the normal course of our industrial activities, we purchase
products from companies in which we hold an equity
interest. The amounts involved in these transactions are not
material for us. Also, in the normal course of our industrial
activities, we engage in transactions with businesses that we
have divested. We believe that the terms of the transactions
we conduct with these companies are negotiated on an
arm'’s length basis.

We have participations in joint ventures and affiliated
companies, which are accounted for using the equity
method. Many of these entities have been established to
perform specific functions, such as constructing, operating
and maintaining a power plant. in addition to our investment,
we may provide products to the project, may act as
contractor of the project and may operate the finished
product. We may alsc grant lines of credit to these entities
and guarantee their obligations, as discussed above under
“Commercial commitments”. The entity created would
generally receive revenues either from the sale of the final
product or from selling the output generated by the product.
The revenue usually is defined by a long-term contract

with the end user of the output.

Qur risk with respect o these entities is substantially limited
to the carrying value of the companies on cur Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The carrying value for the equity accounted
companies at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $ 562
mifion and $ 730 million, respectively.
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Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the following
aggregate amounts related to transactions with related and
certain other parties:

Business relationships

In December 2002, we entered into a $ 1.5 bilion, 364-day
revolving credit facility. Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken {(SEB)
was a lender under this credtt facility, with an $ 89 million
commitment, representing approximately 7.4 percent of the
total commitment available to us. Jacob Wallenberg is the
chalrman of SEB and a member of our board of directors. in
addition, Dresdner Bank Luxembourg S.A. was a lender
under the credit facllity, with & $ 57 million commitment,
representing approximately 4.8 percent of the total
commitment available to us. We paid back and cancelied
the previous $ 1.5 billion secured bank faciity. Bernd Voss is
a member of the supervisory board of Dresdner Bank AG
({Dresdner Bank) and one of our poard members. On
November 17, 2003, we entered into a new $ 1 billion
unsecured credit facility. Each of SEB and Dresdner Bank
has committed to $ 83.3 million out of the $ 1 billion total.

in June 2003, we entered into a 10-year global framework
agresment with International Business Machines Corporation
(IBM) to outsource our information systems infrastructure
services to IBM. This global framework agreement forms the
basis for country agreements entered into with IBM in

13 countries in Europe, North America and our headquarters
representing a significant portion of our information systerms
infrastructure. The agreement involves the transfer to IBM

of 780 of our employees, in addition to the 380 employess
transferred under pilot programs prior to 2003. Total
expenditure in respect of the agreement will amount to
approximately $ 1.7 billion over 10 years, based on the
current level of usage of the services.

While the above agreement was negotiated and transacted
at arms-length between us and IBM, it should be noted that
Jiirgen Dormann, our Chairman and CEQ, was a member of
the Board of Directors of IBM untll April 29, 2003, and
Hans-Ulrich Marki, a director on our Board of Directors, is
General Manager of IBM Europe/Middle East/Africa.
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During 2003, we were party to several contracts with
Companhia Vale do Rio Doce (CVRD) and its subsidiaries.
The largest contracts aré for {)) engineering services and
supply of equipment of the palletizing plants located at the
port of Tubarao complex (Brazil), with a value of
approximately $ 6.3 million, and i) supply of equipment

for the expansion of ALUNORTE (Brazi), with a value of
approximately $ 6.2 milion. There are aiso various purchase
orders for spare parts and machinery in general, amounting
to approximately $ 1.2 milion. Roger Agnelii is president
and CEO of CVRD and one of our board members.

In June 2000, we entered Into & share subscription
agresment to acquire & 42 percent interest in b-business
partners B.V,, a venture capital fund formed to invest in and
develop business-to-business e-Commerce companies
across Europe. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we
committed to invest a total of $ 278 miliion, of which

$ 69 million was paid in 2000 and $ 134 milion was paid
during the first ha'f of 2001. In December 2001, investor AB,
another founding shareholder of the fund, acquired

90 percent of our investment and capital commitments for
approximately hook value, or $ 166 milion in cash. After
these transactions, b-business partners B.V. repurchased 50
percent of its outstanding shares, which resulted in a return
of capital to us of $ 10 milion. After these transactions, we
retain a 4 percent investment in b-business partners B.V.
and we are committed t0 provide additiona! capital to
b-business partners B.V. of approximately $ 5 million {a euro-
denominated commitment that may fluctuate with exchange
rates). Further, b-business partners B.V. retains a put right

to compe! us to repurchase 150,000 shares of b-business
partners B.V. ata cost of approximately $ 19 milfion (a euro
denominated commitment that may fluctuate with exchange
rates). At the time of these transactions, Percy Barnevik, our
former chairman of the board of directors, was the chairman
of Investor AB and Jacob Wallenberg, a member of our
hoard of directors, was the vice-chairman of Investor AB.
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Contingencies and retained liabilities

Environmental

Al of our operations, but particularly our manufacturing
operations, are subject to comprehensive environmenta)
laws and regulations. Viclations of these laws could resutt in
fines, injunctions (including orders to cease the violating
operations and to improve the condition of the environment
in the affected area or to pay for such improvements) or
other penalties. In addition, environmental permits are
required for our manufacturing faciiities {for example, with
respect to air emissions and wastewater discharges). In
most countries in which we operate, environmental permits
must be renewed on a regular basis and we must submit
reports to environmental authorities. These permits may be
revoked, renewed or modified by the issuing authorities at
their discretion and in compliance with applicable laws. We
have implemented formal environmental management
systems at nearly all four manufacturing sites in accordance
with the international environmental management standard
1SO 14001, and we believe that we are in substantial
compliance with environmental laws, regulations and permits
in the various {urisdictions in which we operate, except for
such instances of non-compliance that, in the aggregate, are
not reasconably likely to be material. For detailed information
please refer to our Annual Report 20083, Sustainability
Review.

In a number of jurisdictions, including the United States, we
may be liable for environmental contamination at our presant
or former facilities, or at other sites where wastes generated
from our present or former facilities were disposed of,

in the United States, the Environmental Protection Agency
and various state agencies are responsible for regulating
environmental matters. These agencies have identified
certain of our current and former U.S. based companies as
potentially responsible parties in respect to a number of such
sites under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act, the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act and other federal and state environmental
laws. As a potentially responsible party, we may be liable

for a share of the costs associated with cleaning up these
sites. As of December 31, 2003, there were approximately
25 sites, at which, our companies have, or may be
potentially responsible for, environmental clean up costs.
These 25 sites include several of our current or former
facilities where we have undertaken voluntary corrective
actions. The clean up of these sites involves primarily soil
and groundwater contamination. We do not believe that

our aggregate liability in connection with these sites will be
material.
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Generally, our liability with regard to any specific site will
depend on the number of potentially responsible parties,
thelr relative contributions of hazardous substances or
wastes to the site and their financial viability, as well as on
the nature and extent of the contamination. Nevertheless,
such laws commonly impose fiability that is strict, joint and
several, so that any one party may be fiable for the entire
cost of cleaning up a contaminated site.

In addition, we retained liability for certain specific environ-
mental remediation costs at two sites in the United States
that were operated by our Nuclear technology business,
which has been sold to British Nuclear Fuels PLC (BNFL) in
Aprit 2000. Pursuant to the purchase agreement with BNFL,
we have retained all of the environmental liabilities associated
with our subsidiary Combustion Engineering Inc.’s
{Combustion Engineering) Windsor, Connecticut facility and
a portion of the environmenta! liabilities associated with our
ABB C-E Nuclear Power Inc. subsidiary’s Hematite, Missouri
facility. The primary environmental liabilities associated with
these sites relate to the costs of remediating radiclogical and
chemical contamination at these facilities. Such costs are not
payable until a facility is taken out of use and generally are
incurred over a number of years. Although it is difficult to
predict with accuracy the amount of time it may take to
remediate radiological contamination upcn decommis-
sioning, based on information that BNFL has made publicly
available, we believe that it may take until 2013 tc remediate
the Hematite site. With respect to the Windsor site, we
believe the remediation may take until 2008. At the Windsor
site, a significant porticn of the contamination is related to
activities that were formerly conducted by or for the United
States government. We believe that a significant portion of
the remediation costs will be covered by the United States
government under the government’s Formerly Utilized Sites
Remedial Action Program. As a result of the sale of the
Nuclear Technology business, during 2000, we established
in other liabilities a reserve of $ 300 million in connection with
our estimated remediation costs related to these faciiities.
Expenditures charged to the remediation reserve were $ 6
million, $ 12 million and $ 6 million during 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. In connection with the pre-packaged
Chapter 11 filing by Combustion Engineering discussed
below, we will assume any and retain all remaining environ-
mental liabilities of Combustion Engineering in respect to the
Windsor and Hematite sites.
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Estimates of the future costs of environmental compliance
and liabilities are imprecise due to numerous uncertainties.
Such costs are affected by the enactment of new laws and
regulations, the development and application of new
technologies, the identification of new sites for which we
may have remediation responsibiiity and the apportionment
of rernediation costs among, and the financial viability of,
responsible parties. In particular, the exact amount of the
responsibility of the United States government for the
Windsor site cannot reasonably be estimated. It is possible
that final resolution of environmental matters may require us
to make expenditures in excess of our expectations, over an
extended period of time and in a range of amounts that
cannot be reasonably estimated. Although final resolution of
such matters could have a material effect on our i
Consolidated Income Statement in a particular reporting
period in which the expenditure is incurred, we believe that
these expenditures will not have a material adverse effect
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Product and order related contingencies

In 1298, we entered into an engineearing, procurement and
project management contract with a customer for an oil and
petrochemical refinery in India with a contract value of
approximately $ 860 million. The project, which is subject to
a reimbursable cost agreement, is approximately 80 percent
compilete and has been stalled for the past few years due to
complications encountered by the customer in obtaining
necessary additional financing. Given the uncertainty as to
whether the project will be restarted, we recorded a loss of
$ 108 million in 2003 to write down its remaining net assets
associated with this project. If the project is not restarted, we
will be subject to certain contingent liabilities to third parties.

Asbestos Liability

Owerview

When we sold cur 50 percent interest in the former ABB
ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture to ALSTOM in May 2000,
we retained ownership of Combustion Engineering, a
subsidiary that had conducted part of our former power
generation business and that now owns commercial real
estate that it leases to third parties. Combustion Engineering
is a co-defendant, together with other third parties, in
numerous lawsuits in the United States in which the plaintiffs
claim damages for personal injury arising from exposure to
asbestos in equipment or materials that Combustion
Engineering allegedly supplied or was responsible for,
primarily during the early 1970s and before. Other ABB
Group entities have sometimes been named as defendants
in asbestos claims. These entities include ABB Lummus
Global Inc. {Lummus) (which is part of our Gil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business and was formerly a subsidiary of
Combustion Engineering) and Basic Incorporated (Basic)

(which is currently a subsidiary of Asea Brown Boveri Inc.
and was formerly a subsidiary of Combustion Engineering).
These claims, however, have been less significant than the
Combustion Engineering claims and have not had a material
impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

From 1889 through February 17, 2003 (the date that
Combustion Engineering filed for Chapter 11 as described
below) approximately 438,000 asbestos-related claims have
been filed against Combustion Engineering. On February 17,
2003 there were approximately 164,000 asbestos related
personal injury claims pending against Combustion Engi-
neering. There were approximately 138,000 such claims
pending against Combustion Engineering on December 31,
2002 and approximately 94,000 such claims were pending
on December 31, 2001. Of the approximately 164,000
claims that were pending on February 17, 2003,
approximately 111,000 are claims that we have treated as
settled {including those settled under the Master Settliement
Agreement described below) but under which there are
continuing payments. Approximately 23,000 new claims
were made in the period from January 1, 2003 to February
17, 2003; 79,000 in 2002 and 55,000 in 2001.
Approximately 30,000 claims were resolved in the period
from January 1, 2003 to February 17, 2003 (all but 111 of
which were resolved under the Master settlement
Agreement); approximately 34,500 claims were rasclved in
2002 and approximately 27,000 claims were resolved in
2001 At December 31, 2003, there were approximately
14,800 claims pending against Basic and Lummus.
Additionally, at December 31, 2003, there were 287 cases
described below (involving approximately 8,700 claims)
against ABB entities other than Combustion Engineering,
Lummus and Basic.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, provisions of $ 813 million
and $ 1,091 milion, respectively, were recorded on a
consolidated basis in respect of the asbestos claims and
related defense costs. These provisions were based on

our obligations under Combustion Engineering’s Chapter 11
plan of reorganization, as described below, and assumed
the confirmation and effectiveness of the pre-packaged
plan. These provisions do not reflect probable insurance
recoveries on those claims. We recorded receivables of
approximately $ 232 miion and $ 241 million at December
31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, for probable insurance
recoveries, which wers established with respect to asbestos
claims. During 2002 and 2001, Combustion Engineering
experienced a significant increase in the level of new claims
and higher total and per-claim settiement costs as compared
to prior years. Cash payments, before insurance recoveries,
to resolve Combustion Engineering's asbestos claims were
$ 391 million (including $ 369 million contributed to the CE
Settlernent Trust, described below), $ 236 million (including
$ 30 million contributed into the CE Settlement Trust), and
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$ 136 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Administration and defense costs were $ 36 million, $ 32
milion and $ 13 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Cash payments to resolve claims against entities other than
Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic have been
immaterial to date, totaliing less than $ 0.3 million in the
aggregate. We have not maintained a reserve for the claims
pending against such entities. Of the claims outstanding at
December 31, 20083, approximately 2,250 claims were
prought in Mississippi in 2002 in a single case that names
hundreds of co-defendants and makes no specific
allegations of any relationship between any ABB entity and
the plaintiffs. Approximately 3,900 claims have been brought
in Ohio by claimants represented by a single law firm in
cases that typically name 50 to 80 co-defendants and do
not allege any specific linkage between the plaintiffs and any

-ABB entity. The remaining claims_are pending in various
- jurisdictions- We-generally. seek dismissals from claims where

there is no apparent linkage between the plaintiffs and any
ABB entity. As these claims are unrelated to Combustion
Engineering, Lummus or Basic, they will not be resolved
pursuant 1o the pre-packaged bankruptcy plan of
Combustion Engineering described below. Our experience
resolving these claims to date indicates that they have not
had a material impact on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Negotiztions with Representatives of Ashestos
Clpimants and Pre-Packeged Chapler 11 Filing

In October 2002, we and Combustion Engineering
determined that it was likely that the expected asbestos-
related costs of Combustion Engineering would exceed the
value of its assets ($ 812 million at September 30, 2002 and
$ 828 million at December 31, 2002} if its historical
settlement patterns continued into the future. At that time,
we and Combustion Engineering were actively considering
various options for resolving Combustion Engineering’s
asbestos liabilities, including the possible reorganization of
Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptoy Code. In that context, we believed that
estimating Combustion Engineering’s asbestos liabilities
based on historical settiement patterns was no longer
appropriate. Subsequently, we and Cormbustion Enginesring
determined to resolve the asbestos liability of Combustion
Engineering and its affiliates by reorganizing Combusticn
Engineering under Chapter 11, the principal business
reorganization chapter of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. We
and Combustion Engineering determined to structure the
Chapter 11 reorganization as a "pre-packaged plan,” in
which acceptances of the plan would be solicited prior to the
filing of the Chapter 11 case, thus reducing the duration and
expense of the bankruptcy proceedings.
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Beginning in October 2002, we and Combustion Engineering
conducted extensive negotiations with representatives of
certain asbestos clamants with respect to a pre-packaged
plan. On November 22, 2002, Combustion Engineering

and the asbestos claimants’ representatives entered into a
Master Settliement Agreement for settling open asbestos-
related personal injury claims that had been filed against
Combustion Engineering prior to November 15, 2002.
Combustion Engineering also agreed, pursuant to the
Master Settlement Agreement, to form and fund the CE
Settlement Trust to fund and administer the payment of
asbestos-related personal injury claims settled under the
Master Settlement Agreement. Under the terms of the
Master Settlement Agreement, eligible claimants who met all
criteria to qualify for payment were entitlied to receive a
percentage of the value of their claim from the CE Settlement
Trust and retain a claim against Combustion Engineering

for the unpaid balance. The Master Ssttlement Agreement
divides claims into three categories based on the status

of the claim at November 14, 2002, the status of the
documentation relating to the claim, and whether or not the
documentation establishes a valid claim eligible for
settlement and payment by Combustion Engineering. The
Master Settlement Agreement was supplemented in January
2003 to clarify the rights of certain claimants whose right

to participate in a particular payment category was disputed.
The Master Settlement Agreement, as supplemented, settiss
the amount of and provides for the partial payment on
approximately 110,000 open asbestos-related personal
injury claims that had been lodged against Combustion
Engineering.

Pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement, the CE
Settiement Trust was funded by:

® cash contributions from Combustion Engineering in the
amount of $ 5 million;

B cash contributions from ABB Inc., a subsidiary of ABB
Ltd, in the amount of $ 30 million by December 31, 2003;

® 2 promissory note from Combustion Engineering in the
principal amount of approximately $ 101 million
(guaranteed by Asea Brown Boveri Inc., a subsidiary of
ABB Ltd); and an assignment by Combustion Engineering
of the $ 311 million unpaid balance of principal and
interest due to Combustion Engineering from Asea Brown
Boveri Inc. under a loan agreement dated May 12, 2000
{guaranteed by ABB Ltd).
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| Pre-Patkaged Pian of Revrganization

On January 17, 2008, we announced that we and
Combustion Engineering had reached an agreement on a
proposed Pre-Packaged Plan of Reorganization for
Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code (the “Plan”). The agreement was reached
with certain representatives of asbestos claimants with
existing asbestos-related personal injury claims against
Combustion Engineering {encompassing claimants who had
lodged claims prior to November 15, 2002 and claimants
who had filed claims after that date and were not eligible to
participate in the Master Settlement Agreement) and with the
proposed representative of persons who may be entitled to
bring asbestos-related personal injury claims in the future.

The Plan provides for the creation of the Asbestos Pl Trust,
an independent trust which is separate and distinct from the
CE Settlement Trust and addresses Asbestos Pf Trust
Claims, which consist of present and future asbestos-related
personal injury claims (including the claims previously settled
pursuant to the Master Settiement Agreement only to the
extent of any unpaid portions thereof) that arise directly or
indirectly from any act, omission, products or operations of
Combustion Engineering, Lummus or Basic. If the Plan
ultimately becomes effective, a channelling injunction would
be issued under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code pursuant to
which the Asbestos Pl Trust Claims against ABB Ltd and its
affiiates (including Combustion Engineering, Lummus and
Basic) would be channelled to the Asbestos Pl Trust. This
would mean that the sole recourse of a holder of an
Asbestos Pl Trust Claim would be to the Ashestos Pl Trust
and such holder would be barred from asserting such a
claim against ABB Ltd and its affiiates (including
Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic). A preliminary
injunction is currently in force. The Asbestos PI Trust

would be funded with cash and other assets, including
apperoximately 30 million common shares of ABB Ltd. The
total package is valued at approximately $ 800 million.

The Plan sets forth distribution procedures for the allocation
of funds to the claimants. The Plan provides that the unpaid
portion of claims that were settled pursuant to the Master
Settlement Agreement will also be entitled to distributions
from the Asbestos P! Trust.
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On the effective date of the Plan, the Asbestos Pl Trust will
be funded as foliows:

® 3 20 million 5 percent term note with & maximurm term
of ten years from the effective date of the Plan, issued by
Combusting Engineering and secured by its Windsor,
Connecticut real estate and real estate leases (under
certain specified contingencies, the Asbestos Pl Trust may
have the right to convert the term note into ownership of
80 percent of the voting securities of the reorganized
Combustion Engineering);

m excess cash held by Combustion Engineering on the
effective date of the Plan;,

B g promissory note issued by ABB Inc. and ABB Ltd and
guarantesd by certain ABB Ltd subsidiaries, in an
aggregate amount of up to $ 350 million payable in
instaliments commencing in 2004, with $ 50 miffion to be
paid during 2004, $ 100 miliicn to be paid during 2005
and $ 100 million to be paid during 2006, and further
providing for payrments amounting to $ 50 million to be
paid no later than 2010 ($ 25 million of which may be
payable as early as 2006} and contingent payments of an
additional aggregate amount of $ 50 miltion (in equal
$ 25 million instaliments) in 2008 and 2009 if ABB Ltd
meets certain financial performance standards {an EBIT
margin of 12 percent in 2007 and 2008);

® 3 non-interest bearing promissory note on behalf of
Lummus in the amount of $ 28 million payable in relatively
equal annual installments over 12 vears;

m 2 non-interest bearing promissory note on behalf of Basic
in the aggregate amount of $ 10 milion payable in
relatively equal annual instafiments over 12 years;

m 30,298,913 shares of ABB Lid (the “CE Settiement
Shares”), which had a fair value at December 31, 2003 of
$ 154 million and $ 86 million at December 31, 2002. Our
obligation to deliver these CE Settlement Shares will
continue to be marked to market, with changes in the fair
value of the CE Settlement Shares reflected in earnings
until such CE Settlement Shares are contributed to the
Asbestos P Trust;
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® we will execute and deliver a nuclear and environmental
indemnity with regard to obligations arising out of
Combustion Engineering’s Windsor, Connecticut site for
the benefit of Combustion Engineering;

® Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic will assign
to the Asbestos Pl Trust any proceeds under certain
insurance policies and insurance settlement agreements.
Aggregate unexhausted product hability limits are
approximately $ 200 million for Combustion Engineering,
approximately $ 43 milion for Lummus and approximately
$ 28 million for Basic, although amounts ultimately
recovered by the Asbestos Pl Trust under these policies
may be substantially less than the policy limits. In addition,
Combustion Engineering will assign to the Asbestos Pi
Trust scheduled payments under certain of its insurance
settlement agreements (§ 86 million at December 31,
2003); and

B if Lummus is sold within 18 months after the effective
date of the Plan, ABB Inc. will contribute $ 5 million to the
CE Settlement Trust and $ 5 million to the Asbestos P!
Trust. If the CE Settlement Trust has ceased to exist at
that time, both $ 5 million payments will be made to the
Asbestos Pl Trust, but in no event will this contribution
exceed the net proceeds from the sale of Lummus.

MNext Steps in the Chapter 11 Process

The Plan, including the channelling injunction, will become
effective when the U.S. Bankruptcy Court recommends the
issuance of a confirmation order (which occurred on July 10,
2003), the confirmation order is entered by the U.S. District
Court (which occurred on August 8, 2003} and has become
a final order that is not subject to appeal, and certain other
conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan have been
satisfied.

The solicitation of votes to approve the Plan began on
January 19, 2003, and Combustion Engineering filed for
Chapter 11 in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in Delaware on
February 17, 2003 based on the previously negotiated
Plan. The voting period closed on February 19, 2003, and
approximately 87 percent of qualified ballots voted to
approve the Plan. A confirmation hearing and related
hearings commenced on April 7, 2003 and continued from
time to time through early June 2003. On June 23, 2003, the
U.S. Bankruptcy Court issued its Order Approving the
Disclosure Statement but Recommending Withholding of
Confirmation of the Plan of Recrganization for Combustion
Engineering for Ten Days (the “Ruling”) and related findings
of fact. The Ruling approved the disclosure staterment that
was the decument used as the basis for soliciting approval
of the Plan from asbestos Claimants and verified the voting
results that approved the Plan. Although the Ruling did not
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confirm the Plan, it indicated that the U.S. Bankruptcy Court
would recommend that the Plan be confirmed if we and
Combustion Engineering could establish to the court’s
satisfaction certain specified information. We then submitted
the additiona} information for the court’s consideration.

On July 10, 2003, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court issued a
Supplemental and Amendatory Order Making Additional
Findings and Recommending Confirmation of Plan of
Reorganization (the “Supplemental Ruling”). The
Supplemental Ruling recommended to the U.S. District
Court, among other things, that the Plan be confirmed.

Following the issuance of the Supplemental Ruling,
interested parties had a period during which they could
appeal the Ruling and the Supplemental Ruling. This appeal
period expired on July 24, 2003. A number of interested
parties, including a small number of asbestos claimants and
certain insurance companies which historically have provided
insurance coverage to Combustion Engineering, Basic and
Lummus, flled appeals based on various objections to the
Plan, including the following:

® arguments that Combustion Engineering is not permitted
to obtain a channelling injunction that protects
Combustion Engineering's affiliates with respect to claims
against Combustion Engineering;

® arguments that asbestos claims against Lummus and
Basic cannot be made subject to a channeliing injunction;

B arguments that the disclosure provided in connection with
the solicitation of acceptances of the Plan did not satisfy
the required standards;

B arguments that claimants covered by the Plan would fare
better outside the Plan;

® arguments that the Plan and the Bankruptcy Court’s
rulings improperly affect the rights and obligations of
insurance carriers who have centinuing obligations to
provide insurance coverage with respect to Combustion
Engineering’s asbestos liabilities;

® grguments that the Plan and the Bankruptcy Court’s
rulings fail to address properly the indemnification rights of
certain insurers; and

m arguments that the Bankruptcy Court was in error in not
permitting the release of the trust created under the
Master Settlernent Agreement and certain other entities,
under the Plan.
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The U.S. District Court held a hearing on July 31, 2003, with
respect fo the appeals and entered its confirmation order on
August 8, 2003. The U.S. Federal Third Circuit Court of
Appeals granted a motion for expedition of appeals and
ordered that all briefs were 1o be filed by October 7, 2003.
Although the Circuit Court has set, and then moved, the
date for the hearing for December 16, 2003, January 12,
2004 and February 4, 2004, there is not now a scheduled
hearing date. Rather the Circuit Court has ordered that

oral argument is postponed pending resolution of certain
recusal motions against the U.S. District Court Judge in an
unrelated case. We cannot be certain of when a hearing

will be scheduled or the duration or outcome of the appeal
process. Regardless of whether or not the Plan becomes
effective, the Master Settlement Agreement remains
effective.

Effect of the Plan on our Financial Position

We recorded expenses related to asbestos of $ 145 million,
$ 420 million and $ 470 million in loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax, for 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
for 2003 includes a charge of $ 68 million, net of tax,
resulting from the mark-to-market adjustment relating to the
CE Settlement Shares, a provision of $ 41 million,
representing the present vaiue of the first two $ 25 miilion
payments previously considered contingent, as well as

$ 36 million of other costs. The 2002 amount reflected our
estimate of incremental total costs 1o be incurred based
upaon the terms of the Plan. In 2001, loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax, refiected a charge to earnings based
on Combustion Engineering’s forecasts of the expected
cost of future claim settlements over a period of several
years and estimates ¢f the amounts recoverable from
insurance when the claims were settled.
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Based upon expected implementation of the Plan, we have
recorded provisions of $ 813 milion at December 31, 2003,
in accrued liabilities and other. if the Pian becomes effective,
certain amounts will be reclassified as of the effective date
to other long-term liabilities based on the timing of the future
cash payments to the Asbestos Pi Trust. Future eamings
will be affected by mark-to-market adjustments relating to
the CE Settlement Shares through the effective date of

the Plan, as well as contingent payments when they become
probable of payment. In the event the Plan does not
become effective, the ultimate cost for the resolution of
asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic may be significantly

higher and could have a material adverse impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations and
cash flows.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consalidated Income Statements

..........................................................................................................................................................................................

Year endled December 31 (in millions, except per share data}

Revenues

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 {in millions, except share data) 2003 2002

Total assets

.................................................... LR R R T E L LT LT TP PR PR P P T PR PR PR IRY

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive |

e
Treasury stock, at cost (11,611,528 and 86,830,312 shares
at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively)

Total stockholders’ equity

.................................................................. F T T LT R T L R R LR P P R ive eresastntrann

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equnty

................................................................................................................................. Gisasasacsasraneensenio RN B R BN b s a v sonaasesaoranant

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staterments.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

‘Year ended December 31 (in millions)

Adjustment for the net change in cash and equivalents in assets
held for sale and in discontinued cperations

See accompanying Notes 1o the Cansolidated Financial Staternents.
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ABB Lid Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001

Capital
stock and
additional
paid-in Retained

(in miltions) capital earnings

Effect of change in fair value of
avallable-for-sale securities,
net of tax of $16

Minimum pension fiability
adjustments, net of tax of $1

Cumuilative effect of change
in accounting principles
(SFAS 133), net oftaxof $17

Change in derivatives qualifying
as cash flow hedges,
net of taxof $18

Net loss

Foreign currency translation
adjustments

Accumulated foreign currency
translation adjustments allocated
to divestments of businesses

Effect of change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities,
net oftax of 81

Minimum pension fiability
adjustments, net of tax of $30

Change in derivatives qualifying
as cash flow hedges,
net of tax of $52

Foreign currency transiation
adjustments

Accumulated foreign currency
transiation adjustments allocated
to divestments of businesses

Effect of change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities,
netof tax of$18

Minimum pension liability
adjustments, net of tax of $5

Change in derivatives qualifying
as cash flow hedges,
netoftax of$13

Capital stock issued in connection
with rights offering, net

Call options

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Total
accumulated
other
comprehensive

e (128) e (128).

e S e 3.

et e @ @1,
(46) 46)

R (299)

D 90

S S e 3.
(107) (107)

ST ORI 40
BT ®7.
e B e 5.
e e 19 s 9.
# 41

1,725) $ 27

Total

Treasury  stockholders’

.................................
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ABB Lid Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

Note 1 The company

ABB Ltd is a leading global company in power and automation technologies that enable utifity and industry customers to improve performance while
lowering environmental impact. ABB Lid works with customers to engineer and install networks, facilities and plants with particutar emphasis on
enhancing efficiency and productivity for customers that source, transform, transmit and distribute energy.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies
The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Basis of presentation
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States (U.S.) and
are presented in U.S, doliars (§) unless otherwise stated. Par value of capital stock is denominated in Swiss francs (CHF).

The number of shares and earnings per share data in the Consolidated Financial Statements have been presented as if the four-for-one spiit of ABB Ltd
shares in May 2001 had occurred as of the earliest period presented.

Scope of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include 100 percent of the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, income, loss and cash flows of ABB Ltd and
companies in which ABB Ltd has a controlling interest (subsidiaries), as if ABB Ltd and its subsidiaries {collectively, the "Company”) were a single
company. Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Minority interest is calculated for entities fully consolidated but not
wholly owned. The components of net income and equity attributable to the minority shareholders are presented in the minority interest line items
included in the Consclidated Income Statement and Consolidated Balance Sheet.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation Ne. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Viariable interest Entities — an
Interpretation of ARB No. 57. FIN 46 requires variable interest entities (VIEs) to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. Accordingly, pursuant to
FIN 48, VIEs erttered into after January 31, 2003, are consolidated when the Company is considered the primary beneficiary. Also, after January 31,
2003, previously consolidated VIES would be deconsolidated when a triggering event, as defined by FIN 46, indicates the Company is no longer the
primary beneficiary. For those ViEs where the Company is not the primary beneficiary, existing consolidation policies in accordance with U.S. GAAP are
applied.

lnves{rﬁents in joint ventures and affiiated companies in which-the Company has significant influence, but not a controliing interest, are accounted for
using the equity méthed. This is generally presurmed-te exist when the Company owns between 20 percent and 50 pércent of theinvestee. In certain
circumstances, the Company’s ownership of an investee exceeds 50 percent but it accounts for the investment using the equity method because it
does not have a controlling interest due to certain rights of minority shareholders which allow them to participate in significant operating and financial
decisions ofthe investes.

Under the equity method, the Company’s investrent in and amounts due to and from an equity investee are included in the Consclidated Balance
Sheet; the Company's share of an investee’s earnings is included in the Consolidated Income Statement; and the dividends, cash distributions, loans or
other cash received from the investee, additional cash investments, loan repayments or other cash paid to the investee, are included in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Additionally, the carrying vaiues of investments accounted for using the equity method
of accounting are adjusted downward to reflect any other-than-temporary declines in value.

{investments in non-public companies in which the Company does not have a controfling interest or significant influence are accounted for at cost. Thisis
generally presumed to exist when the Company owns less than 20 percent of the investee. Dividends and other distributions of earnings from these
investments are included in income when received. The carrying value of investments accounted for using the cost method of accounting are adjusted
downward to reflect any other-than-temparary declines in value.

Use of estimates
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications
Amounts reported for prior years in these Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation, primarily as a resuit of the treatment of certain businesses as assets and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations.

Concentrations of credit risk

The Company sells a broad range of products, systems and senvices 1o a wide range of industrial and commercial customers throughout the world.
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited, due to the Company’s customer base being comprised of a large number of
individual customers. Ongoing credit evaluations of customers' financiat posttions are performed and, generally, no collateral is required.

Subsequent to the sale of a significant portion of the Company's Structured Finance business during 2002, the Financial Services activities of the
Caompany were substantially reduced. As a consequence of this divestment, the credit risk of the Company’s remaining Financial Services activities is
primarily concentrated in the remaining lease and loan portfolio. Policies and procedures to controf the remaining credit risks include measurements
to develop and ensure the maintenance of a diversified portfolio through the active monitoring of counterparty, country and industry exposure.

The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses and such losses, inthe aggregate, are in line with rnanagement’s expectations.
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(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

Mote 2 Significant accounting polisies, continued

it is Company policy to invest cash in deposits with banks thraughout the world with certain minimum credit ratings and in high quality, low risk, liquid
investments. The Company actively manages its credit risk by routinely reviewing the creditworthiness of the banks and the investments held, as well as
maintaining such investments in depaosits or liquid securities. The Comparny has notincurred significant cradit losses related to such investments.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk on derivative financial instruments is the risk that a counterparty will fail to meet its obligations. To reduce this risk,
the Company has credit policies that require the establishment and review of cradit limits for individual counterparties. In addition, close-out netting
agreements have been entered into with most counterparties. Close-out netting agreements provide for the termination, valuation and net settlement of
some or all outstanding transactions between two counterparties on the occuirrence of one or more pre-defined trigger events.

Gash and equivalents
Cash and equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Not included in cash and equivalents is restricted
cash of § 394 million and $ 377 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Marketable securities

Debt and equity securlties are classified as either trading or availabte-for-sale at the time of purchase and are carried at fair value. Debt and equity
securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of sale in the near term are classified as trading securities and unrealized gains and losses
thereon are included in the determination of earnings. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are excluded from the determination
of earnings and are instead recognized in the accumulated other comprehensive loss component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax (accumulated other
comprehensive loss) until realized. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are computed based upon the historical cost of these secu-
rities applied using the specific identification method. Declines in fair vaiues of available-for-sale investments that are other-than-temporary are included
in the determination of earnings.

The Company analyzes its available-for-sale securities for impairment when the fair values of individual securities have been below their cost basis for a
pericd exceeding nine consecutive months or when other events indicate the need for assessment. The Company records animpairment charge through
current period earnings and adjusts the cost basis for such cther-than-temporary declines in fair value when the fair value is not anticipated to recover
above cost within a three-month period after the measurement date unless there are mitigating factars that indicate an impairment charge through
earnings may not be required. If an impairment charge is recorded, subsequent recoveries in fair value are not reflected in earnings until sale of the security.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of manufactured products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the price s fixed and
determinable, collectibiiity is reasonably assured and upon transfer of title including the risks and rewards of ownership to the custorner. If contracts for
sale of manufactured products require installation, which can only be performed by the Company, revenues are deferred unti! installation of the products
is complete. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Ne. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, when multicle elements
such as products and services are contained in a single arrangement or inrelated arrangements with-the same customer, the Company aliocates
revenues to each element based on its relative fair value, provided that such element meets the criteria for treatment as a separate unit of accounting.
Revenues from short-term contracts to deliver services are recognized upon completion of required services to the customer. Revenues from contracts
that contain customer acceptance provisions are deferred untit customer acceptance occurs or the contractual acceptance period has lapsed.

Revenues under long-term contracts are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. The Company principally uses the
cost-to-cost or delivery events methods to measure progress towards completion on contracts. Management determines the method to be used by
type of contract based on its judgment as to which method best measures actual progress towards completion.

Anticipated costs for warranties are accrued when revenues are recognized. Losses on contracts are recognized in the period when they are identified
and are based upon the anticipated excess of contract costs over the related contract revenues.

Revenues under cost-reimbursement contracts are recognized as costs are incurred. Shipping and handling costs are recorded as a component of
cost of sales.

Receivables

The Company accounts for the securitization of trade receivables in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140 (SFAS
140), Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 140 requires an entity to recognize the financial
and servicing assets it controls and the liabilities it has incurred and to derscognize financial assets when control has been surrendered, as evaluated in
accordance with the criteria provided in SFAS 140,

The Company accounts for the transfer of its receivables to Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (QSPES) as a sale of those receivables to the extent that
consiceration other than beneficial interests in the transferred accounts receivable is recelved. The Company does not recognize the transfer as a sale
uniess the receivables have been put presumptively beyond the reach-of the Company and its creditors, even in bankruptey or other receivership. in
addition, the QSPEs must obtain the right to pledge or exchange the transferred receivables, and the Company cannot retain the ability or obtigation to
repurchase or redeem the transferred receivables.

At the time the recelvables are sold, the balances are removed from trade receivables and a retained interest or deferred purchase price componentis
recorded in other receivables. The retained interest is recorded at its estimated fair value. Costs associated with the sale of receivables are included in
the determination of earnings.

The Company, in its normal course of business, sefis receivables outside its securitization programs without recourse (see Note 7). Sales or transfers
that do not meet the requirements of SFAS 140 are accounted for as secured borrowings.
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Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (detenmined using either the first-in, first-out or the weighted average cost method) or market. Inventoried
costs refating to percentage-of-completion contracts are stated at actual production costs, including overhead incurred to date, reduced by amounts
recognized in cost of sales.

Impairment of long-lived assets and accounting for discontinued operations

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 (SFAS 144), Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which superseded Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121 {SFAS 121), Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, yet retained the fundamental provisions of SFAS 121 related to the recognition and
measurement of the impairment of fong-lived assets (i.e., property, plant, and equipment and identifiable intangibles) to be “held and used”. A long-fived
asset is assessed forimpairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. if the asset’s net
carrying value exceeds the asset's net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated over its remaining useful life, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its estimated fair value, pursuant to the measurement criteria of SFAS 144,

in accordance with SFAS 144, the Company includes in assets and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations the assets and liabilities that
meet certain criteria with respect to the Company’s plans for their sale or abandonment. Depreciation and amortization cease when the asset meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale. If (1) a planned or completed disposal involves a component of the Company whose operations and cash

flows ¢an be distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes; (2) such operaticns and cash flows will be (or have been) eliminated from
the Company’s ongoing operations; and (3} the Company will not have any significant continuing involvernent in the component, then the component’s
resuilts of operations are presented as discontinued operations for all periods. Operating losses from discontinued operations are recognized in the
period in which they occur. Long-lived assets (or groups of assets and related liabilities) classified as held for sale, are measured at the lower of camying
armount or fair value less cost to sell.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS 144, the Company elected to cease presenting cash flows from discontinued operations as a single tine and
instead presents the relevant amounts within cash fiows from operating, investing and financing activities.

Prior to adoption of SFAS 144, the Company accounted for discontinued operations in accordance with APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results
of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions, in which only the results of operations of a segment or major line of business that had been sold, abandoned, otherwise disposed of, or
was the subject of a formal plan for disposal, could be classified as discontinued operations.

in addition to the interest expense contained within businesses classified as discontinued operations, a portion of the Company’s intersst expense is
reclassified from interest and other finance expense to loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, in accordance with Emerging (ssues Task Force
No. 87-24 (EITF 87-24), Aflocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations. Such amounts were S 42 milion, $ 50 miliion and § 66 milion in 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively. These amounts were calculated based upon the ratio of net assets of the discontinued business less debt that is required

to be paid as a result of the disposal, divided by the sum of total net assets and total debt (other than the portion of debt directly attributable to other
operations of the Company, debt of the discontinued operation that will be assurmed by the buyer and debt that is required to be paid as a result of
the disposal transaction). This ratio was multiplied by the portion of total interest expense not directly attributable to other operations of the Company
to amve at aflocable interest attributable to businesses reflected as discontinued operations.

Goodwiil and other intangible assets

The excess of cost over the fair value of net assets of acquired businesses is recorded as goodwill. The Company accounts for its goodwill in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (SFAS 142), Geoawill and QOther Intangibie Assets. Under SFAS 142, goodwill
from acquisitions completed after June 30, 2001, has not been amortized. Beginning from January 1, 2002, goodwill has not been amortized. For years
prior to January 1, 2002, the goodwill had been amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from 310 20 years. In accordance with SFAS
142, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and also upon the occurrence of a triggering event requiring the re-assessment of a business’ carrying
value of its goodwill. The Company's annual assessment is performed effective October 1 each year. A fair value approach is used to identify potential
goodwill impairment and, when necessary, measure the amount of impairment. The Company uses a discounted cash flow model to determine the
fair value of reporting units, unless there is a readily determinable fair market value.

The cost of acquired intangible assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful ives, typically ranging from 310 10 years.
Intangible assets are tested for impalment upon the occurrence of certain triggering events.

Capitalized software costs

Capitalized costs of software for internal use are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, typically
ranging from 3 to 5 years. Capitalized costs of a software product to be sold are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed, and are carried at the lower of
unamortized cost or net realizable value untit the product is available for general release to customers, at which time capitalization ceases and costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated life of the product. The Company expenses costs incurred prior to technological feasibility, and
thereafter capitalizes costs incurred in developing or obtaining software for intemal use and for software products te be sold.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows: 10 to 50 years for buildings and leasehold improvements and 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment.
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Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued

Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate and currency exposures, and to a lesser extent commodity exposures,
arsing from its global operating, financing and investing activities. The Company’s policies require that the industrial entities hedge exposure from firm
commitments denominated in foreign currencies, as well as at least fifty percent of the anticipated foreign currency denominated sales volume of
standard products over the next twelve months. In addition, derivative financial instruments were also used for proprietary trading purposes within the
Company's former Financial Services division and within limits determined by the Company's Board of Directors until June 2002, when the Gompany
ceased entering into new positions.

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as subsequently amended (SFAS 133). SFAS 133 requires the Company to recognize all derivatives, other than certain derivatives indexed to
the Company’s own stock, on the Consolidated Batance Sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not designated as hedges must be adjusted to fair value
through earnings. If the derivatives are designated as a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivatives will
either be offset against the change in fair value of the hedged item through earnings or recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the
hedged item Is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings.

The Company accounted for the adoption of SFAS 133 as a change in accounting principle. Based on the Company's outstanding derivatives
atJanuary 1, 2001, the Company recognized the cumulative effect of the accounting change as aloss in the Consolidated Income Statement of
approximately $ 63 million, net of tax (basic and diluted loss per share of $ 0.08), and a reduction to equity of $ 41 million, in accumulated other
comprehensive oss.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are the primary instrument used to manage foreign exchange risk. Where forward foreign exchange contracts are
designated as cash flow hedges under SFAS 133, changes in their fair value are recorded in accumuiated other comprehensive loss untif the hedged
itern is recognized in earnings. The Company alsa enters into forward foreign exchange contracts that serve as economic hedges of existing assets and
liabilities. These are not designated as accounting hedges under SFAS 133 and, consequently, changes in their fair value are reported in earnings where
they offset the transiation gain orloss on the foreign currency denominated asset or liabifity.

Toreduce its interest rate and currency exposure artsing from its funding activities and to hedge specific assets, the Company uses interest rate and
currency swaps. Where interest rate swaps are designated as fair value hedges, the changes in fair value of the swaps are recognized in earnings, as
are the changes in the fair value of the underlying assets or liabilities. Where such interest rate swaps do not qualify for the short cut method as defined
under SFAS 133, any ineffectiveness is included in earnings. Where interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges, their change in value is
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 1oss untit the hedged item is recognized in eamings.

All other swaps, futures, options and forwards that are designated as effective hedges of specific assets, liabilities or committed or forecasted
transactions are recognized in earnings consistent with the effects of the hedged transactions.

if an underlying hedged transaction is terminated earty, the hedging derivative financial instrument is treated as if terminated simuftaneously, with any
gain or foss on termination of the derivative immediately recognized in earnings. Where derivative financial instruments have been designated as hedges
of forecasted transactions, and such forecasted transactions become probable of not occurring, hedge accounting ceases and any derivative gain or
loss previously included in accumulated other comprehensive loss is reclassified into earnings.

Certain commercial contracts may grant rights to the Company or other counterparties, or contain other provisions considered to be derivatives under
SFAS 133. Such embedded derivatives are assessed at inception of the contract and depending on their characteristics accounted for as separate
derivative instruments pursuant to SFAS 133.

Sale-leasebacks

The Company perindically enters into transactions accounted for as sale-leasebacks, in which fixed assets, generally real estate and/or equipment,
are sold to a third party and then leased for use by the Company. Under certain circumstances, the necessary criteria to recognize a sale of the assets
may not occur, and the transaction is reflected as a financing transaction, with the proceeds received from the transaction reflected as a borrowing

or as a deposit kability. When the necessary criteria have been met to recognize a sale, gains or losses on the sale of the assets are generally deferred
and amortized over the term of the transaction, except in certain imited instances when a portion of the gain or loss may be recognized. The lease

of the assets is accounted for as either an operating lease or a capital lease depending upon its specific terms, as requlired by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 13, Accounting for Leases. By their nature, sale-leaseback transactions are generally highly structured and complex
transactions, which therefore require detailed analyses to be made by the Company in determining the appropriate accounting treatment.

Insurance

The following accounting policies apply specifically to the Insurance business. In December 2003, the Company has contracted to sell this business and
consequently has reflected the resutts of operations in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, and the assets and liabilities in assets and liabilities
held for sale and in discontinued operations.

Premiums and acquisition costs

Premiums are generally earned pro rata over the period coverage is provided. Premiums earned include estimates of certain premiums due, including
adjustments on retrospectively rated contracts. Premium receivables include prermiums refating to retrospectively rated contracts that represent the
estimate of the difference between provisional premiums received and the ultimate premiums due. Unearned premiums represent the portion of
premiums written that is applicable to the unexpired terms of reinsurance contracts or certificates in force. These unearned premiums are calculated by
the monthly pro rata method or are based on reports from ceding companies. Acquisition costs are costs related to the acquisition of new business
and renewals. These costs are deferred and charged against earnings ratably over the terms of the related policy.
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Profit commission
Certain contracts carry terms and conditions that result in the payment of profit commissions. Estimates of profit commissions are reviewed based on
underwriting experience to date and, as adjustments become necessary, such adjustments are refiected in discontinued operations.

Loss and loss agjustment expenses

Loss and loss adjustment expenses are charged to operations as incurred. The liabifities for unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses are determined
on the basis of reports from ceding companies and underwriting associations, as well as estimates by management and in-house actuaries, including
those for incurred but not reported losses, salvage and subrogation recoveries. Inherent in the estimates of losses are expected trends of frequency,
severity and other factors that could vary significantly as claims are settled. The Company estimates expected trends using actuarial methods widely
used in the insurance industry, such as the Bomhuetter-Ferguson method, utifizing the Company’s historically paid and incurred losses, Accordingly,
uitimate losses could vary from the amounts provided for in these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fees

Contracts that neither resutt in the transfer of insurance risk nor the reasonable possibility of significant loss to the reinsurer are accounted for as
financing arrangements rather than reinsurance. Consideration received for such contracts is reflected as accounts payable, other, and is amortized on
a pro rata basis over the life of the contract.

Funds withheld
Under the terms of certain reinsurance agreements, the ceding reinsurer retains a portion of the premium to provide security for expected 10ss
payments. The funds withheld are generally invested by the ceding reinsurer and eam an investment return that becomes additional funds withheid.

Reinsurance

The Company seeks to reduce the loss that may arise from catastrophes and other events that may cause unfavorable underwriting results by
reinsuring cartain levels of risks with other insurance enterprises or reinsurers. Reinsurance contracts are accounted for by reducing premiums eamed
by amounts paid to the reinsurers. Recoverable amounts are established for paid and unpaid icsses and loss adjustment expense ceded to the
reinsurer. Amounts recoverable from the reinsurer are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsurance policy.
Contracts where it is not reasonably possible that the reinsurer may realize a significant loss from the insurance risk generally do not meet the condiitions
for reinsurance accounting and are recorded as deposits. The Company assesses probability of risks transferred in significant loss realization based

on the terms in the reinsurance contract that impact the timing and amount of reimbursement under the contract and the present value of all cash flows
without regard to how cash flows are characterized, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.113, Accounting and
Reporting for Reinsurance of Short Duration and Long Duration Contracts.

Translation of foreign currencies and foreign exchange transactions

The functional currency for most of the Company’s operations is the applicable local currency. The translation from the applicable functional currencies
into the Company’s reporting currency is perfarmed for balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the balance shest date, and for
income statement accounts using average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. The resutting translation adjustments are excluded from the
determination of earnings and are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the entity is sold, substantially liquidated or being
evaluated forimpairment in anticipation of disposal.

Forelgn currency exchange gains and losses, such as those resutting from foreign currency denominated receivables or payables, are included in the
determination of earnings, except as they relate to intra-Company loans that are equity-iike in nature with no reasonable expectation of repayment,
which are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

In highly inflationary countries, monetary balance sheet positions inlccal currencies are converted intc U.S. dollars at the year-end rate. Fixed assets are
kept at historical U.S. doliar values from acquisition dates. Sales and expenses are converted at the exchange rates prevalling upon the date of the
transaction. All transiation gains and losses from restaterent of balance sheet positions are included in the determination of earnings.

Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for deferred taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabiiities. Deferred tax assets and liabiities are
measured using enacted tax rates and laws that wilt be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The deferred tax assets are reduced by a
valuation allowance te refiect the amount that is more likety than not to be realized.

Generally, deferred taxes are not provided on the unremitted eamings of subsidiaries as it is expected that these earnings are permanently reinvested.
Such earnings may become taxable upon the sale or liquidation of these subsidiaries or upon the remittance of dividends. Deferred taxes are provided in
situations where the Company's subsidiaries plan to make future dividend distributions.

Research and development
Research and development expense was $ 613 milion, $ 547 milion and $ 590 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These costs are included
in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued

Earnings per share

Basic earnings (jloss) per share is calculated by dividing income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per share is calculated by dividing income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year, assuming that all potentially
dilutive securities were exercised and that any procesds from such exercises were used to acquire shares of the Company’s stock at the average
market price during the year or the period the securities were outstanding, if shorter. Potentially dilutive securities comprise: outstanding written call
options, if dilutive; the securities issued under the Company’s management incentive plan, to the extent the average market price of the Company’s
stock exceeded the exercise prices of such instruments; shares issuable in relation to outstanding convertible bonds, if dilutive; and outstanding written
put options, for which net share settlement at average market price of the Company's stock was assumed, if dilutive (see Notes 22 and 24).

Stock-based compensation

The Gompany has a management incentive plan under which it offers stock warrants to key employees for no consideration. The plan is described more
fully in Note 22. The Company accounts for the warrants using the intrinsic value method of APB Opinion No. 25 [APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), Accounting for Stock Based Compensation. All
warrants were issued with exercise prices greater than the market prices of the stock on the dates of grant. Accordingly, the Company has recorded no
compensation expense related to the warrants, except in circumstances when a participant ceases to be employed by a consolidated subsidiary, such
as after a divestment by the Company. The following table iffustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share (see Note 24) if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based employee compensation. Fair value of the warrants was determined on the
date of grant by using the Binomial option mode! (see Note 22).

Year ended December 31,

Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects

New accounting pronotincements
In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations, and
SFAS142 which modified the accounting for business combinations, goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. All business combinations initiated after

_June 30, 2001, must be accounted fof by the purchase methad. Goodwill from acquisitions completed after that date is not amortized, but charged

to operations when specified tests indicate that the goodwill is impaired, that is, when the goodwill's fair value is lower than its carrying value. Certain
intangible assets are recognized separately from goodwill, and are amortized over their useful tives. During 2002, all goodwill was required to be
tested for impairment as of January 1, 2002, with a transition adjustment recognized for any impaiment identified. The Company determined that no
impairment of goodwill existed at January 1, 2002. All goodwill amortization also ceased at that date. The Company recognized goodwill amortization
expense in continuing operations of $ 148 million in 2001, and goodwill amortization expense in discontinued operations of $ 43 million in 2001.
Accordingly, income from continuing operations in 2001 would have been $ 319 million ($ 0.28 per share), loss from discontinued operations in 2001
would have been $ 794 million {3 0.70 per share) and net loss in 20071 would have been $ 538 million ($ 0.48 per share) if the Company had not
recognized amortization expense for goodwill that is no longer being amortized in accordance with SFAS 142,

Indune 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143 (SFAS 143), Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002, and requires that the fair value of a legal obligation
associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets be recognized in the period in which it is incurred. The associated asset retirement costs are
capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the asset and allocated to expense over its useful life. The Company adopted SFAS 143 effective January 1,
2003. The adoption of SFAS 143 did not have a material impact on the Company's results of operations.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 144. This Statement supersedes SFAS 121, while retaining many of its
requirements regarding impairment loss recognition and measurement. In addition, the new Statement broadens the presentation of discontinued
operations to include more sold and abandoned businesses. The Company adopted this statement effective January 1, 2002, and, as a result, reflected
the assets, liabilities and results of operations of several businesses and groups of assets as discontinued operations for all periods presented to the
extent these businesses and groups of assets met the new criteria during 2008 and 2002. Disposals and abandonments in previous years were not
re-evaluated or reclassified.

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements
No. 4, 44 and 84, Amendment of FASB Staternent No. 13, and Technical Corrections, which rescinds previous requirements to reflect alt gains and
losses from debt extinguishment as extraordinary. The Company elected to early adopt the new standard effective April 1, 2002, and, as a result, the
gains from extinguishment of debt of $ 12 million recorded as extraordinary items in 2001, are no longer reflected as extraordinary items.
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Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued

InJune 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146 (SFAS 148), Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, which requires that a fiability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when
theliability is incurred, The standard became effective January 1, 2003 and was applied to restructuring activities initiated after that date. Priorto
January 1, 2003, the Company accounted for restructuring activities in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force No. 84-3, Liabflity Recognition for
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). The adoption of SFAS
1486 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

in November 2002, the Financia! Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, including indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 requires the guarantor to recognize a fiability for the
non-contingent component of a guarantes; that is, the obligation te stand ready to perform in the event that specified triggering events or conditions
oceur. The initial measurement of this liability is the fair value of the guarantee at its inception. The recognition of the liability is required even if it is not
probable that payments will occur under the guarantee or if the guarantee was issued with a premium payment or as part of a transaction with muttiple
elements. FIN 45 also requires additional disclosures related to guarantess. The Company adopted the disclosure requirements of FIN 45 on
December 31, 2002. The recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45 are effective for all guarantees entered into or modified after Decernber
31, 2002. The Company adopted the recognition and measurement requirements of FIN 45 on January 1, 2003. The adoption of the recognition and
measurement requirements of FIN 45 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

tn November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Emerging Issues Task Force No. 00-21 (EITF
00-21), Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, which was amended in January 2003 and requires that (a) revenue should
be recognized separately for separate units of accounting in multiple deliverables arrangements, (o) revenue for a separate unit of accounting should be
recognized onty when the arrangement consideration is refiably measurable and the earnings process is substantially complete, and (¢} consideration
should be allocated among the separate units of accounting based on their relative fair value. EITF 00-21 is applicable to transactions entered into after
June 30, 2003. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position, or resuits of operations.

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148 {SFAS 148), Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure. An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. The Company has efected to continue with
its current practice of applying the recognition and measurement principles of APB No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, as permitted by
SFAS 148. The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS 148 effective December 31, 2002.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued {rterpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable interest Entities — an
Interpretation of ARB No. 57. FIN 46 requires variable interest entities (VIES) to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. During 2003, the
Company adopted the requirements of FIN 46 and applied the guidance to VIEs in which the Company has an interest. See Note 8 for information
refating to the impact of adopting FIN 48. FIN 46 was revised in December 2003. The Company will adopt the December revision (FIN 46() by March
2004. The Company continues to evaluate the effects of the adoption of FIN 46R and does not expect such effects to be material to the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financlal Accounting Standards No. 150 {SFAS 150), Accounting for
Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabifities and Equity. SFAS 150 establishes how an issuer classifies and measures certain
financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. This statement requires that an issuer classify a financial instrurnent that is within
the scope of the statermnent as a fiability. SFAS 150 applies to alt financial instruments entered into after May 31, 2003, and otherwise became effective
for the Company after June 15, 2003. In November 2003, SFAS 150 was amended to indefinitely defer the measurement and recognition guidance
for non-controlling interests that are classified as equity in a subsidiary of the Company, but that would be classified as a liability in the parent’s financial
statements under SFAS 150. However, SFAS 150, as amended, provides guidance on classification and disclosure of mandatorily redeemable
non-controling interests. The Company has adopted the measurament, classification and disclosure criteria of SFAS 150, as amended. The adoption
of SFAS 150 did not have 2 matenal impact on the Company's financial position, or results of operations.

lnMay 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the Financial Accounting Standards Board reached a consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force

No. 03-4 (EITF 03-4), Determining the Classification and Benefit Attribution Method for a “Cash Balance” Plan. EITF 03-4 clarifies that a cash balance
plan, as defined by the guidance, should be accounted for as a defined benefit plan using the traditional unit credit attribution method. The Company
adopted EITF 03-4 in May 2003. As a result, the Company accounts for certain of its pension plans in Switzerland as cash balance plans in accordance
with EITF 03-4. The adoption of EITF 03-4 reduced the unfunded amounts of the Company’s Swiss pension plans by approximately $ 406 miilion but
did not have a materialimpact on the Company's financial position at December 31, 2003, or on its results of operations for the year then ended.

Note 3 Discontinued operations

In November 2002, the Company completed the sale of most of its Structured Finance business to General Blectric Capital Corporation (GE) and
received cash procesds of approximately $ 2.0 billion, including a contingent payment of $ 20 mitlion to be released to the Gompany should amounts
ultimately collected by GE, from a portfalio transferred by the Company to GE, reach specified targets. The $ 20 miflion contingent payment remains
unpaid at December 31, 2003 as the amounts collected by GE to date have not met such specified targets. The Company's Structured Finance
business had revenues of $ 262 million and $ 220 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a net joss of $ 183 milion in 2002 and net income of

$ 8 million in 2001, The 2002 net loss of $183 million recorded in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, included a $ 148 miflion loss on
disposal, loss from cperations of $ 22 million and the allocation of interest expense of $ 15 million in accordance with EITF 87-24, The loss on disposal
of § 148 million was principally comprised of asset write-downs of $ 15 million, geodwill and other intangible write-offs of $ 2 million, transaction costs
of $ 27 mitlion, the fair value for GE’s right to require the Company to repurchase certain designated assets of $ 38 milion, capital tax expense
assaciated with the disposal of $ 10 milion and an accumulated foreign currency translation loss of $ 54 million.

Pursuart to the sale and purchase agreerment, the Company provided GE with cash collateralized lstters of credit aggregating $ 202 million as security
for certain performance-related obligations retained by the Company, of which approximately $ 128 million were outstanding at December 31, 20083,
The remaining cash collateralized letters of credit will further be reduced as the performance-related obligations by the Company expire.
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Note 3 Discontinued operations, continued

The sale and purchase agreement provided GE the option to require the Company to repurchase certain designated financial assets transferred to GE
upon the occurrence of certain events, but in any event no later than February 1, 2004. The fair value of GE's right to require the Company to repurchase
these designated assets was $ 11 million at December 31, 2003. On January 26, 2004, the Company repurchased the financial assets for an amount
of approximately $ 28 milion. Additionally, as a result of the exercise of GE's option, the cash collateralized letters of cradit wers reduced by $ 35 miilion.
No further obligation exists for the Company to repurchase any assets under the sale and purchase agreement with GE.

As a continuation of the Company’s divestment of its Structured Finance business, the Company completed the sale of ABB Export Bank in December
2003 for approximately $ 50 million. ABB Export Bank had revenues of $ 9 million, $ 17 million and $ 29 miflion in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
and anet loss of $ © million in 2003 and netincome of $ 10 million and $ 6 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. The 2003 net loss of $ 9 million in foss
from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes a § 12 milion loss on disposal, income from operations of $ 6 million and the allocation of interest
expense of $ 3 million in accordance with EITF 87-24. The loss on disposal of $ 12 million was principally comprised of an asset write-down of

$ 20 miflion, transaction costs of $ 1 miflion, capital tax expense associated with the disposal of $ 4 milion offset by an accumutated foreign currency
translation gain of approximately $ 13 miflion.

In Becember 2002, in connection with the Company’s divestment strategy to focus on its core power and automation technology businesses, the
Company completed the sale of its Metering business to Ruhrgas Industries GmibH of Essen, Germany, for § 223 miillion, including $ 15 million held

in escrow until certain disputed items were resolved. The cash held in escrow was released after the resolution of these items in 2003. The Metering
business sold to Ruhrgas iIndustries GrbH had revenues of $ 372 million and $ 448 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a net loss of $ 54 miflion
in 2002 and net income of $ 14 miflion in 2001, The 2002 net loss of $ 54 million racorded inloss from discontinued operations, net of tax, included a
348 million loss on disposal, loss from operations of $ 3 million and the allocation of interest expense of $ 3 million in accordance with EITF 87-24, The
foss on disposal-of § 48 million for the sold business was principally comprised of goodwiil and other intangible write-offs of $ 66 milfion, transaction
costs and other provisions of $ 46 million, capital tax expense associated with the disposal of §. 21 million and an accumulated foreign currency
translation loss of § 35 million, offset in part by a gain of $ 119 million, being the difference between the proceeds received and net assets of the
pusiness.

In Becember 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors approved management’s plans to sell the Company's Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses.
Thedisposal is in line with the Company's strategy to focus on its core power and autormation technology businesses. In January 2004, the Company
agreed to sell most of the upstream part of the Ofl, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses {Upstream business) 1o a consortium consisting of Candover
Partners Limited, JP Morgan Partners LLC and 3i Group PLC (collectively, the Purchasers) for an initial purchase price of $ 925 milion plus a potential
deferred consideration of up to § 50 milion. The initial purchase price of $ 925 milion is subject to adjustrments based on, among other things, the net
assets of the Upstrearn business at closing and further potential adjustments that will be calculated at closing. Additionally, the initial purchase price will be
reduced by $ 85 miflion to reflect the unfunded benefit liabifities of pension plan obfigations assumed by the Purchasers. The $ 85 million reduction of the
purchase price may increase or decrease based on the actual unfunded benefit liability calctlated at closing, in accordance with the terms of the purchase
agreement. Furthermore, the initial purchase price will be increased or decreased based on the net intercompany balance between the Company and the
Upstream business at closing. The potential deferred consideration of up to $ 80 milion can be realized by the Company if the Upstream business meets
specified earnings targets in 2004. The Company does not expect a significant gain or toss to be recognized on the sale of the Upstream business.

The remaining part of the Ofl, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses {remaining OGP businesses) is available forimmediate sale and continues to be
actively marketed. Itis unlikely that significant changes to the divestment strategy will be made or that the plan to divest the remaining OGP businesses
will be withdrawn in the future. Management anticipates divesting this business in 2004.

Accordingly, the results of the Oll, Gas and Petrochemical businesses are presented as discontinued operations for all periods preserted. The Oil, Gas
and Petrochemical businesses had revenues of $ 3,374 milion, $ 3,854 milion and $ 3,478 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively and net losses
of $ 496 milion and $ 127 miflion in 2003 and 2002, respectively, and net income of § 9 mitiion in 2001. The Upstream business recorded revenues of
approximately $ 1,499 milion, $ 1,535 milion and $ 1,468 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and had a net income of $ 4 miflion, $ 88 million
and $ 93 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The 2003 net income of $ 4 milion included $ 44 milfion of costs associated with the future sale
ofthe Upstream business and § 13 million of allocated interest expense in accordance with EITF 87-24. The remaining OGP businesses had revenues
of $ 1,875 million, $ 2,319 million and $ 2,010 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and had net losses of $ 500 million, $ 225 mition and $ 84
miffion in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. During 2003, the Company recorded a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets of approximately

$ 120 million related to the remaining OGP businesses, as the Company determined it was more likely than not that such deferred tax assets would not
be realized.

In December 2003, the Company agreed to sell its Reinsurance business to White Mountains insurance Group Limited, a Bemmuda-based insurance
holding company, for a cash price of 3,220 miflion Swedish krona, {approximately $ 425 million). The disposal is in line with the Company's strategy to
focus on its core power and automation technology businesses. The Reinsurance business had revenues of $ 782 million, $ 644 milion and $ 933
milion in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Reinsurance business had a netloss of $ 97 milion in 2003, net income of $ 22 million in 2002, and a
netloss of $ 336 million in 2001. The 2003 net ioss of $ 97 million recorded inloss from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes a $ 154 million
impairment charge, income from operations of approximately $ 72 milion and an allocation of interest of $ 15 million in accordance with EITE 87-24. The
impairment charge recorded from the anticipated disposal of the Reinsurance business of § 154 million was principally comprised of an asset write-
down of $ 48 million, goodwill and other intangible write-offs of $ 89 million, expected selling costs of $ 25 milfion, deferred tax write-offs of approxi-
mately $ 16 milion, offset in part by an accumulated foreign currency translation gain of § 24 mitlion.

As a consequence of the planned sale of the Reinsurance business, insurance reserves of § 1,871 million and $ 2,014 mifion at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively, were included in liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations. Through December 20071, the Company recorded these
insurance reserves on a discounted basis. As the amount and timing of the ceded Claims payments could not be reliably determined at December 31,
2001, the Company could no longer discount its loss reserves. Accordingly, at December 31, 2003 and 2002, the insurance reserves were not
presented on a discounted basis. In 2001, a charge of $ 295 milion was recorded due to the elimination of the effect of discounting.
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Note 3 Discontinued operations, continued

In December 2003, the Company sold a portion of its Wind Energy business in Germany to Gl Ventures AG of Munich, Germany, for proceeds of
approximately $ 35 million including a vendor note of approximately $ 10 million. The Wind Energy business was no longer a core business and its
divestment was part of the Company’s ongeing divestment strategy. The Wind Energy business, which began operations in 2002, had revenues of
$ 18 mifion and § 48 million and net losses of § 42 mition and $ 1 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively, The 2003 net loss of $ 42 million recorded in
loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was comprised principally of a $ 25 million loss from disposal {net of a tax benefit of $ 10 million}, asset
write-downs of $ 9mifionand aloss from operations of $ 8 million.

In December 2003, the Company agreed to sell its MDCV cable business based in Germany to the Wilms Group of Menden, Germany. This business,
no longer pursued for strategic reasons, was part of the Power Technologies division. it had revenues of § 74 milion, $ 78 milion and $ 60 million and
had net losses of $ 24 million, $ 1 million and $ 5 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The 2003 net loss of $ 24 million recorded in loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax, was comprised principally of asset write-downs of $ 10 million and a loss from operations of $ 14 million.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, also includes costs related to the Company’s potential asbestos obligation of the Company’s U.S.
subsidiary, Combustion Engineering Inc., of approximately $ 145 milion, $ 420 million and $ 470 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively

{see Note 18).

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, also includes other abandoned and/or sold assets, resulting in net losses of $ 8 milion, § 104 mitlion, and
$ 63 milion in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Operating results of the discontinued businesses are summarized as follows:

Year ended Decembaer 31,
Revenues

Loss from dispositions, net of a tax benefit of § 6 mifion and
tax expense of § 31 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

The components of assets and liabilties held for sale and in discontinued operations are summarized as follows:

December31,

Included above are the assets and the fiabifities held for sale from the Building Systems businesses of approximately $ 81 million and $ 42 milion,
respectively, at December 31, 2003 and 8 440 miflion and $ 455 million, respectively, at December 31, 2002. In accordance with SFAS 144, certain
Building Systermns businesses met the criteria for the classification of assets as held for sale, but did not meet the additional criteria for its results of
operations to be classified as discontinued operations (see Note 4).

At Becember 31, 2003 and 2002, the Consolidated Balance Sheets included $ 79 milion and $ 60 million of pledged cash balances, respectively.
Approximately $ 44 million and $ 60 million related to the Company’s insurance operations and § 8 miflion and $ 0 million refated to the Ofl, Gas and
Petrochemicals business and, as such, were included in assets held for sale and in discontinued operations in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Note 4 Business combinations and other divestments

Entrelec Group

inJune 2001, the Company completed the acquisition, through an open-market tender, of Entrelec Group, a France-based supplier of industrial
automation and control products operating in 17 countries. The Company'’s Consclidated Financial Statements include Entrelec’s result of operations
since June 20, 2001, the transaction closing date.

The cash purchase price of the acquisition was approximately $ 284 million. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the assets acquired
totaled § 294 million and has been recorded as goodwill. The transaction has been accounted for as a purchase. included in the purchase price
allocation was anamount of $ 21 million for a restructuring of the business.

b-business partners B.V,

in June 2000, the Company entered into a share subscription agreement to acquire an interest in b-business partners B.V,, which at December 31,
2003 remains at a four percent interest. The Company is committed to provide additional capital to b-business partners B.V. of § 5 million. Further,
b-business partners B.V. retains a put right to compel the Company to purchase 150,000 shares of b-business partners B.V. at a cost of approximately
$ 19 million.

Other acquisitions and investments

During 2003, 2002, and 2001, the Company invested $ 55 million, $ 154 million and $ 179 million, respectively, in 24, 32 and 60 new busihesses, joint
ventures or affiliated companies. Of these transactions, 1, 8 and 10, respectively, represented acquisitions accounted for as purchases and accordingly,
the results of operations of the acquired businesses have been included in the Company's Consolidated Financial Staterments from the respective
acquisition dates. The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $ 1 milion, $ 56 million and $ 45 million,
respectively. The aggregate excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired totaled $ 2 miltion, $ 93 milion and $ 28 miflion,

in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and has been recorded as goodwill. Assuming these acguisitions had occurred on the first day of the year prior
to their purchase, the pro forma Consolidated Income Statement for those years would not have materially differed from reported amounts either on

an individual or an aggregate basis.

Other divestitures

in addition to the sold businesses described under discontinued operations, the Company periodically divests businesses and investments not
considered by management to be aligned with its focus on power and automation technologies. The results of operations of these divested businesses
areincluded in the Company’s Consolidated Income Statement in the respective line items of incorne from continuing operations, through the date of
disposition.

Divestment of Building Systems businesses

In Aprit 2002, the Company decided to dispose of its Building Systems businesses. The gradual disposal process was envisaged to extend over
anon-defined period of time preceded by restructurings in several iocations. The disposal of the Building Systems businesses contemplated that the
Company would refain an involvement in the disposed operations through a combination of technology license agreements, supplier relationships,
retention of certain orders and participation in the Board of Directors of some of the disposed of companies. As a result of these factors, the Company
concluded that classification of the Building Systems businesses as discontinued operations according to-SFAS 144 was not appropriate. The resulits
of operations of these businesses and the results from the disposal of each disposed of business are reported in the Company’s Consolidated Income
Statement within continuing operations, through the date of disposition.

in August 2003, the Company completed the sale of its Building Systems businesses located in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland, Bussia and the
Baltics to YIT Corporation of Helsinki, Finland, for consideration of approximately $ 213 mition. The Company recognized a net gain on disposal of
$ 124 million, which is included in other income (expense), net.

In 2003, the Company completed the sale of its Building Systems businesses located in several other countrigs, principally Belgium, the Nethertands,
Austria, and the UK for aggregate proceeds of approximately $ 21 million. The Company recognized a net loss on disposal of $ 41 million, which is
included in other income (expense), net.

In February 2004, the Company signed an agreement to sell its Building Systems business located in Switzerland to CapVis Equity Partners AG, a
Swiss private equity company, for a purchase price of approximately $ 38 miliion. Buring 2003, the Company recorded no impairment charge on this
business, based on the estimated sales price of the business. The Company has retained a 10 percent ownership interest and anticipates a net gain on
disposal of approximately $ 3 million.

Divestment of Air Handling business

inJanuary 2002, the Company sold its Air Handling business to Global Air Moverment (Luxembourg) SARL for proceeds of § 147 miliion, including a
vendor note of $ 34 million issued by the purchaser. The Company recognized a net gain on disposal of $ 74 million, which is included in other income
(expense), net.

Other divestitures
InJune 2003, the Company sold its interests in certain equity investees in Australia for approximatety $ 90 mifiion, resutting in a gain on disposal of
$ 28 milion recorded in other income (expense), net.

In June 2003, the Company sold its entire 35 percent interest in Swedish Export Credit Corporation to the Government of Sweden for 1,240 million
Swedish krona, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $ 148 million and a loss on disposal of $ 80 million recorded in other income {expense), net.
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Note 4 Business combinations and other divestments, continued

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company seld several operating units and investments for total proceeds of $ 31 mitiion, $ 209 mition and

$ 117 miliion, respectively, and recognized net gains on disposal of $ 12 million, $ 24 milion and $ 34 milion, respectively, which are included in other
income (expense), net. Net income from these businesses and investments was not significant in 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Note § Marketable securities
Marketable securities consist of the following:

Oecember 31,

Johedgeits exposure to fluctuations in fair value of certain of the Company’s warrant appreciation rights (WARs) issued under the Company's
management incentive plan, the Company purchases cash-settled call options, which entitle the Company to receive amounts equivalent to its
obligations under the cutstanding WARSs. in accordance with Emerging issues Task Force No. 00-19 (EITF 00-19}, Accounting for Derivative Financial
Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock, the cash-settled call options have been recorded as assets measured

at fair value, with subsequent changes in fair value recorded through earnings as an offset to the compensation expense recorded in connection with
the WARS.

Avaitable-for-sale securities classified as marketable securities consist of the following:

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Equity securitie $ 96 $ 2 $ (26) $ 72

senesesdrorranaserross Cesresacas barasresisrvatervreness T erstrarsesenetasaresiviestsntesaresses ceruene Fesencatenseresassererainsevntrs Cesrssasanes Suruessritenesaatenseronarinter ves

Debt securities:

e e ae s mantan et e ureaes s eao e e st on s arraoasasantobor shasasrotiehstssstoets auaseetesosssioratorlotessnvsoasesacstertsoteatatoessesrsrsoletntostotasesrsnissarsnrss

Gross realized gaing on available-for-sale securities were $ 8 mifion, $ 11 million and $ 22 mitiion in 2003, 2002 and 20071, respectively. Gross realized
losses on available-for-sale securities were $ 2 million, $ 9 million and $ 9 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Additionally, in 2003 and 2002,
the Company recorded charges of $ 36 million and $ 6 million, respectivaly, related to the impairment of available-for-sale securities. These charges are
included in interest and other finance expense and other income (expense), net, respectively.
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Note 5 Marketable securities, continued

The following table reflects gross unrealized losses and the fair value of those available-for-sale securities, aggregated by investment category, that at
December 31, 2003, have been in a continuous unrealized loss position. These securities have been in a continuous unrealized 10ss position for less
than 12 months. The Company has no available-for-sale securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or more.

Unrealized
Description of secuirities Fair value losses

Equity securtt
US government obligations

Unrealized losses-on equity and debt securities held and classified as available-for-sale are judged to be only temporary based on the creditworthiness
of the-obligors as it relates to debt securities and as it relates to all securities held, the financial position.of the underlying companies, the significance of
the unrealized losses relative to the asset cost and the duration that the securities have been in an unrealized loss position.

At December 31, 2002, investments and other included $ 77 million of available-for-sale securities, which were strategic investments. In 2002, net
unreaiized losses of § 42 miflion on these investments were included in accumulated other comprehensive loss. In 2003, these investments were sold
resulting in realized losses of $ 40 million, which is recorded in interest and other finance expense.

At December 31, 2002, the Company contributed a portfolio of available-for-sale securities to a pension trust in Sweden at its then fair value of $ 260
million. in connection with this transfer, the Company recognized the related cumulative net loss of $ 27 miillion in interest and other finance expense.

The net change in unrealized gains and losses in fair values of trading securities was not significant in 2003, 2002 or 2001.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company pledged $ 41 million and § 15 million, respectively, of marketable securities as collateral for issued
letters of credit, insurance contracts or other security arrangements.

Note 6 Financial instruments

Cashflow hedges

The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts 1o manage the foreign exchange risk of its operations. To a lesser extent the Company
also uses commodity contracts to manage its commodity risks. Where such instruments are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the changes
in their fair value are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, until the hedged item s recognized in earnings. At such time, the respective
amount in accumutated other comprehensive loss is released to earnings and is shown in either revenues or cost of sales consistent with the
classification of the earnings impact of the underlying transaction being hedged. Any hedge ineffectiveness is included in revenues and cost of sales but
is not significant for 2003 and 2002.

During 2003 and 2002, the amount of derivative financial instrument net gains orlosses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss
to earnings were net gains of $ 58 mifiion for 2003 and net losses of $ 4 million for 2002. itis anticipated that during 2004, $ 75 milion of the amount
included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2003, which reprasents gains on derivative financial instruments, will be
reclassified to earnings when the underlying hedged transaction impacts earnings. Derivative financial instrument gains and losses reclassified to
earnings offset the losses and gains on the items being hedged.

While the Company’s cash flow hedges are primarily hedges of exposures ovar the next twelve months, the amount included in accumutated other
comprehensive loss at December 31, 2003 includes hedges of cartain exposures maturing up to 2007.

Fair value hedges

To reduce its interest rate and forreign currency exposure arising primarily from its funding activities, the Company uses interest rate and cross-currency
swaps. Where such instruments are designated as fair value hedges, the changes in fair value of these instruments, as well as the changes in fair value
of the underlying liablfities, are recorded as offsetting gains and losses in the determination of earnings. The amount of hedge ineffectiveness was

$ 11 miliion in 2003 and was not significant in 2002, .

Disclosure about fair values of financial instruments
The Company uses the following methods and assumptions in estimating fair values for financial instruments:

Cash and equivafents, receivables, accounts payabfe, short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term borrowings: The carrying amounts
reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet approximate the fair values.

Marketable securities. Fair values are based on guoted market prices, where available, if quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based
on quoted market prices of comparable instruments.

Financing receivables and loans (non-current portion): Fair values are determined using a discounted cash flow methodology based upon loan rates
of similar instruments. The carrying values and estimated fair values of long-term loans granted at December 31, 2003 were $ 434 milion and
$ 421 million, respectively, and at December 31, 2002 were $ 629 million and $ 517 million, respectively.

Long-term borrowings {non-current portion): Fair values are based on the present value of future cash flows discounted at estimated borrewing rates for
similar debt instruments or in the case of bond or note issuances, using the relevant borrowing rates derived from interest rate swap curves. Such swap
curves are interest rates quoted by market participants for the relevant maturities, excluding any component associated with credit risk of counterparties.

68 ABB Group Financial review 2003




[}

{U.S. doliar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

Note 6 Financial instruments, continued

As these bonds or note issuances reflect liabilities of the Company, if the Company's credit rating was reflected in these discount rates, the present value
calculation would result in alower fair value liability. The carrying values and estimated fair values of long-term borrowings at December 31, 2003 were

$ 6,280 million and § 6,936 million, respectively, and at December 31, 2002 were § 5,358 million and $ 5,783 million, respectively.

Derivative financial instruments. Fair values are the amounts by which the contracts could be settled. These fair values are estimated by using a
discounted cash flow methodology based on available market data, option pricing models or by obtaining quotes from brrokers. At December 31, 2003
and 2002, the carrying values equal fair values. Thefair values are disclosed in Notes 10 and 186.

Note 7 Receivabies
Receivables consist of the following:

December 31,

Trade receivables include contractual retention amounts billed to customers of $ 85 million and $ 128 mition at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Managerment expects the majority of related contracts will be completed and substantially all of the billed amounts retained by the
customer will be collected within one year of the respective balance sheet date. Other receivables consist of VAT, ¢laims, employee and customer
related advances, the current portion of direct finance and sales-type leases and other non-trade receivables, including the retained interests on sold
receivables under the Company’s securitization programs.

Costs and estimated profits in excess of billings represent sales earned and recognized under the percentage-of-completion method. Amounts are
expected to be collected within ane year of the respective balance sheet date.

During 2003 and 2002, the Company sold trade receivables to two separate QSPES, unrelated to the Company, in revolving-period securitizations.
The Company retains servicing responsibility relating to the sold receivables. Sclely for the purpose of credit enhancement from the perspective of
the QSPEs, the Company retains an interest in the sold receivables (retained interests). These retained interests are initially measured at estimated fair
values, which the Company believes approximate historical carrying values, and are subsequently measured based on a periodic svaluation of
collections and delinquencies.

Given the short-term, lower-risk nature of the assets securitized, market movements in interest rates would not significantly impact the carrying value of
the Company's retained interests. An adverse movement in foreign currency rates could have animpact on the camrying value of these retained interests
asthe retained interests are denominated in the original currencies underlying the sold receivables. While such remeasurements are recognized in
earnings, the impact has historically not been significant due to the short-term nature of the receivables and economic hedges in place relating to foreign
currency movement risk.

The Company rautinely evaluates its portfolio of trade receivables for risk of non-collection and records an aliowance for doubtful debts to reflect the
carrying value of its trade receivables at estimated net realizable value. Pursuant to the requirements of the revolving-period securitizations through
which the Company securitizes certain of its trade receivables, the Company effectively bears the risk of potential delinguency or defauit associated with
trade receivables sold or interasts retained. Accordingly, in the normal course of servicing the assets sold, the Company evaluates potentiat collection
losses and delinquencies and updates the estimated fair value of the Company's retained interests. An increase in delinquency rates compared

to historic levels would cause an increase in the retained interest. Ultimately, if the customer defaults, the Company will be responsibie for absorbing the
amount. The fair value of the retained interests at December 31, 2003 and 2002, was approximately $ 367 miliicn and $ 497 million, respectively.

In accordance with SFAS 140, the Company has not recorded a servicing asset or fiabifity as management believes it is not practicable to estimate this
value given that verifiable data as to the fair value of the compensation and/or cost related to servicing the types of the assets sold is not readily
obtainable nor reliably estimable for the multiple geographic markets in which the entities selling recelvables operate.

During 2003 and 2002, the following cash flows were received from and paid to QSPEs:

December 31,

* Related to assets held for sale and in discantinued operations for 2003 and 2002, respectively
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Note 7 Receivables, continued

During the fourth quarter of 2002, a number of changes were made to the two securitization programs as a conseguence of the Company's credit rating
faling below BBB (Standard & Poor’s) and Baa2 (Moody’s). These changes included, in the case of the first program, twice monthly settlements (instead
of monthly), the sale of additional receivables as security, changes in the eligibility criteria for receivables to be sold and the establishment of certain
banking and collection procedures in respect of the sold receivables. Changes in the second program inciuded the introduction of net cash settiements
twice per month {instead of monthly), the daily transfer of collections of sold receivables, as well as a fixed percentage of retained interest on the sale of
new receivables. in 2003, further amendments have been made to the second program, including the return to a dynamic calculation of the retained
interest on the receivables sold rather than a fixed percentage. Under the amended terms of the second program, if the Company’s rating falls below
BB+ (Standard & Poor’s) or Ba3 (Moody's) then the Company may be required to refinguish its right to collect the sold receivables on behalf of the QSPE,
and Instead the cash collection of such sold receivables would be made directly 1o the account of the QSPE.

The Company records a loss on sale and the purchaser’s, iquidity and program fees at the point of sale of the receivables to the QSPES. The total cost
of $ 21 milion and $ 37 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to the securitization of trade receivables, is included in interest and other finance
expense.

The decrease in gross receivables sold in 2003 compared to 2002 is due primarily to the fact that businesses which were either classified as
discontinued operations or which were sold by the Company were phased out-of the securitization programs during the year.

The reduction in gross receivables sold, a lower average funded volume, a reduction in default and delinquency rates, as well as the fact that 2002
contained costs refated to restructuring the programs, all contributed to fower purchaser’s, liguidity and program fees in 2003 compared to 2002. The
decrease in retained interests in 2003 of $ 124 milion was mainly due to businesses classified as discontinued operations or held for sale being phased
out of the programs. The increased retained interests in 2002 of $ 245 million were caused by the additional credit enhancement measures taken by
the QSPEs in 2002 as described above.

The following table reconciles total gross receivables to the amounts in the Consolidated Balance Shest after the effects of securitization at December 31,
2003 and 2002:

Oecernber 31,

Trade recelvabies contmumg operatlons

....................................................................... e e e et r e a eIt ea et e eaatstatrotiabattsIesEeINtsertesaletateeretated

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, of the gross trade receivables sold, the total trade receivables for which cash has not been collected at those dates
amodunted to $ 888 million and $ 1,026 million, respectively ($ 0 million and $ 188 miflion related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations in
2008 and 2002, respectivaly). At December 31, 2003 and 2002 an amount of $ 34 million and $ 96 million, respectively ($ 0 milion and $ 19 miliion related
to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations in 2003 and 2002, respectively), was more than 90 days past due which is considered delinguent
pursuant to the terms of the programs.

In addition, the Company transfers receivables outside of the above described securitization programs. These transfers were sales, made without
recourss, directly to banks and/or sales pursuant o factoring or similar type amrangements. Total sold receivables included in these transactions
during 2003 and 2002 were approximately $ 1,400 milfion (of which $ 581 miflion related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations) and
$ 534 million (of which $ 22 million related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations), respectively. The related costs, induding the
associated gains and losses, were $ 12 million ($ 3 miflion refated to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations) in 2003. In 2002 the related
costs were not significant.

Note 8 Variable interest entities

The following VIEs are consolidated, as the Company is the primary beneficiary as defined by FIN 46.

In March 2003, the Company sold its aircraft-leasing portfolio in Sweden to a third party. Subsequent to divestment, the Company continued its
involvement in this business by providing significant financial support in the form of mezzanine and subordinated financing of approximately $ 90 mitlion
to the VIE formed by the buyer upon acquisition, exclusively for the purpose of servicing the aircraft leasing portfolio. As the primary beneficiary of the
VIE, the Company retained approximately $ 182 miflion of assets and acquired approximately $ 76 million of third party long-term borrowings provided
to the VIE at December 31, 2003, All of the VIE's assets serve as collateral for the senior debt provided by third parties. The Company has no ownership
interest and there is no recourse to the general credit of the Company.

The Company maintains an immaterial equity interest and provides approximately $ 1.2 million of financing to a VIE that was established to develop
software tools for the process automation industry. The VIE recognized revenues of $ 0.5 million and a loss before interest and taxes of approximately
$ 0.2 milion. The Company has a minority ownership interest and there is no recourse to the general credit of the Company.

The Company consolidates a VIE that provides energy services through rental and maintenance contracts with third parties, The VIE recognized
revenues of approximately $ 0.5 milfion and an immaterial loss before interest and taxes. The Company has a minority ownership interest and there is no
recourse to the general credit of the Company.
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Note 8 Variabie interest entities, continued

The following VIEs are not consolidated, as the Company is not the primary beneficiary as defined by FIN 46.

The Company maintains a combined equity and financing interest of approximately $ 603 million in six VIEs that were established as joint ventures to
develop power plants in various countries. The Company’s involvement with these VIEs began between 1995 and 2000 at the dates of inception of the
VIEs. The purpose of the VIEs is to contract the engineering, procurement, commissioning and financing of the power plants. These VIEs have
combined total assets of approximately $ 2,900 million and reported combined total revenues and earnings before interest and taxes of $ 583 million
and $ 94 million, respectively. The exposure 1o loss as a result of involvement with the VIEs is limited to the Company’s equity and financing interests.

in January 2002, the Company sold its Air Handling business for proceeds of $ 147 million including a vendor note of $ 34 million issued by the
purchaser. The purchaser established a VIE upon acguiisition for this business, The Company’s exposure te foss as a result of involverment with the VIE is
fimited to the outstanding vendor note at Decemiber 31, 2003.

The Company maintains a 50 percent equity interest in two VIES that were established to build four transmission power lines and 22 substations in
Mexico. The equity interests are not significant in value. The Company’s involvermnent with these VIEs began in September and November 1997,
respectively, when the VIEs were formed. The purpose of the VIES is to contract the engineering, procurement, commissioning and Company’s financing
of these projects. These VIEs have total assets of approximately $ 89 miflion, and reportsd combined total revenues and eamings before interest and
taxes of $ 8 million and $ 0.2 million, respectively. The exposure 1o loss as aresult of involvement in the VIEs is imited to the Company’s equity interest.

The Company maintains a minority equity interest, that is insignificant in value, in a VIE that was established with ancther contractor for executing a
project for the construction of two substations and four transmissionlines in Mexico. The Company’s involvernent began in February 2002 when the
VIE was formed. The sole purpose of the VIE is to submit a bid to execute, 10 organize subcontracting and to arrange financing of the project. The entity
has assets of $ 128 million and reported revenues and earnings before interest and taxes of approximately $ 128 million and $ 0, respectively. The
Company’s exposure 10 10ss as a result of involvement with the VIE is limited to the Company’s equity interest in the VIE.

The Company maintains a combined equity and financing interest of $ 11 miflion in two VIES that were established to execute a project in London,
England. Cne VIE was established to serve as a consortium among two third parties and the Company. The purpose of this VIE is to operate, maintain
and finance the power distribution project. The second VIE is the financing vehicle for the project. The Company'’s involvement began at the inception of
these VIES in August 1998. These VIEs have total assets of approximately $ 412 million and reported combined total revenues and earnings before
interest and taxes of $ 106 million and $ 17 million, respectively. The Company’s exposure 10 10ss as a resuilt of involverment with the VIEs is limited to the
Company’s equity and financing interest in the VIEs.

The Company has an equity interest of approximately $ 0.3 mitiion in two VIEs that were established for developing real estate in Germany. The
Company’s involvement with these VIEs began at inception in 1995. The VIEs have total assets of approximately $ 61 million. The Company's exposure
to loss as a result of involverment with the ViEs is fimited to the Company’s equity interest in the VIEs.

The Company maintains an equity interest of approximately $ 0.1 million in two VIES that were established for holding and teasing real estate in Germany.
The Company's involvernent began when the VIEs were established in 1993 and 1995, respectively. The purpose of the VIEs is to realize real estate
savings arising from specific project financing. The VIEs total assets are approximately $ 20 million and earnings before interest and taxes of the VIEs is
approximately break-even. The Company’s exposure to loss as a result of involvement with these VIEs is limited to the Company’s equity interest.

The Company maintains an equity and financing interest of approximately $ 0.2 million in a VIE established to expand and operate an airport in Orman.
The Company’s involvernent began in January 2002. The VIE has assets of $ 9 million and reported revenues of § 18 million. The Company's exposure
to loss as a resutt of involvement with this VIE is limited to the Company’s equity and financing interests.

Note 9 Inventories
Inventories, including inventories related to long-term contracts, consist of the following:

December 37, 7 2003 2002

Contract costs subject to future negotiation are deemed probabie of recovery through changes in the contract price and are deferred until the parties
have agreed on these changes.
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Note 10 Prepaid expenses and other
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the foliowing:

December 31,

Note 11 Financing receivables
Financing receivables consist of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002

Loans receivable primarily represent financing arrangements provided to customers under long-term construction contracts and other activities. Loans
receivable include notes receivable from unconsolidated affiliates of $ 22 milion and $ 76 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Included in finance leases at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are $ 8 million and $ 7 million, respectively, of assets pledged as security for other liabilities.
Additionally, $ 246 million and $ 212 miflion of finance lease receivables were pledged as security for long-term borrowings at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Cther financing receivables at December 31, 2003 and 2002 include $ 312 million and $ 349 million, respectively, of assets pledged as security for other
liabilities. Of these amounts, $ 54 million and $ 58 million, respectively, are marketable securities,

During 2003 and 2002, the Company sold or transferred to financial institutions various portfolios and individual financing receivables (see Note 17).
These transfers included sales of finance lease receivables and loan receivables. Financing receivables sold or transferred and derecognized from the
Consolidated Balance Sheet in accordance with SFAS 140 totaled $338 million and $ 295 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Related costs of these
transactions, including the associated gains and losses, were approximately $ 3 milion and $ 13 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Note 12 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

December 31,

Land and buildings
Machinery and equipment

Note 13 Goodwill and other intangihle assets
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2003, are as follows:

Automation Power Non-core
............................................................................................................. Technologies  Techrologies ¢
BalanceatJanuary 1,2003 . 81802 Sdz7 8184888 82221
Goodwill acquired during the year 1 1

Goodwill written off related to sale
of businesses

Balance at December 31, 2003
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Note 13 Goodwill and other intangible assets, continued
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2002, are as follows:

Automation Power Non-core Corporate/
Technologies Technologies activities

Balance at Jan

Goodwill written off related to sale
of businesses

Cther

..........................................................................................................................................................................................

Balance ai December 31, 3002 SR A §8a 5

Aveeieecnssrecascosansnnen beresrasuarstusrese Grerseestetiarantasssestertuissaairbraee B D N R R L L R TP TR T YT T VPP PPN

At December 31, 2003, the $ 122 million of goodwill in Non-core activities is related to New Ventures. At December 31, 2002, the $ 134 million of
goodwill in Non-core activities was comprised of: New Ventures § 130 million; Building Systems $ 2 million; and other Non-core activities $ 2 mitfion.

The gooawili acquired in 2003 refated to the purchase of minerity interest in certain consolidated subsidiaries of the Company for cash and debt
consideration of $2 milion. Of the $ 93 million goodwill acquired in 2002, S 48 million related to the purchase of minority interest in certain consolidated
subsidiaries of the Company for cash consideration of $ 40 million. The remaining $ 45 million relates to the purchase of six entities for $ 52 million.

The Company decreased goodwill by $ 4 million in 2003 and increased goodwill by $ 1 million during 2002 due to adjustments of the purchase price for
certain prior period acquisitions.

Included in the loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, for 2003 is an $§ 84 mitlion impairment charge relating to the Company’s insurance
business. Of the $ 84 milion, $ 2 million was previously reported in Corporate/Other. This goodwill was written off because the carrying value of the
Insurance business exceeded its estimated fair value, based on the estimated sales price for the Insurance business.

Intangible assets consist of the foliowing:

DT 3 e e 2008 e 002
Accumulated Net carrying Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
amortization amount amount amortization amount

$ (272)

Capitalized software $333. . § 880  $(272)  $308

Amoartization expense of intangible assets for 2008 and 2002 amounted to $ 177 million and $ 143 million, respectively.

Amartization expense of intangible assets is estimated to be as follows™

(1 The estimated amortization expense is calculated as if no future expenditures will be made.

In 2003 and 2002, the Company did not identify any intangible assets not subject to amortization with the excepticn of § 2 million and $ 24 million,
respectively, related to an intangible pension asset (see Note 21).

Other intangible assets primarily include intangibles created through acquisitions, such as trademarks and patents.

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company acquired intangible assets of $ 73 million ($ 69 million of software and $ 4 million of
other intangible assets) and $ 91 million ($ 86 miliion of software and $ 5 million of other intangible assets), respectively, For items capitalized in 2003 and
2002, the weighted average amortization period for capitalized software is 4 years and for other intangible assets is 6 years.

The Company recorded write-downs of intangible assets of § 11 miliion, $ 25 million and $ 26 million, in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, related to
software developed for internal use. The write-downs are included in other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Income Statement.
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Note 14 Equity accounted companies

The Company recorded earnings of $ 80 million, $ 211 milion and $ 78 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in other income (expense), net,
representing the Company’s share of the pre-tax eamings (losses) of investees accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The Company has
recorded, at December 31, 2003, and 2002, $ 562 milion and $ 730 million, respectively, in investments and other, representing the Company’s
investment in these equity investees. Significant companies accounted for using the eguity method of accounting included: Jorf Lasfar Energy Company
S.C.A {JLEC), Morocco (the Company owns 50 percent) and Swedish Export Credit Carporation (SECC), Sweden (the Company owned 35.4 percent).
In June 2003, the Company sold its entire interest in SECC to the Government of Sweden. As reflected in its audited financial statements, SECC’s total net
incomie {oss) for the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was $ 254 milion and $ (32) million, respectively and SECC's sharehoiders’ equity was

$ 441 million and $ 526 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company’s share of the pre-tax earnings (losses)
Investment Investment of equity-accounted investees
balance 2003 balance 2002 2003 2002 2001

The Company’s share of earnings
of equity-accounted investees

crerserecratorcssretrcterenastatanrsacseonins sretressan sseeras aerens susesanses .

Olencompasses additional investments, none of which are individually significant

The following table represents selected financial information for JLEC and not the Company's share in this equity accounted company.

As security for repayment by JLEG of certain of its loans, the Company, JLEC and the other 50 percent shareholder in JLEC have entered into various
pledge agreements with several banks and other secured parties. The Company has pledged all of its shares, claims, rights and interest in JLEC in
accordance with the pledge agreements. Such security shall continue in effect untit the repayment in full of all outstanding principal and interest and
other fees, which is scheduled to occur in February 2013.

The Company has entered into other similar pledge agreements for certain other equity accounted for companies. The Company has also granted lines
of credit and has committed to provide additional capital for certain equity accounted companies. At December 31, 2003, the total unused lines of credit
amounted to § 11 million and the capital commitrments amounted fo $ 64 million.

The Company's 2003 Consolidated Financial Statements include the following aggregate amounts related to transactions with equity accounted
investees and other related parties:

Revenues
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Note 15 Borrowings
The Company’s total borrowings at Decemier 31, 2003 and 2002 were § 7,887 milion and $ 7,928 milion, respectively.

Short-term borrowings
The Company’s short-term borrowings consist of the following:

December 31,

Other short-term borrowings
(weighted-average interest rate of 3.8% and 5.3%)

Current portion of long-term borrowings
{weighted-average interest rate of 4.9% and 3.7

Other short-term borrowings primarily represent short-term loans from vatious banks. Commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2002 had
maturities of less than 3 months.

On November 17, 2003, the Company entered into a new unsecured syndicated $ 1.0 billion three-year revolving credit facility, which became available
in December 2003 after the fulfillment of certain conditions, including the repayment and cancellation of the existing $ 1.5 billion 364-day facility
entered into in December 2002 and the raising of a specified minimum level of gross proceeds from the rights issue (see Note 23) and from the euro
denominated bonds issued in November 2003.

No amount was drawn under the new facility at December 31, 2003. The interest costs of borrowings under the facility are LIBOR (or EURIBOR in the
case of drawings in euro) plus 0.8 percent to 2.25 percent, depending on the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt rating. Commitment fees are
paid on the unused portion of the facility and a utilization fee is payable when borrowings are equal to or greater than 33 percent of the facility; the level
of these fees is linked to the ratings of the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt.

The new credit facifity contains certain financial covenants in respect of minimum interest coverage, maximum net leverage and a minimum level of
consolidated net worth. The Company is required to meet these covenants on a quarterly basis beginning with the pericd ended December 31, 2003.
Should the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt ratings reach certain defined levels, these covenants will only have to be calculated at

June and December of each year. The new facility also contains provisions for the mandatory prepayment and cancellation of the facility upon a change
of contral of the Company.

The new credit facility imposes restrictions on the amount of third party indebtedness in subsidiaries other than in the obligors under the facility, subject
to certain exceptions. The facility also contains certain other undertakings including fimitations on disposals of assets, restrictions on mergers and
acquisitions, negative pledges and restrictions on the early redemption of capital market instruments, such as bonds having a maturity date beyond that
of the facility. However, the facility permits the lengthening of the maturity profile of the Company’s debt through the early redemption of any bonds or
other capital market instruments out of the net cash proceeds of any capital market instrument issued after November 17, 2003, and having a maturity
date not earlier than the capital market instruments being repaid.

The new facility contains cross-default clauses wherety an event of default would occur if the Company was to default on indebtedness, as defined in
the facility, at or above a specified threshold.

At December 31, 2002, nothing had been drawn under the $ 1.5 billion facility which was secured by a package of assets with a net carrying value of
$ 3.5 billion at December 31, 2002, and by certain intra-group loans. Beginning January 2003, amounts were drawn under the facility in ine with the
facility’s specified monthly borrowing limits. Commitrnent fees were paid on the unused portion of the facility. The interest costs on borrowings were
LIBOR plus 3.5 percent, or, for any borrowing in euro, EURIBOR plus 3.5 percent. In Decernber 2003, the amount outstanding was repaid, the facility
cancelled and the related security released.

Long-term borrowings

The Company utilizes a variety of derivative products to modify the characteristics of its long-term borrowings. The Company uses interest rate swaps
to effectively convert certain fixed-rate long-term borrowings into floating rate obligations. For certain non-U.S. dollar denominated borrowings, the
Company utilizes cross-currency swaps to effectively convert the borrowings into U.S. doliar obligations. As required by SFAS 133, berrowings, which
have been designated as being hedged by fair value hedges are stated at their fair values.

The following table summarizes the Company’s long-term borrowings considering the effect of interest rate and currency swaps:

December 31,2003 December 31,2002

Nominal Eftective
rate rate

asiesaveistsstctttstaonany srssisenienes Vessararasasns searananis

Currer%f portion of !ong-terr;w borrowings
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Note 15 Borrowings, continued
At December 31, 2003, maturities of long-term borrowings were as follows:

Due in 2004 $ 1,351

In November 2003, the Company issued bends of an aggregate principal amount of 850 million euro, or approximately $ 769 million at issuance, due
2011. These bonds pay interest semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 8.5 percent. In the event of a change of control of the Company, the
terms of the bonds require the Company to offer to repurchase the bonds at 101 percent of the principal amount thereof, plus any accrued interest.

In September 2003, the Company issued convertible unsubordinated bonds of an aggregate principal amount of 1,000 milion Swiss francs, or
approximately $722 million at issuance, dus 2010. The bonds pay interest annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 3.5 percent. Onissuance, each
5,000 Swiss francs of principal amount of bonds was convertible into 418.4 1004 fully paid ordinary shares of the Company at an initial conversion price
of 11.95 Swiss francs. The conversion price is subject to adjustment provisions to protect against dilution or change in control. As a resuit of the
decision at the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders on November 20, 20083, to increase the share capital of the Company by issuing a further
840,006,602 shares, the conversion price and conversion ratio of the bonds were adjusted to 9.53 Swiss francs and 524.65897 shares respectively,
effective December 12, 2003, representing a total of 104,931,734 shares if the bonds were fully converted.

The bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholder at any time from October 21, 2003 up to and Including the tenth business day prior to
September 10, 2010. The Company may at any time on ar after September 10, 2007 redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest if, for a
certain number of days during a specified period of time, the official closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the relevant exchange has been
at least 150 percent of the conversion price. In addition, at any time prior to maturity, the Company can redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus
accrued interest, if at least 85 percent in aggregate of the principal amount of bonds originally issued have been redeemed, converted or purchased and
cancelled. The Company has the option to redesm the bonds when due in cash, ordinary shares or any combination thereof.

In May 2002, the Company issued $ 968 miflion aggregate principat amount of convertible unsubordinated bonds due 2007. The bonds pay interest
semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 4.625 percent. The bonds were initially convertible into 84,940,935 fully paid ordinary shares of the
Company at an initial conversion price of 18.48 Swiss francs {converted into U.S. dollars at & fixed conversion rate of 1.6216 Swiss francs per

U.S. dollar}. The conversion price is subject to adjustment provisions to protect against dilution or change in control. As a result of the rights issue and
resutting increase in the share capital of the Company, the conversion price of the bonds was adjusted, effective November 21, 2003, to 14.64 Swiss
francs (converted into U.S. dollars at the fixed exchange rate of 1.6216 Swiss francs per U.S. dollar), representing a total of 107,220,546 shares if

the bonds were fully converted.

The $ 968 million bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholder at any time from June 26, 2002 up to and including May 2, 2007. The Company
may, at any time on or after May 16, 2005, redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest if, (1) for a certain number of days during a
specified period of time, the official closing price of the Company's ordinary shares on the virt-x exceeds 130 percent of the conversion price, or (2) if at
least 85 percent in aggregate principal amount of bonds originally issued have been exchanged, redesmed or purchased and cancelled. The Company
has the option to redeem the bonds when due in cash, ordinary shares or any combination thereof.

The Company’s shares are denominated in Swiss francs, while the bonds are denominated in U.S. dollars. Consequently, in accordance with

SFAS 133, as clarified in discussions between the Company and the Securities and Exchange Commission, a cornponent of the $ 968 milion
convertible bonds must be accounted for as an embedded derivative. A portion of the issuance proceeds is deemed to relate to the value of the
derivative on issuance and subseguent changes in value of the derivative are recorded through earnings and as an adjustrnent to the carrying value of
the bonds. The allocation of a portion of the proceeds to the derivative creates a discount on issuance, which is amortized to earnings over the life

of the bonads. Through December 31, 2002, primarily as a result of the decline in the Company’s share price since issuance of the bonds, the Company
recorded a gain from the change in fair value of the derivative, partially offset by amortization of the effective discount, resulting in a net decrease to
interest and other finance expense of $ 215 million, with a corresponding reduction in long-term borrowings. At December 31, 2003, as a result of an
increase in value of the derivative (related among other factors, to the increase in the Company’s share price since December 31, 2002}, combined
with the continued amortization of the discount on issuance, there was a charge to interest and other finance expense of § 84 million in 2003, and a
corresponding increase in long-term borrowings, when compared to December 31, 2002.

In May 2002, the Company issued bends due in 2008 with an aggregate principal amount of 200 million pounds sterling, or approximately $ 282 mitlion
at the time of issuance, which pay interest semi-annually in arrears at 10 percent per annurn. The Company also issued in May 2002 bonds due in 2008
with an aggregate principal amount of 500 milion euro, or approximately $ 466 million at the time of issuance, which pay interest annually in arrears at
3.5 percent per annum,

The 200 million pounds sterling bonds and the 500 million euro bonds contain certain clauses linking the interest paid on the bonds to the credit rating
assigned to the bonds. If the rating assigned to these bonds by both Moody's and Standard & Poor's remains at or above Baad and BBB-, respectively,
then the interest rate on the bonds remains at the level at issuance, that is 10 percent and 9.5 percent for the sterfing and euro bonds, respectively.

If the rating assigned by either Moody's or Standard & Poor’s decreases below Baa3 or BBB-, respectively, then the annual interest rate on the bonds
increases by 1.5 percent per annum to 11.5 percent and 11 percent for the sterling and euro bonds, respectively. If after such a rating decrease, the
rating assigned by both Moody's and Standard & Poor’s returns to a level at or above Baa3 and BBB~, respectively, then the interest rates on the bonds
return to the interest level at issuance. As a result of the downgrade of the Company’s long-term credit rating by Moody's to Ba2 on October 31, 2002,
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Note 15 Borrowings, continued
this step-up clause in interest was triggered on both bonds. The increase in interest costs is effective for interest periods beginning after the payment of
the coupon aceruing at the date of the downgrade.

Infine with the Company’s policy of reducing its interest and currency exposure, a cross-currency swap has been used to modify the characteristics of
the 200 milion pounds sterling bonds and an interest rate swap to modify the 500 million eurc bonds. After considering the impact of the cross-currency
and interest rate swaps, the 200 millicn pounds sterling bonds effectively became a fioating rate U.S. dollar obligation, while the 500 million euro bonds
became a floating rate euro obligation. In both cases, the floating rate resets every three months. Accordingly, both the 200 miflion pounds sterfing
bonds and the 500 million euro bonds are included as “floating rate” in the table of tong-term borrowings above.

In 2003 and 2002, the Company repurchased outstanding bonds with a face value of $ 94 million and $ 109 million, respectively. In connection with
these repurchases the Company recorded an insignificant gain on extinguishments of debt. in 2002, the Company cancelled repurchased bonds with a
face value of $ 31 million and subsequently re-issued repurchased bonds totaling a face value of $ 18 million. The re-issue price became the new cost
basis of the bonds.

Almost all of the Company’s publicly traded bonds contain cross-default clauses which would allow the bondholders to demand repayment if the
Company was to default on any borrowing at or above a specified threshold.

Note 16 Accrued liabilities and other
Accrued liabilities and other consists of the following:

December 31,

The amount in “Other” represents provisions for project disputes, other legal related matters and other accrued expenses and deferred income.

Note 17 Leases

Lease obligations

The Company's lease obligations primarily relate to real estate and office equipment. In the normal course of business, management expects most
leases to he renewed or replaced by other leases. During 2002 the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction relating to substantially aft of the
Company’s properties in Sweden. This resulted in an increase in minimum rent payments to third parties, as compared to the previous years. Minimum
rent expense under operating leases included in the income from continuing operations was $ 403 million, $ 323 million and $ 200 million in 2003, 2002
and 2001, regpectively.

At December 31, 2003, future net minimum lease payments for operating leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one
year consist of the following:

................... B4 e 0008800000 raaneeattonsensratestaretesstnceaets s atassstn s haenscssoiutsoanenotseserocaettsrorenloreneneeietdnt riorrastsiesneatrettitotarinatateatenacretastraeet

Sublease incom 82)
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Note 17 Leases, continued
Investments in leases

The Company's former Financial Services division provided sales support to the Company's industrial entities’ customers by means of lease financing
and credit arrangements, as well as other direct third-party lease financing. In November 2002, the Company completed the sale of most of its
Structured Finance business, part of the former Financial Services division, to GE (see Note 3}. The Structured Finance portfolio divested included giobal
infrastructure financing, equipment leasing and financing businesses. During 2003, the Company sold various lease portfolios in Germany, Finfand and
Switzerland. These transactions are in fine with the Company’s ongoing strategy to divest non-core businesses to focus on power and automation
technolegies. The Company retained some leasing assets including investments in sales-type leases, leveraged leasas and direct financing leases that
are included in financing receivables (see Note 11},

The Company’s non-current investments in direct financing, sales-type and leveraged leases, including $ 54 million of net investments in an aircraft
leasing portiolio, reported by a VIE in Sweden (seg Note 8), consist of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002

Minimum lease payments receivable ; Fhie I S 653
48,

............ 5)

................... ...
..... . 4]

Carentporfion R (41)
Total $:425 $ 550

Note 18 Commitments and contingencies

IBM Outsourcing Agreement

In 2003, the Company entered into a 10-year global framework agreement with international Business Machines Corporation (IBM) to outsource the
Company's informiation systems infrastructure services to IBM. This global framework agreement forms the basis for country agreements entered into
between the Company and IBM in 13 countries in which the Company operates as well as Company headquarters. Pursuant to these agreements, the
Company’s information technology (IT) personnel were transferred and certain IT equipment was sold to IBM. Costs associated with the transfer of
employees have been recognized in 2003 and were not significant. The IT equipment was sold to 1BM at its net book value resutting in no gain crloss
on disposal.

Pursuant to the global framework agreement, the Company is permitted to terminate an individual country agreement, on providing fo IBM three
months notice. On termination, termination charges, which are within standard commercial terms, are payable to 1BM. Such termination charges
decline over the termof the global framewcerk agreement and are based on the preceding 12-month pericd’s costs and the number of years remaining
on the agreement.

The global frarnework agreement also includes an cbligation for 1BM to lease new persenal computers and other IT equipment to the Company as older
equipment is retired. The Company accounts for these items as capital leases or operating leases based on the terms of the leases.

Further, pursuant to the global framework agreement, IBM will receive monthly payments from the Company’s subsidiaries in the respective countries
refated to information systems infrastructure services. Expected total annual costs during the 10-year term of the global framework agreement
approximate $170 million based on the current level of usage of the services.

While the above agreement was negotiated and transacted at amms-length between IBM and the Company, it should be noted that Jurgen Dormann,
the Company’s Chairman and CEQ, was a member of the Board of Directors of IBM until April 29, 2003, and Hans-Ulrich Méarki, a director on the
Company's Board of Directors, is general manager of IBM Europe/Middie East/Africa.

Contingencies - General

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of business that have not been finally adjudicated.
ftis not possible at this time for the Company to predict with any certainty the outcome of such litigation. However, except as stated below, management
is of the opinion, based upon information presently available and on advice of external counse, that it is unlikely that any such liability, to the extent

not provided for through insurance or otherwise, would have a material adgverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.,
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Note 18 Commitments and contingencies, continued

Inrespense to information provided by the Company’s employees, during 2003 and 2002 the Company undertook an investigation of potentially
improper business conduct within the Company's Oil, Gas and Petrochemical business. In such internal investigations, the Company uncovered a
limited number of improper payments in the Upstream business in Africa, Central Asia and South America, which the Company has voluntarily disclosed
tothe U.S, Department of Justice and the U.S, Securities and Exchange Commission, The payments violated the Company’s internal policies on
business ethics. The Company is cooperating fully with the U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. The
Company has hired outside counsel and auditors (other than its auditors) 10 assist in a compliance review to determine whether other instances of
improper payments exist. The compliance review is being conducted jointly with the purchaser of the Upstream business and with the purchaser's
outside counsel and auditors.

tfthe U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission determine that violations of the law have occurred, they could seek
civil or, in the case of the U.S. Department of Justice, criminal sanctions, including monetary penalties against the Company. The Company is currently
not able to predict the final outcome of the compliance review but expects that any civil or criminal sanctions or proceedings arising from disclosures to
the U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission will be disposed of voluntarily. The Company has also taken the
following remedial actions: terminated the improper payments; terminated contracts with an individual and companies believed to have been involved in
the improper payments; replaced senior management at the relevant subsidiary; disciplined the responsible employees with a range of sanctions
including severance of employment; loss of compensation and title, formal reprimands and ethics counseling and training; hired outside experts to
assist in the comection of books and records to property record the payments; and has provided and will be providing additional ethics and compliance
training.

Contingencies - Environmental

The Company is a participant in several legal and regulatory actions, which resutt from various U.S. and other federal, state and local environmental
protection legislation as well as agresments with third parties. While the Company cannot estimate the impact of future regulations affecting these
actions, management beliaves that the uitimate resolution of these matters will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Provisions are recorded when it is probable that losses will result from these actions and the amounts of losses can be reasonably estimated. Estimated
losses for environmental remediation obligations are not discounted to their present value. In respect to these matters, the Company may be able to
recover a portion of the costs from insurers or other third parties. Receivables are recorded when it is probable that recoveries will be collected.

Guarantees-general

Certain guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002 are accounted for in accordance with FASB interpretation No. 45 (FIN 458}, Guarantor's
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of indebtedness of Others. Upon issuance of certain
guarantees, a liability, equal to the fair value of the guarantee, is recorded.

Guarantees-performance

Performance guarantees represent obligations where the Company guarantees the performance of a third party’s product or service accerding to the
terms of a contract. Such guarantees may include guarantees that a project will e completed within a specified time. If the third party does not fulfill the
obligation, the Company will compensate the guaranteed party in cash or in kind. Performance guarantees include surety bonds, advance payment
guarantees, and performance standby letters of credit.

FIN 45 requires that the Company disclose the “maximum potential exposure” of certain guarantees as well as possible recourse provisions that may
allow the Company to recover from third parties amounts paid out under such guarantees. The “maximum potential exposure” as defined by FIN 45
does not allow any discounting of the Company’s assessment of actual exposure under the guarantees. The information below reflects the Company's
maximum potential exposure under the guarantees, which is higher than management’s assessment of the expected exposures.

The Company retained obligations for guarantees related to the power generation business contributed in mid-1999 to the former ABB ALSTOM
POWER NV joint venture. The guarantees primarily consist of performance guarantees, advance payment guarantees, product warranty guarantees,
and other miscellaneous guarantees under certain contracts such as indemnification for personat injuries and property damages, taxes, and
compliance with labor laws, environmental laws and patents. The guarantees have maturity dates ranging from one to ten years and in some cases
have no definite expiry. In May 2000, the Company sold its interest in the ABB ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture to ALSTOM SA (ALSTOM). As aresult,
ALSTOM and its subsidiaries have primary responsibility for performing the obligations that are the subject of the guarantees. Further, ALSTOM, the
parent company, and ALSTOM POWER NV, formerly ABB ALSTOM POWER NV, have undertaken jointly and severally to fully indemnify and hoid
harmiess the Company against any claims arising under such guarantees. Oue to the nature of product warranty guarantees and the miscellaneous
guarantees, the Company is unable to develop an estimate of the maximum potential amount of future payments for these guarantees issued on behalf
of the former powar generation business. Management’s best estimate of the total “maximum potential exposure” of quantifiable guarantees issued by
the Company on behalf of its former power generation business was approximately $ 1,200 million and § 2,200 mition at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The maximum potential exposure is based on the original guarantee or contract amount and does not reflect the completion status
of the project. At December 31, 2003, no losses have been recognized refating to guarantees issued on behalf of the former power generation business.
Management believes that it is not probable that the Company will incur a loss under these guarantees and therefore, in accardance with SFAS 5, a
provision has not been recorded at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

During 2008, the Company was released from the obligations of surety bonds retained related to the sale of its nuclear business to British Nuclear Fuels
PLC. As aresult, the Company's maximum potential exposure under these bonds has been reduced from § 640 million at December 31, 2002 to zero
at December 31, 2003.
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Mote 18 Commitments and contingencies, continued

Guarantees-financiai

Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances that the Company will make payment to the beneficiary in the event that a third party fails to fufili
its financia! obligations and the beneficiary under the guarantee incurs a loss due to that failure.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had $ 207 miliion and $ 223 million, respectively, of financial guarantees outstanding. Of that amount,
$ 189 mifiion and $ 206 million, respectively, were issued on behalf of companies in which the Company currently has or formerty had an equity interest.
The guarantees have maturity dates ranging from one to thirteen years. Management believes that it is not probable that the Company will incur a loss
under these guarantees and therefore, in accordance with SFAS 5, no provision has been recarded at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Product and order refated contingencies

The Company calculates its provision for product warranties based on historical claims experience and specific review of certain contracts. The
provision for warranties and contract penalties in Note 16 includes penalties resulting from delays in contract fulfillment, which is not included in the
amounts below,

Reconciliation of the provision for warranties, including guarantees of product performance is as follows:

Cecember 31,
Balance at the beginning of year

Net increase to provision for changes in estimates,
warranties issued, and warranties expired

Balance at the end of year
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In 1898, the Company entered intc an engineering, procurement and project management contract with a customer for an oil and petrochemical refinery
in India with a contract value of approximately $ 860 miflion. The project, which is subject to a reimbursable cost agreement, is approximately 60 percent
complete and has been stalled for the past few years due to complications encountered by the customer in obtaining necessary additional financing.
Given the uncertainty as to whether the project will be restarted, the Company recorded aloss of $ 108 milfion in 2003 to write down its remaining net
assets associated with this project. if the project is not restarted, the Company will be subject to certain contingent liabilities to third parties.

Asbestos Liability

Overview

When the Company sold its 50 percent interest in the former ABB ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture to ALSTOM in May 2000, it retained ownership
of Combustion Engineering Inc. (Combustion Engineering), a subsidiary that had conducted part of the Company’s former power generation business
and that now owns commercial real estate that it leases to third parties. Combustion Engineering is a co-defendant, together with other third parties,
in numerous lawsdits in the United States in which the plaintiffs claim damages for personal injury arising from exposure to asbestos in equipment or
materials that Combustion Engineering allegedly supplied or was responsible for, primarily during the early 1970s and before. Asbestos claims have
been brought against other of the Company's entities, including ABB Lummus Globa! Inc. {Lummus) (which is part of the Company’s Oll, Gas and
Petrochemicals business and was formerly a subsidiary of Combustion Engineering) and Basic Incorporated {Basic) (which is currently a subsidiary

of Asea Brown Boveri Inc. and was formerly a subsidiary of Combustion Engineering). These claims, however, have been less significant than the
Combustion Engineering claims and have not had a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

From 1988 through February 17, 2003 #the date that Combustion Engineering filed for Chapter 11 as described below) approximately 438,000
asbestos-related claims have been filed against Combustion Engineering. On February 17, 2003 there were approximately 164,000 asbestos related
personal injury claims pending against Combustion Engineering. There were approximatety 138,000 such claims pending against Combustion
Engineering on December 31, 2002 and approximately 94,000 such claims were pending on December 31, 2001. Of the approximately 164,000
claims that were pending on February 17, 2003, approximately 111,000 are claims that the Company has treated as settled (including those settled
under the Master Settlement Agreement described below) but under which there are continuing payments. Approximately 29,000 new claims were
made in the period from January 1, 2003 to February 17, 2003; 79,000 in 2002 and 55,000 in 2001. Approximately 30,000 claims were resolved

in the period from January 1, 2008 to February 17, 2003 (all but 111 of which were resolved under the Master Settlement Agreement); approximately
34,500 claims were resolved in 2002 and approximately 27,000 claims were resolved in 2001. At December 31, 2003, there were approximately
14,800 claims pending against Basic and Lummus. Additionally, at December 31, 2003, there were 287 cases described below (involving approximately
8,700 claims) against entities of the Company other than Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, provisions of $ 813 milion and $ 1,091 million, respectively, were recorded on a consclidated basis in respect of
the asbestos claims and related defense costs. These provisions were based on the Company’s obligations under Combustion Engineering’s Chapter
11 plan of reorganization, as described below, and assumed the confirmation and effectiveness of the pre-packaged plan. These provisions do

not reflect probable insurance recoveries on those claims. The Company recorded receivables of approximately $ 232 million and $ 241 millonat
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, for probable insurance recoveries, which were established with respect to asbestos claims. During 2002
and 2001, Combustion Engineering experienced a significant increase in the level of new claims and higher total and per-claim settiement costs as
compared to prior years. Cash payments, before insurance recoveries, to resolve Combustion Engineering's asbestos claims were $ 391 milion
{including $ 369 million contributed to the GE Settlement Trust, described below), $ 236 million (including $ 30 million contributed into the CE Settlement
Trust), and $ 136 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Adrministration and defense costs were § 36 million, $ 32 million and $ 13 milion in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Note 18 Commitments and contingencies, continued

Cash payments to resolve claims against entities other than Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic have been immaterial to date, totalling less
than $ 0.3 million in the aggregate. The Company has not maintained a reserve for the claims pending against such entities. Of the claims outstanding
at December 31, 2003, approximately 2,250 claims were brought in Mississippiin 2002 in a single case that names hundreds of co-defendants and
makes no specific allegations of any relationship between any of the Company’s entities and the plaintiffs. Approximately 3,900 claims have been
brought in Ohioby claimants represented by a single law firm in cases that typically name 50 to 80 co-defendants and do not allege any specific linkage
between the plaintiffs and any of the Company’s entities. The remaining claims are pending in various jurisdictions. The Company generally seeks
dismissals from claims where there is no apparent linkage between the plaintiffs and any of the Company’s entities. As these claims are unrelated to
Combustion Engineering, Lummus or Basic, they wilf not be resolved pursuant to the pre-packaged bankruptcy plan of Combustion Engineering
described below. The Company’s experience resolving these claims to date indicates that they have not had a material impact on the Cornpany’s
consolidated financial position, resttts of operations or cash flows.

Negotiations with Representatives of Asbestos Claimants and Pre-Packaged Chapter 11 Filing

In October 2002, the Company and Combustion Engineering determined that it was likely that the expected asbestos-related costs of Combustion
Engineering would exceed the value of its assets ($ 812 million at September 30, 2002 and $ 828 million at December 31, 2002) if its historical
settiement patterns continued into the future. At that time, the Company and Combustion Engineering were actively considening various options for
resolving Combustion Engineering’s asbestos liabilities, including the possible reorganization of Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code. in that context, the Company believed that estimating Combustion Engineering's asbestos fiabilities based on historical settlement
patterns was na longer appropriate. Subsequently, the Company and Combustion Engineering determined to resolve the asbestos liability of Combustion
Engineering and its affilates by reorganizing Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11, the principal business reorganization chapter of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code. The Company and Combustion Engineering determined to structure the Chapter 11 reorganization as a “pre-packaged plan,” in
which acceptances of the plan would be solicited prior to the filing of the Chapter 11 case, thus reducing the duration and expense of the bankruptcy
proceedings.

Beginning in October 2002, the Company and Combustion Engineering conducted extensive negotiations with representatives of certain asbestos

claimants with respect to a pre-packaged ptan. On November 22, 2002, Combustion Engineering and the asbestos claimants’ representatives entered

into a Master Setflemént Agreamiant for settling open asbestos-related personal injury claims that had been filed against Combustion Engingering prior
to November 15,2002. Cortibustion Engineering also agreed, pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement, to form and fund the CE Settlement Trust
to fund and administer the payment of asbestos-rélated personal injury claims settled under the Master Settlement Agreement. Under the tarms of

the Master Settlement Agreement, eligible claimants who met all criteria to qualify for payment were entitied to receive a percentage of the value of their
claim from the CE Settlement Trust and retain a claim against Combustion Engineering for the unpaid balance. The Master Settlement Agresment
divides claims into three categories based on the status of the claim at November 14, 2002, the status of the documentation refating to the claim, and
whether or not the documentation establishes a valid claim eligible for settlement and payment by Combustion Engineering. The Master Settlernent
Agreement was supplemented in January 2003 to clarify the rights of certain claimants whose right to participate in a particular payment category was
disputed. The Master Settlement Agreement, as supplemented, settles the amount of and provides for the partial payment on approximately 110,000
open asbestos-related personal injury claims that had been lodged against Combustion Engineering.

Pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement, the CE Settlement Trust was funded by:
m cash contributions from Combustion Engineering in the amount of § 5 million;
® cash contributions from ABB Inc., a subsidiary of ABB Ltd, in the amount of $ 30 miltion by December 31, 2003;

B apromissory note from Combustion Engineering in the principal amount of approximately $ 101 million {guaranteed by Asea Brown Boveri Inc.,
a subsidiary of ABB Ltd); and an assignment by Combustion Engineering of the $ 311 million unpaid balance of principal and interest due to
Combustion Engineering from Asea Brown Boverl inc. under a loan agreement dated May 12, 2000 {guaranteed by ABB Ltd).

Fre-Packaged Pian of Reorganization

OnJanuary 17, 2003, the Company announced that the Company and Combustion Engineering had reached an agresment on a proposed
Pre-Packaged Plan of Recrganization for Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the “Plan”). The agreement was
reached with certain representatives of asbestos claimants with existing asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion Engineering
{encompassing claimants who had lodged claims prior to November 15, 2002 and claimants who had filed claims after that date and were not eligible
to participate in the Master Settlement Agreement) and with the proposed representative of persons who may be entitled to bring asbestos-related
personal injury claims in the future.

The Plan provides for the creation of the Asbestos Pl Trust, an independent trust which is separate and distinct from the CE Settlement Trust and
addresses Asbestos PI Trust Claims, which consist of present and future asbestos-related personal injury claims {including the claims previously settied
pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement only to the extent of any unpaid portions thereof) that arise directly or indirectly from any act, omission,
products or operations of Combustion Engineering, Lummus or Basic. If the Plan ulttimately becomes effective, a channelling injunction would be issued
under the U.S. Bankruptey Code pursuant to which the Asbestos Pt Trust Claims against ABB Ltd and its affiiates (including Combustion Engineering,
Lummus and Basic) would be channelled to the Asbestos Pi Trust. This would mean that the sole recourse of a holder of an Asbestos Pl Trust Claim
would be to the Asbestos P! Trust and such holder would be barred from asserting such a claim against ABB Ltd and its affiliates (including Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic). A preliminary injunction is currently in force. The Asbestos Pl Trust would be funded with cash and other assets,
including approximately 30 million common shares of ABB Ltd. The total package is valued at approximately $ 800 million.

The Plan sets forth distribution procedures for the allocation of funds to the claimants. The Plan provides that the unpaid portion of claims that were
settled pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement will also be entitled to distributions from the Asbestos Pt Trust.

ABB Group Financial review 2003 81




(U.S. dollar amounts in milfions, except per share amounts}

Note 18 Commitments and contingencies, continued
On the effective date of the Plan, the Asbestos PI Trust will be funded as follows:

& a8 20milion 5 percent term note with a maximum term of ten years from the effective date of the Plan, issued by Combustion Engineering and
secured by its Windsor, Connecticut real estate and real estate feases (under certain specified contingencies, the Asbestos Pl Trust may have the
right to convert the term note into ownership of 80 percent of the voting securities of the reorganized Combustion Engineering);

m excess cash held by Combustion Engineering on the effective date of the Plan;

| apromissory note issued by ABB Inc. and ABB Ltd and guaranteed by certain ABB Lid subsidiaries, in an aggregate amount of up to § 350 miflion,
payable in Installments commencing in 2004, with $ 50 million to be paid during 2004, $ 100 million to be paid during 2005 and $100 million to be
paid during 2008, and further providing for payments amounting to $ 50 million to be paid no later than 2010 ($ 25 million of which may be payable as
early as 2006) and contingent payments of an additional aggregate amount of $ 50 milion (in equal $ 25 milion installments) in 2008 and 2008 i
ABB Ltd mests certain financial performance standards (an EBIT margin of 12 percent in 2007 and 2008);

® 2 non-interest bearing promissory note on behalf of Lummus in the amount of § 28 million payable in relatively equal annual instaliments over 12 years;

m anon-interest bearing promissory note on behalf of Basic in the aggregate amount of § 10 miflion payable in refatively equal annual instafiments over
12 years;

w 30,298,913 shares of ABB Ltd {the “CE Settlement Shares”), which had a fair value at December 31, 2003 of $ 154 million and $ 86 million at
December 31, 2002. The obligation to deliver these CE Seftiement Shares will continue to be marked to market, with changes in the fair value of
the CE Setlement Shares reflected in earnings of the Company until such CE Settlerment Shares are contributed to the Asbestos Pt Trust;

® the Company will execute and deliver a nuclear and environmental indemnity with regard to obligations arising out of Combustion Engineering’s
Windsor, Connecticut site for the benefit of Combustion Engineering;

® Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic will assign to the Asbestos P! Trust any proceeds under certain insurance policies and insurance
settlement agreements. Aggregate unexhausted product liability limits are approximately $ 200 milion for Combustion Engineering, approximately
$ 43 million for Lummus and approximately $ 28 million for Basic, although amounts ultimately recovered by the Asbestos P Trust under these
policies may be substantially less than the policy limits. In addition, Combustion Engineering will assign to the Asbestos Pl Trust scheduled payments
under certain of its insurance settlement agreements ($ 86 million at December 31, 2003); and

m if Lummus is sold within 18 months after the effective date of the Plan, ABB Inc. wilf contribute $ 5 million to the CE Settlement Trust and $ 5 million to
the Asbestos Pl Trust. if the CE Settlement Trust has ceased to exist at that time, both $ § million payments wilt be made to the Asbestos Pi Trust, but
in no event will this contribution exceed the net proceeds from the sale of Lummus.

Next Steps in the Chapter 11 Process

The Plan, including the channelling injunction, will become effective when the U.S. Bankruptey Court recommends the issuance of a confirmation order
{which occurred on July 10, 2003), the confirmation order is entered by the U.S. District Court (which occurred on August 8, 2003) and has become a
final order that is not subject to appeal, and certain other conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan have been satisfied.

The solicitation of votes to approve the Plan began on January 18, 2003, and Combustion Engingering filed for Chapter 11 in the U.S. Bankruptey
Court in Delaware on February 17, 2003 based on the previously negatiated Plan. The voting period closed on February 19, 2003, and approximately
97 percent of qualified ballots voted to approve the Plan. A confirmation hearing and related hearings commenced on April 7, 2003 and continued

from time to time through early June 2003. On June 23, 2003, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court issued its Order Approving the Disclosure Statement but
Recommending Withholding of Confirmation of the Plan of Reorganization for Combustion Engineering for Ten Days (the “Ruling”) and related findings
of fact. The Ruling approved the disclosure statement that was the document used as the basis for soliciting approval of the Plan from asbestos
claimants and verified the voting results that approved the Plan. Aithough the Ruling did not confirm the Plan, it indicated that the U.S. Bankruptcy Court
would recommend that the Plan be confirmed if the Company and Combustion Engineering could establish to the court’s satisfaction certain specified
information. The Company then submitted the additional information for the court's consideration.

On July 10, 2003, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court issued a Supplemental and Amendatory Order Making Additional Findings and Recommending
Confirmation of Plan of Reorganization (the “Supplemental Ruling”). The Supplemental Ruling recornmended to the U.S. District Court, among other
things, that the Plan be confirmed.

Following the issuance of the Supplernental Ruling, interested parties had a pericd during which they could appeal the Ruling and the Supplemental
Ruling. This appeal period expired on July 24, 2003. A number of interested parties, including a small number of asbestos claimants and certain
insurance companies which historically have provided insurance coverage to Combustion Engineering, Basic and Lummus, filed appeals based on
various objections to the Plan, including the following:

m arguments that Combustion Engineering is not permitted to obtain a channelling injunction that protects Combustion Engineering’s affiiates with
respect 1o claims against Combustion Engineering;

m arguments that asbestos claims against Lummus and Basic cannot be made subject to a channelling injunction;
m arguments that the disclosure provided in connection with the solicitation of acceptances of the Plan did not satisfy the required standards;

m arguments that claimants covered by the Plan would fare better outside the Plan;
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Note 18 Commitments and contingencies, continued
® arguments that the Plan and the Bankruptcy Court's rulings improperty affect the rights and obligations of insurance carriers who have continuing
obligations to provide insurance coverage with respect to Combustion Engineering's asbestos liabilities;

m arguments that the Plan and the Bankruptey Court’s rulings fail to address properly the indernnification rights of certain insurers; and

& arguments that the Bankruptey Court was in error in not permitting the release of the trust created under the Master Settliement Agreement and
- -certain other entities,.under the Plan,

The U.S. District Court held a hearing on July 31, 2003, with respect to the appeals and entered its confirmation arder on August 8, 2003. The U.S.

Federal Third Circuit Court of Appeals granted a motion for expedition of appeals and orderad that all briefs were to be filed by October 7, 2003.
Although the Circuit Court has set, and then moved, the date for the hearing for December 16, 2003, January 12, 2004 and February 4, 2004, thereis
not now a scheduled hearing date. Rather the Circuit Court has ordered that oral argument is postponed pending resolution of certain recusal motions
against the U.S. District Court Judge in an unrelated case. The Company cannot be certain of when a hearing will be scheduled or the duration

or outcome of the appeal process. Regardless of whether or not the Plan becomes effective, the Master Setflement Agreement remains effective.

Effect of the Plan on the Company’s Financial Position

The Company recorded expenses related to asbestos of $ 145 million, $ 420 million and $ 470 million in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax,
for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax for 2003 includes a charge of $ 88 milfion, net of tax, resulting
from the mark-to-market adjustment relating to the CE Settlernent Shares, a provision of $ 41 million, representing the present value of the first two

$ 25 mifion payments previously considerad contingent, as well as $ 36 million of other costs. The 2002 amount reflected the Company’s estimate of
incrermental total costs to be incurred based upon the terms of the Plan. In 2001, loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, reflected a charge to
earnings based on Combustion Engineering’s forecasts of the expected cost of future claim settlements over a period of several years and estimates of
the amounts recoverable from insurance when the claims were settled.

Based upon management’s expectation that the Plan will be implemented, the Company has recorded provisions of $ 813 million at December 31,
2003, in accrued liabilities and other. If the Plan becomes effective, certain amounts will be reclassified as of the effective date to other long-term
liabilities based on the timing of the future cash payments to the Asbestos P! Trust. Future earnings will be affected by mark-to-market adjustments
refating to the CE Settiement Shares through the effective date of the Plan, as well as contingent payments when they become probabie of payment.
Inthe event the Plan does not become effective, the ultimate cost for the resolution of asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic may be significantly higher and could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

Contingencies related to former Nuclear Technology business

The Company retained liability for certain specific environmental remediation costs at two sites in the U.S. that were operated by its Nuciear Technology
business, which was sold to British Nuclear Fueis PLC (BNFL) in April 2000. Pursuant to the purchase agreement with BNFL, the Company has retained
all of the environmental liabilities associated with its Combustion Engineering subsidiary’s Windsot, Connecticut facility and a portion of the environ-
mental liabilities associated with its ABB C-E Nuclear Power Inc. subsidiary’s Hematite, Missouri facility. The primary environmental liabilities associated
with these sites relate to the costs of remediating radiological and chemical contamination at these facilities. Such costs are not payable until a facilty is
taken out of use and generally are incurred over a number of years. Although it is difficutt to predict with accuracy the amount of time it may take to
remediate radiological contamination upon decommissioning, based on information that BNFL has made publicly available, the Company believes that
it may take until 2013 to remediate the Hematite site. With respect to the Windsor site, the Company believes the remediation may take until 2008. At
the Windsor site, a significant partion of the contamination is related to activities that were formerly conducted by orfor the U.S. government. The
Company believes that a significant portion of the remediation costs will be covered by the U.S. government under the government’s Formerly Utilized
Sites Remedial Action Program. As a result of the sale of the Nuclear Technology business, during 2000, the Company established in other liabilities a
reserve of $ 300 million in connection with its estimated remediation costs related to these faciities. Expenditures charged to the remediation reserve
were $ 6 miflion, $ 12 million and $ 6 miflion during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. in connection with the pre-packaged Chapter 11 filing by
Combustion Engineering discussed above, the Company will assume any and all remaining environmental liabilities of Combustion Engineering in
respect to the Windsor and Hematite sites.
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Note 19 Taxes
Provision for taxes consists of the foliowing:
Year ended December 31, ) 2003 2002 2001

The weighted average tax rate is the tax rate that would result applying each subsidiary’s statutory income tax rate to the income from continuing opera-
tions before taxes and minority interest. The Company operates in countries that have differing tax laws and rates. Conseguently, the consolidated
weighted-average effective rate will vary from year to year according to the source of earnings or losses by country.

Tax expense from continuing operations

................................................................. D L LT T P S T LTI LLLI I T YT

Effective tax rate for the year
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ltems taxed at rates other than the weighted-average tax rate in 2003 include $ 84 miflion loss comprising the change in fair value of the embedded
derivative contained in the Company's $ 968 million convertible bonds combined with the continued amortization of the discount onissuance of these
bonds {see Note 15), partially offset by earnings recognized in relation to certain of the Company’s equity accounted investments. In 2002, items taxed
at rates other than the weighted-average tax rate include $ 215 million gain, reflecting the change in fair value of the embedded derivative contained
inthe Company's $ 968 million convertible bonds, partially offset by amortization of the discount on issuance of these bonds, as well as earnings
recognized in relation to cartain of the Company’s equity accounted investments.

Non-deductible goodwill amortization did not impact the reconciliation of taxes in 2003 and 2002, as the Company ceased amortizing goodwill on
January 1, 2002, pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 142,

The reconcliiation of taxes for 2002 includes changes in valuation allowance recorded in certain jurisdictions in respect of deferred tax assets that were
recognized for net operating losses incurred in those jurisdictions. The change in the valuation aflowance was required as the Company determined it
was mors likely than not that such deferred tax assets would no longer be realized. In 2001, the reconciiiation of taxes includes changes in valuation
allowance recorded in certain jurisdictions in respect of deferred tax assets that were recognized for net operating losses incurred in those jurisdictions.
The change in the valuation allowance was required as the Company determined it was more fikely than not certain deferred tax assets would be
realized.

In 2003 and 2001, the reconciling item other, net of $ (52) million and $ (48) million includes an amount of $ 56 million and $ 50 million, respectively,
relating to adjustments with respect to the favorable resolution of certain prior year tax matters.

In 2003, the income from continuing operations before taxes and minority interest of § 246 mitiion includes an § 84 miflion loss comprising the change
infair value of the embedded derivative contained in the Company’s § 968 millicn convertible bonds combined with the continued amortization of the
discount on issuance of these bonds. Furthermore, the tax expense from continuing operations includes the refease of a § 38 million tax provision
related to a tax case ruled in favor of the Company. The effective tax rate applicable to income from continuing operations exciuding the tax effect of
these items would be 35.2 percent.
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Note 19 Taxes, continued
Deferred income tax assets and liabifities consist of the following:

Year ended December 31,

Total deferred tax liability
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Deferred tax assets:

et
Net deferred tax ability
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities can be aflocated between current and non-cument as follows:

Year ended December 31,

The non-current deferred tax asset, net, is included in investments and other,

Centain entities have deferred tax assets related to net operating loss camy-forwards and other items. Because recognition of these assets is uncertain,
valuation allowances of $ 1,610 milion and $ 1,227 million have been established at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, net operating loss carry-forwards of § 3,566 million and tax credits of $ 110 million are available to reduce future taxes of certain
subsidiaries, of which § 2,210 million loss carry-forwards and $ 78 million tax credits expire in varying amounts through 2023 and the remainder do not
expire. These carry-forwards are predominately related to the Company’s U.S. and German operations.

Note 20 Other Kiabilities
The Company’s other fiabilities amount to $ 1,837 million and $ 1,584 miflion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Other liabilities include non-current provisions of $ 446 million and $ 447 million, advances from customers relating to long-term construction contracts
of $ 807 million and $ 564 million and non-current deferred income of § 158 million and $ 149 milion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Cther liabilities alsc includes the provision relating to the Company’s estimated environmental remediation costs related to its former Nuclear Technology
business (see Note 18) of $ 276 million and $ 282 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company entered intc tax advantaged leasing transactions with U.S. investors prior to 1999. Prepaid rents that have been received on these
transactions are $ 312 million and $ 349 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and have been recorded as deposit fiabilities, Net gains
on these transactions are being recognized over the lease terms.

Note 21 Employee benefits

The Company operates several pension plans, including defined bensfit, defined contribution and termination indemnity plans, in accordance with local
reguiations and practices. These plans cover the majority of the Company’s empioyees and provide benefits to employees in the event of death,
disability, retirement or termination of employment. Certain of these plans are mutti-employer plans. The Company also operates posiretirement heafth
benefit plans in certain countries.

Some of these plans require employees to make contributions and enable employees to earn matching or other contributions from the Company. The
funding policies of the Company’s plans are consistent with the focal government and tax requirements. The Company has several pension plans that
are not required to be funded pursuant to local government and tax requirements.

The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for its plans.
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Note 21 Employee benefits, continued

Obligations and Funded Status

The following tables set forth the change in benefit obligations, the change in plan assets and the funded status recognized in the Consalidated Financial
Statements at December 31, 2003 and 2002, for the Company’s benefit plans:

Pension benefits Other benefits

M These amounts include S 1,448 millignand § 1,181 millian at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively for pension plans which are not required to be funded pursuant to local government
and tax requirements.

In May 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the Financial Accounting Standards Board reached a consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force
No. 03-4 (EiTF 03-4), Determining the Classification and Benefit Attribution Method for a “Cash Balance” Pension Plan. EITE 03-4 clarifies that a cash
balance plan, as defined by the guidance, should be accounted for as a defined benefit plan using the traditional unit credit attribution method.

The Company adopted EITF 03-4 in May 2003, As a result, the Company accounts for certain of its plans in Switzerland as cash balance plansin
accordance with EITF 03-4. The adoption of EITF 03-4 resulted in an actuarial gain of $ 406 million during 2003.

The following amounts have been recognized in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Pension henefits Other benefits

The total pension and other employee benefits liabiity of $ 1,904 milion and $ 1,720 million, as reflected in pension and other employee benefits and in
acerued liabilities and other (see Note 16), contains an accrual of $ 109 million and $ 88 milion at Decembber 31, 2003 and 2002, respeactively, for
employee benefits that do not meet the criteria of Statement of Financlal Accounting Standards No. 87, Employers' Accounting for Pensions or
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, Emplayers’ Accounting for Postretirerent Benefits Other Than Pensions. Approximately

$ 6 milionand $ 35 million of prepaid pension costis included as a component of asseats held for sale and in discontinued operations at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Note 21 Employee benefits, continued

The pension and other employee benefits liability reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet includes § 183 million and $ 203 million at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively, to record a minimum pension liabifity. The minimum fiability included in other comprehensive loss decreased $ 18 million in
2003 and increased $107 million in 2002.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $ 7,156 million and § 6,435 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

The projected benefit obligation (PBO) and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were:

The accumulated benefit obligation {ABO) and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan
assets were:

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Forthe years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, net periodic benefit cost consists of the foliowing:

Pensicn benefits Other benefits

Assumptions
The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine benefit obligations at Decemnber 31, 2003 and 2002:

Pension benefits Other benefits

Discount rate

The foliowing weighted-average assumptions were used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Pension benefits Other benefits
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Mote 21 Employee benefits, continued
The expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption is derived from the current and projected asset allocation, the current and projected types
of investments in each asset category and the long-term historical returns for each investment type.

The Company has muttiple non-pension postretirement benefit plans. The Company’s health care plans are generally contributory with participants’
contributions adjusted annually.

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

Assumed health care cost trends have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in
assumed heafth care cost trend rates would have the following effects at Decemnber 31, 20083:

1-percentage- 1-percentage-
point increase point decrease

Effect on postretirement benefit obli

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) was signed into law in the U.S. In accor-
dance with FASB Staff Pasition Na. FAS 106-1, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003, the Company has elected to defer recognition of the potential effect of the Act on the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation and the measurement of expense related to its U.S. plans at and for the year ended December 31, 2003. Authoritative guidance specific to
the accounting treatment for the federal subsidy component of the Act is pending and that guidance, when issued by the FASB, may require the
Company to change previously reported information.

Plan Assets
The Company's pension plan weighted-average asset aliocations at December 31, 2003 and 2002, by asset category are as follows:

The pension plan assets are invested in accordance with statutory regutations, pension plan rules, and recommendations of the pension fund trustees.
The investment allocation strategy is expected to remain consistent with historical averages.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, plan assets included approximately $ 5 million {approximately 1 milion shares) and $ 3 million {approximately 1 milion
shares), respectively, of the Company’s capital stock.

Contributions
The Company expects to contribute $ 248 miflion to its pension plans and $ 27 million to its other postretirement benefit plans in 2004,

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan that covers substantially all employees in Sweden. Effective December 31, 2002, the assets which
had previously been pledged to the plan were contributed and have been reflected as a component of “Fair value of plan assets” at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively (see Note 5).

During 2002, the Company contributed $ 188 million of available-for-sale debt securities to certain of the Company’s pension plans in the United States
and the United Kingdom.

The Company also maintains several defined contribution plans. The expense for these pians was $ 23 million, $ 23 million and $ 26 mition in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company also contributed $ 143 million, § 141 million and $ 135 million to mutti-employer plans in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.
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Note 22 Management incentive plan
The Company maintains a management incentive plan under which it offers stock warrants and warrant appreciation rights (WARs) to key employees
for no consideration.

Warranis granted under this plan allow participants to purchase shares of the Company at predetermined prices. Participants may sell the warrants
rather than exercise the right to purchase shares. Equivalent warrants are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x), which facilitates valuation and
transferability of warrants granted under this plan.

Each WAR gives the participant the right to recelve, in cash, the market price of a warrant on the date of exercise of the WAR. The WARs are
non-transferable.

Participants may exercise or sell warrants and exercise WARs after the vesting period, which is three years from the date of grant. Vesting restrictions
can be waived in certain circumstances such as death or disability. All warrants and WARs expire six years from the date of grant. As the primary trading
market for shares of ABB Ltd is the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x), the exercise prices of warrants and the trading prices of equivalent warrants listed

on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) are denominated in Swiss francs . Accordingly, exercise prices are presented below in Swiss francs. Fair values
have been presented in U.S. dollars based upon exchange rates in effect as of the applicable period.

In November 2003, an extraordinaty shareholders’ meeting resolved to increase the Company's share capital by approximately 840 million shares
through a rights issue. In December 2003, the Company completed the 7-for-10 rights offering for the 840 million new registered shares at an offer price
of 4 Swiss francs per share resutting in a netincrease of capital stock and additional paid-in capital of approximately $ 2.5 billion. As a result of the rights
offering, the exercise price and conversion ratio of the warrants were adjusted so as to ensure that the intrinsic value of the warrants and WARs immedi-
ately after the rights offering was not in excess of the intrinsic value prior to the rights offering, and that the ratio of the exercise price per share to the
market value per share was not reduced.

Warrants

The Company accounts for the warrants using the intrinsic value method of APB Cpinion No. 25 {APB 25}, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,
as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), Accounting for Stock Based Compensation, as amended. Al
warrants were issued with exercise prices greater than the market prices of the stock on the dates of grant. Accordingly, the Company records no
compensation expense related to the warrants, except in circumstances when a participant ceased to be employed by a consolidated subsidiary, such
as after a divestrnent by the Company. In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensation, the Company records compensation expense based on the fair value of warrants retained by participants on the date their employment
ceased, with an offset to additional paid in capital. The impact of such expense is not material.

Presented bslow is a summary of warrant activity for the years shown:

Weighted-

average

Nurmber ot Number of exercise price
warrants shares M8 (Swiss francs)(zi (5>

Outstandmg at December 31, 2002 68 391, 060 23 197 199 26.77

........................................................... gt A A O R

Granted 27,264,250 5 450,850 7.00

Exerc sable at December 31,2003 49,381,060 18,404,851 30.11

............................................................................................................ PO Al et S S P S S

i All warrants granted prior to 1993 require the exercise of 100 warrants for 81,73 registered shares of ABB Ltd. Warrants granted in 1999, 2000 and 2001 require the exercise of 100 warrants
far 25.21 registered shares of ABR Ltd. No warrants were granted in 2002. Warrants granted in 2003 require the exercise of five watrants for one registared share ot ABB Ltd. Information
presented reflects the number of registered-shares of ABB Ltd that warrant holders can recelve upon exercise.

@ Information presented reflects the exercise price per registered share of ABB Lid.

-3 The aggregate fair value at date of grant of warrants issued in 2001 was $ 16 million, assurming a dividend vield of 1.25 percent, expected volatiity of 47 percent, risk-free interest rate of

3.5 percent, and an expected life of six years.

© The aggregate fair value at date of grant of warrants issued in 2003 was S 12 million, assuming a zero percent dividend yield, expected volatility of 44 percent, risk-free interest rate of
2.41 percent, and an expected life of six years.

8 The exercise price of the warrants and number of shares underlying the warrants have been restated to refiect the adjustments made to the terms of the warrants in 2003 as & result of the
righis offering
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Note 22 Management incentive plan, continued
Presented below is a summary of warrants outstanding at Decernber 31, 2003:

Weighted-
Exercise price Number of Number of average
presentedin Swiss francs) ™ S e NS B remaining fife.
24.51 4,743,000 . , 2 weeks

1 information presented reflects the exercise price per registered share of ABB Ltd.
2 Infarmation presented reflects the numbyer of registered shares of ABB Lid that warrant holders can recelve upon exercise of warrants,

& The exercise price of the warrants and number of shares underlying the warrants have been restated io reflect the adjustments made 1o the terms of the warrants in 2003 as a result of the
rights offering.

WARs

As each WAR gives the holder the right to receive cash equal to the market price of a warrant on date of exercise, the Company is required by APB 25

to record a liability based upon the fair value of outstanding WARs at each period end, amortized on a straight-line basis over the three-year vesting
period. In selling, general and administrative expenses, the Company recorded expense of $ 1 million for 2003 and income of § 14 million and $ 58
million for 2002 and 2001, respectively, excluding amounts charged to loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, as a result of changes in the fair
value of the outstanding WARs and the vested portion. To hedge its exposure to fluctuations in fair value of outstanding WARS, the Company purchases
cash-settled call options, which entitle the Company to receive amounts equivalent to its obligations under the outstanding WARs. In accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force No. 00-18 (EITF 00-19}, Accounting for Denvative Financial Instruments indexed to, and Potentially Settied in, a Company’s
Own Stock, the cash-settled call options have been recorded as assets measured at fair value (see Note 5), with subsequent changes in fair value
recorded through earnings as an offset to the compensation expense recorded in connection with the WARs. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, exciuding
amounts charged to loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, the Company recognized expense of $ @ million, $ 26 million and $ 54 million,
respectively, ininterest and other finance expense, related to the cash-settled call options.

The aggregate fair value of outstanding WARs was $ 17 million and $ 9 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Fair value of WARs was
determined based upon the trading price of equivalent warrants listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x).

Presented below is a summary of WAR activity for the years shown:

Number of

WARs

............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ outstanding
Qutstanding at January 1,2001 .. ettt ee et entresen et se et anese s saaneeas reveeneeea reeresraeeberereeatearene ereerrereeanes ... 55,361,040
Granted 398,978,750

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, 57,619,240 and 26,974,240 of the WARs were exercisable, respectively. The aggregate fair value at date of grant of
WARs issued in 2003 and 2001 was $ 9 million and $ 28 million, respectively. No WARs were granted in 2002.

Note 23 Stockholders’ equity
in March 2003, the Gompany sold 80 million treasury shares in two transactions for approximately $ 156 milion.. _

At the Company’s annual general meeting held on May 16, 2003, the Company’s shareholders approved amendments to its articles of incor poranon
providing for an increase in authorized share capital and an increase in contingent share capital. The amendments include the creation of 250-million
Swiss francs in authorized share capital, replacing 100 million Swiss francs that expired in June 2001. This entitied the Company’s Board of Directors to
issue up to 100 million new ABB shares, including approximately 30 million CE Settlement Shares {see Note 18). The amendments also include an
increase of contingent capital from 200 million Swiss francs to 750 million Swiss francs, allowing the issue of up to a further 300 million new ABB Ltd
shares which may be used primarily for the exercise of conversion rights granted in connection with issuance of bonds and other financial market instru-
ments and for the issuance of new shares to employees.
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Note 23 Stockholders’ equily, continued

in October 2003, the Company announced a three-component capital-strengthening program, comprising of a share caplital increase, a credit facility
agreement and a bond issuance. As part of this program, in November 2003, an extracrdinary sharehoiders’ meeting resolved to increase the
Company's share capital by approximately 840 million shares through a rights issue. in December 20083, the Company completed the 7-for-10 rights
offering for the 840 million new registered shares at an offer price of 4 Swiss francs per share resulting in a net increase of capital stock and additional
paid in capital of approximately $ 2.5 billion,

At December 31, 2003, the Company had 2,440,016,034 authorized shares. Of these, 2,070,314,947 shares are registered and issued, including
30,298,913 CE Ssttiement Shares that are reserved for use with the pre-packaged plan of reorganization of Combustion Engineering. The CE
Settiement Shares will onty become outstanding and carry participation rights once the Plan becomes effective, and the shares are contributed to the
Asbestos Pl Trust. Should the Plan ultimately not become effective, the CE Settlement Shares reserved for such use would be cancelled by the
Company. As these shares are presently held by one of the Company's subsidiaries and carry no participation rights, these shares are not treated as
outstanding for the purposes of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2003, including the warrants issued under the management incentive plan and call options sold to a bank at fair value during 2001 and
2003, the Company had outstanding obligations to deliver 58 million shares at exercise prices ranging from 7.00 to 42.05 Swiss francs. The cafl options
expire in periods ranging from 2004 to 2009 and were recorded as equity instruments in accordance with EITF 00-19. Also, at December 31, 2003, the
Company had obligations to deliver approximately 107 million shares at a conversion price of 14.84 Swiss francs (converted into U.S. dollars at the fixed
exchange rate of 1.8216 Swiss francs per U.S. dollar) as a result of the issuance of convertible debt in May 2002 and to deliver approximately 105 miliion
shares at a conversion price of 9.53 Swiss francs as a result of the issuance of convertible debt in Septembber 2003. In addition, pursuant to the Plan
described above and in Note 18, the Company will contribute the CE Settlement Shares to the Asbestos P! Trust after the Plan is declared effective.

Dividends are payable to the Company’s stockholders based on the requirements of Swiss law, ABB Ltd’s Articles of Incorporation, and stockholders'’
equity as reflected in the unconsolidated financial statements of ABB Ltd prepared in compliance with Swiss law, At December 31, 2003, of the

8,942 million Swiss francs stockholders’ equity reflected in such unconsolidated financial statements, 5,176 million Swiss francs Is share capital,
2,192 million Swiss francs is restricted, 1,533 million Swiss francs is unrestricted and 41 million Swiss francs is available for distribution.

Note 24 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per
share s calculated by dividing income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year, assuming that all potentially dilutive
securities were exercised and that any proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire shares of the Company'’s stock at the average market price
during the year or the period the securities were outstanding, if shorter. Potentially diutive securities comprise: cutstanding written calf options, if ditutive;
the securities issued under the Company’s management incentive plan, to the extent the average market price of the Company’s stock exceeded the
exercise prices of such instruments; shares issuable in relation to the convertible bonds, if dilutive; and ocutstanding written put options, for which net
share settlement at average market price of the Company’s stock was assurned, if ditutive.

The shares issuable in relation to the warrants and options outstanding in connection with the Company’s management incentive plan were excluded
from the computation of diluted earmings per share in all periods presented as their inclusion would have been antidilutive. In 2002, the shares issuable in
relation to the convertible bonds were included in the computation of dituted earnings per share for the period they were outstanding. in 2003, the
shares issuable in relation to the convertible bonds were excluded from the calculation of diluted eamings per share as their inclusion would have been
antidilutive.

Basic earnings per share:
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Note 24 Earnings per share, continued
Diluted earnings per share:

Year ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001

Income (loss) from contmumg operatlons, adjusted

............................................................................................... Mevesrasasersesirertserserana

Loss from discontinued operanons net of tax

Net loss, adjusted

......................................................... M eetateateierrataietenanetuatesassttestotentetattaisossotonoctatasarte

Note 25 Restructuring charges

2001 Program

In July 2001, the Company announced and initiated a restructuring program (2001 Pragramy in an effort to improve productivity, reduce cost base,
simplify product lines, reduce muttiple location activities and perform other downsizing in response to weakening markets and consclidation of major
customers in certain industries.

Restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs associated with the 2001 Program are included in

other income {expense), net. Termination benefits of $ 99 million, $ 149 million and $ 32 million were paid to approximately 2,270, 4,000 and

2,150 employees in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Approximately $ 12 milion, $ 29 million and $ 31 million were paid to cover costs associated
with lease terminations and other exit costs in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Workforce reductions include production, managerial and
administrative employees. Based on changes in management’s original estimate a § 22 million and $ 21 million reduction in the amounts accrued for
workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs have been included in other income (expense), netin 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Currency fluctuations resulted in a$ 23 million and $ 25 million increase in the liabilities accrued for workforce reductions, lsase terminations and other
exit costs in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Accrued liabilities included $ 9 million and $ 94 million for termination benefits and $ 27 million and $ 52 miftion
for lease terminations and other exit costs as of December 31, 20038 and 2002, respectively.

As a resutt of the 2001 Program, certain assets, inventories and property, plant and equipment have been identified as impaired or will no tonger be used
in continuing operations. The Comparny recorded $ 18 mifion and $ 41 milion in 2002 and 2001, respectively, to write down these assets to fair value.
These costs are included in cost of sales and other income (expense), net.

Step change program

in October 2002, the Company announced the Step change program. The Company estimates that restructuring-costs under the Step change
program will be approximately $ 200 million in 2004. The goals of the Step change program are to increase competitiveness of the Company’s core
businesses {see Note 26), reduce overhead costs and streamiine operations by approximately $ 800 million on an annual basis by 2005. The Step
change program is expected to be completed by mid-2004.

Restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs associated with the Step change program are included
in other income {expense), net. Termination benefits of § 145 milion and $ 13 mifion were paid to approximately 1,500 and 200 employess in 2003 and
2002, respectively. Approximately $ 48 million and $ 1 million were paid to cover costs associated with lease terminations and other exit costs in 2003
and 2002, respectively. Workforce reductions include production, managerial and administrative employees. Based on changes in management's
original estimate, a $ 4 million reduction in the amournts accrued for workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs has been included

in otherincome (expense), netin 2003. Currency fuctuations resulted in a 8 27 million increase in the liabilities accrued for workforce reductions,

lease terminations and other exit costs in 2003. Accrued liabilities included $ 84 milion and $ 38 miillion for termination benefits and $ 37 million and

$ 25 million for lease terminations and ather exit costs at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

As aresult of the Step change program, certain assets, inventories and property, plant and equipment have been identified as impaired or will ho longer
be used in continuing operations. The Company recorded $ 3 million and $ 2 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively, to write down these assets to their
fair value. These costs are included in cost of sales and other income (expense), net.
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Note 25 Restructuring charges, continued

Other

Certain restructuring programs were inftiated during 20083 at specified locations not included in the Step change program. The goals of these programs
are to increase efficiencies by reducing headcount and streamiining operations. These programs are expected to increase productivity of the non-core
businesses (see Note 26}. Anticipated savings will be recognized through the strategic divestments of these operations.

In 2003, the Cormpany recognized restructuring charges of $ 83 million related to workforce reductions and $25 miltion related to lease terminations and
other exit costs. These costs are included in other income {expense), net. Termination benefits of § 34 million were paid to approximately 1,300
employses and $ 10 million were paid to cover costs associated with lease terminations and other exit costs. Workforce reductions include production,
managerial and administrative employees. Based on changes in management's criginal estimate, a $ € million decrease in the amounts accrued for
workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs have been included in other income {expense), net. Cumency fluctuations resulted ina

$ 10 million increase in the liabilities accrued for workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs. At December 31, 2003, accrued liabilities
included $ 67 million for termination benefits and $ 35 million for lease terminations and other exit costs.

As a result of other restructuring programs, certain assets, inventories and property, plant and equipment have been identified as impaired or will no
longer be used in continuing operations. The Company recorded $ 11 million in 2003, to write down these assets to fair value. These costs are included
in cost of sales and other income {expense), net.

Restructuring charges consist of the following:

Year ended December 31, 2003 2001 program Step change ’ Other Total

Cumulative
The cumulative amounts at December 31, 2003, for each plan are given below:

2001 program Step change Other Total

Total restructuring charges and related asset write-downs $ 399 $313 $ 104 $816

T T T T Y D T D T T T T B e Rt Nareeuanet i st netteinacacsinterratstuttrrine Srervessasesaviene sreresien sansenssens
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Note 25 Restructuring charges, continued
Segment information
Restructuring charges and related asset write-downs by segment consist of the following:

Year ended December 31,

Power Technologies

Totai restructuring charges and related asset write-downs

.................................................. et tseansrnosnasssatecertansantsotransonaonrasatborassassatanserreanancnss

Note 26 Segment and geographic data

Effective January 1, 2003, in order {o strearmiine the Company’s structure and improve operational performance, the Company put into place two
divisions: Power Technologies, which combines the former Power Technology Products and Utiiities divisions and employed approximately

38,700 people at December 31, 2003, and Automation Technologies, which combined the former Automation Technology Products and Industries
division and employed approximately 55,300 pecple at December 31, 2003. The remaining operations of the Company are grouped in Non-core
activities. All periods presented have been restated to reflect the new organizational structure of the Company.

The Power Technologies division serves electric, gas, and water utilities as well as industrial and commercial customers, with a broad range of products,
systems and services for power transmission, distribution and power plant automation. The division’s principal customers are electric, gas and water
utitities, owners and operators of power transmission systems, utilities that own or operate netwarks and owners and operators of power generating
plants. Other customers include gas transmission companies, focal distribution companies and mutti-utilities, which are involved in the transmission or
distribution of more than one commaodity. The division also serves industrial and commercial customers, such as operators of large commercial
buildings and heavy industrial plants.

The Automation Technologies division provides products, systems, software and services for the automation and optimization of industrial and
commercial processes. Key technologies include measurement and control, instrumentation, process analysis, drives and motors, power electronics,
robots, and low voltage products. These technologies are sold to customers of the automotive, cement, chemical, distribution, electronics, food and
beverage, life sciences, marine, metals, mining, paper, petroleum, printing and telecommunications industries with application-specific power and
automation technology.

Non-core activities includes the following:

® The Company’s remaining Equity Ventures business;

# the Company's remaining Structured Finance business;

= the Company’s remaining Building Systems business;

8 the Company's New Ventures business area;

&’ the Company’s Customer Service, Group Processes, Logistic Systems, and Semiconducters business areas.

Corporate/Other inciudes Headguarters, Central Research and Development, Real Estate, Group Treasury Operations and the Financial Advisory
business.

The Company evaluates performance of its segments based on earnings before interest and taxes, which excludes interest and dividend income,
interest expense, provision for taxes, minority interest, and loss from discontinued operations, net of tax. In accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, the Company presents division revenues,
depreciation and amortization, earnings before interest and taxes, net operating assets and capital expenditures, all of which have been restated to
reflect the changes to the Company’s internal structure, including the effect of inter-division transactions.
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Note 26 Segment and geographic data, continued
The following tables summarize information for each segment:

Depreciation Earnings Net
and before interest operating Capital
Revenues amortization and taxes assets(V expenditures @

$ 7,680

Power Technologies

Depreciation Earnings Net
and before interest operating Capital
Revenues amortization and taxes assets(! expenditures 2

Depreciation Earnings Net
and before interest operating Capital
amortization and taxes assets(? expenditures 2

) Net operating assets is calculated based upon total assets {excluding cash and squivalents, marketable securities, current loans receivable, taxes and deferred charges)
less total fiabilities (excluding barrowings. taxes, provisions and pension-related liabilities).

@ Capitat expenditures reflect purchases of tangible fixed assets.

@ Includes the Company's investment in Jorf Lasfar Energy Company S.C.A.
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Note 26 Segment and geographic data, continued
Geographic information

Revenues Long-lived assets
Year ended December 31, Decemnber 31,

Revenues have been reflected in the regions based on the focation of the customer. Long-lived assets primarily represent property, plant and
equiprment, net, and are shown by the location of the assets.

- - The-Company-does not segregate revenues derived from transactions with external customers for each type or group of products andservices.

Accerdingly, it is not practicable for the Company to present revenues from external customers by product and service type.

Management estimates that approximately 85 percent of the Company’s employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements in various
countries. These agreements are subject ta various regulatory requirements and are renegotiated on a regular basis in the normal course of business.
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ABB Ltd Group Auditors’ Report

The Stockholders of ABB Lta:

As auditors ofthe group, we have audited the accompanying consolidated batance sheets of ABB Lid as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the
related consolidated income statements, statements of cash flows, statements of changes in stockholders’ equity and notes for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express

an opinjon on these financial statements based on our audits. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and
independence.

We did not audit the financial statements of Jorf Lasfar Energy Company, a corporation in which the Company has a 50% interest, (the Company’s
equity in Jorf Lasfar Energy Company’s net income is stated at $ 60 million in 2003, $ 66 million in 2002 and $ 81 million in 2001); we did not audit the
2002 and 2001 consclidated financial statements of ABB Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary, which statements reflect total assets constituting
15% in 2002 and total revenues constituting 14% in 2002 and 11% in 2001 of the refated consolidated totals; we did not audit the 2002 and 2001
consaoiidated financial statements of Swedish Export Credit Corporation, a corporation in which the Company had a 35% interest, {the Company’s
equity in Swedish Export Credit Corporation’s consolidated net income {loss) is stated at $ 89 million in 2002 and $ (11} million in 2001); and we did not
audit the 2001 financial statements of Scandinavian Reinsurance Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, which statements reflect total losses

of § (346) million reflected as a component of the Company's 2001 loss from discontinued operations. Those statements were audited by other auditors
whose reports have been fumished to us. Our opinion, insofar as it relates to amounts included for those companies and their subsidiaries, is based
solely on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and in accordance with auditing standards
promulgated by the Swiss profession. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial staternents are free of material misstatermnent. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonabie basis for our
opinion.

n our opinian, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of ABB Ltd at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash fiows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and comply
with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

As discussed in Note 2 10 the consolidated financial statements, in 2003 the Company changed its method of consolidation relating to varniable interest
entities. As also discussed in Note 2, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill acquired in business combinations and it
also adopted new criteria for classification of items accounted for as discontinued operations, resulting in reclassifications in all periods presented of
items meeting the discontinued operations criteria after January 1, 2002, Additionally, as also discussed in Note 2, in 2001 the Company changed its
method of accounting for derivative financial instruments.

Emst & Young Ltd
C. Barone S.A. Reid
Auditors in charge

Zurich, February 18, 2004
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Financial Statements of ABB Lid, Zurich

income Statement
Year ended Jecember 31 {CHF in thousands)

Balance Sheet
December 31 (CHF in thousands) ’ 2003 2002

98 ABB GroupFinancial review 2003




Notes to Financial Statements

Notet General

ABB Ltd, Zurich {the Company) is the parent company of the ABB Group whose Consolidated Financial Statements include 100% of the assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses, income, loss and cash flows of ABB Ltd and companies in which the Company has a controfling interest, as if

the Company and its subsidiaries were a single company. The Consolidated Financial Statements are of overriding importance for the purpose of the
economic and financial assessment of the Company. The unconsolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with
Swiss law and serve as complementary information to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 2 Cash and equivalenis
(CHF inthousands)
Cash and bank

Note 3 Receivables
{CHF in thousands) 2003 2002

Note 4 Long-term loansto subsidiary
[CHF in thousands) 2003 N 2002

In 2002, the Company entered into an interest bearing credit agreement with ABB Asea Brown Boveri Ltd, Zurich. The loans are valued at cost. At
December 31, 2002 these loans were pledged in connection with an USS$ 1.5 billion credit facility. in December 2003, such facility was cancelled and the
security released.

Note 5 Participations Ownership interast
Company name Purpose Domicile Share capital

ABB Holding Ltd was merged into ABB Asea Brown Boveri Ltd as per December 1, 2003. The increase in participations in 2003 consists of a contri-
bution to an indirectly held subsidiary.

The investments in subsidiaries are valued at the lower of cost or fair value. Fair values are determined using the discounted cash flow method (DCF),
based upon management's expectations as to the future cash flows and earnings of the subsidiaries for the years 2004 through 2008.

Note 6 Current liabilities
{CHF in thousands)

Note 7 Provisions

In 2003, in conjunction with the issuance by a subsidiary of the Company of bonds convertible into ABB Ltd shares, the Company granted options to the
subsidiary issuing the bonds to enabile the subsidiary o mest its obligations to deliver shares when the bonds are converted, Provisions of CHF 238,628
thousand were recorded to reflect the value of the options in exchange for the receipt of cash. When the bonds are converted, or expire without
conversion, the provisions will be released to other reserves in stockholders’ equity.
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Note 8 Bonds
(CHF in thousands)

NOte 20012008 3.75% e

NOte 2001-20033.28% e

Total e ceeereeinenaaes ceereetr e anens RO e o ceressrsesnassassersnrensioiiii 0001000 1...... 700,000

Note 8 Stockholders’ equity Share Legai Reserve for Other Retained

(CHF in thousands) capital reserve treasury shares reserves earmings Net loss Totat
8000023 | BO0005 2944904 302,968 . 4,952,859 (5,163452) 6,847,107

............................................................................................................................................. (802,968) 892,968
.................................................................................................................................................................... 6,183452) | 5183462 T
Ne‘[rejease : of reserve .......................................................................................................................................................................................................
fortreasuryshares e 8833.000) 25833090 -
NBLIOSS IOTING YRAT | e eeosesesemssceeeeeeseeseee ettt e ee oot er e eer oo ees oo {1,080,786)  (1,060,766)
Closingbalancesheet 5175787 | 779669 411814 2533090 . 102,175 .. (1,060,766) 8,941,769

Number of Total
Share capital as per December 31, 2003 registered shares Parvalue [(CHF in thousands)

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on May 16, 2003, the Company's shareholders approved amendments to its articles of incorporation
providing for authorized share capital and anincrease in contingent share capital.

The amendments included the creation of CHF 250 million in authorized share capital. This entitled the Company’s Board of Directors toissue up to

100 million new shares of which approximately 30 miflion were allocated for use with the pre-packaged plan of reorganization of the Company’s

U.S. subsidiary, Combustion Engineering Inc. The amendments also included an increase of contingent capital from CHF 200 million to CHF 750 million,
allowing the issue of up to 300 million new shares.

Cn November 20, 2003, at an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders, it was resolved to increase the Company’s share capital by
approximatefy 840 million shares through a rights issue which the Company completed in December issuing 840,006,602 new shares at an offer price
of CHF 4 per share.

Treasury shares 2003 2002

Number of Avg. price per Number Avg. price per
shares share /CHF of shares share/CHF

Closing balance

.............................. s Eereeanerenietatassscaststestsatetiesttonnotestotorasatasarrestirarsonsbsinge

® Rights exercised

In March 2003, the Company and its subsidiary, ABB Equity Limited sold 80,000,000 treasury shares for total gross proceeds of approximately
CHF 217 million.

In connection with the 7-for-10 rights offering, the Company exercised, in December 2003, its rights in respect of the remaining 6,830,312 treasury shares
and received 4,781,217 shares at the offer price of CHF 4 per share.

In December 2003, the Company issued to ABB Asea Brown Boveri Lid 30,298,913 shares for use with the pre-packaged plan of reorganization of the
Company’s U.S. subsidiary, Combustion Engineering Inc. These shares will be held as treasury shares until used in connection with the pre-packaged plan.

The net equity value of the Company as reflected in these unconsofidated financial statements is approximately CHF 8.8 billion compared to a net equity
value of approximately CHF 3.7 billicn {approximately US$ 3 billion) disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements of ABB Ltd. The difference derives
frorm the separate accounting bases applied to the unconsolidated and consolidated financial statements. In the unconsolidated financial statements,

the net equity value reflects the use of the lower of cost or fair value to value ABB Ltd's shares and patticipations in subsidiaries. Such fair values are deter-
mined using the discounted cash flow method (DCF), based upon management's expectations as to the future cash flows and earnings of the subsidiaries
for the years 2004 through 2008. The net equity value disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements reflects the aggregation of the equity of ABB
Lid’s subsidiaries.
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Note 10 Contingent liabilities
(CHE In thousands)

334,309

) Relates to an intra-group financing.

The Company has entered into Keep-well agreements with certain indirect subsidiaries. A Keep-wel agreement is a shareholder agreement between
the Company and a subsidiary. These agreements provide for maintenance of a minimum net worth in the subsidiary and the maintenance of 100%
direct or indirect ownership by the Company.

For those subsidiaries acting on the capital markets, the agreements additionally provide that if at any time the subsidiary has insufficient liquid assets to
meet any payment obligation on its debt (as defined in the agreements) and has insufficient unused commitments under its credit facilities with its lenders,
the Company will make available to the subsidiary sufficient funds to enable it to fuffilt such payment obligation as it falls due.

A Keep-well agreement is not a guarantee by the Company for payment of the indebtedness, or any other obligation, of a subsidiary. No party external to
the ABB Group is a party to any of these Keep-well agreements.

Combustion Engineering Inc, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is defendant in numerous asbestos-related claims in the United States.
Some claimants have named the Company and certain of its subsidiaries in connection with claims against Combbustion Engineering Inc, but there

has been no adjudication that any such entity has liability for such claims. There are also a lesser number of asbestos-related claims against certain other
subsidiaries of the Company, which are not related to Combustion Engineering Inc. Please refer to Note 18 of the Consclidated Financial Statements of
ABB Ltd for more detailed information.

As further described in Note 18 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of ABB Ltd, it is contemplated that the Company and certain of its subsidiaries
will be liable for payments ranging from USS$ 300 ~ 350 million. Thase payments will be set out in & promissory note to be issued on the effective date of the
plan of reorganization of Combustion Engineering inc under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptey Code.

The Gompany is part of a value added tax group and therefore jointly iable to the federal tax department for the value added tax liabilities of the other

~members. T

Note 11 Credit facility agreement

On November 17, 2003, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a new unsecured syndicated USS 1 bilion 3 year revolving credit facility
which became available in December 2003 after the fulfillment of certain conditions including the repayment and cancellation of the existing US$ 1.5 biflion
credit facility. The Company is a guarantor of the new US$ 1 billion facility, but nothing was drawn under this facility at December 31, 2003,
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Proposed appropriation of available earnings

({CHF in thousands)

The Board of Directors proposes to release CHF 1,000,000,000 of the other reserves to retained earnings, 1o not declare the distribution of a dividend

and to carry forward the profit available to the Annual General Meeting in the amount of CHF 41,409, 139.
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Report of the Statutory Auditors

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements (balance sheet, income statement and notes; pages 98
to 101) of ABB Ltd, Zurich, for the year ended December 31, 20083.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibiity is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Cur audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession, which require that an audit be planned and
performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclesures in the financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used,
significant estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available earnings comply with Swiss law and the
company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Lid
C.Barone Y.Vontobel
Certified Public Accountant Certified Accountant

Auditors in charge

Zurich, February 18, 2004
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investor information

ABB {td share ptice trend during 2003
During 2003, the price of ABB Lid shares traded on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) increased 101 %, while the Swiss Performance Index
increased 22%. The price of ABB Ltd shares on Stockholmsbérsen increased 80%, outperforming the SAX Index, which increased by 30%.

Source: Bloomberg, SWX Swiss Exchange {virt-x), Stockholmsbérsen

Share price {data based on closing prices)

SWX Swiss Stockholmsbérsen
Exc_hange {virt-x/ CHF) (SERK

Rarket capitalization
On December 31, 2003, ABB Ltd's market capitalization based on outstanding shares {total number of outstanding shares: 2,028,404,505) was
approximately $ 10.3 billion (CHF 12.7 billion, SEK 74.2 billion, EUR 8.1 billion)

Shareholder structure
As of Decernber 31, 2003, the total number of shareholders directly registered with ABB Lid was approximately 174,000. in addition, another
100,000 shareholders hold shares indirectly throughnominees. In total, ABB has approximately 274,000 shareholders.

Major shareholders
As of December 31, 2003, investor AB, Stockhalm, Sweden, owned 204,115,142 shares of ABB Ltd, corresponding to 8.9% of total capital

and votes.
On March 17, 2003, ABB Group announced that since March 14, 2003, it holds fess than 1% of total capital and votes of ABB Ltd.

The Capital Group International, Inc., Los Angeles, CA, USA, informed ABB that as per December 31, 2003 it holds for its clients 133,888,830 shares
of ABB Ltd, corresponding to 6.5% of total capital and votes.

To the best of the company’s knowledge, no other shareholder holds 5% or more of the total voting rights.

Dividend recommendation
Taking into consideration thenet loss reported, the board of directors proposes that no dividend be paid for 2003.
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Per-share data

Weighted average num
Dilution from convertibie bonds

Wt will be proposed to the Annual General Mesting that no dividend be paid for 2003.
@ Fallowing the rights issue completed in December 2003, there were 2,028,404,505 shares outstanding at December 31, 2003,

Key ratios

1 Calculation based on diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding
@ Calcutation based on the number of shares outstanding as of December 31

ABB Lid annual general meeting

The 2004 Annual General Meeting of ABB Lid will be held at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, May 18, 2004 at the Messe Zurich hall in Zurich-Osrlikon,
Switzerland. The General Meeting will be held principally in German and will be simuitaneously transiated into Swedish, English and French.
Shareholders entered in the share register, with the right to vote, by May 7, 2004, are entitled to participate in the General Meeting.

Admission cards

Holders of registered shares of ABB Ltd will receive their admission cards on reqguest using the reply form enclosed with the invitation. The reply
form or a corresponding notification must reach the company not later than May 11, 2004. For technical reasons, notifications arriving after that date
can no longer be taken into consideration. The full text of the invitation in accordance with Article 700 of the Swiss Cede of Obligations will be
published in Schweizerisches Handelsamtsblatt on Aprit 23, 2004.

For shareholders in Sweden an information Meeting will be held in Vasteras, Sweden, on May 24, 2004 at 4:00 p.m.

ABB shareholders’ calendar 2004
Three months results 2004

N
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Price trend for ABB Lid shares

Source: Bloomberg

Stock Exchange listings

ABB Ltd is listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange {(virt-x), St

New York Stock Exchange.

Ticker symbols for ABB Ltd
SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x)
Stockholmsborsen

Frankfurt Stock Exchange
London Stock Exchange

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

Ticker symbols for ABB Ltd at Bioomberg
SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x)
Stockholmsborsen

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

London Stock Exchange

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE}

Ticker symbols for ABB Ltd at Reuters
SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x)
Stockholmsborsen

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

London Stock Exchange

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

ABBN
ABB

ANN
ABB

ABBN VX
ABBSS
ABJGR
ANN LN
ABBUS

ABBN.VX
ABB.ST
ABBN.F
ABBNg.L
ABBN

The global ISIN code for the ABE share is: CH 001 222171 6.
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ackholmshérsen, Frankfurt Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and
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Credit rating for ABB Lid as of December 31, 2003

Standard & Poor’s

Long-term Corporate Credit Rating: BB+
Long-term Senior Unsecured debt: BB~
Short-term Corperate Credit Rating: B
Positive Outicok

Moody's

Long-term Senior Implied Rating: Ba3
L.ong-term Senior Unsecured Rating: B1
Short-term Debt rating: Not Prime
Pasitive Outlock

The credit rating can be subject to revision at any time.

Bondholder information
Qutstanding public bonds as of February 28, 2004,

Issuer Original issued principat amount Coupon Due Bloomberg ticker Reuters ticker

" Exc). step-up
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ABB Group statistical data

(USS millions, other than ratios, employees and percentages)
Co
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................................. Ll0T% L 108% L 88%
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Exchange rates

Main exchange rates used in the iranslation of the Financial Statements

Average Year-end Average Year-end
Currency ISC Codes 2003/$ 2002/$ 2002/8
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The complete ABB Group Annual Report 2003 consists of an
COperational review, a inancial review and a Sustainabiiity review.
“or an additional copy of this or any other of the reviews, please
use the contact information on the back of this document, or
downicad copies from www.abb.corm, The complete report

s published in English, German, Swedish and French.

he English-language version is binding.
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